BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH

To:

TELEPHONE:

020 8464 3333

DIRECT LINE:
FAX:

020 8461 7743
020 8290 0608

CONTACT: Graham Walton
graham.walton@bromley.gov.uk

DATE: 15 November 2019

Members of the

EXECUTIVE
Councillor Colin Smith (Chairman)
Councillors Graham Arthur, Peter Fortune, William Huntington-Thresher, Kate Lymer,
Peter Morgan and Diane Smith
A meeting of the Executive will be held at Bromley Civic Centre on WEDNESDAY 27
NOVEMBER 2019 AT 7.00 PM
MARK BOWEN
Director of Corporate Services

Copies of the documents referred to below can be obtained from
http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/
AGENDA
1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3

QUESTIONS
In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, questions that are not specific to reports
on the agenda must have been received in writing 10 working days before the date of
the meeting - by 13th November 2019.
Questions specifically relating to reports on the agenda should be received within two
working days of the normal publication date of the agenda. Please ensure that
questions specifically on reports on the agenda are received by the Democratic
Services Team by 5pm on Thursday 21st November 2019.

4

TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 16TH OCTOBER 2019
(Pages 5 - 12)

5

MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
(Pages 13 - 16)

6

BUDGET MONITORING 2019/20
(Pages 17 - 58)

7

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - 2ND QUARTER 2019/20
(Pages 59 - 72)

8

EMPTY HOMES PREMIUM
(Pages 73 - 94)

9

COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT/REDUCTION SCHEME 2020/21
(Pages 95 - 142)

10

BECKENHAM LIBRARY AND CULTURAL VENUE - AUTHORITY TO PROCEED
TO PROCUREMENT
(Pages 143 - 190)
Clock House and Copers Cope wards

11

OPTIONS APPRAISAL FOR CHIPPERFIELD ROAD SITE (BROMLEY VALLEY
GYMNASTICS CENTRE) (PART 1)
(Pages 191 - 204)
Cray Valley West ward

12

PROVISION OF HOUSING AT WEST WICKHAM LIBRARY AND STATION ROAD
CAR PARK, WEST WICKHAM (PART 1)
(Pages 205 - 230)
West Wickham ward

13

TEC DELEGATION FOR THE REGULATION OF DOCKLESS VEHICLE HIRE
SCHEMES
(Pages 231 - 240)

14

GATEWAY 1: PROCEED TO PROCUREMENT FOR SUPPORT TO VOLUNTARY,
COMMUNITY AND SOCIAL ENTERPRISE SECTOR
(Pages 241 - 252)

15

GATEWAY 0/1 COMMISSIONING STRATEGY FOR DOMICILIARY CARE
SERVICES
(Pages 253 - 268)

16

GATEWAY REPORT: LEARNING DISABILITY SUPPORTED ACCOMMODATION
PROCUREMENT STRATEGY
(Pages 269 - 282)

17

LEARNING DISABILITY DAY, RESPITE AND SUPPORTED LIVING SERVICES CONTRACT EXTENSION AND COMMISSIONING STRATEGY (GATEWAY 0)
(PART 1)
(Pages 283 - 290)

18

CONTRACT AWARD FOR 0-19 YEARS PUBLIC HEALTH NURSING SERVICE
(PART 1)
(Pages 291 - 304)

19

CONSIDERATION OF ANY OTHER ISSUES REFERRED FROM THE EXECUTIVE,
RESOURCES AND CONTRACTS POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

20

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT
(ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM
OF INFORMATION ACT 2000
The Chairman to move that the Press and public be excluded during consideration of
the items of business listed below as it is likely in view of the nature of the business to
be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the Press and public
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.
Items of Business

Schedule 12A Description

21

EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON
16TH OCTOBER 2019
(Pages 305 - 308)

Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including
the authority holding that
information)

22

LEARNING DISABILITY DAY, RESPITE AND
SUPPORTED LIVING SERVICES - CONTRACT
EXTENSION AND COMMISSIONING
STRATEGY (PART 2)
(Pages 309 - 320)

Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including
the authority holding that
information)

23

CONTRACT AWARD FOR 0-19 YEARS PUBLIC
HEALTH NURSING SERVICE (PART 2)
(Pages 321 - 328)

Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including
the authority holding that
information)

24

OPTIONS APPRAISAL FOR CHIPPERFIELD
ROAD SITE (BROMLEY VALLEY GYMNASTICS
CENTRE) (PART 2)
(Pages 329 - 336)

Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including
the authority holding that
information)

Cray Valley West ward

25

PROVISION OF HOUSING AT WEST WICKHAM
LIBRARY AND STATION ROAD CAR PARK,
WEST WICKHAM (PART 2)
(Pages 337 - 342)
West Wickham ward

26

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - 2ND
QUARTER 2019/20 - APPENDIX E
(Pages 343 - 344)

Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including
the authority holding that
information)

Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including
the authority holding that
information)

Agenda Item 4
EXECUTIVE
Minutes of the meeting held on 16 October 2019 starting at 7.00 pm
Present:
Councillor Colin Smith (Chairman)
Councillors Graham Arthur, Peter Fortune, Kate Lymer,
Peter Morgan and Diane Smith
Also Present:
Councillor Nicholas Bennett J.P. and Councillor Simon
Fawthrop
79

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor William HuntingtonThresher.
80

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Simon Fawthrop declared an interest as an employee of British
Telecom, and left the room during consideration of minutes 84 and 90
(Customer Services IT System Review.)
81

QUESTIONS

Two questions had been received for written reply - the answers are set out in
Appendix A.
82

TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 18
SEPTEMBER 2019

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 18th September 2019
(excluding exempt information) be confirmed.
83

MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
Report CSD19137

The Executive noted matters outstanding from previous meetings.
84

CUSTOMER SERVICES IT SYSTEM REVIEW (PART 1)
CEO19001A

Following approval to upgrade the Council’s existing Customer Relationship
Management System (CRM) in January 2018 and commission BT to review
options for the longer term provision of this system, the report updated

1

Page 5

Executive
16 October 2019
Members on the outcome of that review and recommended action as a result.
Additional details were set out in a part 2 report.
The report had been scrutinised by the Executive, Resources and Contracts
PDS Committee at its meeting on 9th October 2019 and the Committee had
supported the proposals.
RESOLVED that
(1) The need to replace the current CRM software as outlined in the
report be noted.
(2) Officers procure by direct award via the G-Cloud Framework a
subscription of the Jadu CXM case management software for a period of
4 years (2 years plus 2 one year extensions being the maximum
allowable under the framework), and delegated authority be agreed for
the Director of Human Resources and Customer Service and the Head of
Customer Service, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for
Resources, Commissioning and Contracts Management, to renew the
subscription for Jadu CXM via a compliant route for a period of up to 15
years, subject to regular reviews of the ongoing business needs.
(3) Officers commission BT by Change Control Notice (CCN) to their
existing contract to transfer services from the existing CRM software
onto the new Jadu CXM platform, including all associated integration as
outlined in section 4.3 of the report.
(4) The addition of the required capital sum to the capital programme be
agreed.
(5) As set out in paragraphs 4.3.8 to 4.3.10 to the report, approval be
granted for the renewal, via exemption to competitive tender, of existing
annual support arrangements for the associated IT software
components of the Council’s website for a period of up to fifteen years.
(Having declared an interest as an employee of British Telecom, Councillor
Simon Fawthrop left the room during consideration of this report.)
85

DISPOSAL OF Y BLOCKS - DECISION TO DISPOSE OF OPEN
SPACE (PART 1)
DRR19/045

The Executive had resolved, on 11 July 2018, that the Y Blocks at the Civic
Centre should be disposed of, and further resolved on 30 th April 2019 to
accept an unconditional offer from a purchaser for the freehold title of the Y
Blocks and small areas of associated land.
As part of the Y Blocks and associated land comprised of open space the
Council had advertised its intention to dispose of the open space land in a
local newspaper for two consecutive weeks. The Council had also advertised
its intention to appropriate the Y Blocks and associated land for residential

2

Page 6

Executive
16 October 2019
use in accordance with the Town and Country Planning Legislation. This
would provide vital new housing for local people.
The Executive had also resolved on 30th April 2019 that the Y Blocks and
associated land were to be appropriated from office to housing use. As that
resolution had been made in reference to an internal report, the report-reaffirmed that Resolution in a public format.
A number of objections were received in respect of both advertisements, and
the report considered these with appropriate responses to mitigate the
concerns raised. The details of the objections were set out in a part 2 report.
A letter from Bromley Civic Society objecting to the proposals had been
circulated.
The Leader requested that a bespoke FAQ link be designed and added to the
Council’s website at the earliest possible opportunity to both ensure full
transparency and address any public interest or questions which might arise
over coming months as the project progresses. The Leader emphasised the
point that public access to the park beyond the sale site would be retained
under the new arrangements
The report had been deferred from the Executive’s previous meeting on 18 th
September 2019 and had been scrutinised by the Executive, Resources and
Contracts PDS Committee at its meetings on 11th September and 9th October
2019. The PDS Committee had supported the proposals.
RESOLVED that
(1) It is noted that the Council has advertised the intention to dispose of
the open space land together with the intention to appropriate the
buildings and land to residential use in both cases for two consecutive
weeks in accordance with the relevant Legislation.
(2) The objections made, together with the responses to these, as
contained within the report, be noted and the disposal of the Open
Space Land be formally agreed.
(3) The objections made, together with the responses to these, as
contained within the report, be noted and the appropriation of the
buildings and land to residential use be formally agreed.
86

STRATEGIC INVESTMENT POT
Report DRR19/058

It was agreed that this report be considered as a matter of urgency in view of
the deadline for confirming support for the recommendations of the Strategic
Investment Pot evaluation panel. The Chairman of the Executive, Resources
and Contracts PDS Committee confirmed that he had agreed that the report
should be considered as urgent, and suggested that the call-in period be
started as soon as possible.
3

Page 7

Executive
16 October 2019
During 2019/20, the GLA and the 33 London billing authorities were
continuing to pilot 75% business rates retention. This allowed London to retain
extra funding, with £39.9m in a Strategic Investment Pot (SIP) in 2019/20.
During the summer of 2019 all the London authorities had been invited to bid
for monies from the Strategic Investment Pot (SIP) fund for projects that
achieved the fund’s aims:




To contribute to the sustainable growth of London’s economy
To leverage additional investment funding
To have broad support across London government

The fund’s preference was for collaborative bids over broader areas than just
a single borough. Consequently the restoration of the Crystal Palace Subway
was identified as a project that matched the funding criteria.
The Subway was partly owned by Southwark Council; it was a Grade II* listed
building located under Crystal Palace Parade. It was in extensive disrepair
and was on Historic England’s ‘At Risk’ register. The restoration of the
subway was expected to cost £3.84m in total, although some of the works had
already taken place - the Council’s Highway Team had undertaken
stabilisation works funded by Transport for London, and LB Southwark had
funded the restoration of the terrace to secure access to the subway. Further
funding was anticipated from Historic England, the Friends of Crystal Palace
Subway and Transport for London - no funding was required by the Council.
As Design and Heritage Champion, Councillor Nicholas Bennett supported
the scheme and hoped that it would lead to the subway being open to the
public much more often. The Portfolio Holder for Renewal, Recreation and
Housing thanked Lydia Lee for her work in securing the funding. The Leader
asked that Councillors Bennett and Morgan be kept closely informed of
progress.
RESOLVED that the recommendations of the Strategic Investment Pot
evaluation panel, as set out in the Consultation Report (Appendix 1 to
the report) be supported.
87

CONSIDERATION OF ANY OTHER ISSUES REFERRED FROM
THE EXECUTIVE, RESOURCES AND CONTRACTS POLICY
DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There were no additional items referred from Executive, Resources and
Contracts PDS Committee to be considered.
88

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION)
(VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM OF
INFORMATION ACT 2000

RESOLVED that the Press and public be excluded during consideration
of the items of business referred to below as it is likely in view of the

4

Page 8

Executive
16 October 2019
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings
that if members of the Press and public were present there would be
disclosure to them of exempt information.
The following summaries
refer to matters involving exempt information
89

EXEMPT MINUTES
SEPTEMBER 2019

OF

THE

MEETING

HELD

ON

18

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 18 th September 2019 were
confirmed.
90

CUSTOMER SERVICES IT SYSTEM REVIEW (PART 2)

The Executive considered exempt details of the Customer Services IT System
Review.
91

DISPOSAL OF Y BLOCKS - DECISION TO DISPOSE OF OPEN
SPACE (PART 2)

The Executive considered exempt material in connection with this issue.
92

GATEWAY 0/1: EDUCATION MANAGEMENT INFORMATION
SYSTEM

The Executive approved proposals concerning the Education Management
Information System.
93

LANDLORD'S CONSENT TO
WALNUTS SHOPPING CENTRE

CHANGE

OF

LESSEE

-

The Executive considered an urgent report and gave landlord’s consent to a
change of lessee for the Walnuts Shopping Centre.
The Meeting ended at 7.25 pm.

Chairman

5

Page 9

This page is left intentionally blank

Appendix A
EXECUTIVE
16th October 2019
Questions from Members of the Public (for written reply)

1.

From Donna Colonnese to the Portfolio holder for Environment and
Community Services
Is the cabinet member aware of ongoing flooding issues in Blakeney Road under the
railway bridge? Pedestrians are unable to walk under this bridge on the pavement
without wading through deep water when there has been heavy rain. Cars also have
difficulty driving under the bridge and pedestrians are often drenched from the spray
as the cars drive through. If the cabinet member is aware of these problems, what
plans are in place to rectify the situation?
Reply:
I am aware of ongoing flooding issues in Blakeney Road under the railway bridge. As
this area is close to the river, the gullies will discharge slowing during heavy rain as
street debris is washed in to the area. At the last maintenance visit in June 2019 the
drains were cleared and operating correctly. Officers are investigating options for
improving the surface area of the road gullies in an effort to improve the efficiency of
the drainage assets.

2.

From John Getgood to the Portfolio Holder for Renewal, Recreation and
Housing
The Penge SE20 BID is concerned that despite frequent reminders to council officers
the improvement works to Penge High Street have still not been completed. In June
we were assured that the following works would be completed by October 2019.
However, no progress has been made. Please could the Portfolio Holder provide us
with an assurance that these works will be completed promptly?






Provision of new waste bins engraved with the Penge SE20 BID in Arpley and
Empire Square, engraved with the Penge BID SE20 logo;
Provision and installation of new notice Boards engraved with the Penge BID
SE20 logo in Arpley Square and outside Sainsbury's;
Town sign (o/s Empire Square) returned to its original position with sign at
right angles to the flow of traffic and pedestrians;
Provision of way-finding posts;
Installation of the Penge Heritage trail plaques;

1

Page 11

Reply:
Officers have instructed our term contractor, JB Riney, to purchase and install the
new waste bins and notice boards once the logo has been agreed with the Penge
BID. We will write again to confirm the installation date at the earliest opportunity.
Options for alternative wayfinding solutions have been researched and the
implications of different solutions are now being appraised. The Council will discuss
these options with the BID, but will then need to undertake a procurement exercise
for the purchase and installation of the chosen way-finding solution.
The Council has now completed the procurement exercise and appointed a
contractor for the provision and installation of the heritage plaques; officers are
currently in discussion with the newly appointed contractor to arrange an installation
date which we will confirm in writing as soon as possible.
Officers have instructed our term contractor, JB Riney, to fix the Town sign (o/s
Empire Square) in its original position with sign at right angles to the flow of traffic
and pedestrians. We will write again to confirm the date for the works at the earliest
opportunity.

2

Page 12

Agenda Item 5
Report No.
CSD19170

London Borough of Bromley
PART ONE - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

EXECUTIVE

Date:

27th November 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS

Contact Officer:

Graham Walton, Democratic Services Manager
Tel: 0208 461 7743 E-mail: graham.walton@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Mark Bowen, Director of Corporate Services

Ward:

N/A

1.

Executive

Non-Key

Reason for report

1.1 Council agreed on 8th April 2019 that all Council Committees should include a report covering
matters outstanding from previous meetings. Appendix A updates Members on matters
outstanding from previous meetings of the Executive.
________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATION

2.1 The Executive is invited to consider progress on matters outstanding from previous
meetings.

Non-Applicable Sections:
Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and
Children/Policy/Financial/Personnel/Legal/Procurement
Minutes of previous Executive meetings

1

Page 13

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1. Summary of Impact: Not applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Existing Policy: The Executive receives an update on matters arising from
previous meetings at each meeting.

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council:
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: No Cost:

2.

Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Democratic Services

4.

Total current budget for this head: £358,740

5.
Source of funding: 2019/20 Revenue Budget
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): 8 posts (6.79fte)

If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: Monitoring the Executive’s matters
arising takes at most a few hours per meeting.
________________________________________________________________________________
2.

Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: None:

2.
Call-in: Not Applicable:
________________________________________________________________________________
Procurement
1.
Summary of Procurement Implications: Not Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): This report is intended
primarily for the benefit of Executive Members

________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: Not Applicable

2

Page 14

Appendix A
Minute
Number/Title

Executive
Decision/Request

Update

Action by

All Members to be
invited to a site visit
to see modular
homes in a
neighbouring
borough.

Officers have
already supplied
quite a lot of detail
about the types
and variety of units
now available and
will continue to
keep Members
updated. Once a
contractor has
been appointed for
each site
consideration will
be given as to
whether there are
suitable units to
visit.

Director of
Housing,
Planning &
Regeneration

Completion
Date

10th January 2018
389
Update on Service
Proposals and
Procurement
Strategy for
Modular Homes

As Members are
aware, a modular
home has been set
up in the St Blaise
car park as an
example.

3

Page 15

Winter
2019/20

This page is left intentionally blank

Agenda Item 6
Report No.
FSD19102

London Borough of Bromley
PART ONE - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

EXECUTIVE

Date:

Wednesday 27 November 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

BUDGET MONITORING 2019/20

Contact Officer:

David Bradshaw, Head of Finance
Tel: 020 8313 4807 E-mail: david.bradshaw@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Director of Finance

Ward:

Borough Wide

1.

Executive

Non-Key

Reason for report

1.1 This report provides the second budget monitoring position for 2019/20 based on expenditure
and activity levels up to the end of September 2019. The report also highlights any significant
variations which will impact on future years as well as any early warnings that could impact on
the final year end position.
________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 Executive are requested to:
(a)

consider the latest financial position;

(b)

note that a projected net overspend on services of £1,578k is forecast based on
information as at September 2019;

(c)

consider the comments from Chief Officers detailed in Appendix 2;

(d)

note a projected variation of £281k debit from investment income as detailed in
sections 3.5 and 3.6;

(e)

note a projected increase to the General Fund balance of £814k as detailed in
section 3.3;

(f)

note the full year cost pressures of £5.2m as detailed in section 3.4;

1

Page 17

(g)

note the return of £37k to the 2019/20 Central Contingency relating to the Exchequer
contract inflation as detailed in para. 3.2.2;

(h)

note the return of £40k to the 2019/20 Central Contingency relating to the Mortuary
contract as detailed in para. 3.2.2;

(i)

note the return of £91k to the 2019/20 Central Contingency relating to the Exchequer
contract as detailed in para. 3.2.2;

(j)

agree to the release of £217k credit from the 2019/20 Central Contingency relating to
savings allocated to the review of staffing as detailed in para. 3.2.3;

(k)

agree to the release of £42k from the 2019/20 Central Contingency relating to
additional costs of blue badge costs as detailed in para. 3.2.4;

(l)

agree to the release of £25k from the 2019/20 Central Contingency relating to
savings allocated to the review of staffing as detailed in para. 3.2.5;

(m) agree to the release of £200k from the 2019/20 Central Contingency relating to
savings allocated to the review of staffing as detailed in para. 3.2.6;
(n)

agree to the release of £659k from the 2019/20 Central Contingency relating to
additional allocation of Better care Funding by NHS England as detailed in para.
3.2.7;

(o)

agree the allocation of £700k from the Better Care Fund to offset pressures in Adult
Social Care as detailed in paragraph 3.2.8

(p)

identify any issues that should be referred to individual Portfolio Holders for further
action.

2

Page 18

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1. Summary of Impact: None arising directly from this report
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Existing Policy

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: Not Applicable

2.

Ongoing costs: Recurring Cost

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Council wide

4.

Total current budget for this head: £210.4m

5.
Source of funding: See Appendix 1 for overall funding of Council’s budget
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): 2,061 fte posts (per 2019/20 Budget) which includes
493 for budgets delegated to schools

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement: The statutory duties relating to financial reporting
are covered within the Local Government Act 1972, the Local Government Finance Act 1998,
the Local Government Act 2000, the Local Government Act 2002 and the Accounts and Audit
Regulations 2015.

2.
Call-in: Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Procurement
1.
Summary of Procurement Implications: None arising directly from this report
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): The 2019/20 budget reflects
the financial impact of the Council’s strategies and service plans which impact on all of the
Council’s customers (including council tax payers) and users of our services.
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: Council Wide
3

Page 19

3.

COMMENTARY

3.1

Summary of Projected Variations

3.1.1 The Resources Portfolio Plan included a target that each service department will spend within
its own budget. Current projections show an overall net overspend of £1,578k within portfolio
budgets and a £3,206k credit variation on investment income and central items.
3.1.2 A summary of the 2019/20 budget and the projected outturn is shown in the table below:
2019/20
Original
Budget
£'000

2019/20
2019/20
Latest Projected
Budget
Outturn
£'000
£'000

69,505
44,678
31,294
2,447
16,015
46,040
209,979

68,623
44,657
31,328
2,587
15,726
46,579
209,500

2019/20
Variation
£'000

Portfolio
Adult Care & Health
Education, Children & Families (inc. Schools Budget)
Environment & Community
Public Protection & Enforcement
Renewal, Recreation & Housing
Resources, Commissioning & Contracts Management
Total Controllable Budgets

69,226
45,849
31,257 Cr
2,596
15,786
46,349 Cr
211,063

Capital Charges and Insurance
Non General Fund Recharges
Total Portfolio Budgets

Cr

Income from Investment Properties
Interest on General Fund Balances
Total Investment Income

Cr 10,290 Cr 10,290 Cr
9,509
Cr
3,291 Cr
3,291 Cr
3,791 Cr
Cr 13,581 Cr 13,581 Cr 13,300

781
500
281

Contingency Provision
Other Central Items
General Government Grants & Retained Business Rates
Collection Fund Surplus
Total Central Items

11,155
12,542
9,055 Cr
Cr
9,003 Cr
9,003 Cr
9,003
Cr 42,922 Cr 43,040 Cr 43,040
Cr
6,753 Cr
6,753 Cr
6,753
Cr 47,523 Cr 46,254 Cr 49,741 Cr

3,487
0
0
0
3,487

Total Variation on Services and Central Items
Prior Year Adjustments
Total Variation

11,769
11,769
11,784
793 Cr
793 Cr
793
220,955
220,476
222,054

603
1,192
71
9
60
230
1,563

159,851

160,641

0

0

159,851

160,641

159,013 Cr

15
0
1,578

1,628

0
159,013 Cr

0
1,628

3.1.3 A detailed breakdown of the latest approved budgets and projected outturn for each Portfolio,
together with an analysis of variations, is shown in Appendix 3.
3.1.4 Chief Officer comments are included in Appendix 2.
3.2

Central Contingency Sum

3.2.1 Details of the allocations from and variations in the 2019/20 Central Contingency are included
in Appendix 4.
3.2.2 Members are requested to note that the following items have been returned to the Central
Contingency this cycle totalling £168k:(i)

£52k was requested from Central Contingency in July 2019 for the additional level of
inflation applied to the Exchequer & TFM contracts in line with the current terms, over
4

Page 20

and above the 2% already applied. However £37k of this is now no longer required and
it is requested that this returns to the contingency.
(ii)

The budget for the Mortuary contract has been realigned to reflect the extension of the
existing contract for a further six months in 2019/20 and a sum of £40k has been
returned to the central contingency

(iii)

£91k was requested at the end of 2018/19 to meet the potential costs of the evaluation
and mobilisation of the Exchequer contract to be undertaken during 2019/20. This carry
forward is no longer required as costs are not anticipated to be as high as originally
expected. As such they will be met from within the service and this amount returned to
contingency.

3.2.3 As part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2019/20 £600k of savings were assumed in
regard to undertaking a staffing review. This was placed into the contingency until further work
could be undertaken. A £584k credit was allocated by the Executive in July 2019. Further work
has been carried out and an additional £217k credit is requested to be allocated to the relevant
departments.
3.2.4 On 30th August 2019, changes to the eligibility criteria for Blue Badges took effect, with nonphysical disabilities (such as autism, dementia, mental health problems and learning
disabilities) now being considered. Executive are requested to agree the release of £42k from
the 2019/20 Central Contingency to provide additional staffing capacity and fund system
licenses that are required. It is anticipated that ongoing funding requirements will be dealt with
in a report in January 2020.
3.2.5 As part of the Parks Contract it has been identified that a number of there is need for £25k to
cover some business rate charges that will be paid by the contractor and the costs passed on
as part of the contract. A request is being made to drawdown £25k from the contingency to
cover these costs.
3.2.6 As part of the introduction of Localised Pay, Members agreed a merited reward for exceptional
performers and a provision of £200k was included in the Central Contingency. A request is
made to drawdown the £200k to fund the expenditure for the rewards in 2019/20.
3.2.7 Initial increases in the Better Care Fund (BCF) were announced as 1.79% which was included
in the 2019/20 budget setting process. However in July 2019 NHS England announced that
the increase would rise to 5%. The difference is an additional £659k of BCF grant. It is
requested that these funds be drawn down in order for them to be utilised against new and
existing BCF funded schemes. NHS England will require reports on how the additional funding
is spent in due course. Any underspend can be carried forward as per the normal BCF fund
process.
3.2.8 Executive are requested to approve the one-off allocation of £700k of Better Care Fund grant
underspend carried forward from previous years to offset additional cost pressures within Adult
Social Care. The use of this funding has been agreed with Bromley CCG.
3.3

General Fund Balances

3.3.1 The level of general reserves is currently projected to increase by £814k to £20,814k at 31st
March 2020 as detailed below:

5

Page 21

General Fund Balance as at 1st April 2019
Net Variations on Services & Central Items (para 3.1)

2019/20
Projected
Outturn
£'000
Cr
20,000
Cr
1,628
Cr
21,628

Adjustment to Balances:
Carry Forwards (funded from underspends in 2018/19)
General Fund Balance as at 31st March 2020

3.4

814
Cr

20,814

Impact on Future Years

3.4.1 The report identifies expenditure pressures which could have an impact on future years. The
main areas to be considered at this stage are summarised in the following table:

Adult Care & Health Portfolio
Assessment & Care Management - Care Placements
Learning Disabilities - Care Placements, Transport
& Care Management
Mental Health - Care Placements
Better Care Funding
National Living Wage

Education, Children & Families Portfolio
Children's Social Care

Renewal, Recreation and Housing
Supporting people
Housing Needs

2019/20
Budget
£'000

2020/21
Impact
£'000

22,308

2,928

35,089
6,554
0 Cr
318 Cr

754
557
464
318
3,457

37,304

1,751
1,751

1,004 Cr
8,797

TOTAL

116
143
27

5,235

3.4.2 Given the significant financial savings that the Council will need to make over the next four
years, it is important that all future cost pressures are contained and that savings are identified
early to mitigate these pressures.
3.4.3 Further details are included in Appendix 5.
Investment Income
3.5

Income from Investment Properties

3.5.1 A deficit of £781k is projected for investment income which takes into consideration the
following issues:
(i)

Savings of £700k were built into the 2019/20 budget reflecting the additional income
and cost reductions expected to be achieved through the TFM contract with Amey.
6

Page 22

Reconciliation work on the Amey/C&W efficiencies are ongoing so £450k is being
projected pending the outcome of this. The findings will be reported in due course but it
is hoped that this shortfall will be reduced over the remainder of this financial year.
(ii)

The Glades Shopping Centre rental income is currently projected to be below the
income budget for 2019/20 by £131k, based on achieving the minimum rent share only.
Accounts are supplied by Alaska UK quarterly in arrears making it difficult to provide a
precise forecast, as LBB income is determined by rental income less the level of
contribution to any minor works. The budget for the Glades is £2.01m and the minimum
rent share is £1.88m.

(iii)

The Walnuts Shopping Centre rental income is currently projected to be above the
income budget for 2019/20 by £20k. This is based on achieving the minimum rent share
for the current year plus an additional £20k due in regard to a prior year adjustment
based on end of year calculations agreed since Q1.

(iv)

Properties purchased from the investment fund are also likely to underachieve on
income by £222k, mainly due to rent free periods negotiated with several tenants.

(v)

There is additional income of £17k relating to turnover rent expected from Biggin Hill
Airport, based on the continued growth seen in recent years.

(vi)

£15k underachievement of income due to minor variations across the portfolio.

Summary of variations within Investment Income
Shortfall in savings anticipated relating to TFM contract
Shortfall in Glades income
Walnuts Shopping Centre income
Shortfall in Rent from Properties Purchased from Investment Fund
Increased Turnover Rent from Biggin Hill Airport
Other minor variations

£'000
450
131
-20
222
-17
15

Total variations within Investment Income

3.6

781

Interest on Balances

3.6.1 Despite an increase in the Bank of England base rate from 0.50% to 0.75%, there has been
relatively little impact on interest income from lending to banks. This is partly due to banks
having the continued ability to borrow from the Bank of England at very low rates as well as
the strengthening of ‘balance sheets’ reducing the need to borrow and the fact that expected
increases in the base rate had already been ‘priced in’.
3.6.2 In addition, the utilisation of the Investment and Growth funds as well as the Highways
Investment Scheme, have reduced the resources available for treasury management
investment. However, the treasury management strategy has been revised to enable
alternative investments of £100m which will generate additional income of around £2m
compared with lending to banks.
3.6.3 Balances available for investment are anticipated to decrease in 2019/20 as a result of the
utilisation of capital receipts and earmarked revenue reserves and the internal lending for the
Site G development will have an impact on investment income until the future capital receipts
are realised. A decrease of £200k was included in the draft 2019/20 budget to reflect this.
3.6.4 The contribution of higher risk and longer term investments within Treasury Management has
generated additional income and contributed towards the Council being in the top decile
7

Page 23

performance (top 10%) against the local authority benchmark group. The Treasury
Management Annual Investment Strategy for 2019/20 was reported to Council on 25th
February 2019 and the Annual Report for 2018/19 was reported to Executive, Resources and
Contracts PDS Committee on 3rd July 2019.
3.6.5 Latest projections indicate a £500k increase in income for the year to 31st March 2020.
3.7

The Schools Budget

3.7.1 Expenditure on schools is funded through the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) provided for by
the Department for Education (DfE). DSG is ring-fenced and can only be applied to meet
expenditure property included in the Schools Budget. Any overspend or underspend must be
carried forward to the following year’s Schools Budget.
3.7.2 There is a current projected overspend of DSG of £877k. This will be deducted from the
£2,495k carried forward from 2018/19. We have agreed to use £278k of the brought forward
balance to support services in-year. The carry forward figure will need to be adjusted for the
Early Year adjustment for 2018/19 of an additional £869k. This gives us an estimated DSG
balance of £2,209k at the end of the financial year.
3.7.3 It should be noted that the DSG can fluctuate due to pupils requiring additional services or
being placed in expensive placements. The Council are contributing £1.9m of core funding to
DSG services in 2019/20 and potentially any underspend could be used to minimise the
Council contribution.
3.8

Investment Fund and Growth Fund

3.8.1 Full details of the current position on the Investment Fund and the Growth Fund are included
in the Capital Programme Monitoring Q2 2019/20 reported elsewhere on this agenda. The
uncommitted balances currently stand at £12.5m on the Investment Fund and £10.0m on the
Growth Fund.
3.9

Financial Context

3.9.1 The 2019/20 Council Tax report identified the latest financial projections and a future year
budget gap due to the impact of inflation, service and cost pressures and ongoing significant
reductions in government funding. Details were reported in the 2019/20 Council Tax report to
Executive in February 2019.
3.9.2 As reported, as part of the Council’s financial strategy, a prudent approach has been adopted
in considering the central contingency sum to reflect any inherent risks, the potential impact of
new burdens, population increases or actions taken by other public bodies which could affect
the Council. The approach has also been one of ‘front loading’ savings to ensure difficult
decisions are taken early in the budgetary cycle. This has enabled a longer term approach to
generate further income from the additional resources available as well as to mitigate against
significant risks and provide a more sustainable financial position in the longer term.
3.9.3 The 2019/20 Council Tax report identified a budget gap of £31.7m per annum by 2022/23.
The financial forecast and budget will be affected by inflation, changes in government funding
and new burdens and realistically any future year overspends will need to be funded from
alternative savings. It is therefore important to ensure that action is taken, where possible, to
contain costs within budget which reduces the risk of the Council’s budget gap increasing
further thereby increasing the savings required in future years.
4.

IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN
8

Page 24

4.1

The 2019/20 budget reflects the financial impact of the Council’s strategies and service plans
which impact on all of the Council’s customers and users of our services.

5.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

5.1

“Building a Better Bromley 2016-2018” identifies the following key priority:
Ensure financial independence and sustainability through:
-

Strict management of our budgets to ensure we live within our means;
Working to achieve the benefits of the integration of health and social care;
Early intervention for our vulnerable residents.

5.2

The 2019/20 Council Tax report highlighted the financial pressures facing the Council. It
remains imperative that strict budgetary control continues to be exercised in 2019/20 to
minimise the risk of compounding financial pressures in future years.

6.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1

These are contained within the body of the report with additional information provided in the
appendices.
Non-Applicable Sections:

Personnel, Legal, Procurement

Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

Provisional Final Accounts 2018/19 – Executive 21st May
2019;
2019/20 Council Tax – Executive 13th February 2019;
Draft 2019/20 Budget and Update on Council’s Financial
Strategy 2020/21 to 2022/23 – Executive 16th January 2019;
Capital Programme Monitoring Report – elsewhere on
agenda;
Treasury Management Annual Investment Strategy 2019/20
and Quarter 3 performance– Council 25th February 2019;
Financial Management Budget Monitoring files across all
portfolios.

9

Page 25

This page is left intentionally blank

APPENDIX 1
GENERAL FUND - PROVISIONAL OUTTURN FOR 2019/20

Portfolio
Adult Care & Health
Education, Children & Families (incl. Schools' Budget)
Environment & Community
Public Protection & Enforcement
Renewal, Recreation & Housing
Resources, Commissioning & Contracts Management
Total Controllable Budgets
Capital, Insurance & Pensions Costs (see note 2)
Non General Fund Recharges
Total Portfolios (see note 1)

2019/20
Original
Budget
£'000
69,505
44,678
31,294
2,447
16,015
46,040
209,979
11,769
Cr
793
220,955

Budget
2019/20
Variation
Variations
Latest
2019/20
previously
allocated in
Approved
Projected
reported to
year #
Budget
Outturn
Variation Exec 10/07/19
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
Cr
882
68,623
69,226
603
666
Cr
21
44,657
45,849
1,192
1,323
34
31,328
31,257 Cr
71
138
140
2,587
2,596
9
0
Cr
289
15,726
15,786
60 Cr
189
539
46,579
46,349 Cr
230
146
Cr
479
209,500
211,063
1,563
2,084
0
11,769
11,784
15
0
0 Cr
793 Cr
793
0
0
Cr
479
220,476
222,054
1,578
2,084

Central Items:
Income from Investment Properties
Interest on General Fund Balances
Total Investment Income

Cr
Cr
Cr

Contingency Provision (see Appendix 4)

10,290
3,291
13,581

0 Cr
0 Cr
0 Cr

11,155

1,387

10,290 Cr
3,291 Cr
13,581 Cr

9,509
3,791 Cr
13,300

12,542

9,055 Cr

781
500
281
3,487 Cr

696
0
696
898

Other central items
Reversal of net Capital Charges (see note 2)
Levies

Cr

10,265
1,262

0 Cr
0

10,265 Cr
1,262

10,265
1,262

0
0

0
0

Total other central items

Cr

9,003

0 Cr

9,003 Cr

9,003

0

0

Total all central items

Cr

11,429

1,387 Cr

10,042 Cr

Bromley's Requirement before balances
Carry Forwards from 2018/19 (see note 3)
Adjustment to Balances
Business Rates Retention Scheme (Retained Income,
Top-up and S31 Grants)
New Homes Bonus
New Homes Bonus Topslice
Collection Fund Surplus
Bromley's Requirement

209,526
0 Cr
0
209,526
Cr
Cr

40,391
2,531
0 Cr
Cr
6,753
159,851

GLA Precept
Council Tax Requirement

908
210,434
790 Cr
790
0
0
118
209,644
0
0
118
0
0

Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr

40,391
2,531
118
6,753
159,851

Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr

13,248 Cr

3,206 Cr

202

208,806 Cr
24
814
209,644

1,628
814
814 Cr
0

1,882
906
2,788
0

40,391
2,531
118
6,753
159,851

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

42,124

0

42,124

42,124

0

0

201,975

0

201,975

201,975

0

0

# Budget Variations allocated to portfolios in year consists of:
1) Carry forwards from 2018/19
2) Allocations from the central contingency provision

Cr
Cr

£'000
790
1,269
479

(see note 3)
(see Appendix 4)

1) NOTES
Portfolio Final Approved Budgets analysed over Departments as follows:

People Department
Place Department
Chief Executive's Department

Budget
2019/20
Variations
Original allocated in
Budget
year #
£'000
£'000
128,139 Cr
903
66,781 Cr
171
26,035
595
220,955 Cr
479

2019/20
Latest
Approved
Budget
£'000
127,236
66,610
26,630
220,476

Variation
2019/20
previously
Projected
reported to
Outturn
Variation Exec 10/07/19
£'000
£'000
129,031
1,795
1,985
66,603 Cr
7
0
26,420 Cr
210
99
222,054
1,578
2,084

2) Reversal of net Capital Charges
This is to reflect the technical accounting requirements contained in CIPFA's Code of Practice for Local Authority
Accounting and has no impact on the Council's General Fund.
3) Carry Forwards from 2018/19
Carry forwards from 2018/19 into 2019/20 totalling £906k were approved by Council and the Executive. Full details were
reported to the June meeting of the Executive in the “Provisional Final Accounts 2018/19” report.

10

Page 27

APPENDIX 2
Comments from the Executive Director of Environment and Community Services
(Environment and Community Services Portfolio)
The Environment and Community Services Portfolio has an overall projected net under spend of £58k for
2019/20. This is made up of a number of projected variations with the main items detailed below:
Within waste there has been a reduction in numbers of both trade and residential waste disposal costs
brought about by a decrease in tonnage collected and a net increase in the cost of processing additional
recyclates. Income relating to recyclates and trade waste is currently underachieving . This results in an
overall net surplus of £100k.
Whilst income from parking charges continues to decline, primarily through the continuing downward trend in
parking usage, there has been an uplift in the number of penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) issued against
previous periods, partly because the parking contractor, at their expense, has deployed a greater number of
Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs). Overall parking is currently projecting a £184k overspend.
The underspend of £109k in Traffic and Road Safety is mainly due to additional income achieved from road
closures following a rise in the number of applications from utility companies undertaking infrastructure
works.
Analysis of Risks
– Environment and Community Services Portfolio
The new environment contracts have been in place since April 2019. Any growth in the number of properties
will incur additional expenditure, as extra collections are required and additional waste is generated. Any
fluctuations on the market prices will affect the income from sales of recyclates income. Another potential risk
area is recycling paper income. Wet weather could affect the quality of the paper and therefore may lead to
issues arising with the processing of it as ‘paper’ and a loss of income.
There is always a risk in Parking from the fluctuations in both Enforcement income and income from On and
Off Street Parking, but this is difficult to quantify.
Income on streetworks defaults is currently at a reduced level due to a higher level of compliance and so
needs to be monitored going forward.
Although no variation is currently projected for the Trees budget, due to the unpredictable nature of storm
damage this is a potential risk area. The actual impact is dependent on the weather and the number of trees
affected.
– Public Protection and Enforcement Portfolio
The Public Protection and Enforcement Portfolio has a minor overspend of £9k, although any high profile
inquests or a significant increase in the volume of cases could increase cost to the Coroners Service.
Comments from the Director of Corporate Services (Resources, Commissioning & Contract
Management Portfolio) including Risk Areas
Overall the variance for the Corporate Services Division is projected to be £17k underspent. However there
are two relatively large variances offsetting each other within Legal and Information Systems.
Legal Services is expected to have a net overspend of £208k due to additional counsel fees and court costs
relating to caseloads, mainly within children’s services, but also due to increased commercial and planning
cases. Costs which relate to the local plan have historically been directly funded and if that happened again
it would, significantly reduce the overspend on Counsel's fees.
The Information Systems & Telephony variance is an underspend of £159k mostly relating to General Data
Protection Regulations (GDPR) staffing and systems purchases which have been delayed. A request will be
made to carry forward £90k this variance in order to cover the staffing element of the GDPR work.
Analysis of Risk
11

Page 28

APPENDIX 2

The majority of the overspend within Legal Services is due to additional counsel fees and court costs relating
to caseloads within children’s services, and also increased numbers of commercial and planning cases.
Caseloads in children`s services continue at a higher level than has previously. Historically caseloads have
been c48 new cases per annum. In 2017/18, 74 sets of proceedings were issued which is on a downward
trend from 2016/17 when there were 98 sets of new childcare cases. In 2018/19, there were approximately
60 cases and a similar number is expected this year. A minimum court fee of £2,025 is payable on each
case which means even with an additional 12 cases this will still represent a substantial sum. The only way
to avoid this would be not to issue proceedings, which is not a realistic option. In addition there are fees for
instructions of experts (£150 per application) and for placement orders where the care plan is adoption (£455
per family). There has also been a growth of cases where translation services are required (currently
representing c20% of cases) and costs are being incurred for translation of documents and additional
hearings.
Childcare cases typically take between 3-9 months to conclude, therefore there is an ongoing cost pressure
from cases which were issued in 2017/18 which were not concluded in that year, which has been
exacerbated by the continuing high level of new instructions. There has been a high turnover of staff in the
team which has also had a major impact on using in-house staff for advocacy, to gradually reduce spend on
Counsel.
Comments from the Director of Adult Social Care
Pressure has continued to build, particularly in those services where we are jointly working with health to
reduce the number of people delayed in hospital beds. The acute hospital locally has regularly been under
extreme pressure requiring discharges to be actioned very quickly. Whilst the overall number of older people
receiving support has not increased substantially, the complexity of need has increased, meaning that we are
more regularly having to pay an increased fee for care. It should also be noted that a large percentage of this
pressure relates to unachieved savings planned in the last budget setting process.
Plans are in place with health to ensure that we can respond appropriately to the increased pressure that we
can expect during the winter months. Conversations are taking place with the CCG to agree the further use of
the underspend in the BCF to offset these pressures, although it is acknowledged that this is on a one-off
basis.
Robust plans are now in place to bring spend back under control, these are monitored on a fortnightly basis
through both the Leadership Team and the Transformation Board. Senior managers are taking this issue very
seriously and have developed robust plans that are shared with all managers within the system. Further
actions have yet to be developed in detail to manage demand into future years.
Work has continued to reduce the reliance on agency staff with an improvement in the percentage of front
line staff who are in permanent roles at the front line to 72%. Appointments have been made to the majority
of Head of Service posts, with the remaining Head of Service post, for Mental Health, to be appointed to
jointly with Oxleas. It is anticipated that this post will be recruited to before Christmas.
Comments from the Director of Housing, Planning and Regeneration
£4,478k of net growth was applied to the housing budget for 2019/20 to reflect the continuing pressures in
relation to homelessness and the provision of temporary accommodation. The budget has been adjusted to
return £331k of this growth allocation to reflect that nightly paid placement numbers at the beginning of the
year were 51 less than predicted due to the increased preventative work and supply of properties through the
More Homes Bromley acquisition programme.
Whilst approaches remain high, this ongoing supply of acquired properties and prevention work has
continued to slow the rate of growth in nightly paid accommodation placements reducing the average
increase from 15 per to 5 per month. This however relies on the supply of acquired properties continuing to
come through. This results in a projected £103k overspend on temporary accommodation with a £136k
overspend on housing overall.

12

Page 29

APPENDIX 2
A substantial part of Planning Services’ work attracts a fee income for the Council, for example the planning
application fees. The fee income and volume of work reflects the wider economic circumstances affecting
development pressures in the Borough. There is a risk of income variation beyond the Council’s immediate
control; however trends are regularly monitored in order that appropriate action can be taken.
Action has successfully been taken to negate the risk of Government Designation for Special Measures due
to Planning performance for the current year. However this is based on the actions identified being
implemented to reduce the risk of Government Designation in future years.
There is a risk of substantial planning appeal costs being awarded against the Council by the Planning
Inspectorate, if the Council is found to have acted unreasonably.
For major appeals, which can arise unpredictably, there is often a need for specialist external consultants
advice which creates additional costs.
The key risks in the Renewal, Recreation and Housing Portfolio continue to be:i) Increased homelessness and the associated costs
ii) Introduction of the Homeless Reduction Act
iii) Increased rent arrears arising from roll out of Welfare reform
iv) Reduced vacant housing association properties coming forward for letting
- Education, Children and Families Portfolio
The Children, Education and Families Portfolio has an overspend of £1,192,000 for the year.

The Education Division has an overspend of £213,000, mainly due to SEN Transport and under collectuion of
income from trading services.

There is a current projected overspend in DSG of £877k. This will be added to the £2,495k carried forward
from 2018/19. It was agreed that £278k of the brought forward balance could be used to support services inyear. The carry forward figure will need to be adjusted for the Early Year adjustment for 2018/19 of an
additional £869k of grant. This gives us an estimated DSG balance of £2,209k at the end of the financial year.
It should be noted that the DSG can fluctuate due to pupils requiring additional services or being placed in
expensive placements. The Council are contributing £1.9m of core funding to DSG services in 2019/20 and
potentially any underspend could be used to minimise the Council contribution.
In Children’s Social Care (CSC) the overspend of £979k is due to the following:Staffing within Childrens Social Care (CSC)
This continues to be a major challenge and we are currently standing at around 82% of permanent staff. But
this fluctuates . We continue to convert some of our agency workers.We have now appointed permanently to
the two remaining Heads of Service posts.
Bromley offers a good package but Local Authorities in and out of London compete with their permanent
salaries , in some cases there is a round a £4k to £6K difference between boroughs. In addition as nearby
authorities receive poor Ofsted outcomes they increase the salary range to attract skilled and experienced
staff.
We continue to recruit ASYE’s (Assessed and Supported Year in Employment). The number this year is
smaller because there are some service areas where they have a full complement of permanent staff. The
front door and safeguarding teams have the highest number of agency staff and it is these areas that we
need to be mindful of ‘flooding’ the system with ASYE’s as they are unable to be allocated Child Protection
cases which poses the most risk to the authority and children.

13

Page 30

APPENDIX 2

In addition as part of our Roadmap to Excellence and the caseload promise ASYE’s can only be responsible
for a small caseload in this first year and by increasing this cohort of workers the caseloads will increase for
those staff who are more experienced.
If the current overspend was to be reduced instantly this would equate to 15 + social work posts being axed
and not recruited to for the rest of the financial year and this would equate to 225 children without an
allocated social worker.
This would breach the vision and values of the Local Authority (LA) and the assurance given to Ofsted of a
caseload and small social work pods. In any event this would likely cause the current solid permanent
workforce to leave the authority because whilst we might not be competing on a level playing field with salary
we are with the caseload promise, excellent management oversight and training.
Such action would place children at risk – the improvement that any LA makes on its journey from inadequate
to good is usually a 3 – 5 year journey. Bromley have exceeded this by turning the authority around within 19
months but we need to be mindful that the remainder of the journey is to ensure that we appoint and then
retain good quality staff who can meet the needs of our children.
Placements
We have worked hard to reduce the current placement overspend and this has now reduced to an overspend
by £107k this year, a fall from the reported overspend of £439k in May, with management action of £186k
potentially reducing this to an underspend of £79k.
This year we have only one young person (YP) in secure and we were able to find the appropriate secure bed
which is at much less cost than the 4 young people we had at the last time of reporting – those children who
could not be found a bed cost the LA around £8,500 each per week.
We have worked hard to extend some of our experienced foster carers to take our children from expensive
step down residential placements. These are some of our most complex children and we have 4 carers who
have received intense training and are supported by a psychologist. Currently we have matched one young
person who has made the transition – this has saved the LA £214k per year and more importantly means that
a young person has the experience and support of a family life. If we can move 3 other young people to
similar placements we can triple the savings which significantly reduce the overspend going forward. We
currently have 5 potential children to step down.
We have 12 children who will move out of the care system with a care plan of adoption and a further 8
children currently in care proceedings which will result in SGO – the net result of this would mean better
outcomes for children but reduce the numbers of CLA and reduce the spend both in terms of actual cost and
hidden cost of social worker and Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) time.

In addition our CLA numbers are reducing with around 62 children moving out of the system by March 2020.
Our Staying Together team is working with 40 children in total and these are our teenagers who would be
candidates for coming into the care system and qualifying for leaving care services up until 25 years – at the
current time of those being worked with we have only accommodated 2 children from this cohort .

14

Page 31

APPENDIX 2

We have 22 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) who will reach 18 between September and
March 2020 - whilst these young people will move from the CLA cohort to leaving care which is not covered
by the grant. We know that whilst the Government have increased the funding from £91 to £114 per day for
CLA there is a shortfall in the funding for the leaving care cohort. All LA’s through various groups are
pressurising the Minister to consider this position. These are traumatised young people whose needs do not
diminish at 18 and with the Social Work Act we are responsible for their leaving care duty until 25.
Fostering and adoption
We have continued to improve our numbers of foster carers and at the current time we have 25 fostering
households being assessed which would equate to 50 carers for our children. This will further reduce our
reliance on Independent Foster Agencies (IFA’s)
We have established a group of foster carers who will accept emergency placements during out of hours,
weekends and will receive children who are in police custody or need immediate protection. The purpose of
this group is to prevent children moving to IFA’s in the first instance and this in time will reduce the
dependency on these providers.

We have been in consultation with the West London Alliance to consider whether we partner with them in
regard to our residential, IFA and Independent providers for our Care Leavers – this is an ongoing
conversation but from a diagnostic there is a prediction of further savings
Transitions

We have identified 4 young people between now and November who will be reaching 18 and will require a
high level of adult care – whilst this reduces the CSC budget this will be a burden on Adult Social Care (ASC).
Children with Disabilities (CWD)
There has been an increase in Direct Payments (DP) - this has increased primarily with 4 families where
their children have complex needs and whilst the increase is significant in terms of DP the cost should these
children be in residential care would be far greater. However we are scrutinising the way we take
contributions from the Bromley Clinical Commissioning Groups (BCCG). We have achieved this well in our
placement budget with the BCCG contributing to £1.9m in placements up front.

The risks in the Education, Children & Families Portfolio are:i) Recruitment and retention of permanent staff/ ability to recruit skilled staff for the posts vacant.
ii) Limited supply and increasing costs of residential placements – including the specialist placements for very
complex young people.
iii) Increase in the Looked After Population – particularly in our Looked After Unaccompanied Minors
iv) Increased complexity of children (SEND).
v) Impact of Social Work Act 2017 implementation.
vi) Income from partners reducing.
vii) Shortage of local school places.
viii) Increasing High Needs Block expenditure not matched by a commensurate increase in Government
Grant
ix) Continuing impact of 2014 Children and Families Act extending the age range to 25 for Education, Health
and Care Plans.

15

Page 32

APPENDIX 3A
Adult Care and Health Portfolio Budget Monitoring Summary
2018/19
Actuals

Division
Service Areas

£'000

2019/20
Original
Budget
£'000

2019/20
Latest
Approved
£'000

21,381

21,990

2019/20 Variation
Projected
Outturn
£'000
£'000

Notes

Variation
Last
Reported
£'000

Full Year
Effect

1,440
850
0
0
460
0
424
470
0
0
318
686

2,928

£'000

PEOPLE DEPARTMENT
23,299
139
103
34,198

Cr
Cr

6,416
677
0
1,190

Adult Social Care
Assessment and Care Management
- Better Care Funding - Discharge to Assess
Direct Services
Quality Assurance & Safeguarding
Learning Disabilities
- Management action
Mental Health
Better Care Funding - Protection of Social Care
Better Care Funding - Additional Pressures
Winter Pressures Grant
National Living Wage

Cr

62,288
2,316

Cr

932
932

22,377
Cr 22,469

Cr

8,548
8,548

Cr

1,100
1,100

Programmes
Programmes Team
Information & Early Intervention
- Net Expenditure
- Recharge to Better Care Fund (Prot of Soc Care)
Better Care Fund
- Expenditure
- Income
Improved Better Care Fund
- Expenditure
- Income
NHS Support for Social Care
- Expenditure
- Income

160
195
35,089

160
195
35,089

6,554
0
0
0
1,500
64,879

Cr
6,554
0 Cr
0 Cr
0
318
64,306

24,181
850
169
195
35,851
150
7,034
595
700
0
0
65,135

Cr

Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr

2,191
850
9
0
762
150
480
595
700
0
318
829

1
2
3

Cr

4
5
6
7

Cr

8

Cr

Cr
Cr

Cr

0
0
1,201
447
557
464
0
0
318
3,457

2,558

2,607

2,485 Cr

122

9

0

0

1,148
1,148 Cr

1,148
1,148 Cr

1,116 Cr
1,116

32
32

10

Cr

0
0

0
0

Cr

21,025
21,085 Cr

23,257
23,317 Cr

23,257
23,317

0
0

11

0
0

0
0

Cr

8,570
9,070 Cr

10,971
11,471 Cr

10,971
11,471

0
0

12

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

0

Cr

0
20

0
0

Cr

20

0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

666

3,457

4

0

2,224

0
0

0
0

1,998

2,047

1,925 Cr

122

382
2,386

382
2,029

382
1,925 Cr

0
104

2,768

2,411

2,307 Cr

104

Strategy, Performance & Engagement
355
2,091

Learning & Development
Strategy, Performance & Engagement

2,446
14,764
Cr 14,708
56
67,014

Public Health
Public Health
Public Health - Grant Income

TOTAL CONTROLLABLE ADULT CARE & HEALTH

Cr
Cr

14,180
14,320 Cr
140 Cr

14,179
14,179
14,320 Cr 14,320
141 Cr
141

69,505

68,623

69,226

603

13

1,673

TOTAL NON CONTROLLABLE

1,097

1,097

1,097

0

2,271

TOTAL EXCLUDED RECHARGES

2,362

2,362

2,362

0

0

0

72,964

72,082

72,685

603

662

3,457

70,958

TOTAL ADULT CARE & HEALTH PORTFOLIO

Reconciliation of Latest Approved Budget

£'000

2019/20 Original Budget

72,964

Carry forwards requests
Better Care Fund
- expenditure
- income
Improved Better Care Fund
- expenditure
- income
Public Health Grant
- expenditure
- income
Other:
Business Support posts transferred to Chief Executive's Dept
Return of 2018/19 National Living Wage Funding to Contingency
Leadership restructure
Contributions to creation of Local Offer Development Officer
Policy & Projects posts transferred to Chief Executive's Dept
Blue Badges

Cr

58
58

Cr

3,967
3,967

Cr

1,779
1,779

Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr

Items requested this cycle:
Additional Better Care Fund
- expenditure
- income

Cr

Latest Approved Budget for 2019/20

59
567
207
21
112
42

659
659
72,082

16

Page 33

Cr

APPENDIX 3B

1. Assessment and Care Management - Dr £2,191k
The overspend in Assessment and Care Management can be analysed as follows:
Current
Variation
£'000
Physical Support / Sensory Support / Memory & Cognition
Services for 65 +
- Placements
- Domiciliary Care / Direct Payments

1,527
2,220
3,747

Services for 18 - 64
- Placements
- Domiciliary Care / Direct Payments Cr
Other
- Staffing
- Extra Care Housing
- Day Care
- Community DoLS
- D2A

Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr

487
114
373
261
125
550
513
480
1,929
2,191

The 2019/20 budget includes funding for the full year effect of the 2018/19 overspend, less savings agreed as part of management action
to reduce this overspend.
Services for 65+ - Dr £3,747k
Since the last report to Members, numbers in residential, nursing care and shared lives placements have increased and continue to be
above the budget provision of 414 places, currently by 41 with an overspend being projected of £1,195k for the year, an increase of
£715k. Although the full year effect of the 2018/19 overspend was funded in the 2019/20 budget, this was offset by savings of £561k
expected from continuation of the Discharge to Assess (D2A) service. This however has not realised the savings to the extent that were
expected, as has previously been reported.
In addition to permanent placements, the numbers in temporary and emergency placements are higher than the budget provision, with a
projected overspend of £332k reported in this area.
The overall position on the domiciliary care and direct payments budgets is a projected overspend of £2,220k. Contributing largely to this
overspend are the savings that are included in the 2019/20 budget that are not being achieved. Savings from reablement account for
£400k, with a further £1,308k to come from D2A. As mentioned above the savings from D2A have not been realised as expected, leading
to a substantial projected overspend on the budget. Part of the overspend relates to having to use domiciliary care providers outside of
the Framework for care, which costs more than those within the framework who are not always able to provide care packages.
Services for 18-64+ - Dr £373k
Placements for 18-64 age group are projected to overspend by £276k this year based on current service user numbers which are 9
above the budgeted number of 43, an increase of 2 since May. The main pressure area relates to clients with a primary support reason
(PSR) of Physical Support where the actual number of 33 is 8 above the budget provision, accounting for £292k of the overspend.
In addition to permanent placements, the numbers in temporary and emergency placements are higher than the budget provision, with a
projected overspend of £211k reported in this area.
The overall position on the domiciliary care and direct payments budgets is an underspend of £114k. Domiciliary care is currently
projected to underspend by £147k and direct payments to overspend by £33k.
Staffing - Cr £261k
Growth of £522k was added to the budget in 2019/20 to fund a recruitment and retention package across Adult Social Care. Due to the
number of vacant posts, those still covered by agency staff as well as the annual retention payment not taking effect until next year the
call on this budget for the current year has not been as high as expected, resulting in a projected underspend.
Extra Care Housing - Cr £125k
Currently all schemes (except Crown Meadow Court) are delivering hours within the minimum allocation, therefore an underspend is
currently being projected. Additionally, the funding of step down flats from the winter resilience budget has been doubled this year to
£182k further contributing to the underspend.
Day Care Services - Cr £550k
Day Care services continue to show reduced use of the service with low numbers compared to the budget provision. Additionally as
mentioned last year contracts with some providers for the provision of transport to their centres ended, with the main transport contracts
taking on these clients. This has resulted in a current projected underspend of £550k.

17

Page 34

APPENDIX 3B
Community DoLS - Cr £513k
Growth of £750k was added to the budget in 2019/20 to fund provision of a Community DoLS service. A large underspend is predicted on
this budget as the service has yet to start operating. Currently posts are out to advert, with an assumption that the service will begin in
early December.
Discharge to Assess (D2A) - Cr £480k
In July 2019 the Executive agreed to continue the Discharge to Assess (D2A) service for a further year. Staffing costs for the service as
well as packages of care provided under the D2A scheme are projected to cost £970k this year against the budget provision of £1,450k,
which reflects a part-year effect of a reduction in time spent in the D2A service. Any savings arising from this would show under the
appropriate care package heading (ie placements or domiciliary care/direct payments), so are already included in the projections shown
above.
2. Better Care Funding - Discharge to Assess - Cr £850k
As referred to in note 1 above, the savings from D2A have not materialised as expected. As agreed by the Executive in July 2019, the net
overspend relating to this service is being funded from the Better Care Fund for 2019/20.
3. Direct Care - Dr 9k
The reablement service has had several support worker posts vacant during the year, with some now being filled in the second half of the
year. This has resulted in an underspend of £139k. Similarly the Community Assessment and Rehabilitation Team service has seen 4 out
of it's 6 posts vacant this year, with no current plans to fill them, which has resulted in an underspend of £124k. Both these services are
funded by an element of the Better Care Fund (BCF) set aside to protect social care services, therefore the underspend does not remain
within the service, but can be offset against the overall department budget as mentioned in note number 6 below.
Additionally there is an overspend on management staffing costs of £9k.
4. Learning Disabilities - Dr 612k
The 2019/20 LD budget includes funding for both the full year effect of the 2018/19 overspend (based on the position at the time the
budget was prepared) and 2019/20 anticipated demand-related pressures. Despite this, an overspend of £612k is currently anticipated
after allowing for planned management action, and this is largely the result of recent new and increased care packages outpacing
expected growth.
The projected overspend has increased by £152k since May 2019 budget monitoring. While some care packages and costs have
reduced, a greater number has increased and demand is not currently being contained within budget. The service is facing a number of
pressures including increasing numbers of young people from children's services and more clients with highly complex needs.
The delivery of a balanced budget position in 2019/20 was dependent on the successful management of continued demand pressures,
rigorous gatekeeping and also delivery of 'tail-end' savings from the 'invest to save' work. The position will continue to be closely
scrutinised, with management action taken to mitigate the pressures where possible. The current forecast position assumes £150k is
saved as a result of management action (£447k in a full year).
There continues to be an element in the forecast based on future assumptions rather than actual data and this position may change in the
second half of the year. To avoid overstating projections a 'probability factor' has been applied to future assumptions to reflect
experience in previous years. This is on the basis that there tends to be slippage on planned start dates or clients aren't placed as
originally expected, however there is a risk attached to this in that the majority of placements may go ahead as planned.
There is a projected overspend on LD Care Management staffing of £140k (net). This arises mainly from the use of agency staff
covering vacancies and additional staff brought in to undertake review work. With the introduction of the new recruitment and retention
package for qualified care staff in Adult Social Care it is hoped that cost pressures arising from agency staff will reduce as the positive
impact of the package starts to take effect.
5. Mental Health (MH) - Dr £480k
Similar to Learning Disabilities above, the 2019/20 Mental Health budget includes funding for the full year effect of the 2018/19 overspend
based on the position at the time the budget was prepared.
An overspend of £480k is currently anticipated in 2019/20 which is a result of new and increased care packages exceeding clients
moving on, either to independent living or less intensive care packages. This is not the usual trend for Mental Health and the expected
'move through' is not currently evident. Clients with increasingly complex, forensic needs are increasing our reliance on expensive
placements. If the current pattern continues budget pressures will increase as the year progresses.
6. Better Care Fund (BCF) - Protection of Social Care Cr £595k
A number of local authority adult social care services are funded by an element of the Better Care Fund (BCF) set aside to protect social
care services. This includes funding previously received under the former Department of Health Social Care Grant.
These services are currently projected to underspend by £595k in 2019/20 and this has been used to offset other budget pressures within
social care in line with the intentions of the funding.
7. Better Care Fund (BCF) - Additional Pressures Cr £700k
Subject to Executive approval, £700k of BCF underspend carried forward from previous years has been allocated to offset additional cost
pressures within Adult Social Care. The use of this funding has been agreed with the CCG.

18

Page 35

APPENDIX 3B
8. National Living Wage - Cr £318k
An amount of £1,500k was allocated in the 2019/20 budget for the impact of National Living Wage. At present it is projected that £318k of
this amount will not be required.
9. Programmes Team - Cr £122k
The projected underspend relates mainly to part-year vacancies across the Programmes teams. The majority of posts are now filled and
the current vacancy level is lower than in recent months.
10. Information & Early Intervention - Cr £32k & Dr £32k
There are inflationary savings on several of the contracts funded from the Information & Early Intervention (I&EI) budget. The whole I&EI
budget (net) is funded from the element of the Better Care Fund set aside to protect social care services. This £32k underspend will
therefore be used to offset other budget pressures within social care in line with the intentions of the funding.
11. Better Care Fund (BCF) - Nil Variation
Other than variations on the protection of social care element, any underspends on Better Care Fund budgets will be carried forward for
spending in future years under the pooled budget arrangement with Bromley CCG.
Initial increases in the Better Care Fund (BCF) were announced as 1.79% which was included in the 2019/20 budget setting process.
However in July 2019 NHS England announced that the increase would rise to 5%. The difference is an additional £659k of BCF grant. It
is requested that these funds be drawn down in order for them to be utilised against new and existing BCF funded schemes.
12. Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF) - Nil Variation
The total amount of funding in 2019/20 is as follows:
£'000
1,677
1,191
3,967
11,471

2019/20 IBCF allocation - non-recurrent (year 3)
2019/20 Winter Pressures Grant
Carry forward from previous years

Of the above amount, £500k is held within the Council's central contingency and the balance is within People Department budgets.
13. Strategy, Performance & Engagement Division - Cr £104k
An underspend of £104k is anticipated on the People Department Strategy, Performance and Engagement Division. This has arisen
from part-year vacancies (Cr £84k) and underspends on central departmental running expenses (Cr £20k).
Waiver of Financial Regulations
The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules state that where the value of a contract exceeds £50k and is to be exempt from the normal
requirement to obtain competitive quotations the Chief Officer has to obtain the agreement of the Director of Corporate Services, the Director
of Finance and the Director of Commissioning and (where over £100,000) approval of the Portfolio Holder and report use of this exemption to
Audit Sub-Committee bi-annually.
Since the last report to the Executive, 2 waivers for Adult placements have been agreed for between £50k and £100k.
Virements Approved to date under Director's Delegated Powers
Details of virements actioned by Chief Officers under delegated authority under the Financial Regulations "Scheme of Virement" will be
included in financial monitoring reports to the Portfolio Holder. Since the last report to Executive, one virement has been agreed for the
funding of a post within Strategy, Performance and Engagement Division.

19

Page 36

APPENDIX 3B
Education, Children and Families Portfolio Budget Monitoring Summary
2018/19
Actuals

2019/20
Original
Budget
£'000

Service Areas

£'000

Cr

436
385
6,586
73
Cr
6
430
Cr 1,340
71

PEOPLE DEPARTMENT
Education Division
Adult Education Centres
Schools and Early Years Commissioning & QA
SEN and Inclusion
Strategic Place Planning
Workforce Development & Governor Services
Access & Inclusion
Schools Budgets
Other Strategic Functions

Cr

Cr
Cr

5,763
1,418
879
5,706
17,933
Cr
800
3,411
2,743
4,470
2,280

2019/20
Latest
Approved
£'000

409 Cr
676
7,829
98
30 Cr
527
1,264 Cr
28
7,455

Children's Social Care
Bromley Youth Support Programme
Early Intervention and Family Support
CLA and Care Leavers
Fostering, Adoption and Resources
Management action
Referral and Assessment Service
Safeguarding and Care Planning East
Safeguarding and Care Planning West
Safeguarding and Quality Improvement

38,040

409 Cr
676
7,816
98
30 Cr
527
1,264 Cr
18
7,432

2019/20 Variation Notes Variation
Projected
Last
Outturn
Reported
£'000
£'000
£'000

413 Cr
676
7,981
98
34 Cr
583
1,264
18
7,645

4
0
165
0
4
56
0
0

1

£'000

0
0
155
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Cr

155

0

4 Cr

0
0
83
439
186
336
187
529
90

0
0
50
660
186
142
242
698
145

Cr

2
3

213

Full Year
Effect

1,518
1,156
6,165
16,908
0
3,407
2,912
4,575
582

1,518
1,156
6,178
16,908
0 Cr
3,407
2,912
4,575
571

1,665
1,156
6,127 Cr
17,015
186 Cr
3,479
2,960
5,272
716

147
0
51
107
186
72
48
697
145

37,223

37,225

38,204

979

1,478

1,751

Cr

43,803

TOTAL CONTROLLABLE FOR EDUCATION, CHILDREN & FAMILIES

44,678

44,657

45,849

1,192

1,323

1,751

5,332
8,391
57,526

Total Non-Controllable
Total Excluded Recharges
TOTAL EDUCATION, CHILDREN & FAMILIES PORTFOLIO

1,819
8,678
55,175

1,819
0
8,678
55,154

1,819
8,678
56,346

0
0
1,192

0
1,323

0
0
1,751

9
24
38 Cr
104
97

107
53
6
42
11

105
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

178

207

105

0

Memorandum Item
Cr
Cr

85
8
6
52
93

Sold Services
Education Psychology Service (RSG Funded)
Education Welfare Service (RSG Funded)
Workforce Development (DSG/RSG Funded)
Community Vision Nursery (RSG Funded)
Blenheim Nursery (RSG Funded)

62

Total Sold Services

Cr
Cr
Cr

116 Cr
29 Cr
34 Cr
62
86

Cr

31 Cr

Reconciliation of Latest Approved Budget

116 Cr
29
32 Cr
62
86
29
£'000

Original Budget 2019/20

55,175

Carry forwards:
SEN Reforms Grant
- expenditure
- income
SEN Pathfinder Grant
- expenditure
- income
Early Years Grant
- expenditure
- income
Delivery Support Fund
- expenditure
- income
Step up to Social Work Cohort 6
- expenditure
- income
Reducing Parental Conflict
- expenditure
- income
FGM Focussed Outreach Grant
- expenditure
- income
Tackling Troubled Families
- expenditure
- income

Cr

55
55

Cr

8
8

Cr

15
15

Cr

27
27

Cr

48,000
48,000

Cr

40,100
40,100

Cr

10,135
10,135

510,768
Cr 510,768

Other:
Contributions to creation of Local Offer Development Officer

Cr

Latest Approved Budget for 2019/20

21
55,154

20

Page 37

5

REASONS FOR VARIATIONS
1. Special Education Needs (SEN) and Inclusion - Dr £165k
It is currently forecasted that the SEN Transport will overspend by £88k. This is split between staffing (£57k under) due to vacant posts in
the current structure and extra income (£94k) from service provided to other organisations. There is then an overspend of £239k for
providing the transport service.
The Education Psychologists are currently in the process of recruiting to the vacant posts in their team. This is causing the statutory
service they are required to provide to be underspent by £53k and the Trading Service they offer to the Schools to be overspent by £107k due to the use of expensive agency staff to provide the service. This is a net Overspend of £54k.
The remaining difference relates to staffing in this area that is currently forecasting an overspend of £23k.
2. Access & Inclusion - Dr £56k
The Education Welfare Service Trading Account is currently expected to under collect on it's income by £52k due to the loss of a number
of school contracts.
The remaining difference relates to staffing in this area that is currently forecasting an overspend by £4k.
3. Schools Budgets (no impact on General Fund)
Expenditure on Schools is funded through the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) provided by the Department for Education (DfE). DSG is
ring fenced and can only be applied to meet expenditure properly included in the Schools Budget. Any overspend or underspend must be
carried forward to the following years Schools Budget.
There is a current projected overspend in DSG of £877k. This will be added to the £2,495k carried forward from 2018/19. It was agreed
that £278k of the brought forward balance could be used to support services in-year. The carry forward figure will need to be adjusted for
the Early Year adjustment for 2018/19 of an additional £869k of grant. This gives us an estimated DSG balance of £2,209k at the end of
the financial year. It should be noted that the DSG can fluctuate due to pupils requiring additional services or being placed in expensive
placements. The Council are contributing £1.9m of core funding to DSG services in 2019/20 and potentially any underspend could be
used to minimise the Council contribution.
The in-year overspend is broken down as follows:£265k on modular classroom rentals during the year.
The budget for the 2 year old children is expected to overspend by £140k and this is being offset by an underspend for 3 & 4 years old
children (both standard 15 and the additional 15 hours) of £449k. Additionally there is a £13k overspend on the staffing budget that
supports this area. This is resulting in a net underspend of £296k.
There is an underspend of £24k in the Pupil Support Services area. This is due to vacant posts and the under use of agency and
consultancy costs to provide the service.
The Home and Hospital service has a pressure of £100k on agency due to demand led pressures in the service. This is likely to continue
to be an issue in future years.
The Education Welfare service is currently forecasting an underspend of £36k due to higher than expected income collection.
There is currently an expected overspend on High Needs Place and Top Up Funding of £210k. This is based on an overspend of £103k
for Place Funding, £95k for Top Up Funding and £12k for Nursery Funding.
Following changes to the 6th Form Grant Allocation for the 2019/20 academic year there is a pressure of £373k on this budget.
During the year there are a adjustments to the DSG, mainly due to updated recoupment figuresf the year. These are mostly around High
Needs Recoupment. The net effect of these changes has been an increase in the High Needs allocation of approximately £115k.
SEN placements are projected to underspend by a total of £234k. The underspend is being caused by the Independent Schools (£336k),
Out of Borough Primary Schools (£201k) and Out of Borough Secondary Schools (£607k). These underspends are then offset with
overspends on Out of Borough Special Schools (£762k) and Alternative Provisions (£148k).
Additional to the SEN Placements there is a £587k overspend on the Matrix Funding to mainstream schools.
The DSG funded element of SEN Transport is projected to overspend by £115k due to new routes that were established in the last year.
This forecast may change once the routes for the new academic year have been finalised. Due to the current funding regulations LBB are
not permitted to increase this budget from the previous year.
There is an underspend of £42k in the High Needs Pre-School Service due to staffing.
The Sensory Support Service and Darrick Wood Hearing Units are underspent by £25k, mainly due to staffing.
The SIPS and Outreach & Inclusion Services and Complex Needs Team are all currently projected to underspend. Most of the
underspend relates to lower than expected staffing costs, but there is also a small amount that relates to running costs that are not
expected to be incurred during the year. This is offset by similar overspends in the Pupil Support Service. The net effect of these cost
centres is a £30k underspend.
There is also a total small balance of overspends of £29k.
Variations

High Needs

21

Schools

Early Years

Central

Page 38

£'000
Classroom Hire
Free Early Education - 2 year olds
Free Early Education - 3 & 4 year olds (Inc. extra 15 hours)
Early Year Support
Primary Support Team
Home & Hospital
Education Welfare Officers
High Needs Place Funding
6th Form Grant Allocation Changes
Recoupment and Other Expected DSG Allocation Changes
Other Small Balances
SEN:
- Placements
- Matrix Funding
- Transport
- High Needs Pre-school Service
- Darrick Wood Hearing Unit
- SIPS
- Pupil Support Services
- Complex Needs Team
- Outreach & Inclusion Service
- Other Small SEN Balances
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

265
140
-449
13
-24
100
-36
210
373
-115
4

0
0
0
0
0
100
0
210
373
-115
-7

265
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3

0
140
-449
13
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
-24
0
-36
0
0
0
8

-234
587
115
-42
-25
-32
12
-23
13
25
877

-234
587
115
-42
-25
0
12
-23
13
-4
960

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
268

0
0
0
0
0
-32
0
0
0
0
-328

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
29
-23

There will continue to be pressures in the DSG from 2020/21 onwards, especially in the High Needs Block area. More children are coming
through the system which will put pressure on DSG resources. In 2018/19 DfE agreed that LBB could top slice £1m from the Schools DSG
to underpin the High Needs budget. A further request was put forward to DfE for 2019/20 and this was rejected and therefore additional
Council resources of £1.9m have contributed to the High Needs Block.
4. Children's Social Care - Dr £979k
The current budget variation for the Children and Families Division is projected to be an overspend of £979k. This is a reduction of £499k
in the overspend reported in May which was £1,478k , and is based on current levels of spending. Despite additional funding being
secured in the 2019/20 budget, continued increases in the number of children being looked after together with the high cost of some
placements has continued to put considerable strain on the budget.
Bromley Youth Support Programme - Dr £147k
This variation relates to the Business Partnership budget for income , with income from other departments and schools significantly below
the budget.
CLA and Care Leavers - Cr £51k
The projected underspend in this area relates to an overspend of £50k on staffing costs, arising as a result of the use of more expensive
agency staff . Offsetting this are underspends on accommodation costs in relation to the Staying Put scheme of £24k, CLA costs of £60k
and accommodation and support costs and related housing benefit income of the 18+ age group of £17k.
Fostering, Adoption and Resources - Cr £79k ( net of management action )
The budget for children's placements is currently projected to overspend by £107k this year, a fall from the reported overspend of £439k in
May, with management action of £186k reducing this to an underspend of £79k.. The analysis of this over the various placement types is
shown below , with the May position shown in brackets.
- Community Home's / Community Home's with Education - Cr £744k (Cr £3k)
- Boarding Schools - Dr £47k (Cr £153k)
- Placement Support services - Dr £149k (Dr £163k)
- Secure Accommodation - Cr £348k (£0k)
- Youth on Remand - Cr £146k (£0k)
- Fostering services (IFA's) - Dr £1,357k (Dr £561k)
- Fostering services (In-house, including SGO's and Kinship) - Cr £206k (Cr £160k)
- Adoption placements - Cr £2k (Dr £31k)
The projections include an estimation of further costs for the year of children coming into care. Also included in the variations above are
(1) Bromley CCG have continued to contribute £1m this year towards the continuing care costs of placements and have committed to a
further £900k in 2019/20. (2) additional funding for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children due to the 2019-20 change in daily
allowance from £91 to £114/day. this equates to an additional £8,400 per annum for each UASC child, assuming they are in all the
financial year.
The main pressure area continues to be the number of placements being made into Independent Fostering agencies (IFA) which on
average cost £20k more than an in-house fostering placement.
Management action of £186k is also included further reducing the projected spend, this relates to moving placements from residential care
settings to in-house fostering. This target was originally £400k and £214k of this has already been achieved.
Referral and Assessment Service - Dr £72k

22

Page 39

The projected overspend in this area relates to staffing costs , which are £142k overspent as a result of the use of agency staff. This is
offset by an underspend on the No Recourse to Public Funds budget of £70k, with actual numbers continuing to remain under budget.
Safeguarding and Care Planning East - Dr £48k
The projected overspend in this area relates to staffing costs , which are £242k overspent as a result of the use of agency staff. This is
offset by an underspend on Public Law Outline costs which is projected to underspend by £194k, as the call on this budget has reduced.
Safeguarding and Care Planning West- Dr £697k
Of the projected overspend in this area, £148k relates to staffing costs and arises as a result of the use of agency staff which cost more
than a permanent member of staff. There is a £549k projected overspend in direct payments for children with disabilities, with several high
cost packages of care being paid. This is an increase on the projections in May.
Safeguarding and Quality Improvement - Dr £145k
The projected overspend in this area relates to staffing costs and arises as a result of the use of agency staff which cost more than a
permanent member of staff.
5. Sold Services (net budgets)
Services sold to schools are separately identified in this report to provide clarity in terms of what is being provided. These accounts are
shown as memorandum items as the figures are included in the appropriate Service Area in the main report.
Waiver of Financial Regulations
The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules state that where the value of a contract exceeds £50k and is to be exempt from the normal
requirement to obtain competitive quotations the Chief Officer has to obtain the agreement of the Director of Corporate Services, the
Director of Finance and the Director of Commissioning and (where over £100,000) approval of the Portfolio Holder and report use of this
exemption to Audit Sub-Committee bi-annually. Since the last report to the Executive, there has been one waiver in the Education area
with an annual value of less than £30k. In Children's Social Care there were 8 waivers agreed for placements of between £50k and £100k
and 7 for more than £100k.
Virements Approved to date under Director's Delegated Powers
Details of virements actioned by Chief Officers under delegated authority under the Financial Regulations "Scheme of Virement" will be
included in financial monitoring reports to the Portfolio Holder. Since the last report to Executive, there have been no virements

23

Page 40

APPENDIX 3C

Environment & Community Portfolio Budget Monitoring Summary
2018/19
Actuals

Service Areas

£'000

2019/20
2019/20
Original
Latest
Budget Approved
£'000
£'000

2019/20
Projected
Outturn
£'000

Variation Notes

Variation
Last
Reported
£'000

£'000

Full Year
Effect
£'000

PLACE DEPARTMENT

5,328
368
17,096
4,289
1,172
802
29,055

Street Scene & Green Spaces
Parks and Green Spaces
Business Support and Markets
Waste Services
Street Environment
Management and Contract Support
Trees

5,441
349
17,833
5,288
1,255
769
30,935

5,507
349
17,913
5,647
1,093
769
31,278

5,519
321
17,813
5,627
1,134
779
31,193

746
746

727
727

727
727

334
Cr 7,539
6,818
Cr 387

334
Cr 7,539
6,528
Cr 677

225 Cr
Cr 7,355
6,467 Cr
Cr 663

109
184
61
14

31,294

31,328

31,257 Cr

71

4,378 TOTAL NON-CONTROLLABLE

6,051

6,051

6,066

15

2,618 TOTAL EXCLUDED RECHARGES

2,357

2,357

2,357

39,702

39,736

527
527

234
Cr 7,499
6,175
Cr 1,090

Transport Operations and Depot
Transport Operations and Depot Management

Traffic, Parking & Highways
Traffic & Road Safety
Parking
Highways (including London Permit Scheme)

28,492 TOTAL CONTROLLABLE

35,488 PORTFOLIO TOTAL

Reconciliation of Latest Approved Budget

Cr

39,680 Cr

12
28
100
20
41
10
85

1
2
3
4
5
6

0
8
7
0
0
0
15

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0

0
0

40
193
0
153

0
0
0
0

138

0

13

0

0

0

0

56

151

0

Cr
Cr

Cr

0
0

7
8-12
13

Cr

14

£'000

Original Budget 2019/20

39,702

Carry Forward Requests approved from 2018/19
Green Garden Waste Direct Debits
Central Contingency Adjustments
Inflation adjustment
Savings - review of staffing
B/R Parks Contract related storage and Premises
Savings to be allocated – review of staffing
Cross Portfolio movement relating to Review of Staffing

Cr
Cr
Cr

120

Cr
Cr

Latest Approved Budget for 2019/20

70
207
25
54
80

39,736

24

Page 41

REASONS FOR VARIATIONS
1. Parks and Green Spaces Dr £12k
Overall there is a projected overspend of £12k for Parks and Green Spaces. This consists of £20k additional licence income
and £3k underspend on staffing. Plus additional spend of £11k for temporary Enforcement Officers to cover vacancies.
A VAT discrepancy relating to floral bed sponsorship, backdated to 2016, has recently been corrected resulting in a current
year deficit of £24k.
Summary of variations within Parks:
Underspend on Staffing
Additional licence income from café at High Elms
Adjustment of VAT for floral bedding sponsorship income
Additional charge for temporary Enforcement Officers
Total variation for Parks

Cr
Cr

£'000
3
20
24
11
12

2. Business Support and Markets Cr £28k
Income relating to Bromley market pitch fees is forecast to underachieve by approximately £15k. There is a small
underspend of £8k against staffing within Street Regulation due to in year vacancies. Income generated through advertising
and recoveries will overachieve by a projected £19k in line with 2018/19. Street Licence income is projected to exceed
budget by £16k based on invoices raised to date.
Summary of variations within Business Support and Markets:
Underachievement of market pitch fees
Underspend on staffing
Overachievement of recoveries income
Overachievement of advertising Income
Overachievement of Street Traders' Licences Income
Total variations for Business Support and Markets

Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr

£'000
15
8
5
14
16
28

3. Waste Services Cr £100k
Based on latest tonnage, the contract disposal cost is expected to be £570k below budget, mainly as a direct result of the
reduction in numbers of trade waste customers and a decrease in residential tonnage. This is partly offset by a £243k cost
relating to the disposal of extra tonnage of recyclates.
There is an anticipated reduction in recyclate income of £141k. This is a result of a reduction in paper tonnage and a
projected loss of income due to a decrease in price indices, particularly effecting paper and card, during the later part of the
Financial Year.
Within trade waste collection there is a net projected shortfall of income of £116k mainly due to a higher customer dropout
compared to the level expected, mostly for commercial customers. This is partly offset by £20k reduction on the collection
contract cost.
There is a small overspend associated with Green Garden Waste. The collection contract will overspend by £29k with
overachievement of income of £21k resulting in a net cost of £8k
Summary of overall variations within Waste Services
Reduction in disposal cost
Increase in cost of processing additional recyclates
Reduction in recyclate income
Shortfall in trade waste collection income
Reduction in collection contract cost
Green Garden Waste
Other minor adjustments
Total variation for Waste Services

Cr

Cr
Cr
Cr

£'000
570
243
141
116
20
8
18
100

4. Street Environment Cr £20k
There is a projected underspend of £20k on staffing relating to part year vacancies.
5. Management and Contract Support Dr £41k

Page 42

Staffing is projected to overspend due to agency staff employed above establishment to provide contract monitoring
support. This is partly offset by other staff vacancies and small underspends on supplies and services.
6. Trees Dr £10k
Expenditure relating to the tree maintenance contract is forecast to overspend by £25k this Financial Year because of a
significant backlog of jobs. The current contractor has been given permission to use additional resources to clear these.
This is offset by a £55k underspend relating to 'in house' staffing due to two vacant arboricultural officer posts.
Consequently annual tree surveys are being procured through outside contractors which will cost approx. £30k and
additional post advertisement fees of £10k.
Summary of Overall Variations within Trees
Underspend on Staffing
Staff Advertising
Additional Tree Maintenance Contract Costs
Cost of Tree Surveys

Cr

£'000
55
10
25
30
10

7. Traffic & Road Safety Cr £109k
There is a projected underspend of £109k, mainly due to £105k of additional income received from road closure charges
following a spike in the number of applications from utility companies to undertake infrastructure work. It is not expected
this volume of activity will continue into 2020/21.
Parking
8. Income from Bus Lane Contraventions Dr £46k
There is a projected deficit of £46k on the deployable automated cameras in bus lanes for 2019/20. In part this is due to two
periods of closure and diversion in Bromley High Street for streetworks. This closure along with camera issues in
Shortlands and road works in Crystal Palace have resulted in a loss of income this Financial Year.
9. Off/On Street Car Parking Dr £260k
A shortfall of £322k is forecast for Off and On Street parking income. This is mainly due to a continued downward trend in
parking usage, in particular the off street and multi-storey car parks.
Rental income of £6k is expected for High Street car cleaning services and retail collection lockers located at multi-storey
car parks.
Additional income of £48k is projected to be received from cashless parking fees, as use of this service continues to grow.
Income generated from bay suspensions is expected to over-achieve by £7k, however this is partially offset by a deficit in
dispensations income of £3k.
There are defaults of £10k against Off and On Street parking to date.

Summary of variations within Off/On Street Car Parking
Off/On Street Car Parking income
Cashless Parking & Convenience Fees
Bay Suspensions
Dispensations
Defaults
Total variations within Off/On Street Parking

OFF ST
ON ST
Total
£'000
£'000
£'000
172
150
322
Cr
16 Cr
32 Cr
48
Cr
7 Cr
7
3
3
Cr
3 Cr
7 Cr
10
152
108
260

10. Permit Parking Cr £36k
Current activity levels indicate a potential increase of £36k for permit parking, following the implementation of price
increases from 1 April 2019.
11. Car Parking Enforcement Cr £40k

Page 43

Currently there is a projected overachievement of income of £25k from Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) issued by Civil
Enforcement Officers (CEOs). The contractor has supplied additional CEOs at their own cost following concerns about Q1
PCN numbers. This is partially offset by a £6k deficit on PCNs issued from CCTV enforcement cameras. Officers have
identified cameras to be relocated, and 5 new cameras were deployed at schools in September. It is currently too early to
predict the effect of these.
There are defaults on the Enforcement contract costs of around Cr £21k.
Summary of variations within Car Parking Enforcement
PCNs issued by CEOs
PCNs issued from CCTV enforcement camera
Enforcement defaults
Total variations within Car Parking Enforcement

Cr
Cr
Cr

£'000
25
6
21
40

12. Parking Shared Service Cr £60k
There is an anticipated underspend of £60k relating to the parking shared service mainly due to vacant posts across the two
boroughs.
Summary of overall variations within Parking:
Bus Routes Enforcement
Off Street Car Parking
On Street Car Parking
Permit Parking
Car Parking Enforcement
Parking Shared Services
Other Minor Expenditure Variations
Total variation for Parking

Cr
Cr
Cr

£'000
46
152
108
36
40
60
14
184

13. Highways- Including London Permit Scheme Cr £61k
There is a forecast £39k underspend on staffing, mainly due to reduced hours and part year vacancies.
New Roads and Street Works Act (NRSWA) income is projected to underachieve by £19k. This is made up of a £36k
shortfall relating to Defect notices as a result of improved performance by utility companies, offset by a surplus of Section 74
income as utility companies are taking longer than agreed to complete works. Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) are anticipated
to result in a £8k overspend this Financial Year.
Summary of variations on NRSWA Income:
Defects
Section 74 Notices
Fixed Penalty Notices
Total variation for NRSWA

Cr

£'000
36
25
8
19

There is a total of £18k received from vehicles sold at commercial vehicle auctions. Other small variations produce a £23k
underspend, this includes variations within materials and car allowances.
14. Non-controllable Dr £15k
There is a projected £15k shortfall of income within the property rental income budget. Property division are
accountable for these variations.
Waiver of Financial Regulations:
The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules state that where the value of a contract exceeds £50k and is to be exempt from the
normal requirement to obtain competitive quotations the Chief Officer has to obtain the agreement of the Director of
Corporate Services, the Director of Finance and the Director of Commissioning and (where over £100,000) approval of the
Portfolio Holder and report use of this exemption to Audit Sub committee bi-annually. Since the last report to the Executive,
no waivers have been actioned.
Virements Approved to date under Director's Delegated Powers
Details of virements actioned by Chief Officers under delegated authority under the Financial Regulations "Scheme of
Virement" will be included in financial monitoring reports to the Portfolio Holder. Since the last report to Executive, no
virements have been actioned.

Page 44

APPENDIX 3D

Public Protection & Enforcement Budget Monitoring Summary
2018/19
Actuals

Service Areas

£'000

2019/20
Original
Budget
£'000

2019/20
Latest
Approved
£'000

2019/20 Variation Notes
Projected
Outturn
£'000
£'000

Variation
Last
Reported
£'000

Full Year
Effect

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

£'000

PLACE DEPARTMENT

128
95
534
1,480

Public Protection
Community Safety
Emergency Planning
Mortuary & Coroners Service
Public Protection

155
154
566
1,572

155
154
526
1,752

196
128 Cr
526
1,746 Cr

2,237

TOTAL CONTROLLABLE

2,447

2,587

2,596

9

0

0

13

13

13

0

0

0

871

871

871

0

0

0

3,331

3,471

3,480

9

0

0

281

TOTAL NON CONTROLLABLE

492

TOTAL EXCLUDED RECHARGES

3,010

PORTFOLIO TOTAL

Reconciliation of Latest Approved Budget

£'000

Original Budget 2019/20
Carry Forward Requests approved from 2018/19
Asset Recovery Incentivisation Scheme - Income
Asset Recovery Incentivisation Scheme - Expenditure
Additional ECS resources - delay in recruitment
Other
Transfer of post from Chief Executive
Cross portfolio movement relating to Review of Staffing
Mortuary Contract element returned to Contingency

41
26
0
6

3,331

Cr

Cr
Cr

Latest Approved Budget for 2019/20

48
48
163

20
3
40
3,471

28

Page 45

1
2
3

REASONS FOR VARIATIONS
1. Community Safety Dr £41k
Expenses are anticipated to overspend by £41k this Financial Year as there is currently a requirement to fund 3
homicide reviews.
2. Emergency Planning Cr £26k
There is a projected £26k underspend relating to staffing due to a 'one off' budget allocation not being utilised
this Financial Year.
3. Public Protection Cr £6k
There is a £99k underspend relating to staffing. The Service is currently undergoing a staffing restructure and
posts have been kept vacant to facilitate this process. The restructure is anticipated to take effect from
September. At which point posts will be recruited to and the budget fully utilised.
A number of bespoke, one off, projects and reviews will be purchased this Financial Year in order to maximise
service delivery and to ensure statutory requirements are fully met. The estimated cost of these totals £133k.
These include:
Review outstanding needs of Community safety including relevant software for analytics £20k
Temp to establish risk rating scheme of all licensed premises and carry out inspection of all risk rated Licensed
premises A-C approx. £30k
Project to identify unlicensed premises (special treatments etc) borough wide (approx.) £18k
Temp to fix historical issues with Part B process register and permits approx. £20k
Carry out CCTV asset review approx. £5k
Carry CCTV Service review approx. £10k
Housing enforcement project (risk in this area) including metastreet to identify all unlicensed HMOs across the
borough, record visits in real time etc £30k
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) License income is forecast to overachieve budget by £40k and it is
anticipated that project work to be undertaken will increase achievable income.
Waiver of Financial Regulations:
The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules state that where the value of a contract exceeds £50k and is to be
exempt from the normal requirement to obtain competitive quotations the Chief Officer has to obtain the
agreement of the Director of Corporate Services, the Director of Finance and the Director of Commissioning and
(where over £100,000) approval of the Portfolio Holder and report use of this exemption to Audit Sub committee
bi-annually. Since the last report to the Executive the following waiver has been actioned:
1) £45k for a 6 months extension of the Coroners Post Mortem & Mortuary Services contract (April to September
2019), cumulative value £542k.
Virements Approved to date under Director's Delegated Powers
Details of virements actioned by Chief Officers under delegated authority under the Financial Regulations
"Scheme of Virement" will be included in financial monitoring reports to the Portfolio Holder. Since the last report
to Executive, no virements have been actioned.

29

Page 46

APPENDIX 3E

Renewal, Recreation & Housing Budget Monitoring Summary
2018/19
Actuals

Division
Service Areas

£'000

2019/20
Original
Budget
£'000

2019/20
Latest
Approved
£'000

2019/20 Variation Notes Variation
Projected
Last
Outturn
Reported
£'000
£'000
£'000

Full Year
Effect
£'000

PLACE DEPARTMENT

Cr
Cr

11
127
1,577

Planning
Building Control
Land Charges
Planning

Cr

1,439

1,923
4,859
132

Recreation
Culture
Libraries
Town Centre Management & Business Support

6,914

939
8,784
0
Cr 1,149
188

Housing
Supporting People
Housing Needs
Enabling Activities
Housing Benefits
Housing Improvement

TOTAL CONTROLLABLE

1,844

TOTAL NON CONTROLLABLE

5,655

TOTAL EXCLUDED RECHARGES

24,614

PORTFOLIO TOTAL

88
125 Cr
1,659

60 Cr
125
1,611 Cr

28
0
48

1,670

1,622

1,546 Cr

76

933
4,921
133

932
4,940
103

932
4,940
103

5,987

5,975

5,975

1,004
8,827
1 Cr
1,913 Cr
212

912 Cr
9,055
1
1,913
212

92
228
0
0
0

8,358

8,129

8,265

136

Cr

94

27

16,015

15,726

15,786

60

Cr

189

27

266

8

8

0

0

0

181

27

1,004
9,059
Cr
1 Cr
Cr 1,913 Cr
209

8,762
17,115

88
125 Cr
1,707

Cr

274 Cr

274 Cr

Cr

83
0
12

0
0
0

Cr

95

0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0

0

0

6,283

6,233

6,233

0

22,024

21,685

21,753

68

Reconciliation of Latest Approved Budget

1
2

3
4

22,024

Carry Forward Requests approved from 2018/19
Planning Strategy & Projects - Custom Build Grant - Income
Planning Strategy & Projects - Custom Build Grant - Expenditure
Asset Recovery Incentivisation Scheme - Income
Asset Recovery Incentivisation Scheme - Expenditure
New Homes Bonus
Fire Safety Grant - Expenditure
Fire Safety Grant - Income
Implementing Welfare Reform Changes - Expenditure
Implementing Welfare Reform Changes - Income
Flexible Homeless Grant - Expenditure
Flexible Homeless Grant - Income
Homelessness Reduction Act - Expenditure
Homelessness Reduction Act - Income

Cr

Cr

60
60
85
85
118
43
43
55
55
41
41
89
89

Cr
Cr
Cr

49
331
77

Cr

Cr
Cr
Cr

Central Contingency Adjustments
Savings - review of staffing
Housing Growth - variation to budget assumptions
Cross Portfolio movement relating to Review of Staffing
Latest Approved Budget for 2019/20

21,685

30

Cr

5

£'000

Original budget 2019/20

Cr

Page 47

Cr

116 Cr
22
0
0
0

116
143
0
0
0

REASONS FOR VARIATIONS
1. Building Control Cr £28k
The chargeable service currently has a projected income deficit of £212k. This is offset by a projected underspend within
salaries of £109k arising from reduced hours / vacancies. To address the income deficit, a price increase is expected to be
implemented in November, as fees are currently deemed low compared to other authorities. In accordance with Building
Account Regulations, the net deficit of around £103k will be drawn down from the earmarked reserve for the Building Control
Charging Account. The net balance of earmarked reserve will therefore reduce from Cr £192k to Cr £89k.
Within the non-chargeable service there is a projected underspend of £28k relating to part year vacancies.
2. Planning Cr £48k
There is a projected £229k underspend on staffing due to part year vacancies. Posts are currently being recruited to.
Income from non-major planning applications is currently below budget and a shortfall of around £150k is projected. The
London Plan is due to come into effect in early 2020 and new housing targets will increase. It is anticipated that developers are
currently delaying applications in order to increase their chances for approval against the raised targets.
A balanced budget is projected for major applications at this stage of the year. Income is received irregularly during the year
and it is therefore difficult to predict the outturn figure at this stage. This budget will be closely monitored over the next few
months.
There is projected underachievement of income of £24k from pre-application meetings. Income has dropped compared to
earlier months.
Current projections for cost awards on major appeals this Financial Year is approximately £57k. This is offset by previous cost
awards which were settled below estimations, resulting in a projected nil variance for the year.
There is an anticipated additional £7k cost relating to spend on legal fees for the Local Plan appeal.
Summary of variations within Planning:
Underspend on Staffing
Shortfall income from non-major applications
Surplus on pre-application planning income
Cost on major appeal
Consultancy costs on Local and London plan
Total variation for Planning

Cr

Cr

£'000
229
150
24
0
7
48

3. Supporting People Cr £92k
A £92k underspend is currently forecast in the Supporting People area. A number of the contracts were renegotiated and
extended recently with a start date in this financial year. This has resulted in the higher underspend than in the previous year.
The extensions were only for a few years and the contracts will be starting their re-tendering process during this year.
4. Housing Needs Dr £228k
There is currently a projected overspend of £103k in Temporary Accommodation budgets. This is mostly due to a forecasted
under collection of income compared to the budget, mainly as a result of under-occupation at the ex-residential care homes,
Bellegrove and Manorfields.
At the start of the year the number of households in Nightly Paid Accommodation was 907. By the end of September that
number had risen to 923 - an increase of 16 during the year. It is currently expected that this will increase to 953 by the end of
the financial year (based on a net increase of 5 per month), at an average cost of around £6,500 per property per annum. In
addition, the proportion of 2 bed Temporary Accommodation properties that are required has been increasing, from just under
37.5% in May to now just over 39.5%.
These figures exclude other schemes like More Homes Bromley, Orchard & Shipman Private Sector Leasing, ex-residential
care homes, and the Bromley Private Sector Leasing Scheme. Once these are included there are currently around 1,600
households in Temporary Accommodation.
By necessity there has been an increased use of non-self-contained accommodation outside of London. Although on the face
of it this appears beneficial as the charges are lower, the Housing Benefit subsidy is capped at the January 2011 Local Housing
Allowance (LHA) rates, thus often making these placements more costly than those in London, especially when moving and
furniture costs are factored in.
The Travellers budget is overspending by £54k and this is due to one of the sites experiencing high use of utilities and
maintenance costs (overspend of £32k) due to the site not having meters and loss of income (£22k) due to rent arrears.
The support needed to introduce the new Housing Information System in this financial year is causing a £32k pressure on the
budget.

31

Page 48

There has been a reduction of income relating to the Choice Based Letting advertising (£26k) due to reduced demand from
Housing Associations.
The remaining £13k net overspend relates to minor variations in staffing, recruitment and running costs.
Summary of variations within Housing Needs:
Temporary Accommodation
Travellers Sites
Housing Information System
Choice Based Letting
Other Variations
Total variation for Housing Needs

£'000
103
54
32
26
13
228

5. Non-controllable Dr £8k
There is a projected £8k shortfall of income within the property rental income budget. Property division are accountable for
these variations.
Waiver of Financial Regulations:
The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules state that where the value of a contract exceeds £50k and is to be exempt from the
normal requirement to obtain competitive quotations the Chief Officer has to obtain the agreement of the Director of Corporate
Services, the Director of Finance and the Director of Commissioning and (where over £100,000) approval of the Portfolio
Holder and report use of this exemption to Audit Sub committee bi-annually. Since the last report to the Executive the following
waiver has been actioned:
1) £308k for a 3 year contract for the Document Management System and Uniform management software with Idox, via the
Data and Applications Solutions framework.
Virements Approved to date under Director's Delegated Powers
Details of virements actioned by Chief Officers under delegated authority under the Financial Regulations "Scheme of
Virement" will be included in financial monitoring reports to the Portfolio Holder. Since the last report to Executive, no
virements have been actioned.

32

Page 49

APPENDIX 3F
Resources, Commissioning & Contracts Management Portfolio Budget Monitoring Summary
2018/19
Actuals
£'000

2019/20
Original
Budget
£'000

2019/20
Latest
Approved
£'000

2019/20
Projected
Outturn
£'000

236
6,868
2,003
513
1,465
726

Variation

Notes

£'000

Variation
Last
Reported
£'000

Full Year
Effect

0
13
0
12
22
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

Cr

47

0

Cr

60

0

£'000

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S DEPARTMENT
224
6,462
1,867
407
1,528
642

FINANCIAL SERVICES DIVISION
Director of Finance & Other
Exchequer - Revenue & Benefits
Exchequer - Payments & Income
Financial Accounting
Management Accounting
Audit

236
6,778
1,990
536
1,633
678

236
6,872
1,995
536
1,549
732

11,130

Total Financial Services Division

11,851

Cr
Cr
Cr

0
4
8
23
84
6

11,920

11,811 Cr

109

Cr

Cr
1
2

Cr
Cr

CORPORATE SERVICES DIVISION
4,809

Information Systems & Telephony

5,410

5,755

5,596 Cr

159

3

933
1,406
2,054

Legal Services & Democracy
Electoral
Democratic Services
Legal Services

363
1,447
1,889

363
1,447
1,906

363
1,384 Cr
2,114

0
63
208

4
5

0
0
197

0
0
0

127

Management and Other (Corporate Services)

133

141

159

18

6

9

0

568

Procurement & Data Management
Procurement & Data Management

477

517

496 Cr

21

7

0

0

9,897

Total Corporate Services Division

9,719

10,129

10,112 Cr

17

146

0

1,904

2,058

2,052 Cr

6

0

0

1,006
106 Cr

1,006
106 Cr

1,006
133 Cr

0
27

0
0

0
0

2,804

2,958

2,925 Cr

33

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
0
0

0
0
0

HR AND CUSTOMER SERVICE DIVISION

Cr

1,836

Human Resources

1,024
57

Customer Services
Customer Service Centre
Registration of Births, Deaths & Marriages

2,803

Total HR & Customer Services Division

Cr

8

COMMISSIONING

Cr

529

Commissioning

479

280

263 Cr

17

529

Total Commissioning

479

280

263 Cr

17

129
657
141

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S DIVISION
Comms
Management and Other (C. Exec)
Mayoral

196
663
158

196
769
163

195 Cr
741 Cr
158 Cr

1
28
5

927

Total Chief Executive's Division

1,094 Cr

34

0

0

0
0

0
0

0
0

210

99

0

1,017

1,128

3,461
11,374

CENTRAL ITEMS
CDC & Non Distributed Costs (Past Deficit etc.)
Concessionary Fares

3,986
11,409

3,986
11,409

3,986
11,409

40,121

TOTAL CONTROLLABLE CE DEPT

41,265

41,810

41,600 Cr

636

Cr 16,373
23,112

TOTAL NON CONTROLLABLE
TOTAL EXCLUDED RECHARGES

2,679
Cr

TOTAL CE DEPARTMENT

2,679

9

10

2,679

0

0

0

17,909 Cr

17,859 Cr 17,859

0

0

0

26,035

26,630

26,420 Cr

210

99

0

0
30
0
0
17
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

ENVIRONMENT & COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT

Cr

2,247
604
1,091
458
658
2,094

Total Facilities Management
Admin Buildings & Facilities Support
Investment & Non-Operational Property
Strategic & Operational Property Services
TFM Client Monitoring Team
Other Rental Income - Other Portfolios
Repairs & Maintenance (All LBB)

5,836

TOTAL CONTROLLABLE ECS DEPT

1,385

TOTAL NON CONTROLLABLE

Cr

2,424
217
1,137
400
1,538 Cr
2,135

2,433
193
1,146
400
1,538 Cr
2,135

2,425 Cr
211
1,146
362 Cr
1,530
2,135

8
18
0
38
8
0

4,775

4,769

4,749 Cr

20

47

0

379

379

379

0

0

0

11
12
13

Cr

3,816

TOTAL EXCLUDED RECHARGES

Cr

3,435 Cr

3,435 Cr

3,435

0

0

0

Cr

1,552
658

Less: R&M allocated across other Portfolios
Less: Rent allocated across other Portfolios

Cr

1,533 Cr
1,538

1,533 Cr
1,538

1,533
1,530 Cr

0
8

0
17

0
0

2,511

TOTAL ECS DEPARTMENT

25,623

TOTAL RESOURCES PORTFOLIO

Cr

1,724

1,718

1,690 Cr

28

30

0

27,759

28,348

28,110 Cr

238

129

0

33

Page 50

APPENDIX 3F

Reconciliation of Latest Approved Budget

£'000

Original budget 2019/20
Carry Forward Requests approved from 2018/19

27,759

Audit - Blue Badge Investigations
IS&T GDPR
Merit Awards
HR Info System - GDPR
Rev & Bens retendering of contract
Upgrade of Academy System

54
311
24
20
91
98

Central Contingency Adjustments
Inflation adjustment
Savings / Review of Staffing
Rev & Bens retendering of contract no longer required
Inflation adjustment no longer required
Drawdown of Staff Merit Awards

Cr
Cr
Cr

52
284
91
37
200

Other Budget Movements
Business Support posts transferred from People department
Policy & Projects posts transferred from People department
Post transferred to PPE

Cr

Latest Approved Budget for 2019/20

59
112
20
28,348

34

Page 51

REASONS FOR VARIATIONS
FINANCIAL SERVICES DIVISION
1. Financial Accounting Cr £23k
There is a £54k projected underspend due to staffing vacancies. Recruitment is underway for these vacant posts. There are
also other minor variations in expenditure and income totalling £31k.
2. Management Accounting Cr £84k
Staffing costs are projected to be £133k below budget due to part year vacancies across the teams within this area. Interviews
are ongoing with regards to a number of posts and a new Head of Finance is due to start in November following a short gap in
this post being held. There is additional expenditure of £49k anticipated in respect of the Financial Systems review.

CORPORATE SERVICES DIVISION
3. Information Systems and Telephony Cr £159k
There is an anticipated underspend of £159k for the year within the Information Management team mostly attributable to staff
costs. £90k is due to the further delay in recruiting to the GDPR posts and £27k from part year vacancies plus minor variations
within permanent staffing salaries against budget. It is requested that £90k is carried forward at year end in respect of the
temporary GDPR posts in order to fund the full 18 month period for each post. There is a £42k underspend against system
development costs also related to GDPR due to delays in procuring the required systems.
4. Democratic Services Cr £63k
Staffing costs are projected to be approximately £15k below budget due to a part year vacancy. Interviews are to be held
shortly. Members allowances are anticipated to total £46k under budget based on current projections. There is a further £2k
underspend across various supplies and services of minor variations.
5. Legal Services Dr £208k
It is estimated that the impact of additional childcare cases plus further property related commercial cases and planning cases
in relation to the Local Plan will generate an overspend of around £215k on Counsel fees & court costs. There likely to be
minor underspends of £7k across the service.
6. Management and Other (Corporate Services) Dr £18k
There is an anticipated overspend of £18k for the year.
7. Procurement & Data Management Cr £21k
An underspend of £21k is expected within staffing. This is due to staff working reduced hours and other minor variations
against budget.

HR AND CUSTOMER SERVICE DIVISION
8. Registration of Births, Deaths & Marriages Cr £27k
Additional staffing costs of £8k are anticipated due to the requirement of casual staff throughout the year. This is expected to
be offset by an increased level of income of £35k, achieved as a result of ongoing promotional and marketing activities.
COMMISSIONING
9. Commissioning Cr £17k
There is a £12k underspend in staffing due to part year vacancies and staff maternity leave being taken in the first half of the
year. In addition to this there is a £5k underspend on training expenses which is not anticipated to take place in 2019/20.

35

Page 52

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S DIVISION
10. Management and Other (C. Exec) Cr 28k
There is an underspend of £13k due to the London Councils Joint Committee for 2019/20 subscription cost being lower than
budgeted.
There is a further £13k underspend in staffing. £9k of this relates to a part year vacancy which has now been filled and other
minor variations, £4k relates to leased car costs not incurred in 2019/20.
The long service award rewards employees who have reached 25 years of service. There will be 24 recipients in total for
2019/20 with the cost anticipated to be lower than budgeted, resulting in a £2k underspend.
Summary of variations
London Councils Joint Committee
Staffing
Long Service Award

£’000
Cr 13
Cr 13
Cr 2

Total variation

Cr 28

ENVIRONMENT & COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT
TOTAL FACILITIES MANAGEMENT DIVISION
11. Investment & Non-Operational Property (expenditure) Dr £18k
The budget for Surplus Properties is expected to overspend by £28k due to services charges due on vacant properties,
including Market Square. This is offset by an anticipated underspend of £10k in various premises costs and other supplies.
12. TFM Client Monitoring Team - Cr £38k
There is a likely underspend of £38k for the TFM monitoring team. This is due to £34k in staffing following a part year vacancy
which has now been filled, plus other minor variations. There has also been £4k of energy rebates received.
13. Other Rental Income - Other Portfolios - Dr £8k
There is an overall shortfall of income projected of £8k. This is due to £10k from Bromley BID vacating the Central Library,
plus minor shortfalls in Parks, Parking and Depot rental income of £11k being partially offset by an increase in rent of £13k at
the Bromley Youth Music Trust following a rent review.
Waiver of Financial Regulations:
The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules state that where the value of a contract exceeds £50k and is to be exempt from the
normal requirement to obtain competitive quotations the Chief Officer has to obtain the agreement of the Director of Corporate
Services, the Director of Finance and the Director of Commissioning and (where over £100,000) approval of the Portfolio
Holder and report use of this exemption to Audit Sub committee bi-annually. Since the last report to the Executive the following
waiver has been actioned:
1) Award of contract regarding subscription of the Jadu CXM case management software totalling £212k for a period of 4 years
and approve renewal via the G-Cloud 10 Framework , via exemption to competitive tender, of existing annual support
arrangements for the associated IT software components of the Council’s website.

2) Award of contract for the procurement of the replacement MFD’s, via call off from a compliant framework, with Canon for an
equipment leasing arrangement for a three year period commencing September 2019 totalling £395k for the full period.
Virements Approved to date under Director's Delegated Powers
Details of virements actioned by Chief Officers under delegated authority under the Financial Regulations "Scheme of
Virement" will be included in financial monitoring reports to the Portfolio Holder. Since the last report to Executive the following
virement was made;
1) £26,200 virement within Human Resources from additional income generated to staffing costs.

36

Page 53

APPENDIX 4
Allocation of Contingency Provision for 2019/20
Allocations
Item

Original
Contingency
Provision
£

General
Provision for Unallocated Inflation
Increase in Cost of Homelessness/Impact of Welfare Reforms
General Provision for Risk/Uncertainty
Provision for Risk/Uncertainty Relating to Volume & Cost Pressures
Impact of Chancellor's Summer Budget 2015 on Future Costs
Growth for Waste Services
Universal Credit roll out - Claimant Fault Overpayment Recoveries
Further Reduction to Government Funding
Retained Welfare Fund
Deprivation of Liberty
Other Variations
Savings to be allocated - review of staffing
Continuation of London Business Rate Pool
Planning Appeals - change in legislation
National Living Wage
Housing Growth - variation to budget assumptions
Mortuary Contract - variation to budget assumptions
Staff Merit Awards

3,396,000
1,825,000
2,431,000
2,182,000
1,158,000
587,000
750,000
389,000
450,000
118,000
109,000
Cr 600,000
Cr 2,200,000
60,000
0
0
0
0
10,655,000

Variation to
Original
Contingency
Provision

Items
Total
New Items
Projected for Allocations/
Requested
Remainder of Projected for
this Cycle
Year
Year

Previously
Approved
Items
£

£

121,600 Cr

Cr

584,390 Cr

Cr
Cr

567,000
331,000
Cr

Cr 1,360,790 Cr

£

£

1,611,800
1,825,000
2,431,000
2,182,000
698,000
587,000
750,000
0
450,000
118,000
67,000
42,000
216,610
0
Cr 2,200,000
60,000
0
0
40,000
0
200,000
0

1,696,000
1,825,000
2,431,000
2,182,000
698,000
587,000
750,000
0
450,000
118,000
109,000
801,000
2,200,000
60,000
567,000
331,000
40,000
200,000

(1) Cr

8,554,800

7,167,000

Cr

500,000

500,000

37,400

27,010

Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr

£

Cr

Cr

(1) Cr

(1) Cr
(1) Cr
Cr

1,700,000
0
0
0
460,000
0
0
389,000
0
0
0
201,000
0
0
567,000
331,000
40,000
200,000
3,488,000

Grants included within Central Contingency Sum
Adult Social Care
Grant Related Expenditure

500,000

Better Care Fund
Expenditure
Income
Brexit Preparation
Grant Related Expenditure
Grant Related Income

Cr

Cr

658,830
658,830

210,000
210,000

Brexit Lead
Grant Related Expenditure
Grant Related Income
Tackling Troubled Families
Grant Related Expenditure
Grant related Income
TOTAL CARRIED FORWARD

Cr

235,000
235,000

11,155,000

Cr 1,360,790 Cr

27,010

Cr

658,830
658,830

Cr

210,000
210,000 Cr

210,000
210,000

Cr

104,984
104,984 Cr

104,984
104,984

Cr

235,000
235,000 Cr

235,000
235,000

9,054,800

Notes:
(1) Executive 10th July 2019
(2)
(3)

37

Page 54

7,667,000

0

Cr

658,830
658,830
0
0

Cr

104,984
104,984
0
0

Cr

3,488,000

Allocation of Contingency Provision for 2019/20 (continued)
Carried
Forward from
2018/19

Item

£
11,155,000

TOTAL BROUGHT FORWARD
Items Carried Forward from 2018/19
Adult Care & Health Portfolio
Social Care Funding via the CCG under S75 Agreements
Improved Better Care Fund
- Expenditure
- Income
Better Care Fund 2018/19
- Expenditure
- Income
Public Health
- Expenditure
- Income

3,967,290
Cr 3,967,290

Cr

58,328
58,328

1,779,069
Cr 1,779,069

Allocations
Items
Total
New Items
Projected for Allocations/
Requested
Remainder of Projected for
this Cycle
Year
Year
£
£
£
£
Cr 1,360,790 Cr
27,010
9,054,800
7,667,000

Variation to
Original
Contingency
Provision

Previously
Approved
Items

3,967,290
Cr 3,967,290

Cr

58,328
58,328

1,779,069
Cr 1,779,069

Cr

£
3,488,000

3,967,290
Cr 3,967,290

(1)

0
0

58,328
58,328

(1)

0
0

1,779,069
Cr 1,779,069

(1)

0
0

Cr

Public Protection & Enforcement Portfolio
Asset Recovery Incentivisation Scheme (ARIS)
- Expenditure
- Income

Cr

132,758
132,758

Cr

132,758
132,758

Cr

132,758
132,758

(2)

0
0

Renewal, Recreation & Housing Portfolio
Homelessness Reduction Grant
- Expenditure
- Income

Cr

89,000
89,000

Cr

89,000
89,000

Cr

89,000
89,000

(3)

0
0

Cr

23,472
23,472

Cr

23,472
23,472

Cr

23,472
23,472

(3)

0
0

Cr

94,416
94,416

Cr

94,416
94,416

Cr

94,416
94,416

(3)

0
0

Planning Strategy & Projects - Custom Build Grant
- Expenditure
- Income

Cr

60,000
60,000

Cr

60,000
60,000

Cr

60,000
60,000

(3)

0
0

Implementing Welfare Reform Changes
- Expenditure
- Income

Cr

54,848
54,848

Cr

54,848
54,848

Cr

54,848
54,848

(3)

0
0

Flexible Homeless Grant
- Expenditure
- Income

Cr

40,945
40,945

Cr

40,945
40,945

Cr

40,945
40,945

(3)

0
0

Fire Safety Grant
- Expenditure
- Income

Cr

42,654
42,654

Cr

42,654
42,654

Cr

42,654
42,654

(3)

0
0

Cr

26,774
26,774

Cr

26,774
26,774

Cr

26,774
26,774

(4)

0
0

Cr

55,405
55,405

Cr

55,405
55,405

Cr

55,405
55,405

(4)

0
0

Cr

48,000
48,000

Cr

48,000
48,000

Cr

48,000
48,000

(4)

0
0

Cr

8,161
8,161

Cr

8,161
8,161

Cr

8,161
8,161

(4)

0
0

Early Years Grant
- Expenditure
- Income

Cr

14,800
14,800

Cr

14,800
14,800

Cr

14,800
14,800

(4)

0
0

Reducing Parental Conflict
- Expenditure
- Income

Cr

40,100
40,100

Cr

40,100
40,100

Cr

40,100
40,100

(4)

0
0

FGM Focussed Outreach Grant
- Expenditure
- Income

Cr

10,135
10,135

Cr

10,135
10,135

Cr

10,135
10,135

(4)

0
0

Tackling Troubled Families
- Expenditure
- Income

Cr

510,768
510,768

Cr

510,768
510,768

Cr

510,768
510,768

(4)

0
0

New Homes Bonus - Town Centre Development
- Expenditure
- Income
New Homes Bonus - Regeneration
- Expenditure
- Income

Education, Children and Families Portfolio
Delivery Support Fund
- Expenditure
- Income
SEND Reform Grant
- Expenditure
- Income
Step up to Social Work Cohort 6
- Expenditure
- Income
Pathfinder Grant
- Expenditure
- Income

38

Page 55

Carried
Forward from
2018/19

Item

Previously
Approved
Items

£

General
Audit - Blue Badge Investigations
Biggin Hill Airport - Noise Action Plan
Information Systems & Telephony GDPR
HR Information System GDPR
Staff Merit Awards
Exchequer Revenue & Benefits - Exchequer Contract
Exchequer Revenue & Benefits - Academy System Upgrade
Green Garden Waste - Debt Management System
Additional ECS Resources - Delay in Recruitment
Total Carried Forward from 2018/19
GRAND TOTAL
Notes:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

£

54,000
24,310
311,000
20,000
24,257
91,000
98,000
120,000
163,120
905,687
12,060,687

54,000
0
311,000
20,000
24,257
91,000 Cr
98,000
120,000
163,120
881,377 Cr
Cr

479,413 Cr

Allocations
Items
Total
New Items
Projected for Allocations/
Requested
Remainder of Projected for
this Cycle
Year
Year
£
£
£

91,000

0

91,000

24,310

54,000
24,310
311,000
20,000
24,257
0
98,000
120,000
163,120
814,687

118,010

9,079,110

8,481,687

24,310

Adult, Health and Care PDS 27/6/19
Public Protection & Enforcement PDS 26/6/19
Renewal, Recreation & Housing PDS 2/7/19
Education, Children and Families PDS 9/7/19
Executive, Resources and Contracts PDS 8/7/19
Environment and Community services PDS 18/6/19

39

Page 56

Variation to
Original
Contingency
Provision
£

(5)
(5)
(5)
(5)
(5) Cr
(5)
(6)
(2)
Cr

0
0
0
0
0
91,000
0
0
0
91,000

Cr

3,579,000

APPENDIX 5
Description

2019/20 Latest
Approved
Budget
£’000

Housing Needs
- Temporary Accommodation

8,797

Assessment and Care Management

22,308

Learning Disabilities - including Care Placements,
Transport and Care Management

35,089

Mental Health - Care Placements

Children's Social Care

Legal Services - Legal / Counsel Fees and Court costs

Parking

Supporting People

Cr

Variation To Potential Impact in 2020/21
2019/20
Budget
£’000
103

The full year effect of Temporary Accommodation is
currently estimated to be £143k in 2020/21. This estimate
only takes into account the projected activity to the end of
this financial year and not any projected growth in client
numbers beyond that point. The forecast growth in
2019/20 has not been adjusted for any mitigation that is
currently taking place within Housing to reduce the
number of homelessness cases going into TA. The costs
are expected to be covered by a contingency bid during
2019/20 as has been the case for a number of years.

1,753

The full year effect (FYE) of the current overspend is
estimated at Dr £2,928k. Of this amount £2,221k relates
to residential and nursing home placements and £2,175k
to domiciliary care / direct payments . As mentioned in the
budget monitoring note's, the savings in the budget
relating to the Discharge to Assess service are not being
realised, leading to a significant pressure on the budget.
This is based on service user numbers as at September
2019. The FYE is reduced by an underspend in day care
costs of £550k and Discharge to Assess costs of £600k.
The budget allocation for NLW in 2019/20 is underspent
with a FYE of £318k.

612 The FYE is estimated at a net overspend of £754k.
Anticipated 2019/20 growth and pressures from 2018/19
were both fully funded in the 2019/20 budget so this
pressure is over and above that. The largest contributory
factor is new and increased care packages outpacing
anticipated growth. The service is facing a number of
pressures including increasing numbers of young people
from children's services and more clients with highly
complex needs. The position will continue to be closely
scrutinised, with management action taken to mitigate the
pressures where possible. It is currently anticipated that
management action will deliver £447k of cost reductions
in a full year and this is reflected in the FYE net
overspend of £754k.

6,554

480

There is a full year overspend of £557k anticipated on
Mental Health care packages which is a result of new and
increased care packages exceeding clients moving on,
either to independent living or less intensive care
packages. Clients with increasingly complex, forensic
needs are increasing our reliance on expensive
placements. As with Learning Disabilities above, the
position will continue to be closely scrutinised, with
management action taken to mitigate the pressures
where possible.

37,225

979

The overall full year effect of the Children's Social Care
overspend is a net £1,751k, analysed as Residential
Care, Fostering and Adoption Dr £1,560k , Children with
Disabilities direct payments £550k and staffing costs of
£727k. Expected income from additional Unaccompanied
Asylum Seeking Children funding of £900k and
management action of £186k in relation to placements
reduces the full year effect of the overspend.

356

215

The expected overspend on counsel fees and court costs
in 2019/20 is due to the continuing trend of high volume in
child care cases, however the numbers are now reducing
year on year. There was also a challenge to the local
plan plus other planning enquiries coupled with high
profile injunction cases and additional commercial cases
adding to the overspend. Costs are expected to reduce
in future years as the number of child care case numbers
stabilise, at this time additional expenditure of around
£208k is projected for 2019/20. Specific funding bids may
be made for major litigation or projects where internal
resource will be insufficient. The costs associated with
the Local Plan will not recur until the next
consideration/review of the Plan. It is anticipated if
volumes of child care cases stay constant and there are
good levels of staff retention that figures will start to
reduce in 2020/21. It is difficult to predict what pressures
will arise around litigation claims and similar which often
arise at short notice or as a response to events which are
unforeseen at this point in time.

7,539

184

The downward trend in Off and On Street parking income
and reductions in the number of contraventions issued
from bus lanes enforcement is expected to be partly
offset by the income from PCNs issued by wardens.
Officers continue to work closely with APCOA to resolve
deployment issues and maintenance of the pay and
display machines.

92

The full year effect of Supporting People is currently
estimated to be a credit of £116k. This is a result of the
estimated savings from retendering of the contracts that
has taken place.

1,004 Cr

40

Page 57

APPENDIX 6
SECTION 106 RECEIPTS
Section 106 receipts are monies paid to the Council by developers as a result of the grant of
planning permission where works are required to be carried out or new facilities provided as
a result of that permission (e.g. provision of affordable housing, healthcare facilities &
secondary school places). The sums are restricted to being spent only in accordance with
the agreement concluded with the developer.
The major balances of Section 106 receipts held by the Council are as follows:

31st Mar
2019
£000
Revenue
166
16
72
1,754
43
0
311
2,362

Service

Income
£000

Highway Improvement Works
Road Safety Schemes
Local Economy & Town Centres
Parking
Healthcare Services
Community Facilities
Education
Other

4
167
533
253
957

Actual
Transfers
as at 30th
to/(from) September
Expenditure
Capital
2019
£000
£000
£000
Revenue
22
7
3
- 32 -

533
300
833

Capital
2,751
3,510
2,006
83
8,350

148
9
69
1,921
43
264
2,454
Capital

Education
Housing
Local Economy & Town Centres
Highway Improvement Works
Other

10,712

41

0

125
67
83
32
307

533
300
833

3,159
3,443
2,006
268
8,876

957

339

0

11,330

Page 58

Agenda Item 7
Report No.
FSD19096

London Borough of Bromley
PART ONE - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

Executive
Council

Date:

Executive 27th November 2019
Council 9th December 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING – 2nd QUARTER 2019/20

Contact Officer:

Tracey Pearson, Chief Accountant
Tel: 020 8313 4323 E-mail: tracey.pearson@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Director of Finance

Ward:

All

1.

Executive

Non-Key

Reason for report
This report summarises the current position on capital expenditure and receipts following the 2nd
quarter of 2019/20 and seeks the Executive’s approval to a revised Capital Programme.

________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Executive is requested to:
(a) Note the report, including a total rephasing of £10,323k from 2019/20 into future
years and agree a revised Capital Programme (see paragraph 3.3.7);
(b) Approve the following amendments to the Capital Programme:
(i)

Reduction of £177k on Devolved Formula Capital 2019/20 scheme (see para
3.3.1);

(ii)

Deletion of £2k residual balance on Care Home Improvements to Environment
for Older People scheme (see para 3.3.2);

(iii) Increase of £2k on Carbon Management Programme scheme (see para 3.3.3);
(iv) Recommend that Council approves an increase of £1,208k SEND Provision
Capital funding to the Basic Need scheme (see para 3.3.4);
(v)

Increase of £499k on London Private Sector Renewal scheme and £117k on
Disabled Facilities Grant scheme to reflect the total funding available (see para
3.3.5); and
1

Page 59

(vi) Recommend that Council approves an increase of £1,385k to the Section 106
receipts from developers - as detailed in paragraph 3.3.6.
2.2 Council is requested to:
(a) Approve an increase of £1,208k SEND Provision Capital funding to the Basic Need
scheme (see para 3.3.4); and
(b) Approve an increase of £1,385k to the Section 106 receipts from developers - as
detailed in paragraph 3.3.6.

2

Page 60

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1. Summary of Impact: None arising directly from this report
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Existing Policy: Capital Programme monitoring and review is part of the planning
and review process for all services. Capital schemes help to maintain and improve the quality of
life in the borough. Effective asset management planning (AMP) is a crucial corporate activity if
a local authority is to achieve its corporate and service aims and objectives and deliver its
services. For each of our portfolios and service priorities, the Council reviews its main aims and
outcomes through the AMP process and identifies those that require the use of capital assets.
The primary concern is to ensure that capital investment provides value for money and matches
the Council’s overall priorities as set out in the Community Plan and in “Building a Better
Bromley”.

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: Total increase of £3,032k over the 4 years 2019/20 to 2022/23, mainly due to
£1,208k SEND Provision Capital funding on Basic Need scheme, and additional £1,385k on
Section 106 receipts (uncommitted balance) to reflect the funding available.

2.

Ongoing costs: Not Applicable

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Capital Programme

4.

Total current budget for this head: Total £146.6m over 4 years 2019/20 to 2022/23

5.
Source of funding: Capital grants, capital receipts and earmarked revenue contributions
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): 1fte

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: 36 hours per week
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: Non-Statutory - Government Guidance

2.
Call-in: Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Procurement
1.
Summary of Procurement Implications: None arising directly from this report
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.
Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A
3

Page 61

3.

COMMENTARY
Capital Expenditure

3.1 Appendix A sets out proposed changes to the Capital Programme following a detailed
monitoring exercise carried out after the 2nd quarter of 2019/20. The base position is the
programme approved by the Executive on 10th July 2019, as amended by variations
approved at subsequent Executive meetings. If the changes proposed in this report are
approved, the total Capital Programme 2019/20 to 2022/23 would increase by £3,032k,
mainly due to additional £1,208k SEND Provision Capital funding on Basic Need scheme and
£1,385k increase on Section 106 receipts (uncommitted balance) to reflect the funding
available.
The variations are summarised in the table below with further detail set out in Appendix A.

Programme approved by Executive 10/07/19
Variations approved at subsequent Executive meetings
Approved Programme prior to 2nd Quarter's Monitoring
Variations requiring the approval of the Executive / Council
Variations not requiring approval:
Net rephasing from 2019/20 into future years
Total Amendment to the Capital Programme
Total Revised Capital Programme
Assumed Further Slippage (for financing purposes)
Assumed New Schemes (to be agreed)

Projected Programme for Capital Financing Forecast
(see appendix C)

2019/20
£000
52,211
865
53,076

2020/21
£000
73,878
9,414
83,292

2021/22
£000
3,858
1,104
4,962

2022/23
£000
2,240
0
2,240

TOTAL
2019/20 to
2022/23
£000
132,187
11,383
143,570

1,647

1,385

0

0

3,032

Cr 10,323 Cr 43,290
Cr 8,676 Cr 41,905

24,613
24,613

29,000
29,000

0
3,032

44,400

41,387

29,575

31,240

146,602

Cr 5,000
0
Cr 5,000

Cr 5,000
3,500
Cr 1,500

5,000
3,500
8,500

5,000
3,500
8,500

0
10,500
10,500

39,400

39,887

38,075

39,740

157,102

3.2 Variations approved at subsequent Executive / Full Council meetings
As detailed in Appendix A, variations of £11.383m have been approved since the July
Executive meeting. This mainly comprises £6m for Modular Homes at York Rise Site,
£3.786m for the Provision of Housing Supply in Burnt Ash Lane, £0.624m (net) on Salix
Street Lighting LED upgrade scheme, and £0.822m (net) for Customer Services I.T System
Review.
3.3 Variations requiring the approval of the Executive (£3,032k net increase)
3.3.1 Devolved Formula Capital Scheme (£177k decrease in 2019/20)
The Devolved Formula Capital (DFC) scheme is funded by a grant from the Department for
Education, which is passed straight onto Council maintained schools. Members are asked to
approve a reduction of £177k on the DFC scheme to reflect the funding available in 2019/20.

4

Page 62

3.3.2 Care Homes Improvements to Environment for Older People Scheme (£2k reduction in
2019/20)
Following completion of the Care Homes Improvements to Environment for Older People
scheme, it is recommended that the residual balance of £2k to be deleted from the Capital
Programme.
3.3.3 Carbon Management Programme Scheme (£2k increase in 2019/20)
The Carbon Management Programme Scheme is funded from a revolving loan (£250k from
SALIX provided by DEFRA, and £250k from the Council). All remaining projects have
completed and all outstanding repayments have now been received. Members are asked to
approve an increase of £2k on the scheme to reflect the funding available. The full budget of
£500k will be used to partly fund the Salix Street Lighting LED Upgrade, as approved by Full
Council on 14th October 2019.
3.3.4 Basic Need Scheme (£1,208k increase in 2019/20)
The Updated Basic Need Programme was reported to the Children, Education and Families
PDS Committee on 9th July 2019. The Council has received an additional £1,208k on the 2018
to 2021 allocation for SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities) Provision Capital
funding. Members are asked to approve an increase of £1,208k to the Basic Need scheme to
reflect the total funding available.
3.3.5 Loan Repayment (Net increase £616k in 2019/20; London Private Sector Renewal Scheme
£499k, Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Scheme £117k)
The London Private Sector Renewal Scheme is a revolving loan fund provided by the GLA and
South East London Housing Partnership (SELHP) to allow Authorities to assist vulnerable home
owners to maintain their properties to an adequate condition to allow them to remain safely in
their own homes and promote and support empty property work. There is no longer any new
money provided by the funders and the scheme now functions on recycled funding.
The Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) scheme offers essential housing adaptations to help
disabled people to access facilities and remain safely in their home. The Council has a charging
regime for DFG’s above £5k where, in the event of the sale of a property within 10 years of
completion of the works, an element of the grant is refunded to the Council.
Following a reconciliation of a number of significant repayments and recoveries from previous
years, Members are asked to approve a net increase of £616k in 2019/20; £499k on the London
Private Sector Renewal Scheme and £117k on the Disabled Facilities Grant Scheme to reflect
the total accumulated funding available. This includes repayments of £31k on Home
improvement loans, £94k on Empty Homes grant, £374k on SELHP grant, and £117k on DFG
renovation grant repayments.
3.3.6 Section 106 receipts (uncommitted balance) (net increase of £1,385k in 2020/21)
In July 2015, Executive agreed that the Capital Programme budget should reflect the total of
S106 receipts available to fund expenditure. Members are asked to agree a net increase of
£1,385k in the Capital Programme budget for Education Section 106 in respect of additional
receipts since the last report.
A further report on the Updated Basic Need Programme (see paragraph 3.3.4) will be submitted
to Executive within this financial year and will request approval to allocate the Education Section
106 receipts available to specific projects, in accordance with the Section 106 agreements.
5

Page 63

3.3.7 Scheme Rephasing
In the quarter 2 monitoring exercise, slippage of £10.3m from 2019/20 and £43.3m from
2020/21 has been identified and this has been re-phased into future years to reflect the latest
estimates of when expenditure is likely to be incurred. This has no overall impact on the total
approved estimate for the capital programme. Further details are provided in Appendix B.
Capital Receipts
3.4 Details of the receipts forecast in the years 2019/20 to 2022/23 are included in Appendix E to
this report to be considered under part 2 proceedings of the meeting.
The latest estimate for 2019/20 has decreased to £7.5m from £9.5m reported in July
(excluding “other” capital receipts). Estimates for 2020/21, 2021/22, 2022/23 are now £5.7m,
£20.6m and £9.3m respectively (£15.5m, £11.7m and £9.3m were reported in July). A total of
£1m per annum is assumed for receipts yet to be identified in later years. These projections,
as detailed in Appendix E, reflect prudent assumptions for capital receipts, and do not include
estimated disposal receipts from the review being undertaken by Cushman and Wakefield.
Financing of the Capital Programme
3.5

A capital financing statement is attached at Appendix C and the following table summarises
the estimated impact on balances of the revised programme and revised capital receipt
projections which, as noted above, reflect prudent assumptions on the level and timing of
disposals. Total balances would reduce from £49.3m (General Fund £20.0m and capital
receipts £29.3m) at the end of 2018/19 to £20.8m by the end of 2022/23 and remain at that
level through to 2025/26. It is therefore likely that any significant future capital schemes not
funded by grants/contributions or revenue, may have to be funded from external borrowing.
Balance
01/04/19

General Fund
Capital Receipts

£m
20.0
29.3
49.3

Estimated
Balance
31/03/23
£m
20.8
0.0
20.8

Estimated
Balance
31/03/26
£m
20.8
0.0
20.8

Investment Fund and Growth Fund
3.6 To help support the achievement of sustainable savings and income, the Council has set
aside funding in the Investment Fund earmarked reserve (formerly known as the Economic
Development and Investment Fund) to contribute towards the Council’s economic
development and investment opportunities. To date, total funding of £144.0m has been
placed in the Investment Fund and Growth Fund earmarked reserves to contribute towards
the Council’s economic development and investment opportunities. In November 2014, £10m
was set aside in the Growth Fund to support growth initiatives in Biggin Hill, the Cray Valley
and Bromley Town Centre. Council approved additional allocations of £6.5m in December
2015, £6m in March 2016, £7m in June 2016, £4m in March 2017, £3.3m in June 2017 and
£2.3m in May 2018 to the Growth Fund.
Appendix D provides a detailed analysis of the Funds dating back to their inception in
September 2011. To date schemes totalling £121.5m have been approved (£92.3m on the
Investment Fund, and £29.2m on the Growth Fund), and the uncommitted balances as at the
end of October 2019 stand at £12.5m for the Investment Fund and £10.0m for the Growth
Fund.
6

Page 64

Feasibility Works – Property Disposals
3.7 At its meeting on 24th May 2017, Executive agreed to the creation of a new Earmarked
Reserve with an initial allocation of £250k to be funded from the Growth Fund to allow
feasibility works to be commissioned against specific sites so as to inform the Executive of
sites’ viability for disposal or re-development and potential scheme optimisation together with
an appraisal as to worth.
Members requested that an update from Strategic Property be included in these quarterly
capital monitoring reports, and the latest update is provided in Appendix F. Formal
instructions are being processed for four locations, with three more estimated for April 2020
onwards. To date expenditure of £171k has been incurred leaving a remaining budget of
£79k.
Section 106 Receipts
3.8 In addition to capital receipts from asset disposals, the Council is holding a number of
Section 106 contributions received from developers. These are made to the Council as a
result of the granting of planning permission and are restricted to being spent on capital
works in accordance with the terms of agreements reached between the Council and the
developers. These receipts are held as a receipt in advance on the Council’s Balance Sheet,
the balance of which stood at £8,876k as at 30th September 2019, and will be used to finance
capital expenditure from 2019/20 onwards. The current position on capital Section 106
receipts (excluding commitments) is shown below:

Specified capital works

Balance
31/03/19
£'000

Receipts Expenditure
2019/20
2019/20
£'000
£'000

Balance
30/09/19
£'000

Housing

3,510

0

67

3,443

Education

2,751

533

125

3,159

Highways

83

0

83

0

2,006

0

0

2,006

0

300

32

268

8,350

833

307

8,876

Local Economy
Other
TOTAL

The Council’s budgets are limited and, where a developer contribution can be secured, this
will be required as a contribution towards projects, notwithstanding any other allocation of
resources contained in the Council’s spending plans.
Post-Completion Reports
3.9 Under approved Capital Programme procedures, capital schemes should be subject to a
post-completion review within one year of completion. These reviews should compare actual
expenditure against budget and evaluate the achievement of the scheme’s non-financial
objectives. Post-completion reports on the following schemes are due to be submitted to the
relevant PDS Committees:





Banbury House Demolition/Site Prep
Review of Corporate Customer Services IT System
Upgrade of MS Dynamics CRM System
Care Homes – improvements to environment for older people
7

Page 65















4.

Performance Management/Children’s Services IT scheme
Widmore Centre
Beacon House Refurbishment
Phoenix Centre
Langley Park Boys School (BFS)
The Highway Primary
Suitability / Modernisation Issues in School
Universal Free School Meals
The Woodland Improvement Programme
Upgrade of Core Network Hardware
Replacement of Storage Area Network
Rollout of Windows 7 and Office 2000
Replacement of MD110 telephone switch
Windows Server 2003 Replacement Programme

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Capital Programme monitoring and review is part of the planning and review process for all
services.
5.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 These are contained in the main body of the report and in the appendices. Attached as
Appendix C is a capital financing statement, which gives a long-term indication of how the
revised Programme would be financed if all the proposed changes were approved and if all
the planned receipts were achieved. The financing projections assume approval of the
revised capital programme recommended in this report.
Non-Applicable Sections:
Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

Legal, Personnel & Procurement Implications, Impact on
Vulnerable Adults and Children
Capital Programme Monitoring Q1 2019/20 (Executive
10/07/19);
Approved Capital Programme (Executive 10/07/19);
Salix Street Lighting LED upgrade (Full Council 14/10/19);
Basic Need Programme Update (Children, Education and
Families Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee
09/07/19)

8

Page 66

APPENDIX A - VARIATION SUMMARY
CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - NOV 2019 - SUMMARY OF VARIATIONS FROM APPROVED PROGRAMME

Variations on individual schemes
Current Approved Capital Programme
Programme approved by Executive 10/07/2019
Write out of I.T costs to Revenue
Modular Homes at York Rise Site
Provision of Housing in Burnt Ash Lane
Salix Street Lighting LED Upgrade
- Deletion of Carbon Management Programme Scheme
Customer Services IT System Review:
- Deletion of Review Customer Services IT Scheme
- Deletion of Upgrade of MS Dynamics CRM System

Date of Portfolio
meeting

Revised
2020/21
£'000

52,211
151
500
250
500
500
100
48
88

73,878
0
5,000
3,000
624
0
790
0
0

3,858
0
500
536
0
0
68
0
0

2,240
132,187
0
151
0
6,000
0
3,786
0
1,124
0 Cr
500
0
958
0 Cr
48
0 Cr
88

53,076

83,292

4,962

2,240

Cr

177

0

0

0 Cr

Cr

2
2
1,208
499
117
0

0
0
0
0
0
1,385

0
0
0
0
0
0

0 Cr
0
0
0
0
0

2
2
1,208
499
117
1,385

1,647

1,385

0

0

3,032

Cr
Cr

10,323 Cr 43,290
10,323 Cr 43,290

24,613
24,613

29,000
29,000

Cr

8,676 Cr 41,905

24,613

29,000

3,032

41,387

29,575

31,240

146,602

5,000 Cr 5,000
0
3,500
39,400
39,887

5,000
3,500
38,075

5,000
3,500
39,740

0
10,500
157,102

Exec 10/07/19
Exec 21/05/19
Full Council 15/07/19
Full Council 14/10/19
Full Council 14/10/19
Full Council 14/10/19 Cr
Exec 16/10/19
Exec 16/10/19
Cr
Exec 16/10/19
Cr

Approved Programme prior to 2nd Quarter's Monitoring

Revised
2021/22
£'000

Revised
2022/23
£'000

TOTAL
2019/20 to Comments / reason for
2022/23 variation
£'000

Revised
2019/20
£'000

143,570

Variations in the estimated cost of approved schemes
(i) Variations requiring the approval of the Executive/Council
Reduction of DFC funding on Devolved Formula Capital scheme
Deletion of residual balance of Care Homes Improvements to Environment for
Older People scheme budget
Increase of £2k to the Carbon Management Programme Scheme
Increase of £1,280k SEND Provision Capital funding on Basic Need Scheme
Addition to London Private Sector Renewal Scheme
Addition to Disabled Facilities Grant Scheme
Section 106 receipts from developers - uncommitted balance

Page 67

(ii) Variations not requiring approval
Net rephasing from 2019/20 into future years

TOTAL AMENDMENT TO CAPITAL PROGRAMME
TOTAL REVISED CAPITAL PROGRAMME
Less: Further slippage projection
Add: Estimate for further new schemes
TOTAL TO BE FINANCED

44,400
Cr

177 See paragraph 3.3.1
See paragraph 3.3.2
See paragraph 3.3.3
See paragraph 3.3.4
See paragraph 3.3.5
See paragraph 3.3.5
See paragraph 3.3.6

0 See paragraph 3.3.7
0

APPENDIX B - REPHASING
CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - NOVEMBER 2019 - SUMMARY OF VARIATIONS FROM APPROVED PROGRAMME - SCHEME REPHASING
Variations on individual schemes

2019/20
£'000

2020/21 2021/22
£'000
£'000

2022/23
£'000

TOTAL Comments/reason for variation
£'000

Rephasing of schemes

Social Care Case Management System

Cr

670

670

0

0

Contract awarded Sept 2019 to engage specialist staff resources to support procurement and implementation of a new Social
0 Care Information Management System, value up to £450k by March 2021. Procurement strategy agreed, likely award of
contract for new system by May 2020. Anticipate to spend £100k in this FY; £670k to be rephased to 2020/21.

PCT Learning Disability / Reprovision
Programme - Walpole Road

Cr

170

170

0

0

Astley Day Centre: A report is being presented to the November 2019 Executive seeking agreement to a full review of day
0 centre provision; this will result in a project plan to be drawn up and considered by Members in the spring of 2020. £170k to
be rephased to 2020/21.

Payment in Lieu Fund - Properties
Acquisitions

Cr

60

60

0

0

0

£1m budget used to purchase 9 properties with remaining budget allocated for Capital refurb. £57k of current budget to be
used for replacement of boilers, roofing etc. with remaining £60k to be rephased to 2020/21.

Provision of Housing Supply in Anerley &
Chislehurst

Cr 3,200 Cr 1,800

1,000

4,000

0

Currently out to tender to appoint contractor. £3.2m of current years budget to be rephased and £1.8m of 2020/21 budget to
be rephased to £1m to 2021/22 and £4m 2022/23.

Central Depot Wall Scheme

Cr

216

216

0

0

Depot Improvement Works

Cr

750 Cr 4,250

4,000

1,000

0

Project Manager and project board for the scheme have been recruited. Only consultancy costs anticipated this FY - budget
to be rephased to reflect this. Design work anticipated to take 9 months with delivery of scheme a further 12-18 months.

0 Cr 1,153

1,153

0

0

New procurement system being used to increase output. Anticipate to spend £1.5m this financial year. Requesting Executive
to rephase £1,153k from 2020/21 budget to 2021/22 to reflect when expenditure will take place.

Site G

Cr 3,157 Cr 11,343

6,500

8,000

0

Approval for rephasing of £3,157k from 2019/20 and £11,343k from 2020/21 to future years to reflect when expenditure will
take place.

Replacement of District Heating System
Boilers &Works to Walnut Leisure Centre

Cr 1,250

1,250

0

0

0

Consultant to be appointed. Programme likely to be for 6-12 months as long as design is fast tracked. Anticipate spend of
£250k in 2019/20. Remaining budget to be rephased to future years.

150 Cr 15,150

5,000

10,000

0

Approval for rephasing of £150k to 2019/20, and rephasing £15,150k of the 2020/21 budget into future years to reflect when
expenditure is likely to take place.

Civic Centre Development Strategy

Cr 1,000 Cr 11,960

6,960

6,000

TOTAL REPHASING ADJUSTMENTS

Cr10,323 Cr 43,290

24,613

29,000

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Renovation Grants

Page 68

Property Investment Fund

Structural Engineer (consultant) appointed. Tenders received and under evaluation. Programme and financials to be agreed;
0 currently anticipate to take 4-6 months to complete; likely to commence in November 2019 and complete by Q1 2020/21.
Requested to rephase £216k into next FY.

Current budget approval is only for feasibility studies only. Once studies have been completed a new business case will be
0 reported back to Executive for approval. £1m to be rephased from 2019/20 as only consultants costs anticipated this
financial year, and £11,960k rephased from 2020/21 to future years.
0

APPENDIX C - FINANCING
CAPITAL FINANCING STATEMENT - EXECUTIVE 27/11/19 - ALL RECEIPTS
(NB. Assumes all capital receipts - see below)
2018-19
Estimate
£'000

Actual
£'000

2019-20
Estimate
£'000

2020-21
Estimate
£'000

2021-22
Estimate
£'000

2022-23
Estimate
£'000

2023-24
Estimate
£'000

2024-25
Estimate
£'000

2025-26
Estimate
£'000

Summary Financing Statement
Capital Grants
Other external contributions
Usable Capital Receipts
Internal Borrowing
Revenue Contributions
General Fund
Borrowing (external)

12,939
10,289
5,367
0
3,518
0
0

11,221
7,732
8,905
0
3,056
0
0

15,383
10,617
7,664
0
5,736
0
0

10,109
6,572
14,860
0
8,346
0
0

2,423
2,200
32,087
0
1,365
0
0

0
2,200
22,387
14,824
329
0
0

0
2,200
3,171
0
329
0
0

0
2,200
3,171
0
329
0
0

0
2,200
1,000
2,400
107
0
0

Total expenditure

32,113

30,914

39,400

39,887

38,075

39,740

5,700

5,700

5,707

25,695
12,396
38,091
5,367 Cr
0

25,695
12,523
38,218
8,905 Cr
0

29,313
10,080
39,393
7,664 Cr
0

31,729
5,700
37,429
14,860 Cr
0

22,569
20,607
43,176
32,087 Cr
0

11,089
11,298
22,387
22,387 Cr
0 Cr

0
8,489
8,489
3,171 Cr
5,318 Cr

0
9,906
9,906
3,171 Cr
6,735

0
1,000
1,000
1,000
0

32,724

29,313

31,729

22,569

11,089

0

0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

20,000
0
1,085
18,915

20,000
0
0
20,000

20,000
0
814
20,814

20,814
0
0
20,814

51,639

49,313

52,543

43,383

Usable Capital Receipts
Balance brought forward
New usable receipts
Capital Financing
Repayment of Internal Borrowing

Cr

Balance carried forward

Page 69

Internal Borrowing
Balance brought forward
Capital Financing
Repaid from new Capital Receipts
Balance carried forward

0
0 Cr
0
0 Cr

0

9,506 Cr
0 Cr
6,735
2,771 Cr

0

0 Cr
14,824
0
14,824 Cr

14,824 Cr
0
5,318
9,506 Cr

2,771
2,400
0
5,171

20,814
0
0
20,814

20,814
0
0
20,814

20,814
0
0
20,814

20,814
0
0
20,814

20,814
0
0
20,814

31,903

20,814

20,814

20,814

20,814

General Fund
Balance brought forward
Less: Capital Financing
Less: Use for Revenue Budget
Balance carried forward
TOTAL AVAILABLE RESERVES

Cr

Assumptions:
New capital schemes - £3.5m p.a. from 2020/21 for future new schemes.
Capital receipts - includes figures reported by Property Divison as at 16/10/19 - as shown in Appendix E
Current approved programme - as recommended to Executive 27/11/19
Internal Borrowing to fund until Capital Receipts pay Back - Site G, Depot Improv,

APPENDIX D - INVESTMENT FUND AND GROWTH FUND
INVESTMENT FUND & GROWTH FUND - NOV 2019
Investment Fund

£'000

Revenue Funding:
Approved by Executive 7th September 2011
Approved by Council 27th February 2013
Approved by Council 1st July 2013
Approved by Executive 10th June 2014
Approved by Executive 15th October 2014
Approved by Executive 26th November 2014 (Transfer to Growth Fund)
New Home Bonus (2014/15)
Approved by Executive 11th February 2015 (New Homes Bonus)
Approved by Executive 10th June 2015
Approved by Executive 2nd December 2015 (New Homes Bonus)
Approved by Executive 10th Feb 2016 (New Homes Bonus)
Approved by Executive 6th December 2017
Approved by Executive 21st May 2018

Cr

Capital Funding*:
Approved by Executive 11th February 2015 (general capital receipts)
Approved by Executive 10th February 2016 (sale of Egerton Lodge)
Approved by Executive 7th November 2017 (Disposal of 72-76 High Street)

10,000
16,320
20,978
13,792
90
10,000
5,040
4,400
10,165
141
7,482
3,500
2,609
84,517
15,000
1,216
4,100
20,316

Total Funding Approved:

104,833

Property Purchase
Approved by Executive 7th September 2011 (95 High St)
Approved by Executive 6th December 2012 (98 High St)
Approved by Executive 5th June 2013 (72-76 High St)
Approved by Executive 12th June 2013 (104 - 108 High St)
Approved by Executive 12th February 2014 (147 - 153 High St)
Approved by Executive 19th December 2014 (27 Homesdale)
Approved by Executive 24th March 2015 (Morrisons)
Approved by Executive 15th July 2015 (Old Christchurch)
Approved by Executive 15th July 2015 (Tilgate)
Approved by Executive 15th December 2015 (Newbury House)
Approved by Executive 15th December 2015 (Unit G - Hubert Road)
Approved by Executive 23th March 2016 (British Gas Training Centre, Thatcham)
Approved by Executive 15th June 2016 (C2 and C3)
Approved by Executive 14th March 2017 (Trinity House)
Approved by Executive 1st December 2017 (54 Bridge Street, Peterborough)
Other Schemes
Approved by Executive 20th November 2013 (Queens's Garden)
Approved by Executive 15th January 2014 (Bromley BID Project)
Approved by Executive 26th November 2014 (BCT Development Strategy)
Approved by Executive 2nd December 2015 (Bromley Centre Town)
Approved by Executive 15th June 2016 (Glades Shopping Centre)
Approved by Executive 11th January 2017 (Disposal of Small Halls site, York Rise)
Approved by Executive 10th July 2019 (Modular Homes at York Rise Site)
Approved by Executive 2nd August 2019 (Provision of Housing in Burnt Ash Lane)
Valuation for 1 Westmoreland Rd
Valuation for Biggin Hill - West Camp
Growth Fund Study
Crystal Park Development work
Civic Centre for the future
Strategic Property cost
Total further spending approvals
Uncommitted Balance on Investment Fund

Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr

1,620
2,167
2,888
3,150
18,755
3,938
8,672
5,362
6,746
3,307
6,038
3,666
6,394
6,236
3,930
82,869

Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr

990
110
135
270
400
46
3,500
3,286
5
10
170
200
50
258
9,430
12,534

*Executive have approved the use of specific and general capital receipts to supplement the Investment Fund

Page 70

APPENDIX D - INVESTMENT FUND AND GROWTH FUND
Growth Fund:

£'000

Funding:
Approved by Executive 26th November 2014 (Transfer from Investment Fund)
Approved by Executive 2nd December 2015
Approved by Executive 23rd March 2016
Approved by Executive 15th June 2016
Approved by Executive 22nd March 2017
Approved by Executive 14th June 2017
Approved by Executive 21st May 2018
Total funding approved

10,000
6,500
6,000
7,024
4,000
3,311
2,319
39,154

Schemes Approved and Committed
Approved by Executive 24th March 2015 (Housing Zone Bid (Site G))
Approved by Executive 24th March 2015 ((Site G - Specialist)
Approved by Executive 18th May 2016 (Feasibility Studies and Strategic Employment Review)
Approved by Executive 18th May 2016 (Broadband Infrastructure Investment)
Approved by Executive 20th Jul 2016 (BID - Penge & Beckenham)
Approved by Executive 1st Nov 2016 (19-25 Market Square)
Approved by Executive 1st Nov 2016 (63 Walnuts)
Approved by Executive 22nd March 2017 (Bromley Town Centre Public Realm Improvement Scheme)
Approved by Executive 7th November 2017 (Bromley Town Centre and Public Realm)
Approved by Executive 17th October 2018 (Bromley Town Centre - Mirrored Canopies & Shops)
Approved by Executive 22nd March 2017 (Project Officer - Bromley Town Centre Public Realm improv)
Approved by Executive 22nd March 2017 (Community Initiative)
Approved by Executive 24th May 2017 (Feasbility Works/Property Disposal)
Renewal Team Cost
Approved by Executive 28th November 2018 (Housing Development Feasibility)
Approved by Executive 27th March 2019 (West Wickham BID)
Approved by Executive 21st May 2019 (Specialist advice for setting up local Housing company)
Total further spending approvals

Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr
Cr

2,700
200
180
50
110
10,705
3,804
2,844
464
415
40
15
250
310
100
75
100
22,362

Schemes Approved, but not committed
Approved by Executive 26th November 2014 (for Biggin Hill and Cray Valley)

Cr

6,790

Uncommitted Balance on Growth Fund

10,002

Page 71

APPENDIX F - FEASIBILITY WORKS
CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - NOV 2019

Location

Estimated Feasibility /
Viability Cost (£'000)

Description

Nov 2019 Status

87

To fund study to deliver optimal new leisure facilities based on market evidence as
Programme in development and consultants now
to rents from third party operators', together with residential development, to
instructed.
generate a capital receipt to fund the cost of re-provision of facilities.

14

To fund work to progress the business case for the development of a new
Department Store at the Glades Shopping Centre, utilising the Council’s business
interests at Market Square, so as to improve footfall and therefore improve the
asset value and return on income derived from the Councils ownership of The
Glades.

The Walnuts Centre

16

To fund work to progress the business case for the development at the Walnuts
utilising the Council’s interests at and around the Walnut’s Centre including the
Requirement for Orpington masterplan to include Walnuts
Leisure Centre so as to provide larger retail opportunities and improve footfall and now being progressed with bid HM govt high street fund
therefore improve the asset value and return on income derived from the Councils having been made .
ownership of The Walnuts.

Old Town Hall/Civic Centre

39

To fund a review of the Council’s accommodation strategy at the Civic Centre
based on the addition of the former Town Hall becoming available as part of the
Council’s property portfolio and how that asset could be utilised as a Democratic
Centre and associated offices/meeting space.

Depots Review - Disposal Options

5

To fund disposal viability studies as to density and permitted development, together
Programme of capital works developed with newly
with initial planning briefs, so as to be in a position to take to market after the
appointed waste contractor.
outcome of the Depot review.

Biggin Hill Aviation College Alternative

5

To fund potential alternative site viability studies for Biggin Hill should the Council
decide not to pursue Area 1 purchase for an Aviation College/Enterprise Zone.

Not progressing - budget to be transferred to Walnuts
Centre.

Libraries (Chislehurst model roll
out)

4

To fund the investigation of viability of renewing other library facilities, by
redeveloping their sites, and using the capital receipt proceeds to develop
replacement facilities within said schemes.

Not actioned as yet - due to Dev Agreement not yet
entered into - model being developed for other sites.

Further Sites Development
Feasibility (Hill Car Park,
Chipperfield Road, LSH Sites)

80

To fund various studies to ascertain site potential

Ongoing with studies; fruition likely before year end.

TOTAL

250

West Wickham Leisure Centre

The Glades Department Store

Work progressing with landlord and advisors to future proof
Glades operation in the event of further downturn in retail
supply. Likely re-gear of Glades Lease to release value
from Alaskan Owners - specialist valuation work to
progress - costs to be sought post meeting with Retailers.

Old Town Hall / South St car park site disposed off. Monies
to be utilised to further CCG/Office development
opportunity.

Page 72

Agenda Item 8
Report No.
FSD19094

London Borough of Bromley
PART ONE - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

EXECUTIVE

Date:

Wednesday 27 November 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

EMPTY HOMES PREMIUM

Contact Officer:

John Nightingale, Head of Revenues and Benefits
Tel: 020 8313 4858 E-mail: john.nightingale@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Peter Turner, Director of Finance

Ward:

(All Wards);

1.

Executive

Key

Reason for report

1.1 Proposal that the Empty Homes Premium be introduced from April 2020 at the rate of 50% for
properties empty for longer than 2 years, increasing to 100% where the property has been
empty for 5 years .
________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATION(S)
Members are asked to:

2.1 consider the responses of to the public consultation exercise at Appendix 1 &2
2.2 consider the Equality Impact Assessment at Appendix 3
2.3 agree that Authority introduces the Empty Homes Premium from the financial year
2020/21 at the rate of 50% for properties empty longer than 2 years, increasing to 100%
where the property has been empty for 5 years.

1

Page 73

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1.

Summary of Impact: The Revenue service impacts on all residents in the Authority including
vulnerable adults/and or those with children.
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: New Policy

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: Estimated £5k for one-off set up costs and consultation costs

2.

Ongoing costs: Should the Premium be introduced, following the consultation, approximately
net additional income of £87k could be generated. This is dependent on the number of actual
empty properties.

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Exchequer - Revenues

4.

Total current budget for this head: £3.273m

5.
Source of funding: Existing Revenues budget for 2019/20
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): 8 plus Liberata staff

2.

If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: If the scheme is adopted the extra work
will fall on Liberata which has been taken into account in costings provided
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: Non-Statutory - Government Guidance

2.
Call-in: Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Procurement
1.

Summary of Procurement Implications: The Revenues Service forms part of the Exchequer
Services contract.
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): 238 (current number of empty
properties in excess of 2 years)
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? No

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A
2

Page 74

3.

COMMENTARY

3.1

Background
At the 2 August 2019 meeting of the Executive it was agreed to undertake a public consultation
exercise on the introduction of the Empty Homes Premium. It was further agreed that the
Authority’s recommendation in the consultation exercise be that the scheme be introduced from
April 2020 at the rate of 50% for properties empty longer than 2 years, increasing to 100%
where the property had been empty for 5 years (FSD19063).
The above report also contained details as to where the Premium would not be applied.
For the purposes of the Premium, an Empty Home is one that has been “unoccupied” and
“substantially unfurnished” for two years or more. Periods of six weeks or less when the
property is occupied/furnished are disregarded for purposes of calculating the two-year period.
Whilst the introduction of the Premium would provide additional income to the Authority, the
overall purpose is to bring empty properties back into use.

3.2 Consultation
At the 2 August 2019 meeting of the Executive it was agreed to undertake a consultation
exercise, with the recommendation that the Empty Homes Premium be introduced at the rate of
50% for properties that are empty for a period of 2 years, increasing to 100% once this reaches
5 years. The consultation exercise closed on the 6 October 2019 by which time 191 responses
had been received.
Responses to the questions contained in the consultation exercise are shown in Appendix 1.
In addition, a response was received from the GLA which is attached as Appendix 2.
To summarise the main findings were:
 of the 191 responses, 111 (58%) were in favour of the Empty Homes Premium being
introduced In accordance with the Authority’s recommendation.
 of those who would be directly impacted by introduction of the Premium only 6% were in
favour of the proposal.
 based on the comments attached to the responses, 8 of those disagreeing with the Authority’s
recommendation believed that the Premium should be more severe.
4.

IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN

4.1 Attached as Appendix 3 is the Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) .The assessment did not
identify any impact on groups with protected characteristic.
5.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The table below shows the projected additional income that may be available should the scheme
be adopted at the level recommended. The figures are based on the current level of empty
properties and Band “D” Council Tax levels for 2019/20, with an assumed 20% reduction in
empty properties.

3

Page 75

£'000
Potential additional Council Tax raised through the
introduction of the Premium

230

Less 20% assumed reduction in Empty Properties

-46

Total potential additional income

184

Less GLA estimated proportion of 20.86%

-38

£'000

Potential additional net income for LBB

146

Less additional collection costs

-59

Net additional potential income for LBB

87

5.2 The additional collection cost of £59k is based on 1 full-time equivalent member of staff covering
the tasks of billing, recovery, visiting and customer services. The costs also cover printing,
postage, travelling expenses, tribunal appearances and legal costs.
5.3 These figures might be significantly reduced by properties going back into occupation and/or
owners identifying means of avoiding liability for the Premium and attempts have been made to
identify as to whether there has been an increase in single person households where the
Premium has been put into place. This information is not generally available and requests to
other LA’s have not brought about a response. Assumptions have therefore been made that the
number of long –term empty properties and corresponding income will fall by 20%.
5.4 The one-off set-up and consultation costs of approximately £5k will be met from existing
revenue budgets
6.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 amended the Local Government Finance Act 1992 by
adding section 11B which gave local authorities the ability to charge an increased amount of
Council Tax on unoccupied properties. Section 2 of the Rating (Property in Common
Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018 amended section 11B as is set out in
paragraph 3.1 of the body of the report.
There isn`t a statutory duty to consult on the empty home premium; however the proposed
consultation represents best practice. Having consulted then the Council must have regard to
the Consultation outcome although it is not bound by it.

Non-Applicable Sections:

Personnel and Procurement

Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

4

Page 76

Appendix 1

London Borough of Bromley
Empty Homes Review – Consultation Report

16th October 2019

Page 77

Appendix 1

1. Empty Homes Premium for unoccupied dwellings
Bromley Council is keen to explore ways of bringing more empty homes back into use. This
consultation is asking residents for views on whether Council Tax charges should be increased for
owners of long-term empty homes.
There are currently around 250 homes in Bromley which are liable for Council Tax and are recorded
as having been empty for 2 years or longer. Long-term empty properties are a wasted resource. For
their owners, they are not earning any income and may be depreciating in value due to deterioration.
For the local community, these properties can be an eyesore and a nuisance as they often attract
vandalism and fly-tipping and, if homes are neglected, the value of surrounding properties tends to
be reduced as a result of the neighbourhood not being perceived as a good place to live.
In many areas where there is a high demand for housing, empty homes brought back into use could
become an important source of homes for households who need them. This could be either
affordable homes, such as social rented housing, or market housing, such as homes for private rent
or sale.
The Council is seeking residents’ views on the introduction of Empty Homes Premium for
unoccupied dwellings from April 2020. This is a sum that would be payable in addition to the Council
Tax liability should the property be unoccupied.

2. Consultation
A public consultation exercise was undertaken for the introduction of the 20/21
Empty Homes Premium Scheme during a period from 19 August 2019 until 6
October 2019.
The survey was available through a variety of channels:
 A paper copy was issued to 995 residents or representatives of empty and
occupied properties (comprising of 245 empty properties over 2 years, this being
all such properties at the commencement of the consultation, 250 properties
empty less than 2 years and 500 occupied properties)
 A link was available on the Council website
 The consultation was advertised on the website
 A paper insert enclosed with all Council Tax bills issued during this period
directing the link on the website to complete the on-line survey

In total there were 191 responses received, 31 being via the website and the
majority 160 received by post.
The consultation exercise was based on 1 simple question to residents of the
Borough

Page 78

Appendix 1

1. Outcomes.
Details of the full consultation question and analysis responses, both overall and
broken down, are detailed below.

Q1

The Council’s recommendation is that the Empty Homes Premium be introduced at the
rate of 50% for properties empty between 2 & 5 years, increasing to 100% after 5 years?

Do you agree with the above recommendation?

Yes

No





If you disagree please write your answer here:
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

Page 79

Appendix 1

Overall response.
Of those who responded the overall outcome of 58% were in favour of introducing
empty homes premium at the rate of 50% for properties empty between 2 & 5 years,
and increasing to 100% after 5 years.

Total Respondents: Do you agree with Empty Homes Premium being
applied?
6%

100%

14%

90%
80%
70%

43%
58%
78%

60%
50%

94%

86%

40%
30%
20%

Yes
No

57%
42%
22%

10%
0%
All

Owner of
empty home
over 2 years

Owner of
empty homes
under 2 years

Owner of
occupied
property

Unidentified

Total Respondents with empty or occupied properties: Do you agree
with Empty Homes Premium being applied?
100%

14%

20%

90%
80%

58%

70%

78%

60%
50%

86%
80%

40%

Yes
No

30%

42%

20%

22%

10%
0%
All

All empty
properties

Owners of
occupied
properties

Unidentified

Overall Analysis of Respondents.
Although overall 58% were in favour of introducing empty homes premium at the rate
of 50% for properties empty between 2 & 5 years, and increasing to 100% after 5
years, owners of empty properties and those who have not answered whether they
are owners of empty or occupied properties (Unidentified) were not in favour of

Page 80

Appendix 1

introducing this.
Analysis of Respondents by Postal Survey Type.
Of the postal responses received, overall 62% were in favour of introducing empty
homes premium at the rate of 50% for properties empty between 2 & 5 years, and
increasing to 100% after 5 years whilst 81% were against the introduction of this
scheme from owners of empty properties.

Postal Respondents with empty and occupied properties: Do you
agree with Empty Homes Premium being applied?
3%

100%
90%
80%

45%

62%

70%
82%

60%
50%

97%

Yes

40%
20%

No

55%

30%
38%

18%

10%
0%
All

Owners of empty Owners of empty
property over 2 property under 2
years
years

Owners of
occupied
property

All Postal Respondents with empty and occupied properties: Do you
agree with Empty Homes Premium being applied?

100%

19%

90%
80%
62%

70%

82%

60%
50%

Yes

81%

40%
30%

No

38%

20%

18%

10%
0%
All

All empty properties

Owners of occupied
property

Page 81

Appendix 1

Analysis of Respondents with On-Line Survey Type.
Of all responses received, overall 65% were against introducing empty homes
premium at the rate of 50% for properties empty between 2 & 5 years, and increasing
to 100% after 5 years. Some respondents felt that the proposed premium should be
higher to encourage the best use of the borough’s housing stock. However there
were also opposing view from respondents expressing that there are many reasons
for the property being empty and should be evaluated on a case by case basis.

On-Line Respondents with occupied and empty properties under 2
years and over 2 years : Do you agree with Empty Homes Premium
being applied?
100%
90%

35%

14%

25%
33%

80%

47%

70%
60%
50%
40%

86%
65%

75%

No

67%
53%

30%
20%
10%
0%
All

Owners of
empty
property over
2 years

Owners of
empty
property
under 2 years

Yes

Owners of
occupied
property

Unidentified

Page 82

Appendix 1

Analysis of Respondents who are owners of occupied home and all empty properties
by Survey Type.
Of all responses received, overall 65% were against introducing empty homes
premium at the rate of 50% for properties empty between 2 & 5 years, and increasing
to 100% after 5 years.

All On-Line Respondents with empty and occupied properties: Do you
agree with Empty Homes Premium being applied?
100%
90%

35%

14%

29%

80%

47%

70%
60%
50%
40%

86%
65%

No

71%

30%

53%

20%
10%
0%
All

All empty homes
properties

Yes

Owners of
occupied
property

Unidentified

3. Timetable for Implementation
The proposed new scheme will commence on 1st April 2020.

Page 83

Appendix 1

4. Consultation response by the Greater London Authority (GLA)
The Council advised the Greater London Authority about the consultation on proposals to introduce
a Council Tax Premium for long-term empty properties from 2020-21. The below is the GLA’s
response.
Thank you for your email of 13 August informing the GLA about the Council’s consultation on
proposals to introduce a council tax premium for long-term empty properties from 2020-21. The
proposals consulted on are summarised in this letter. This letter sets out the GLA’s response to the
consultation.
Introduction
The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act received Royal
Assent in November 2018. The Act has enabled councils from April 2019 to charge, as well as the
standard council tax charge for which the property is liable, an additional premium equivalent to a
maximum of 100% of its council tax charge, for properties which have been empty for two years or
more. The legislation also gives councils the ability to charge higher premiums in subsequent years
for properties which have been empty for longer periods of time. From 2020-21, councils will be able
to charge a premium of up to 200% for a property empty for at least five years. From 2021-22, for
properties empty for ten years or longer, authorities will be able to charge a premium up to 300%.
There does not appear to be a statutory duty on billing authorities, in determining the level of premium
to apply to long-term empty properties, to consult on proposals, either with local tax payers or
precepting authorities. However, as the major precepting authority for Greater London, the GLA
clearly has a relevant interest in the level of the premium, as it affects the council tax income received
from the billing authority. Therefore, the GLA welcomes the opportunity to respond to the consultation
by the LB Bromley.
Proposals for Changes to the Premium
The Council is proposing to charge a premium of 50% on properties left unoccupied and unfurnished
for between 2 and 5 years and a 100% premium on properties left empty for more than 5 years. These
are below the maximum percentages permitted by the 2018 Act. The Council’s proposals and the
maximum percentages are set out in the table below.
Proposed long-term
Maximum premiums
empty property
which can be
premium charged by
charged from April
LB Bromley
2020
Long-term empty
50%
100%
properties over 2 years up
to 5 years
Long-term empty
100%
200%
properties over 5 years up
to 10 years
Long-term empty
100%
200%
properties over 10 years
(300% from April
2021)
Bromley estimates that the empty property premium would apply to approximately 250 homes in the
borough, which have been empty for two years or longer.
GLA Response
The GLA response to the consultation exercise is attached as an appendix to the Executive report of
the 27/11/19.

Page 84

Appendix 1

5.

Appendix 1 – Narrative responses.

While narrative responses have been reproduced here for completeness, those respondents
who simply stated “yes”, “no” or “don’t know” have been removed as these have been
included in the analysis undertaken of the results above.
This would mean a premium on properties which are on the market awaiting a buyer
If this does not work I would suggest higher surcharges thereafter
Properties remain empty for a variety of reasons and owners should not be penalised.
If an owner wishes to leave a property empty that's their decision. They should still pay normal
council tax etc. and should not be penalised.
It should be 50% after 1 year and 100% after 2 years.
This would mean a premium on properties that are on the market awaiting a buyer.
I only agree with 50% not 100%
I think 50% & 100% are excessive
Letter attached: basically blaming Brexit for reason he is unable to sell property
Unoccupied does not necessarily mean empty & uncared for. The council should use or seek
powers to deal with those properties that are a genuine nuisance whether they are unoccupied or
not.
Its not simple enough to charge homeowners more money on top of what they pay already because
a home is empty. There maybe a number of reasons why, like awaiting probate. They should also
invest in more social housing.
Too much needed for homes not to be empty.
There is already too much put on Landlords, Licence fees, E.P.C Gas safety E.I.C.R, utility
charges, up keep Etc. unless the owner has died and its in probate council charges apply. by
adding charges your not really helping anyone. You should offer incentive like loans to bring the
property back into use.
Only agree with 50%
There must be many sad stories behind empty houses. It could belong to an old person who has
dementia and has been taken in by a relative but their house cant be sold.
It is the freedom of choice for owners to choose whether they want to rent to the public sector. You
still receive council tax when they are empty, you are now being greedy. I would like to see proof of
your comments about vandalism,flytipping,disrepair on empty properties. It would not be in the
owners interest to let this happen long term.
Bereavement situations can for unseen reasons become complex and not always possible for a
property to be dealt within a specific time span and would be totally unfair to add additional
charges. Once the exemption has expired they are already paying council tax premium.
I think the amounts should be higher and empty homes should be required by the council and the
lowest market price paid to the owners.

9

Page 85

Appendix 1

It depends on why the property is empty. If it belongs to an elderly/disabled person that has gone
into care or has died then no it shouldn't. If the answer is absent or abroad then yet is should.
The reason I disagree is because I have had bad experiences in the past with tenants of my one
bedroom flat and a further charge is upsetting to me.
Properties owners should be able to do as they wish without being penalised. One could argue that
they have a lower carbon footprint as do not use council resources like waste/pollution. Instead
councils should work with empty property owners and encourage them and support them.
I don't think this measure goes far enough. 50% after 12 months, 100% after 2 years. Why on earth
are you waiting 5 years? You should look at compulsory purchase after 2 years and force these
empty properties back into housing stock.
Don't bring in more tax just because someone has more than two homes.
This is a revenue raising exercise. Such matters need to be considered on a "case by case" basis
and not be automatic. There should also be a right of appeal that is independent.
The council has a large budget gap. It has the power to charge a premium of 100% on homes
empty for 2-5 years and 200% for homes empty for over 5 years. It should make use of this power
to help fill the gap.
I have a property that I cannot sell, I have reduced it by Â£100,000 and still cannot sell it, I have to
pay council tax, I think this premium would be unfair.
You should charge the maximum amount allowed.
Not harsh enough. This problem needs to be eradicated quickly. Would suggest a higher premium.
"No, not at all! Empty homes should not be tolerated when we're in the middle of a homelessness
crisis.
The premium should be increased to the maximum amount currently allowed: 100% on properties
empty over 2 years and 200% on properties empty over 5 years. This will raise more money for the
council to spend on local services and encourage landlords to offer their properties for rent."
Has any work been done to consult with owners as to reason the properties are empty? For
landlords that cant afford to carry out works or may have ended up in a care home it wont be
helpful to add an additional costs int hese trying times to what they are already facing. This
approach that the Council wants to take will be met with resentment as there isn't support and
advice to get them relet. You've thousands on your waiting list why not come up with a reward
scheme, work with landlords to get works done on provisio that you are able to use their property to
house people on your waiting list. Ive seen single parents families with 3-4 children occupy a single
hotel room for far too long waiting for temporary accommodation. This is not ideal for children going
to school or for parents on low income who have no cooking facilities, increased transport costs
and longer journey to school and work.
Empty homes may be 2nd. homes, if Council tax is being paid it means somebody has an interest
in that property.
Why 2 years? Any Housing Association property should be occupied within 3 months maximum.
Housing Associations should be charged 100% after 3 months of non occupation.
Doubling of Council Tax at a stroke grossly unfair. Many reasons why properties empty.
I am the executor of my father's estate and am trying to sell his house. He died in December 2017
and the property has been on the market for 18 months in which time we have had 4 offers, all of
which have fallen through due to buyer's financial difficulties or market uncertainties. I agree that
neglected empty properties should be tackled and in principle a premium applied but I do not think
it should catch cases like my Dad's house. I can afford to pay the current council tax and the house
is still furnished and well maintained - it is certainly not an eyesore but I too would much prefer that
it was sold and occupied as a family home. Sadly the Brexit uncertainty is impacting market

10

Page 86

Appendix 1

conditions and making this very difficult to achieve. The estate agents and I are making every effort
to sell the house - the price is realistic and has been reduced recently to attempt to encourage
buyers. I do not think it will help to get the house into occupation if I am penalised for market
conditions by having to pay an additional premium on my council tax - it will not provide any
additional incentive to me!
Council tax is for providing services to people and property. Empty homes should be charged less
to reflect that no persons are deriving benefit. Is this policy even legal?
You should charge the maximum that you are allowed by the government, to encourage the best
use of our housing stock. 0bviously you need some discretion for unusual circumstances.
Given the current levels of homelessness you should charge the rich more. 50-100% is insufficient
in my view. I would expect the charge to start at a minimum of 200%.
This is manifestly unfair. If property is temporarily unused, the demand for local services is also
reduced. Charging more in such a scenario can not be justified.
I think there has been no significant increase in one of the reasons (i.e Vandalism ) behind this
proposal . A 5% increase does not justify a 50% increase on a premium that is already 100%,
regardless of how long the property has been empty. There may be several reasons why a property
is empty and this should be evaluated on a case by case basis, otherwise it comes across as
punishing someone's success. I do not think our representatives should be in the business of
coming up with unjustified schemes to make up shortfalls in budgets.
The consultation is just a lip service for seeking residents views. It should ask for views and the
reasons why they are in support or disagree with the recommendation so to evaluate the responses
for both sides before deciding whether the proposal should go ahead. I disagree that council tax
should increase for long term empty properties as there are a number of legitimate reasons why
they remain empty such undergoing a major renovation or not yet having the funds to renovate.
Homeowners of empty homes have bought or inherited (either wholly or through mortgage) their
properties and are already trying to pay for the mortgage, maintenance and upkeep of the property
WHILST still paying council tax which is a tax for local services that the homeowner potentially is
not seeing any benefit as they are not living there. WHY should they then pay an additional 50%
council tax when they could be seen as already subsidising the council services. If the council
wants homes to come back into use then they should collaborate and communicate and incentivise,
not punish and charge, and they should find out the reasons the homes haven't been brought back
into use... probably money issues is the problem in the first place without adding to it with extra
premium charges. Maybe take a look at the inheritance tax as if someone's money is immediately
lost in tax maybe homeowners cannot afford to renovate to a good standard to bring the property
into the rental market.
If an empty property is marketed by an estate agent for sale and unable to find a purchaser in two
years this would be unfair for the owner. Empty Homes Premium should consider exception for
this. In principle I support for property left intentionally empty for a long period of time to pay
additional tax but on a raising scale of 10% per year.
I do agree with this idea, but I think it should actually be implemented in less than the 2 years
currently being considered. Every empty property has the potential to take a person off of the
street, or move a family out of cramped unsuitable accommodation.

11

Page 87

This page is left intentionally blank

Page 89

Page 90

Equality Impact Assessment – Introduction of Empty Homes Premium

Appendix 3

Name and job title of completing officer
John Nightingale, Head of Revenues and Benefits
1. Summary of Proposal, impact on groups with protected characteristics and mitigating actions
a) What is your proposal? The introduction of an empty homes premium on properties empty over two years. The premium being an additional 50% of
the annual council tax liability for properties empty between 2 and 5 years, with a 100% premium for those empty for longer than 5 years.
Initial calculations suggested that only 255 properties would be impacted by the introduction of the premium, out of these 44 have been empty for over 5
years

b) Impact on groups with protected characteristics and mitigating actions
none identified

c) Summarise any potential negative impact(s) identified and mitigating actions

Page 91

n/a

Equality Impact Assessment – Introduction of Empty Homes Premium

Appendix 3

2. Assessing impact

You are required to undertake a detailed analysis of the impact of your proposals on groups with protected
characteristics. You should refer to borough profile data, equalities data, service user information,
consultation responses and any other relevant data/evidence to help you asses and explain what impact (if
any) your proposal(s) will have on each group. Where there are gaps in data, you should state this in the
boxes below and what action (if any), you will take to address this in the future.

What does the evidence tell you about the impact your
proposal may have on groups with protected
characteristics? Click the relevant box to indicate
whether your proposal will have a positive impact,
negative (minor, major) or no impact

For each protected characteristic, explain in detail what the evidence is suggesting and the impact
of your proposal (if any). Click the appropriate box on the right to indicate the outcome of your
analysis.

Age

This proposal is only affecting the empty properties. Where the property has been left as the
resident is receiving care which may be due to age then this policy change will not affect them as
there is a council tax exemption which applies. Council tax is only payable by persons over the age
of 18. Age is not held on the council tax system unless noted as an indicator of vulnerability. This
policy is dependent on the length of time the property has remained empty not on a council tax
payers age.



Disability

This proposal is only affecting empty properties where they have been empty for 2 years or more.
nd
This should allow any customers who need additional support to sell or rent their 2 time property
to get this in place. This policy is dependent on the length of time the property has remained empty
not on a council tax payers disability. A customers disability will only be held on the council tax
records if they are: a) claiming a disabled band reduction which is only applicable on occupied properties
b) claiming a discount as a carer of someone else in the property which is only applicable on
occupied properties
c) Claiming a discount as severely mentally impaired which is only applicable on occupied
properties.



Gender
assignment

This proposal is only affecting empty properties. This policy is dependent on the length of time the
property has remained empty not on a council tax payers gender reassignment. This information is
not held on the council tax records



Page 92

Protected
characteristics

Positive
impact

Minor
impact

Major
impact

No Impact

Equality Impact Assessment – Introduction of Empty Homes Premium

Appendix 3

Marriage and civil
partnership

This proposal is only affecting empty properties where they have been for 2 or more years.
Whilst a council taxpayers title may be held on our records, this policy is dependent on the
length of time the property has remained empty not on a council tax payers marital or civil
partnership status.



Pregnancy and
maternity

This proposal is only affecting empty properties where they have been for 2 or more years.
This policy is dependent on the length of time the property has remained empty not on a
council tax payers pregnancy or maternity status. This information is not held on the council
tax records unless it has been noted as indicator of vulnerability.



Race/Ethnicity

This proposal is only affecting empty properties where they have been for 2 or more years.
This policy is dependent on the length of time the property has remained empty not on a
council tax payers race/ethnicity. This information is not held on the council tax records.
This proposal is only affecting empty properties where they have been for 2 or more years.
This policy is dependent on the length of time the property has remained empty not on a
council tax payers religion or belief. This information is not held on the council tax records.
This proposal is only affecting empty properties where they have been for 2 or more years



This proposal is only affecting empty properties where they have been for 2 or more years.
This policy is dependent on the length of time the property has remained empty not on a
council tax payers sexual orientation. This information is not held on the council tax records.



Religion or belief

Sex

Sexual Orientation




Page 93

Equality Impact Assessment – Introduction of Empty Homes Premium

Appendix 3

3. Actions to mitigate/remove negative impact
Only complete this section if your assessment (in section 2) suggests that your proposals may have a negative impact on groups with
protected characteristics. If you have not identified any negative impacts, please complete sections 4 and 5.
In the table below, please state what these potential negative impact(s) are, mitigating actions and steps taken to ensure that these measures will
address and remove any negative impacts identified and by when. Please also state how you will monitor the impact of your proposal once
implemented.
State what the negative impact(s) are
for each group identified in section 2.
In addition, you should also consider
and state potential risks associated
with your proposal.

Measures to mitigate negative impact
(provide details, including details of
and additional consultation
undertaken/to be carried out in the
future). If you are unable to identify
measures to mitigate impact, please
state so and provide a brief
explanation

What action(s) will you take to assess whether
these measures have addressed and removed
any negative impacts identified in your analysis?
Please provide details. If you have previously
stated that you are unable to identify measures to
mitigate impact please state below.

Deadline
date

Lead Officer

Page 94
Signed: John Nightingale, Head of Revenues & Benefits
Date: 26th of June 2019

Agenda Item 9
Report No.
FSD19095

London Borough of Bromley
PART ONE - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

EXECUTIVE

Date:

Wednesday 27 November 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT/REDUCTION SCHEME 2020/21

Contact Officer:

John Nightingale, Head of Revenues and Benefits
Tel: 020 8313 4858 E-mail: john.nightingale@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Peter Turner, Director of Finance

Ward:

(All Wards);

1.

Executive

Key

Reason for report
To advise Members of the result of the public consultation exercise and seek approval of the
scheme to be forward to Full Council.

________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATION(S)
Members are asked to:

2.1 consider the updated Impact Assessment at Appendix 1.
2.2 consider the responses to public consultation exercise at Appendix 2 & 3.
2.3 consider that the Council Tax Support/Reduction scheme for 2020/21 retains the
calculation of entitlement for working-age claimants on 75% of the households Council
Tax liability. Thereby the maximum assistance provided to a claimant of working-age is
75% of his/her Council Tax liability.
2.4 Subject to the outcome of 2.1 to 2.3 above recommend to Council the Council Tax
Support/Reduction scheme for 2020/21.

1

Page 95

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1. Summary of Impact: 3964 households with children and 1428 working- age disabled claimants.
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: New Policy

2. BBB Priority: Not Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: Estimated annual cost of the scheme with 25% liability is £10m

2.

Ongoing costs: Recurring cost

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Benefits and Admin

4.

Total current budget for this head: £6,989m

5.

Source of funding: Government funding (although not separately identified in the grant
notification)
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): 8 + Liberata staff

2.

If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: once the scheme is adopted the work will
fall onto Liberata which has been taken into account in the costings provided.
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement

2.
Call-in: Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Procurement
1.
Summary of Procurement Implications: Not Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): 14,280 (the current of
households in receipt of Council Tax Support/Reduction
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? No

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: Not Applicable

2

Page 96

3.

COMMENTARY

3.1

Introduction
From the 1 April 2013 the national scheme for providing assistance with Council Tax (Council
Tax Benefit) ceased to exist and was replaced by a local authority designed scheme for those
claimants of working-age. The scheme is known as Council Tax Support/Reduction (CTS/R).
For those of pensionable age, the scheme continued to be based on national rules and
regulations.
In the financial year 2013/14, working-age claimants were liable to pay a minimum of 8.5% of
their Council Tax liability. For the financial years 2014/15 and 2015/16 working-age claimants
were liable for a minimum of 19% of their Council Tax liability, before this increased to 25% in
2016/17.
At the 2nd August 2019 meeting of the Executive, it was agreed that a minimum liability of 25%
be the Authority’s preferred option for inclusion in the public consultation exercise, the results of
which are contained later in the report.
Members are asked to note the content of the updated Impact Assessment when considering
the third recommendation contained in this report. The updated Impact Assessment based on
the re-adoption of a scheme retaining the minimum contribution for a working-age household at
25% of the Council Tax liability can be found at Appendix 1
It should be noted that the scheme needs to be adopted at Full Council by the 31 st January prior
to the financial year it relates to.

3.2

Consultation
At the 2 August 2019 meeting of the Executive it was agreed to undertake a consultation
exercise, with the recommendation being that CTS/R continue to be based on 75% of the
households Council Tax Liability. The consultation exercise closed on the 6 October 2019 by
which time 268 responses had been received. Included in this was a response from the GLA
which is attached as Appendix 2.
Responses to the questions contained in the consultation exercise are entered as Appendix 3.
To summarise the main findings were:




4.

In respect of financial year 2020/21, 68% of respondents confirmed their preference to keep
the minimum contribution at 25%. The responses were weighted in favour of maintaining this
level of support irrespective of whether the respondent was in receipt of CTS/R
Of those indicating that the current level of assistance should not be maintained, 67% said the
scheme should be more generous and 33% less.
94% of respondents said that there should be a hardship fund, with 79% agreeing that it
should remain at the current level (£100k)
IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN
There are currently 1428 disabled, working-age claimants and 3964 working-age households
with children affected by the policy. This excludes pensioner claimants whose entitlement
continues to be based on 100% of their Council Tax liability.

3

Page 97

The impact on vulnerable adults and children is mitigated by building into the scheme
disregards and additional assistance contained in the Housing Benefit scheme. In addition a
hardship fund is available to those faced with exceptional circumstances.
Summary of Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)
The EIA recognises that the requirement of working-age claimants to contribute a minimum of
25% towards their Council Tax liability disproportionally impacts upon several of the protected
characteristic groups. Lone parents (who are predominately women) and the disabled are both
over represented in the Council Tax Support\Reduction caseload. Mitigation of the impact is
supplied by the retention of the safeguards included in the Housing Benefit scheme for these
client groups, for example the disregard of certain income types for the disabled and child care
costs. Further mitigation is supplied by the Hardship Fund from which assistance can be
granted for those facing exceptional circumstances.
A copy of the Equality Impact Assessment can be found at Appendix 3.
5.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

5.1

A copy of the 2019/20 scheme can be accessed by the following web link:
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/2860/council_tax_support_scheme_2018
This scheme will be revised in light of any changes agreed by Members, required by legislative
change and/or resultant of the annual uprating of the benefit system
The Authority’s scheme needs to be adopted on an annual basis following a public consultation
exercise.

6.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The below table shows the projected expenditure of the scheme based on working-age
claimants having their entitlement based on 75% of the households Council Tax liability:Minimum Working Age CTS\R Liability

25%
£’000

LBB estimated annual CTS\R expenditure costs (79.14%)

9,994

GLA estimated costs (20.86%)

2,634

Total estimated annual costs for CTS\R

12,628

6.2 The sums included in the above table are based on the Council Tax levels for 2019/20 and the
number of households in receipt of CTS\R at the beginning of November 2019.
6.3

In addition to the amounts contained in the above table, there will be a Discretionary fund of
£100k per annum.

6.4 The above proposal reflects no changes to the existing scheme for 2020/21.
7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Full legal implications were set out in the report considered by members of the Executive on the
2 August 2019. Members should have regards to these and the Equality Impact assessment
undertaken. However, in summary Section 33 (1) (e) of the Welfare Reform act 2012 abolished
4

Page 98

the national of Council Tax benefit. Section 10 (1) of that Act introduced a new Section 13A (2)
into the Local Government Finance Act 1992 which obliged each local authority to make its
owns scheme for those it considered to be in financial need.
7.2 Schedule 1A of the 1992 Act sets out the procedural steps required to make a revised scheme.
These include the obligation to consider whether or not to change a scheme for any financial
year. Where changes are made there is a statutory obligation to publish a draft scheme and to
consult with such persons as we deem to have an interest. This will include both individuals who
receive benefit and those who don’t. Any new scheme must be adopted by 31 st January in the
financial year preceding that in which it is to apply. Bromley has undertaken the required
consultation exercise. Members’ must have regard to the consultation exercise but they are not
obliged to follow the majority view. However, introducing new proposals or disregarding
consultation views which point to a strong preference without clear reasoning will create risk of
challenge. Members’ also have to consider the impact of the scheme and any changes on
individuals with protected characteristics in line with public sector equality duty and equality
impact assessment which identifies appropriate mitigation measures which is appended to this
report.

Non-Applicable Sections:

Personnel and Procurement

Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

5

Page 99

This page is left intentionally blank

Appendix 1

Impact Assessment for CouncilTax Support
London Borough of Bromley
Part 1: Description of policy change and its relevance to equality
Category of trigger for Impact Assessment: Re-adoption of existing policy

Background
Council Tax Benefit (CTB) was abolished on the 01 April 2013. The Local Government Act
replaced CTB for working age claimants with a scheme to be designed by the local authority –
Council Tax Support (CTS). Funding was no longer demand led, but based on an
estimate of Borough caseloads, with an initial overall budget 10% lower than that of CTB.
Residents meeting the state pension credit age being eligible for a separate national scheme to
"leave them no worse off than they are now".
Reason for review
Bromley adopted a 2 year scheme in January 2013 for the financial years 2013/14 and 2014/15.
The scheme was based on a minimum liability of 8.5% for 2013/14 and 19% for 2014/15. This
scheme was retained for 2015/16 before revision to a 25% minimum contribution for 2016/17. It
remained at this level for 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 it is proposed that the minimum
contribution remains at 25% for 2020/21
CTS is a local scheme to assist those who are on a low income to meet their Council Tax liability.
Individuals apply for CTS and if their income is below a certain level, which takes account of their
circumstances, they are eligible for a reduction on their Council Tax bill.
The “generosity” of the scheme has a direct impact on the Authority’s finances. Therefore, the cost
of the scheme will influence service provision in other areas, reserves and/or the Council Tax
level.
Consultation on the scheme for 2020/21
Views on the retention of the proposed scheme will be sought from the Greater London Authority
and a sample of Bromley households. Those households include current CTS claimants as well
as those meeting their Council Tax liability from their own means.

Page 101

Part 2: Collection of Evidence — what do we know?
Description of data used

In order to assess the impact of this policy change, Bromley has used information from
a variety of different sources including:






Data collected from records from the Council Tax and Housing Benefit systems;
Census 2011 data;
Bromley's Budget Strategy & other financial information about the service
Office for National Statistics (NOMIS)
Bromley Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2017
.
Financial Information and Impact
The impact of this proposed scheme will affect all working-age claimants from the 1/4/20. For
the financial year 2020/21 it is proposed that the maximum amount of assistance available to
working-age claimants under the CTS scheme will be unchanged. Calculations have been
supplied based on a minimum liability of 25% using the current years (19/20) Council Tax levels.

Table 1 - Financial Impact of Introduction of Local Scheme

2019/20
Liability

2019/20 Maximum
assistance
Pensionable Age

2019/20 Maximum
assistance under
proposed CTS
(75%)

2019/20 Minimum
weekly amount to
pay
(25%)

Band A - Full
Charge

£1,024.51

£1,024.51

£768.39

£4.91

Band A - with
25% discount

£768.39

£768.39

£576.29

£3.68

Band B - Full
Charge

£1,195.27

£1,195.27

£896.45

£5.73

Page 102

Band B - with
25% discount

£896.45

£896.45

£672.33

£4.30

Band C -Full
Charge

£1,366.02

£1,366.02

£1,024.51

£6.55

Band C - with
25% discount

£1024.51

£1024.51

£768.38

£4.91

Band D - Full
Charge

£1,536.77

£1,152.58

£7.39

Band D - with
25% discount

£1,152.58

£864.44

£5.53

Band E - Full
Charge

£1,878.27

£1,878.27

£1,408.70

£9.00

Band E - with
25% discount

£1,408.70

£1,408.70

£1,056.52

£6.75

Band F- Full
Charge

£2,219.78

£2,219.78

£1,664.84

£10.64

£1,664.84

£1,664.84

£1,248.63

£7.98

Band G - Full
Charge

£2,561.28

£2,561.28

£1,920.96

£12.28

Band G - with
25% discount

£1,920.96

£1,920.96

£1,440.72

£9.21

Band H - Full
Charge

£3,073.54

£3,073.54

£2,305.15

£14.74

Band H - with
25% discount

£2,305.15

£2,305.15

£1,728.86

£11.05

Band F - with
25% discount
Charge

£1,536.77

£1,152.58

Page 103

Breakdown of current claimants
In order to understand how the proposed changes will impact on different protected groups
Bromley has examined data, where available, based on the current benefit caseload. Data is
available on the following: age, gender and disability which are noted in Table 2. There is very
limited data available on the ethnic breakdown of current claimants as the appropriate section is
seldom completed on the application form.

Table 2 - Breakdown of Current claimants Council Tax Support

Type

Total

Female

Male

Disabled

Disabled

Disabled

female

male

DLA/PIP
Income

Working age - Passported
(equalisation definition)
Passported
Single no child dependant

2943

1527

1416

899

471

428

1584

Single with child dependant

1765

1709

56

156

145

11

592

Couple no child dependant

248

104

144

70

26

44

198

Couple with child dependant

313

175

138

63

24

39

218

Single no child dependant

1157

636

521

151

83

68

234

Single with child dependant

1495

1433

62

41

39

2

179

Couple no child dependant

230

97

133

34

13

21

85

Couple with child dependant

391

176

215

14

6

8

81

Total Working age

8542

5857

2685

1428

807

621

3171

Pensioner- Passported

3748

2497

1251

1069

770

299

710

Pensioner- Non Passported

1990

1113

877

461

271

190

247

Total Pensioner

5738

3610

2128

1530

1041

489

957

Overall Total

14280

9467

4813

2958

1848

1110

4128

Working age - Non Passported

Page 104

The table below provides some additional evidence by protected characteristic that
has been used to complete this EIA.
Protected
Characteristic
Age

Disability

Evidence
Please see table 2 for detailed breakdown



8,542 (59.86%) of current claimants are under Pension Credit age and will be affected by
the Authority’s Council Tax Support policy. Data based on June 2019 caseload. Caseload
numbers may fluctuate on a daily basis.



The data demonstrates that 3260 (38.2%) of current working-age claimants are
single parent families with child dependents
Bromley's population
The following table shows the number and percentage of residents aged 16-64 who
were deemed economic inactive during the period Jan 2018 to December 2018. You will
note that the percentage of economic inactivity in Bromley is lower; however a higher
proportion is a result of long-term sickness.
Economic inactivity (Jan 2018-Dec 2018)
Bromley
Bromley
London
(level)
(%)
(%)
All people
37,700
18.3
21.8
Total
11,500
30.4
31.4
Student
7,600
20.1
28.7
looking after family/home
!
!
2.3
temporary sick
10,100
26.7
17.4
long-term sick
!
!
0.3
discouraged
3,900
10.3
6.8
retired
4,300
11.5
13.2
other

Great Britain
(%)
21.5
26.9
23.6
1.9
22.7
0.4
13.2
11.3

9,400
25.1
21.7
20.8
wants a job
28,200
74.9
78.3
79.2
does not want a job
Source: ONS annual population survey
! Estimate is not available since sample size is disclosive (see definitions)
Notes: numbers are for those aged 16-64.
% is a proportion of those economically inactive, except total, which is a proportion of those aged 16-64
Breakdown of current claimants
Please see table 2 for detailed breakdown of information on our current
claimants
 1428 (16.7%) of current claimants below pension credit age have declared a
disability
 3171 (37.1%) are receiving DLA/PIP

Page 105

Bromley population

Sex

According to nomis official labour market stats Bromley's population (2018) is 51.9%
female and 48.05% male
Breakdown of current claimants
Please see table 2 for detailed breakdown of information on our
current claimants
68.57% of current claimants under pensionable age are female




Indicates that women are over represented amongst our CTS claimants

Gender
reassignment

The Council does not anticipate this policy will have a particular equality

Pregnancy &
Maternity

No specific evidence. We do not anticipate this policy will have a
particular equality impact on this protected group.

Race

impact on this protected group.

Bromley population - Current claimants
As advised earlier, there is very limited data available on the ethnic breakdown of the
current claimants as only a few complete the
non-mandatory section of the form.
Borough wide information
The 2017 GLA population projection estimates show that 19% of its population is made
up of black and minority (BME) groups. This percentage does not include Gypsy
Travellers, Bromley has a large settled Gypsy Traveller community living in “brick and
mortar” concentrated chiefly in the Crays.

Religion &
Belief

No specific evidence. We do not anticipate this policy will have a
particular equality impact on this protected group.

Civil
Partnerships &
Marriage

No specific evidence. We do not anticipate this policy will have a
particular equality impact on this protected group.

Sexual
Orientation

No specific evidence. We do not anticipate this policy will have a
particular equality impact on this protected group.

Part 3 - Analyse of evidence and description of the impact
Characteristic

Actual or likely impacts
(negative/positive/no impact)
and justification

Age

Neutral impact for pension age claimants
as the Government has stipulated this
group must have their claims assessed
as they are now.
Given the large number of CTS

Actions to be taken to
mitigate potential negative
impacts
(include name of lead and
estimated date of completion)
It is proposed a hardship fund
be retained for those faced with
exceptional circumstances. It is
further planned to retain all
aspects of the current CTS
scheme that provides

Page 106

claimants that are single parent
families with dependent children
increases in the minimum contribution
would have a negative impact on levels of
child poverty. It is not possible to
evaluate the scale of this impact.

Disability

Any increased level of ‘contribution’ will
have a negative impact on current and
future disabled CTS claimants as working
age claimants would have to pay more
towards their council tax bill.

assistance by way of
disregards of income and
increased allowances.
The Council will monitor the
impact on this Client group
through monitoring of
communications, complaints,
appeals, request for
discretionary awards
Responsible Officer(s)
Welfare Reform Manager & Head of
Revenues & Benefits —
Monitoring to be ongoing
The proposed Council Tax Support
scheme allows for the
complete disregard of certain
income types such as Disability
Living Allowance/PIP and the
award of Disability premiums in
the benefit calculation. These
will be retained to mitigate the
impact on those who are
disabled. The planned
continuation of the hardship
scheme for those faced with
exceptional circumstances will further
alleviate any impact on
the disabled.
Responsible Officer(s)
Welfare Reform Manager & Head of
Revenues & Benefits —
Monitoring to be ongoing

Page 107

Sex

Females are disproportionately
represented amongst current
CTS claimants.

Monitoring of the impact on
women who claim Council Tax
Support will continue. In order to
mitigate impact it is proposed
Any reduction in the level of assistance given that the scheme retains the
would have a
income disregards and
negative impact on current and
allowances that are
future working age CTS
predominately received by
claimants (regardless of gender)
females for example
allowances in respect of child
as claimants would have to
care costs. The planned
contribute more towards their
continuation of the hardship
council tax bill then they have
scheme will provide a further
had previously.
safeguard for those faced with
Although any change in the scheme would exceptional circumstances.
be applied universally (i.e. men and
women would face the same
reduction in CTS) our evidence
makes clear that a greater
proportion of current CTS
claimants are women and
therefore as a protected group
women would feel the impact of
any change in greater
numbers.

Gender
reassignment

response
No specific impact identified
other then all claimants will have
to contribute more towards their
council tax bill

Pregnancy &
Maternity

No specific impact identified
other then all claimants will have
to contribute more towards their
council tax bill

Race

Any reduction in the level of assistance
provided would have a
negative impact on current and
future CTS claimants (regardless
of race) as some claimants will
have to contribute more towards
their council tax bill then they
have had previously.
There is very limited evidence available to
quantify if there will be a differential impact
on the different ethnicities.

Responsible Officer(s)
Head of Revenues & Benefits —
Monitoring to be ongoing

In order to mitigate any
adverse impact is proposed
that a hardship fund is retained
for those faced with
exceptional circumstances.

Responsible Officer(s)
Head of Revenues & Benefits —
Monitoring to be ongoing.

Page 108

- A n

There is evidence to indicate that
BME communities are more likely
to be unemployed or in lower paid
employment and,
therefore, possibly more reliant
on CTS. However, there is
insufficient evidence on current
claimants to demonstrate this is
in fact the case in Bromley.
Religion & Belief No specific impact identified
other then all claimants will have
to contribute more towards their
council tax bill
Civil
Partnerships &
Marriage

No specific impact identified
other then all claimants will have
to contribute more towards their
council tax bill

Sexual
Orientation

No specific impact identified
other then all claimants will have
to contribute more towards their
council tax bill

Part 5 — Completion and authorisation
Officer completing
assessment

John Nightingale, Head of Revenues and Benefits

EIA completed
Officer responsible for
monitoring impact
Date EIA is scheduled to be reviewed

1/7/19
John Nightingale
July 2020

Page 109

Page 110

Page 111

Page 112

Page 113

This page is left intentionally blank

Appendix 3

London Borough of Bromley
Council Tax Reduction – Consultation Report

16th October 2019

Page 115

Appendix 3

1) Consultation
A public consultation exercise was undertaken for the 20/21 Council Tax Reduction
Scheme during a period from 19th August 2019 until 6th October 2019.
The survey was available through a variety of channels:
 A link was available on the Bromley website
 A paper copy was issued to 2,000 households comprising of a mix of CTR
recipients and non CTR recipients (1,000 households not in receipt of CTR, 500
recipients of working age and 500 recipients of pensionable age)
 A paper flyer enclosed with all Council Tax Bills issued during this period advising
of the link on the website.
In total there were 268 responses received, 36 being via the website and the
majority 232 received by post.
Supplementary questions were asked, for monitoring purposes, to determine whether
respondents were currently in receipt of Council Tax Reduction or were completing
the consultation on behalf of a representative body.
Of those who chose to respond to these questions, 55% stated that they were not
currently in receipt of CTR.
The consultation exercise was based on 6 simple questions to residents of the
Borough, 3 of which required specific responses with the remaining 3 being less
direct and allowing a degree of free text response.
Of those that were specific, they sought responses in respect of:
Q1: Whether it was agreeable to maintain the level of assistance at 75%
Q2: If LBB were to increase the level of support, how should this be funded?
Q3: Whether there should be a hardship fund available and whether the sum of
£100,000 was reasonable.

Standard Equality and Diversity questions were also asked but it was made clear that
providing this information was voluntary.

2

Page 116

Appendix 3

2)

Outcomes.
Details of the full consultation question and analysis responses, both overall and
broken down, are detailed below.
Question 1
Q1

The current maximum level of support for working-age claimants is 75% of the
household’s Council Tax liability after any discounts or exemptions have been
applied. This would require working age claimants to pay a minimum of 25% of
their liability.

Yes

No

Please confirm whether you:

a. Agree with maintaining the assistance at 75%

b. If NO do you think Council Tax Support claimants
should;

Pay more Council Tax e.g. receive less support
Pay less Council Tax e.g. receive more support to

If you disagree with maintaining assistance for working-age claimants at 75%, please
state why:
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………................................................
Overall response.
Of those who responded the overall outcome was that they wished to keep the
scheme the same with 68% confirming this to be their preference. This was a higher
percentage when this question was asked last year as in 2019/20 it was 67%. The
responses were weighted in favour of keeping support at this level irrespective of
whether the respondent was in receipt of Council Tax Reduction or not.

3

Page 117

Appendix 3

Total Respondents: Do you agree with maintaining Council Tax
Support at 75% for working age claimants?
100%
80%
68%

64%

74%

69%

60%

Yes

40%

No
32%

20%

36%

26%

21%

0%
All

CTS Working Age CTS Pension Age

Non CTS

Analysis of Respondents by Survey Type.
Of the postal responses received, overall 74% were in favour of retaining the level of
support at a maximum of 75%. Again the result was irrespective of whether they were
in receipt of Council Tax Reduction or not.

Postal Respondents: Do you agree with maintaining Council
Tax Support at 75% for working age claimants?
100%
80%
74%
60%

69%

69%

77%
Yes

40%
20%

No
26%

31%

31%

23%

0%
All

CTS Working Age CTS Pension Age

Non CTS

4

Page 118

Appendix 3

For on-line responses received, overall 56% were in favour of retaining the level of
support at a maximum of 75%. However for Council Tax Support working age there
were 57% against retaining the level of support however this accounted for only 7
replies. But, 59% for non-Council Tax Support claimants were in favour of retaining
the same level of support. Finally there wasn’t any pension age responses received
on-line.

On-line Respondents: Do you agree with maintaining
Council Tax Support at 75% for working age claimants?
100%
43%

80%

56%

59%

60%
Yes

40%

No

57%

46%

41%

20%

0%

0%
All

CTS Working Age CTS Pension Age

Non CTS

Question 1b.
Overall response.
Of those who responded to state that they believe assistance should not be
maintained at 75%, the overall outcome was that they wished to increase the level of
support thereby decreasing the levels of Council Tax which recipients would need to
pay.

Total Respondents: Do you think Council Tax Support
claimants should pay more or less Council Tax?
100%
80%

25%

33%

47%

60%
100%
40%

Pay more Council Tax

75%

67%

53%

Pay Less Council Tax

20%
0%
All

CTS Working
Age

CTS Pension
Age

Non CTS

5

Page 119

Appendix 3

Analysis of Respondents by Survey Type.
Of the postal responses received, overall 71% were in favour of Council Tax
Reduction claimants receiving more support and paying less Council Tax, and this
was supported by the majority of respondents not currently in receipt of support.

Postal Respondents: Do you think Council Tax claimants
should pay more or less Council Tax?
100%
80%
60%
100%
40%

Pay more Council Tax

75%

71%

58%

Pay Less Council Tax

20%
0%
All

CTS Working
Age

CTS Pension
Age

Non CTS

Of the on-line responses received, overall 56% were in favour of Council Tax
Reduction claimants receiving more support and paying less Council Tax.
However this was not supported by the majority of respondents not currently
in receipt of support.

On-line Respondents: Do you think Council Tax claimants
should pay more or less Council Tax?
100%
80%

44%
58%

60%

100%
Pay more Council Tax

40%
56%

42%

20%

Pay Less Council Tax

0%
0%
All

CTS Working
Age

CTS Pension
Age

Non CTS

6

Page 120

Appendix 3

Question 2.
Q2

If you think that Council should increase the level of assistance for workingage people from 75%, how do you think this should be funded? In particular,
should the Council increase Council Tax or cut other Council services or use
the Council reserves, or all three?

Please choose any of these that apply:
a. Increase Council Tax
b.

Cut services

c. Use Council reserves
d. All three above
e. Other

If you think services should be cut or have another suggestion, please write your answer
here: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………...

Overall response
The overall response to this question was that the Council should increase council
tax to fund any additional contribution to the Council Tax Reduction scheme with
29% stating this to be their preference. The next highest preference at 26% was to
increase Council Tax, cut services and use Council Reserves to fund any additional
contribution to the Council Tax Reduction scheme.

Total Respondents: How should the Council fund additional
assistance for working age claimants?
100%
29%

22%

24%

33%

14%

13%

80%
60%
40%
20%

26%
7%

0%
All

30%

35%
9%
26%

23%
11%

Increase Council Tax
Cut Services
Use Council Reserves

30%

21%
13%

2%
CTS Working
Age

32%

CTS Pension
Age

All 3 Above
Other

Non CTS

7

Page 121

Appendix 3

Analysis of Respondents by Survey Type.
Of those who completed the postal survey, 37% confirmed the use of Council
reserves to be their preference to fund any additional contribution to the Council Tax
Reduction scheme. The next highest preference at 28% was to increase council tax.

Postal Respondents: How should the Council fund
additional assistance for working age claimants?
100%
28%
80%

23%

60%

16%

13%
45%

37%
12%
11%

0%
All

20%
4%
CTS Working
Age

27%

Increase Council Tax
Cut Services
Use Council Reserves

48%
20%

27%

6%
12%

40%

35%

6%
CTS Pension
Age

14%
16%

All 3 Above
Other

Non CTS

Of those who completed the on-line survey 31% confirmed to using Council reserves as well
as other options to be their preferred choice with the highest percentage of respondents
choosing to use Council reserves being those of working age who are currently in receipt of
Council Tax Reduction.

On-Line Respondents: How should the Council fund
additional assistance for working age claimants?
100%

4%
12%

5%
14%

17%

80%

24%

31%

40%
20%

Increase Council Tax

50%

60%

19%

22%

Cut Services
Use Council Reserves

31%

38%

33%
0%

All 3 Above
Other

0%
All

CTS Working
Age

CTS Pension
Age

Non CTS

8

Page 122

Appendix 3

Question 3.

Q3 The Council has a hardship fund of £100,000 to protect the most vulnerable.
This is to provide extra help to residents who are experiencing exceptional
financial hardship and are unable to pay their Council Tax.
Yes

No

a. Do you agree that there should be a hardship fund?
b. Do you agree the level of funding at £100,000 is correct?
If you disagree please write your answer here:
……………………………………………………………………………………………………

Overall response – part a.
The overall response to part (a) of this question was that, yes, the Council should
have a hardship fund with 94% agreeing with this statement.

All respondents: Do you agree there should be a hardship
fund?
100%
80%
60%

94%

95%

98%

92%
Yes

40%

No

20%
6%
0%
All

5%

2%

CTS Working Age CTS Pension Age

8%
Non CTS

9

Page 123

Appendix 3

Analysis of Respondents by Survey Type.
Of those who completed the postal survey 95% confirmed that there should be a
hardship fund with a 98% of those in receipt of CTS who were pension age
agreeing with this statement.

Postal Respondents: Do you agree that there should be a
hardship fund?
100%
80%
60%

95%

94%

98%

93%
Yes

40%

No

20%
5%
0%
All

6%

2%

CTS Working Age CTS Pension Age

7%
Non CTS

Of those who completed the on-line survey 89% confirmed that there should be a
hardship fund with a continued high support at 100% of those at Working Age in
receipt of CTR agreeing with this statement.

On-line Respondents: Do you agree that there should be a
hardship fund?
100%
80%
60%

89%

86%

100%

Yes

40%

No

20%
11%

0%

14%

0%
All

CTS Working Age CTS Pension Age

Non CTS

10

Page 124

Appendix 3

Overall response – part b.
The overall response to part (b) of this question was that, yes, the level of £100,000
for a hardship funding was correct with 79% agreeing with this statement.
A number of respondents felt that they were unable to comment without any further
facts and figures being provided regarding the potential spend, numbers affected
and the criteria qualifying for this fund.
Analysis of Respondents by Survey Type.
Of those who completed the postal survey 84% confirmed that the sum of £100,000
was correct.

Postal Respondents: Do you agree the level of funding at
£100k is correct?
100%
80%
60%

84%

79%

86%

84%
Yes

40%
20%

No
16%

21%

14%

16%

0%
All

CTS Working Age CTS Pension Age

Non CTS

Of those who completed the on line survey only 58% confirmed that the sum of
£100,000 in respect of a hardship fund was correct, however for working age and
non CTS they did not agree that the level of funding is correct.

On-Line Respondents: Do you agree the level of funding at
£100k is correct?
100%

14%
31%

80%

58%

60%
86%

40%
20%

69%

42%

Yes
No

0%

0%
All

CTS Working Age CTS Pension Age

Non CTS

11

Page 125

Appendix 3

Question 4 provided the respondents with the opportunity to raise anything else
which they believed should alter in respect of the CTR scheme.

Q4 Are there any other changes you would like to see to the Council Tax Support
scheme 2019/20 or any further comments you would like to make regarding the
scheme?

Please write your answer here: ……………………………………………………………………

Where respondents did suggest changes, responses here fell into a number of
broad categories with many suggesting the following:






Q5

Increased protection for certain categories of people such as the disabled 
Difficult to agree or not as no basis for comparison
Helping citizens to help themselves through employment opportunities
More help for single working age claimants
Please choose any of these that apply:

Yes

No

a. Are you currently in receipt of Council Tax Support?
If you answered yes to (5a) please tick one of the following:
bi. Are you a pensioner?
bii. Are you of working age?




12

Page 126

Appendix 3

Overall response
Of those who completed the survey, overall 56% were from respondents not in
receipt of Council Tax assistance, and 44% confirmed they were either pension age
or working age currently receiving Council Tax Support.

100%
80%

52%

56%

81%

60%

Non CTS
CTS Pension Age

40%

27%

32%

20%

17%

16%

CTS Working Age
19%

0%
All

Postal Survery

On Line Survey

Details of all the narrative responses, to this question and others, have been included at
Appendix 1.
Equality and Diversity.
Standard questions relating to Equality and Diversity were included on the survey but
it was made clear that answering these was not compulsory.
While 268 responses were received, not all respondents chose to complete the
questions regarding their circumstances or ethnic background.
Overall, 243 people confirmed their age with the highest volumes of respondents
being from those aged over 65 years of age.

Age Profile of Respondants
65+
60-64
100%

55-59

80%

50-54
45-49

60%

40-44

40%

35-39
30-34

20%

25-29
0%
All

Postal Survey

On Line Survey

18-24
Unknown

13

Page 127

Appendix 3

Ethnic Background.
208 respondents confirmed their ethnic background with the majority of
respondents, 89%, stating that they were from a white background.

Race /Ethnicity
White
100%

Bangladesh

80%

Carribbean
Chinese

60%

Indian

40%

Irish
20%

African

0%
All

Postal Survey

On Line Survey

Other

Disability and Gender.
246 respondents were happy to confirm whether they were disabled or not. 241
confirmed their gender of which 55% were female and 45% were male respondents.
The analysis is shown below.

Disability and Gender
Transgender
100%

Gender Male

80%

Gender Female

60%

Gender Unknown

40%

Disabled Yes

20%

Disabled No
Disabled Unknown

0%
All

Postal Survey

On Line Survey

14

Page 128

Appendix 3

4. Response from the Great London Authority (GLA)
LONDON BOROUGH OF BROMLEY: COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2020-21
Thank you for your email of 13 August informing the GLA about the Council’s consultation on the
council tax support scheme for 2020-21 and in particular whether the minimum working-age
contribution for 2020/21 should remain at 25 per cent of the council tax liability. The GLA responded in
brief ahead of the launch of the consultation, published on 19 August. This letter sets out the GLA’s
formal response to the consultation.
Introduction
As in previous years, the GLA recognises that the determination of council tax support schemes,
under the provisions of the Local Government Finance Act 2012, is a local matter for each London
borough. Individual schemes need to be developed which have regard to specific local circumstances,
both in respect of the potential impact of any scheme on working age claimants (particularly
vulnerable groups) and, more generally, the financial impact on the council and local council tax
payers – and therefore the final policies adopted may, for legitimate reasons, differ across the capital’s
33 billing authorities.
This fact notwithstanding the GLA also shares in the risks and potential shortfalls arising from the
impact of council tax benefit localisation in proportion to its share of the council tax in each London
billing authority. It is therefore important that we are engaged in the scheme development process and
have an understanding of both the factors which have been taken into account by boroughs in framing
their proposals, as well as the data and underlying assumptions used to determine any forecast
shortfalls which will inform the final scheme design.
Framing Proposals
As part of the introduction of council tax support in 2013-14, the Government set out its expectation
that, in developing their scheme proposals, billing authorities should ensure that:




Pensioners see no change in their current level of awards whether they are existing or new
claimants;
They consider extending support or protection to other vulnerable groups; and
Local schemes should support work incentives and, in particular, avoid disincentives to move
into work.

The GLA concurs with those general broad principles and would encourage all billing authorities in
London to have regard to them in framing their schemes.
Proposed 2020-21 Scheme
Under Bromley’s existing scheme, the maximum level of council tax support available to working age
claimants is 75 per cent of their council tax liability, after any other discounts or exemptions. The
Council is consulting on maintaining this level of support, whilst continuing to uprate benefit levels in
line with changes to Housing Benefit, including the level of non-dependant deductions.
Minimum Contribution
The council’s consultation seeks views on whether the minimum working-age contribution for 2020-21
should remain at 25 per cent of claimants’ council tax liability. We note the council’s preference to
maintain the current minimum contribution level and the consultation does not propose an alternative.
The diversity of council tax support schemes developed in London since 2013-14 means there is now
a wide range of minimum contribution rates, varying from no minimum contribution to 30 per cent. In
addition to Bromley, six other London boroughs have contribution rates of 25 per cent and four
London boroughs currently require a minimum contribution level of over 25 per cent. The GLA notes
therefore that Bromley is within the third of boroughs that require a minimum contribution of at least 25
per cent.
The GLA recognises that local authorities have faced difficult choices on CTS schemes, as overall

15

Page 129

Appendix 3

funding from central government has reduced and funding for CTS is no longer identifiable within the
settlement. The consultation states that if the minimum contribution rate was reduced, this would have
to be funded by either one or a combination of the following options: a council tax increase, use of
reserves, reducing council services. Therefore, notwithstanding the comments elsewhere in this
response, the GLA is content for the council to maintain its minimum contribution rate at the current
level.
Hardship Fund
The consultation also seeks views on the councils hardship fund, which provides assistance to
residents who are experiencing exceptional financial hardship and are unable to pay their council tax.
The GLA welcomes the assurance that the Council will continue to make a discretionary hardship fund
available and notes its level appears appropriate. We would encourage the Council to take a proactive
approach to informing those council tax support claimants facing difficulties paying council tax bills
about the help available.
Technical Reforms to Council Tax
The GLA considers that in formulating its council tax support scheme each billing authority should
consider the impact of the additional revenue it may be possible to raise through powers introduced in
the Local Government Finance Act 2012 and the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and
Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018.
The council does not currently provide any discounts for properties undergoing major repairs or
structural alterations, unoccupied or unfurnished homes or second homes. The GLA is responding
separately to the council’s consultation on proposals for the introduction of an empty homes premium
from April 2020. However, we would urge the council to consider the impact on income levels of
adopting the maximum levels of empty homes premium.
We would encourage the council to inform us as soon as possible of finalised changes to its empty
homes premium policiy, in order to assist us in assessing the potential impact on the Mayor’s funding
and tax base for 2020-21 and future years.
Council Tax Protocol
In recent years the issue of council tax collection practices has become more high profile. The GLA, of
course, recognises the importance of ensuring council tax arrears are collected wherever possible.
However, in some instances poor collection practices can worsen debt problems for vulnerable
residents.
Citizens Advice, in partnership with the Local Government Association, has developed a council tax
protocol1, which outlines a number of practical steps for early intervention to support people struggling
with payments. In London, eight boroughs have now signed up to the protocol and the GLA would
encourage all boroughs to consider adopting the protocol.
Providing Information on Schemes
Whilst we recognise that the detailed rules on council tax support schemes are inevitably complex, the
GLA would encourage all boroughs to make every effort to set out information on their schemes as
clearly as possible. Information that may help potential claimants could include an online calculator, to
identify whether potential claimants are likely to be entitled to support, as well as ‘Frequently Asked
Questions’ and a summary document outlining concise details of the scheme. In addition, for existing
claimants we would encourage boroughs to consider how the process for reporting changes in
circumstances can be made as straightforward as possible.
Setting the Council Tax Base for 2020-21 and Assumptions in Relation to Collection Rates
The council will be required to set a council tax base for 2020-21 taking into account the potential
impact of any changes to the council tax support scheme and changes linked to the empty homes
premium. The GLA would encourage the council to provide it with an indicative council tax base
forecast as soon as options are presented to members for approval, in order that it can assess the
1

https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/Global/CitizensAdvice/campaigns/Council%20Tax/Citizens%20Advice%20Co
uncil%20Tax%20Protocol%202017.pdf

16

Page 130

Appendix 3

potential implications for the Mayor’s budget for police, fire and other services for 2020-21. This
should ideally be accompanied by supporting calculations disclosing any assumptions around
collection rates and discounts granted having regard to the final council tax support scheme design.
Collection Fund and Precept Payments
By 23 January 2020, the council is required to notify the GLA of its forecast collection fund surplus or
deficit for 2019-20, which will reflect the cumulative impact of the localisation of council tax support
since it was introduced in 2013-14. The GLA would encourage the council to provide it with this
information as soon as it is available.
I would like to thank you again for consulting the GLA on proposals for Bromley’s council tax support
scheme for 2020-21.

5. Timetable for Implementation
The new scheme will commence on 1st April 2020 for one year.

6.

Appendix 1 – Narrative responses.

While narrative responses have been reproduced here for completeness, those respondents
who simply stated “yes”, “no” or “don’t know” have been removed as these have been
included in the analysis undertaken of the results above.
Q1
If you disagree with maintaining assistance for working-age claimants at 75%,
please state why:
Keep as is.
75% is too much of a 'discount' to just give away
I am 55 year old working lady.I live on my own.My rent is too high and founding council
taxs bill difficult to pay.I would like to ask for assistance or help.
I believe the council is spending too much on social welfare and not enough on basic
services such as waste and recycling, highways and transport, parks, street cleaning,
libraries etc.
Sickness benefits are not increasing cost of living is more expensive etc! At least help
people on sickness benefits pay 100% of their council tax
Council tax support should be means tested. Maintaining a 25% contribution with 75%
support for some can have a negative impact on their financial circumstances and the
process of requesting a discretionary payment is lengthy. The level of assistance and how
you provide this help should be reviewed and simplified. Thank you for taking my view into
account.
It is a large burden for many to pay that 25% and should not be applied irrespective of their
financial means; if they have to choose between paying that 25% and having the heating
on in the winter, or food for everyone in the household at adequate levels it is in humane.

17

Page 131

Appendix 3

It will be difficult for myself to make any payment towards Council Tax due incurrent
income.
Too much discount
Because 25% along with other bills might be difficult to cope with in some limited cases. It
should be very strictly means assessed but should exist for very limited number of cases.
The amount of council tax support received has a direct impact on the lowest income
families, disabled people and puts the children in our borough into further poverty. Many
already reliant on the food bank in order to meet basic food requirements. This extra
should come from higher earners, vacant properties and businesses operating in the area
paying little or no tax!
"I believe that more support does NOT encourage claimants to get into a working status
NOT set an ideal sample for the younger generation and it does
NOT generate or support new smaller businesses"
The council needs to make savings.
Your policy is punishing the poor and disabled. A truly nasty party (CONSERVATIVE
PARTY) POLICY, You should be ashamed of yourselves.
I have three children under 16 years old the eldest has special needs. I am unemployed
and my partner works under zero contract and has a low wage of £800 per month.
people of working age who are not working and are on benefits such as universal credit are
already on an extremely low income requiring them to pay even 25% of council tax pushes
them further below the poverty line
IF THEY ARE WORKING LET THEM PAY THEIR WAY
A reduction to the 2014/2015 level would be prefered
Before retirement I always paid council tax in full. It requires a plan to be responsible for
their own bills and to budget accordingly. I'm sure if someone is in dire need there will be
essential help for item but I don't believe in carte Blanche for people who are working
Max 50% support
The benefit system op under recent decade of austerity is harsh and challenging to live on
for vulnerable people. I would like to ease some off that by easing the council tax burden
Because working age claimants are not always in employment and 75%is quite a high
assistance
Councils are struggling to maintain services Everyone benefits from council services and
should therefore support the council
Increase in council tax puts extra burden on so many families. Do not put that burden on
hard working families. If possible provide any employment opportunities to other family
members

18

Page 132

Appendix 3

Everyone no matter what their circumstances should pay all bills before being left with
spending monies. To much help is given to people who do not help themselves.
I believe working people should not receive so much assistance
I think that working age claimants should receive 70% only. You have not shown anywhere
the total of funds involved but a reduction of 50% would make all the difference to council
funds.
Because myself and partner are on low income despite both in full time employment and
manage to pay full council tax. Also those receiving assistance are more likely to use
council services.
If people are struggling financially I don't think they should have to pay council tax.
Youre making it to easy.
Because everyone should be making a contribution to the services being provided in the
local borough.
It is important that households make a contribution towards council tax so should
contribute more.
For us paying 100% council tax it is expensive enough as it is. We hardly get by but don't
qualify for any benefits.
I think you should consider the amount people have to pay (25%) as a proportion of
benefits received and the amount people have to live on, particularly with disabled people
who are unable to work.
Disabled people are disadvantaged in the work place eg. Autism will not earn the same as
others. Bromley is a high cost area.
I am not sure Bromley council can afford to maintain the level of support. I feel council
services particularly the state of roads/verges and pavements has got worse over the last
few years. There is also a lot of rubbish in the streets.
Strict, control here please.
Anybody who has the ability to work should. There are plenty of jobs available. If we
continue to support those who are to lazy or do not like any jobs on offer they will continue
to behave the same way everyone should contribute to society
Already have enough assistance
Don't know
Cant afford it.
As I am aged 88 years old I do receive assistance with my council tax. I feel that most of
the questions are no think to do with me.
Being in my 80th year I am not sure what an average working salary would be per annum
so I am unable to give a proper answer to the above question.
Maintaining it at 75% should be the last resort as even now with 75% assistance the 25%

19

Page 133

Appendix 3

that I have to put in is to much for me. My council tax is £38.00 a month which is way to
much for me.
Why should they receive so much support! I paid my way until I retired and had a much
lower income. At times I worked 7 days a week to pay my bills!
With universal credit they do not receive enough to cover their utility bills so it would help
them to pay less on council tax.
I just do not agree with council tax and never have. Its very unfair on all people we get no
think in return except bin men who chuck rubbish all over the place and do not pick it up.
Also we need black bags taken every week not every two weeks because then fly tipping
becomes a problem it should be abolished .
I would rather have good services than giving more help to council tax services are for
everybody so it is fair to put more support for them.
With the 75% we can still maintain other obligations instead of cutting it down

Q2
If you think that Council should increase the level of assistance for workingage people from 75%, how do you think this should be funded? In particular, should
the Council increase Council Tax or cut other Council services or use the Council
reserves, or all three?
If you think services should be cut or have another suggestion, please write your
answer here.
I don't believe that the level of assistance should be increased. In fact I believe it should be
decreased significantly.
Assistance should be there for those who truly need it. I would rather see more money spent on
policing those who are taking advantage of the system
I don’t think services should be cut, but I’m a single lady paying a huge amount for council taxs bill
and I do use all the services you provide.
The council already spend too much on social welfare such as housing benefit and council tax
support.
Make people who refuse to work pay more to ease the burden on disabled and sick claimants
Manage your funds better. They are terribly mismanaged and you outsource many matters to low
performing businesses.
Coming down harder on fly tippers and ensuring prosecution and fines are adhered to effectively.
Making businesses in the area paying little or no tax to be taxed more effectively.
Means testing relevant services.
Taxing hirer earners and those with large land or non-developed brown belt land.
Ensuring all privately owned, vacant properties are taxed heavily, to encourage occupation.
STOP wasting money by sending out numerous letters in April when the benefit or pension change

20

Page 134

Appendix 3

get more funding from government
to help part time workers
Increase council tax for bigger/more expensive properties. The wealthy should be proportionately
offered by the tax system and they aren't at the moment poorly laid out form should have had more
room to complete my answer
Change the law so that the council does not have any legal requirement to support immigrants
Services should be cut and leave adults responsible to provide for themselves
Ensure everyone pays council tax and ensure that the council is operating cost efficiently
Personally I believe that everyone should pay the same but less. Each area is different and this is
unfair. If all areas in Bromley borough were one and not hierarchy, people may find it easier to pay
and not get behind abolish the banding system
Remove free pickup/drop services &let everyone pay less a bit for using council services. There
shouldn't be nothing called free money
I do not agree with the increase why do others have to suffer. any of the above for a few. I do not
agree to any of the above being used
Community service should be exchanged for assistance so that shortages in other areas are also
made up for. I am sure claimants have something to offer.
Reduction of parking wardens as there are enough cameras any funding should help the working
people first ( low pay, single or low hour contracts) how can anyone that is not at work pay.
Hardship fund sounds like out of work fund.
Stay as it is.
The first step: out of hours(working) permit holders only throughout the borough, not as
unaffordable charge but a process which requires the vehicles to be registered to address therefore
not affecting local business or the disabled. However it is essential to share the registered vehicles
with the DWP. Then you will find the number of single claimants reduce saving enough for the
genuine not to be deprived of essential money to feed their families. Far too many are abusing the
current systems.
N/A
The days of cuts are over we need a caring council now.
There must be something non-essential that can be cut- such as the funds that paid for the Bromley
north giant sign.
cut voyeur services gardens ETC
Anyone who wants additional benefits should off their time in social projects EG cleaning streets
maintaining parks, gardens assisting the elderly people etc.
Get more money from the government
Keep at present level until available alternative is available other than increasing council tax
Don't know
Use the council reserves for now and then get more funding from central government by having a

21

Page 135

Appendix 3

petition signed by every single household to send to the government for more refunding.
Cut the support
See if services could be offered cheaper.
The council should budget & stop wasting money. There are also other opportunities they could
look in to.
No this is fair
Abolish council tax
Keep at same level
Cut pay scales to chief executive and senior management this would help all councils in the U.K
TO AVOID CUTS IN COUNCIL SERVICES
Q3
The Council has a hardship fun of £100,000 to protect the most vulnerable.
This is to provide extra help to residents who are experiencing exceptional financial
hardship and are unable to pay their Council Tax. Do you agree that there should be a
hardship fund? Do you agree the level of funding at £100,000 is correct? If you
disagree please write you answer here:
You are not helping people in the long run. Too reliant on outside support.
I agree with this, however as long as it is properly policed and governed, and those who receive the
money truly need it.
As a single person on minimum wage, with no financial help towards council tax this is to low!!! I have
appealed and been ignored by Bromley LB. I am considering not working because I get I get more
help.
The council already spends too much on social welfare.
It feels slightly short knowing the cost of living and how many vulnerable people there are around
which include children below the poverty line.
It is nowhere near enough.Also it is very difficult to access this via Bromley Council due to their bias
agsinst Benefit Claimants
I am not sure what the level of funding of £100,000 is relevant to and I am undecided on this question.
I doubt this to be enough.
This level of funding is too low and doesn't adequately cover support to those residents who need it.
Cannot comment without knowing how many experience this hardship.
Should get higher. Bromley is the biggest borough in London.
I do not actually know if it is sufficient or correct, but I trust that this has been based on previous years'
spend and 'forecast'
Open to abuse. Some people have been in receipt of it for years.
Difficult to agree or not as no basis for comparison
This should be increased by government funding

22

Page 136

Appendix 3

people receiving benefits should receive 100% council tax support
If more was available it would help
Please help the disabled and the poor
This sounds like a very low figure for a borough with a population of over 300.000.people it is less
than salary of just one of your grade1 management staff
Level should not be fixed amount but should not exceed a certain figure
The fund of £100,00 is insufficient having regard to Bromley, as population and the yield of a £1 move
in council tax on a band D house
Waste less instead of sending tons papers or yearly updates to the electoral register you should
spend the money more wisely
should be much higher for the same reason I gave for my answer to question 1
Only for the most severely disabled unable to work
I think there should be more funds available exceptional needs not a limited figure otherwise if the limit
of funding is reached what happens to those in crisis
Cant possibly know if £100,000 is too little or to much when you ask such questions you should
provide much more details as to how much of the £100,000 has been used. A very unsatisfactory
question?
Impossible to answer without any context (how many people need & qualify for help how much of
hardship funds used annually ECT
We all hit hardship in our life time people should make provision for such things not expect others to
pay for them
Not sure
(A) should be less. (B) fund available if you have worked an lived in borough for three years or more
and have been in employment not just a scronger
How can I know whether £100.000 is correct without knowing what has been paid out to claimants
previously. Presently at time the council tax goes up there may be more claimants. There could be a
case for the hardship fund to be increased proportionately.
I agree but without knowing previous numbers of claimants you cant say.
It depends on need but it should be sufficient to support all those who meet the criteria.
Depends on how you define "hardship"
Unable to comment as we are unaware of the number of people applying for the funding.
Not to sure regarding the £100.000 funding.
As previously stated residents should contribute to all services they use.
It is difficult to say if £1000.000 is correct at this depends what constitutes exceptional financial
hardship & it depends on the numbers experiencing this.
"However if the level of council tax support was increased this would be needed less
*I don't know if £100.000 is correct as I have no idea of how many people need this or at what level."

23

Page 137

Appendix 3

Not able to make a decision not sufficient information.
Insufficient information to answer Q3
For a very rich area this needs to be reflective of those who have below average pay.
Don't know
I have no way of knowing or not if £100.000 is a reasonable figure hence I cannot answer Q3
What is hardship & why? strict control needed here ?
I do believe at times people fall into hard times but this should not be a long term solution for each
household.
That amount should be raised or doubled to £200,000 due to the escalating costs of living
Don't know
£100.000 is a drop in the ocean compared to the money wasted else were on cosmetic town
improvement schemes.
Mental health is my problem and Bromley community officer Sandra Torma has spent thousands of
tax payers money on harassment and intimidating through the courts leading to suicide"
Don't know have no knowledge of the calls which may be made on the funds.
Unsure
As long as the hardship fund includes helping that 75% of working age people who need the support,
then I think the £100.000 is way less and should be increased but if its sitting in an account waiting to
be used then there's a waste of a £100.000.
I really think the fund should increase as life becomes more difficult -especially in the light of "Brexit" !
£100.000 Seems a little low if there are many people in hardship.
Living is so much more expensive.
I don't know the answer as council tax is disgusting
Being a large community and fairy wealthy borough a more realistic hardship fund ought to be at level
£250.000 plus. This could be achieved by annual investment of £10.000 or £20.000 until substantial
fund is raised and held inreserve.
It should be for everybody not only for people who don't pay their council tax (cant or wont).
Considering the recent increase of homelessness in the borough it is desirable that the hardship fund
of £100,000 should be assessed on a yearly basis and increase accordingly to the borough
circumstances if necessary
Surely more due to the number of Bromley residents in need, however I do understand that the
hardship fund comes directly from Bromley council - if it doesn't then surely central government can
give more.
Q4
Are there any other changes you would like to see to the Council Tax Support
scheme 2019/20 or any further comments you would like to make regarding the
scheme?
I think there should be more support for young adults private renting.
Scrap it entirely

24

Page 138

Appendix 3

i think it would help many people if the payments was lower.
I would like to pay less as a single person and not using any of the services
Pay less
Single people should have either 50% or 75% off their council tax, as to expensive, and no
return from council
The single occupant 25% discount should be means tested.
I receive single person's discount which helps me greatly as a single working mother. My
salary is categorised as over the threshold for any other assistance and I accept that but I
know of couples with one salary and 3 children who find it extremely hard to keep up with
their bills. I think discounts should be reviewed even if a couple is deemed to be earning
over the threshold and together based on the number of children they have.
I would like to see improvement is customer service and helping people pay their council
tax if liable and work towards a shared common goal as opposed to subjecting residents to
fees and charges, court action which is unlikely to improve their finances and cause
potential problems for future payments towards a bill.
Make it very transparent and fairer. Take more into account with finically assessing
individuals. They have bills to pay.
It is imperative that the maximum council tax support level is raised to at least 80% so that
it offers support to working age people, especially those with young children, who struggle
to keep up with the cost of living and are on a low income.
Help when people get behind
Full waivers for less than minimum London wage residents.
More help is needed with universal credit claimants. The system is full of mistakes and it is
impossible to pay what you want for council tax. I receive 290.00 a month universal credit
after my rent isn’t covered and council tax want 111.00 a month out of that. I also have
children to support.
Help the vulnerable in our borough and train staff better to help those most in need.
Allowing people to set up payment plans at the very start of the council tax year, to
manage their council tax better, BEFORE THE RED LETTER FINAL DEMAND as per your
current policy!!!!"
Road safety, speed/driving pace reductions! alternatives to speed bumps, speed
cameras, - anything can be provided to make the borough safer. (We live on a busy short
cut road, which is extremely unsafe for children / elderly residents.
Despite numerous joyriders' incidents, fast driving, car vandalism and inconsiderate
speeding without any care and nothing has been done."
council is doing extremely well in most aspects
update your staff when it comes to calculating council tax benefit increases / decreases
I think I pay a lot of council tax. as I have a lot of mental health condition which I,ve had

25

Page 139

Appendix 3

from the age off 22
More help for disabled people and mental health
A payment option to pay off the monthly amount would be a good idea for people like
myself who find it hard being unemployed or to get the support fund to pay it all for people
who cant afford it
For disabled people
I'd like to see more support for those like me. I'm noticing there are more people begging
more people sleeping rough or using food banks
yes the council should pay the whole of the council tax for claimants
As above
I do wonder some myself included have fallen behind instead of support you get
threatening letters. If you are struggling to pay the original sum how can you pay the whole
balance?
Cutting branches that are to long I was on a bus and it smashed the glass so much &it
goes on to the buses so much
Provide any employment opportunities to the other members don't encourage free money
,because it puts burden on hard working people .Increase the hourly national income/wage
If you are responsible for a bill payment without excuse. We would all like more money in
our pockets but pay bills first and make provision to pay them when times are hard to
many people rely on benefits
Why is my dad having to pay council tax when he is not working gets full housing benefits
£64 a week its not enough to live on really he had to give up his job to look after me
I think they should make all wheelchair (no or little mobility) properties lower banding as I
struggle to pay 25% on my E banding rented property
I am happy with the current level of council tax support
For local residents of three years or more who have been working
I do not wish to pay any more council tax than I already do so my earnings are shrinking
due to rises else where that are not in line with my below inflation pay rises. I am sure job
seekers and other benefit claimants could do voluntary community service that would
benefit other services even for a couple of hours a week.
The removal of council tax on "Granny flat" when it is used by a family member & is part of
the family not exteneded family.
Withdraw all council tax support.
Take a leaf out of Greenwich services. e.g everyone gets a wheelie bin for garden, recycle
ect and a weekly collection. Not like Bromley services and this is just one example.
Bromley must be sitting pretty financially.
Continue support for single working people. I live alone work all day and only use 1 black
bag of rubbish a week. Mum is 75 working 2 days a week and can just about afford to pay
.I'm sure if we wasn't working we would be in financial hardship.

26

Page 140

Appendix 3

Assistance should only be given to the elderly or disabled.
I work 16 hours with the new universal credit. I don't get no help with the council tax and
pension credit age too don't understand how this is fair to people over 60.
Support for those starting work.
Funding for autism.
Council tax should be increased on home extensions
Anyone that receives these benefits should give back in other ways(non financial). It may
mean that the council provides training for people to do work /provide services that the
council are considering cutting
Spend money on supporting tax payers not harassing them in criminal courts to the extent
that they no longer want to be live.
I would like the pensioners and disabled to not pay some of the council tax because they
just cant afford it.
Please do understand that even at the current level of support I'm very happy and its
helping a lot of people but I'm confident enough that we can do more.
More empathic advisors and workers would be good. I know they are probably
overworked, stressed out, etc but there clients are even more stressed and officialdom
can be so disheartening at a hard time.
We both feel that the council and every one concerned with the council have been helpful
in everyway possible and long may it continue.
Take rubbish more often and take all rubbish including garden waste. The bin men wont
take this wont take that then they get people to give them even more money to take stuff
they normally don't take its disgusting.
I think the level of support you give to all is very generous.
I do not consider myself competent to comment on this .
Central government need to act now on the amount of salaries the council pay senior
management
I am very grateful for the help I receive at a time of becoming redundant and being a
parent/carer of a disabled child.

27

Page 141

This page is left intentionally blank

Agenda Item 10
Report
No.DRR19/051

London Borough of Bromley
PART ONE - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

EXECUTIVE
For pre decision scrutiny by the Renewal, Recreation and Housing
Committee on 5 November 2019

Date:

Wednesday 27 November 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

BECKENHAM LIBRARY AND CULTURAL VENUE
AUTHORITY TO PROCEED TO PROCUREMENT

Contact Officer:

Lydia Lee, Assistant Director Culture and Regeneration
Tel: 020 8313 4456 E-mail: Lydia.Lee@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Director of Housing, Planning and Regeneration

Ward:

Clock House; Copers Cope;

1.

Executive

Key

Reason for report
1.1 Beckenham Public Hall is an underutilised asset in the town centre with huge potential. A
grade II listed building in an accessible location.
1.2 This report sets out a new community use for the building, which would free up the existing
Beckenham Library site, making it available for housing.

________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATION(S)
Members of the Renewal, Recreation and Housing PDS Committee are asked to review
and comment on the contents of this report, prior to the Executive being asked to:
2.1 Agree to proceed to procurement for the appointment of a multi-disciplinary team,
to develop a scheme for Beckenham Public Hall up to RIBA Stage 2 in the first
instance, at an estimated cost of £70k.
2.2 Agree in principle to use the existing Beckenham Library site for housing. The
approach taken to deliver the housing will depend on the outcome of the review
being undertaken by Lambert Smith Hampton and any subsequent agreement of a
housing delivery vehicle. This will be subject to a further report.
1

Page 143

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1.

Summary of Impact: Libraries are free to access. A new and modern library service in
Beckenham will have a positive impact on local vulnerable people.
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Not Applicable

2. BBB Priority: Quality Environment Vibrant, Thriving Town Centres Regeneration
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: Estimated Cost: £70K

2.

Ongoing costs: Not Applicable

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Capital Programme

4.

Total current budget for this head: £nil. Budget will be requested at contract award

5.
Source of funding: Will be proposed at contract award
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): N/A

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement

2.
Call-in: Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Procurement
Summary of Procurement Implications: In accordance with the Contract Procedure Rules, the Head
of Procurement has been consulted regarding the use of the ADUP Framework.
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): In 2018/19 Beckenham
Library received 127,514 visits. It is estimated that the new venue will attract 150,000 visits pa.
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Yes

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: The Copers Cope ward councillors are supportive.
They have said that there has been agreement for some time that the existing library building no
longer meets the needs of the community.
2

Page 144

3.

COMMENTARY
Background
3.1.

As part of the regeneration strategy in development, the Regeneration and Culture
division is considering opportunities to improve and enhance the borough’s library sites,
to enable the library service to flourish and adapt, so that it continues to provide an
excellent community service. Bromley libraries are particularly popular and in 2018/19
issued the third highest number of books in London.

3.2.

Additionally, as part of the Housing Strategy the division is currently assessing Council
owned sites for housing. The Council has a target to build and purchase 1000 homes
over the next four years.

3.3.

Therefore the Regeneration and Culture division has explored the potential of using the
existing Beckenham Library site for housing, and moving the library service in to a
building with significant potential in a more central town location – Beckenham Public
Hall.

Beckenham Public Hall
3.4.

Beckenham Public Hall (appendix 1) is located in the town centre close to St George’s
Church. The building is close to a public car park and public transport links, including
Beckenham Junction Station (see appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment). It is
located 0.7 miles from the existing Beckenham library.

3.5.

It is a Grade II listed grand Victorian building in generally sound condition. Built in 1883
in the Arts and Crafts style in yellow and red brick with corner turrets. It is owned by the
Council and leased to My Time who hire out its rooms for activities such as weddings,
bridge clubs and concerts.

3.6.

The building is spacious, tired and underutilised. Investment is needed to renew the
building’s infrastructure, and restore its features. A condition survey undertaken in 2014
identified backlog maintenance of c.£400k which would need to be addressed as part of
this scheme.

3.7.

Restoring the building will bring the building up to date, enabling a wide range of cultural
uses to complement a core library provision.

3.8.

The lease with My Time requires the Council to give 12 months’ notice to vacate the
site. Under the terms of the lease they are not eligible for compensation. To end the
lease the Council must have formal resolution, i.e. an Executive decision to proceed
with substantial works to the site, before issuing a notice.

3.9.

Part of the basement of the main building is currently separated off and leased to a
private members’ club. Their lease comes to an end in 2024. At this point in time there
are no plans to utilise this part of the building for the new library and cultural venue.

Existing Beckenham Library site
3.10.

The existing Beckenham Library was built in 1939 and is sited next to the Spa leisure
centre. A feasibility study (see appendix 3) has been undertaken and it is anticipated
that 46 housing units could be accommodated on the site with no net loss of the
surrounding green space which would be improved as part of any housing scheme.

3

Page 145

3.11.

The Council requires sites for housing across the whole borough. It is expected that the
development would be 50% affordable and of traditional build, in an architectural style
to complement the surrounding conservation area. A visualisation of how the
development could look is attached (see appendix 4).

3.12.

It has been estimated by officers that the value of the existing Beckenham Library site
for housing is approximately £2m if 50% of the units are affordable. Cushman and
Wakefield has been asked to provide a professional view on the value which will be
available to be reported to committee on the night.

New library and cultural venue
3.13.

Beckenham Public Hall has two large halls in addition to other rooms. It is envisaged
that one hall would be dedicated library space alongside other rooms in the building
including the main ground floor room which could be the children’s library. The other
hall would be retained as an events space, and would host activities ranging from
children’s concerts and theatrical performances, to private birthday and wedding
celebrations.

3.14.

The new library and cultural venue would be restored to a high standard and would
reflect the changing nature of libraries as wider community services that provide
computer access and training facilities. It would be a very special and high quality new
public venue for Beckenham and would incorporate exhibitions of objects and artwork
from the Bromley Historic Collection as has been done at Bromley Central Library.

3.15.

The new library and cultural venue would benefit from being in a more central High
Street location in comparison to the existing library. Moving libraries to the High Street
area has worked well in Orpington and Penge, bringing further vitality to the High
Streets and increasing library usage.

3.16.

It is anticipated that the new venue would be managed by Greenwich Leisure Limited
under the terms of the existing contract. The contract includes provision for the Council
to undertake redevelopment on existing Library premises in line with the Council’s
aspirations to improve library buildings. The Council may also instigate changes to the
contract by bringing forward development opportunities through the contract’s change
control process and has the right to renegotiate the terms of the lease and the contract
price for the facility management under these circumstances.

3.17.

It is expected that restoring Beckenham Public Hall and fitting out a new library and
cultural venue here will cost £2m inclusive of fees and surveys.

Progressing the scheme
3.18.

Members are asked to approve the procurement of consultants for the progression of
the cultural and library venue to RIBA stage 2 (concept design). Progressing the
scheme to this stage will include a full measured building survey, enabling the
production of a clear cost plan for the works. Officers will undertake a competitive
tender process to engage a design team and return to the Executive for authority to
award the contract once the cost is known.

3.19.

Members are asked to approve the use of the existing library site for housing. The
approach taken to deliver housing on this site will depend on the outcome of the review
being undertaken by Lambert Smith Hampton and any subsequent agreement of a
housing delivery vehicle.

4

Page 146

4.

5.

6.

3.20.

Community consultation on the future housing development will take place as part of the
normal Planning process. Community consultation on the new cultural and library venue
will be undertaken on completion of the concept design, prior to reporting back to
Members for authority to move to the next RIBA stages.

3.21.

The procurement of a design team and works in relation to the new library and cultural
venue will be in line with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. It is proposed that
the ADUP framework will be used to procure the services of a design team to develop
the library and cultural venue scheme, with a break clause at RIBA stage 2. Members
should note that the ADUP framework only allows an evaluation split of 70% Quality,
25% Price and 5% Equality. This is not in line with the Council’s normal position of 60%
Price and 40% Quality.

3.22.

The benefits of using a procurement framework are namely speed, due to the OJEU
process having already been undertaken. Additionally the key documentation is already
in place. The ADUP framework is particularly suitable for this scheme because it has a
specialist civic buildings category, and the 13 practices on this lot have already
demonstrated their expertise in this area. The Council has previously successfully used
the first version of the ADUP framework. The Council retains flexibility in relation to the
quality questions and can use these to ensure financial good practice.

3.23.

If Members approve the recommendations in this report, it is expected that the design
team tender will be published in February 2020 and officers will return to the June
meeting of the Executive to seek authority to award the contract and include this
scheme in the Capital Programme. At that time officers will know the cost of the
consultancy team. The works contract will be subject to a separate procurement
exercise at a later date.

IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN
4.1

The impact of the relocation of Beckenham Library on vulnerable adults, children and
young people was evaluated as part of the Equality Impact Assessment (Appendix 2)
which was undertaken to inform this proposal. No negative impacts have been
identified as the new facility will offer at least a like-for-like service.

4.2

The proposed Beckenham Library and Cultural facility will continue to deliver a diverse
programme of activities for children and adults and will continue to support the most
vulnerable residents including those with protected characteristics in order to ensure
that the promotion of equality is achieved.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS
5.1

Listed Building Consent will be required in advance of undertaking works at Beckenham
Public Hall.

5.2

Planning permission will be required for a new housing development at the existing
Library site.

5.3

Planning policy sets out that housing built on public land should be 50% affordable.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
6.1

The estimated cost for the development of the scheme to RIBA Stage 2 is £70k.

6.2

It is currently estimated that the sale value of the existing Beckenham Library site for
housing is approximately £2m if 50% of the units are affordable. It is expected that
5

Page 147

restoring Beckenham Public Hall and fitting out a new library and cultural venue here
will cost £2m inclusive of all fees and surveys.

7.

6.3

Therefore the implementation of this scheme is anticipated to be cost neutral, although
this will only be known once the Beckenham Library site is sold, and costings for the
restoration and fitting out of Beckenham Public Hall are finalised.

6.4

Ongoing running costs and potential income streams relating to the future use of the
entire space at Beckenham Public Hall is not yet known. Therefore at this time it is not
possible to quantify the financial impact of the proposal.

6.5

In addition to seeking Executive approval to award the contract, the report will also
request Council agreement to add the scheme to the Capital Programme.

PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
7.1

8.

There are no personnel implications. Library staff are employed by Greenwich Leisure
Ltd.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
8.1.

The Council has various legal powers in relation to land and assets it owns, held under
various statutory functions.

8.2.

Under the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 the council is under a statutory duty
to provide a comprehensive and efficient public library service.

8.3.

The Council has various powers to develop and use land for housing purposes including
its general power of competence under the Localism Act 2011 and the Housing Act
1980.

8.4.

The report is seeking agreement to procure a multidisciplinary team to develop the
scheme at Beckenham Public Hall through using the ADUP Framework. Due to the
value of the proposed appointment such a procurement is governed by the Public
Contracts Regulations (the Regulations) which allow the use of an existing framework
which has been procured in compliance with the Regulations and which is expressed as
being available to the Council. The Procurement comments to this report confirm that
the Framework is available as such and must be used in accordance with the
Framework rules.

8.5.

The procurement comments to this report deals with compliance with the CPR’s.

8.6.

The report is also seeking agreement in principle to use the land at Beckenham Library
site for housing. Section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives the Council the
power to appropriate for any purpose for which the Council is authorised to own such
land, which is no longer required for the purpose for which it was held, subject to the
rights of other persons in, over or in respect of the land.

8.7.

As indicated within this report a further report will be necessary.

8.8.

In due course the Executive will therefore need to be satisfied that the land is no longer
required for the purpose.

8.9.

Officers must note that there is likely to be a need to formally appropriate land at the
Beckenham Public Hall site under section 122.
6

Page 148

9.

8.10.

Officers must also note, particularly in relation to the proposal for affordable housing
and its fiduciary duty to taxpayers, that under section 123 of the Local Government Act
1972 the Council has a legal obligation to dispose of land at the best consideration
reasonably obtainable. If land is to be sold at an undervalue the specific consent of the
Secretary of State is required except where there is a general consent to dispose of
land at an undervalue up to a maximum of £2m in circumstances where the Council
considers that it will help to secure the promotion or improvement of the economic
social, or environmental wellbeing of its area. There is also the question as to whether
the option finally agreed might be categorised as having as its object primarily the
disposal of land which is exempt from the Regulations or whether the primary object is
the realisation of a work corresponding to the requirements specified by the council
exercising decisive influence on the type or design of the work, in which would then
require compliance with the Regulations

8.11.

Actions in relation to consultation concerning the relocation of the services is explained
in paragraph 3.20 of this report. Paragraph 4.1 of this report refers to the Councils
Equality Impact Assessment and its Public Sector Equality Duty.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS
9.1

The procurement implications of the disposal or development of the Beckenham library
site will be discussed in a further report, in line with 2.2 above.

9.2

This report proposes to procure multi-disciplinary consultancy services (including
surveys) making use of the ADUP framework to RIBA stage 2. The anticipated value of
progressing to RIBA stage 2 is £70k, and the anticipated total contract value is £300k.
The works element will be the subject of a further report.

9.3

In accordance with Clause 3.5 of the Contract Procedure Rules, the Head of
Procurement has been consulted regarding the use of the Framework.

9.4

The use of the ADUP framework is subject to the Council’s proper inclusion on the
Contract Notice.

9.5

Lot 5 ‘Architecture - Commercial, Workspace, Health, Education and Civic Buildings’ will
be used to run a further competition among the 13 suppliers. Interviews should be part
of the selection and assessment process. The ADUP contract terms must be used.

9.6

The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules require the following for authorising an award
via a framework for a contract of this value; the approval of the Chief Officer must be
obtained with the approval of the Assistant Director of Governance and contracts,
Director of Corporate Services and Director of Finance.

Non-Applicable Sections:
Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

Appendix A – Beckenham Public Hall current provision and
concept
Appendix B – Equality Impact Assessment
Appendix C – Feasibility Study
Appendix D - Visualisation

7

Page 149

This page is left intentionally blank

APPENDIX A

BECKENHAM PUBLIC HALL
CURRENT PROVISION

Beckenham Public Hall is a grade-II listed Victorian building built
in 1883 to the design of architect George Viges. It was designed
in playful Arts and Crafts style, with a symmetrical façade of five
bays and a central entrance.

The Hall is in Beckenham town centre, south of Harris Primary
Academy Beckenham Green and St George’s Church, and just
north of Beckenham’s high street, the A222.

Under its current lease with MyTime Active, the Hall is used as
an events venue and hire space. It caters for wedding ceremonies and receptions, and has a regular timetable of activities and
events throughout the week including children’s activity, health
and wellbeing, games and recreation, and church groups.

Page 151

However, the Hall is not utilised to its capacity and while it is accessible to the general public, it is only open around the times of
scheduled activities and classes. Additionally, there is no ‘dropin’ provision, so while the general public can access the building
when open, there is no driver for doing so.

The Hall is split over four floors. The ground and first floors are generous and usable spaces. The visitor enters into a large foyer with a hall to
the left, a reception and office area to the right, and grand staircase ahead leading to the first floor. There is also some back of house space
including a lift.
Alongside a spacious landing, the first floor is home to two halls, one large with stage, and a second one with back of house kitchen facilities.

Page 152
GROUND FLOOR

FIRST FLOOR

The basement is accessed through a hatch in the main entrance / foyer but is not publicly accessible.
The second floor is an attic space comprising two small rooms that could be utilised as office space. This would release the need for an office
on the ground floor which could then be subsumed into public circulation. However, access to the second floor is currently through a narrow,
winding staircase which would need to be addressed.

Page 153
BASEMENT

SECOND FLOOR

GROUND FLOOR

GROUND FLOOR HALL

ENTRANCE

RECEPTION

Page 154

FIRST FLOOR

LARGE HALL

SMALL HALL

KITCHEN

Page 155

BECKENHAM PUBLIC HALLS
FUTURE PROVISION
As a library ‘plus’, Beckenham Public Hall will become the
town’s flagship cultural venue, with a considerably enhanced
offer.
It will combine contemporary library facilities with exhibition
space to tell the history of Beckenham, co-working and meeting facilities to cater for a more agile working environment,
arts workshops, health and wellbeing classes, children’s activities, and music and theatre performances.

Page 156

The main entrance / foyer will be the
hub of the library: a bright and open
space with features that could include a reception desk, working
spaces and relaxed seating. Walls
in this space may be used for book
and magazine display as well as
exhibits, artwork and digital information boards.

The ground floor hall would be a dedicated children and young persons’
library with fixed features that create
an engaging and immersive learning
environment.

BECKENHAM PUBLIC HALLS
FUTURE USE

The large hall would be retained as a
space for events and performances. It
may include some library provision and
exhibits but these would be auxiliary to
its main function.

Page 157

The small hall would be the main
dedicated library space, incorporating the footprint of the current kitchen subject to the partition wall not
being load bearing.

The circulation space of the landing should be maximised and
utilised as library and exhibition
space.

ENTRANCE / FOYER

Page 158

Glass lobby doors will allow daylight to flood the entrance foyer
and give a more obvious “open” feel to passers-by.

The new site has a larger footprint but more circulation space. All space should therefore be
used efficiently to make the site comparable to the current library. The ground floor entrance is
a wide corridor and can be well-utilised while retaining a clear thorough-fare.

ENTRANCE / FOYER
Features in the entrance / foyer could include:

Informal meeting spaces / tables

Magazine / newspaper display

Individual lounging

Café / vending

Wall displays for books / art

Quick pick + display

Private seating

Wall shelving

Digital news display.

Page 159

Colours should draw upon the building’s heritage.

ENTRANCE / FOYER — INDICATIVE VISUAL

Page 160

CHILDREN’S LIBRARY

Vibrant but soft colour palette
with a leaning towards nature
-based / biophilic design.

Rounded edges, flexible and movable shelving, storage and seating.

Page 161
Hide-away reading nooks built into corners /
along walls to use space efficiently.

MAIN LIBRARY SPACES
All spaces should be flexible and moveable to maximise opportunity for secondary functions
including events, activities and room hire.

Chairs with built-in tables
create efficient work
spaces, and upholstery
creates an intimate and
high end offer.

Page 162
Shelving should be high end but flexible, with castors - preferably unseen. Hidden reading
corners should be explored.

Exhibition showcases should be built into shelving units,
enhancing the library’s function and centre of culture in
Beckenham.

MAIN LIBRARY SPACES

Co-working space with built in power sockets. Power supplies should be considered throughout library spaces.

Page 163

This page is left intentionally blank

APPENDIX B

Equality Impact
Assessment

Proposal to relocate Beckenham Library
to a new Library and Cultural Venue at
Beckenham Public Hall

October 2019

Page 165

1

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM
Relocation of Beckenham Library to a new Library and Cultural Facility at the
Beckenham Public Hall site
Stage 1 – screening to establish if the function has any relevance to any equality issue
and/or monitored group i.e.
 Could the function affect one or more equality group in a different way to another group?
 Establish whether different equality groups have different needs
 Establish whether the function contributes to or hinders equality of opportunity
1a Please give a brief description of the function and its purpose
The purpose of the change
As part of the regeneration strategy in development the Regeneration and Culture division
is considering opportunities to improve and enhance the borough’s library sites, to enable
the library service to flourish and adapt, so that it continues to provide an excellent
community service.
Additionally as part of the Housing strategy the division is currently assessing Council
owned sites for housing. The Council has a target to build and purchase 1000 homes over
the next four years. The current Beckenham Library site is undergoing a feasibility study for
its suitability for a housing development site.
To deliver both of these objectives, the division has explored the potential of using the
existing Beckenham Library site for housing, and moving the library service in to a building
with significant potential in a more central town location – Beckenham Public Hall.
The current Library is located in Beckenham Road and is a focal point of the community
though it is positioned away from the main High Street. The new preferred location is more
centrally positioned and is in close proximity to Beckenham Junction Station, and
Beckenham High Street local businesses including a major retailer.
Due to the previous success of relocating other Libraries to High Street locations e.g.
Orpington and Penge Libraries, it is felt that Beckenham Library would also benefit from a
move to a more prominent position in the Town Centre just 0.8 miles away from the current
Library. The new Library would be designed to provide an enhanced range of Library
services from a modern Library and Cultural venue which would greatly benefit the local
community it serves.
Current Bromley Library Service Summary
Bromley Libraries currently operates a network of 14 static libraries which have undergone
significant changes over the last ten years in order to make agreed savings. On 1st
November 2017, following a Commissioning process, a contract award was made to
Greenwich Leisure Limited (GLL). GLL commenced the Management of Bromley Libraries
on a 10 year contract with the option to extend for a further 5 years in 2017 by mutual
agreement. This exercise was carried out to maintain the current high levels of service
whilst delivering ongoing revenue savings.
Beckenham Library was ranked 3rd in number of Library visits and 4th in item issues in the
network of 14 Bromley Libraries in 2018-19. Bromley Central Library is the largest and
busiest followed by Orpington Library. Beckenham Library is currently open 43.5 hours per
week across 5 days, however there is potential for the new library to offer extended opening
hours at the new library and cultural venue.
The purpose of this equality impact assessment is to assess the impact of the following
option on the delivery of Library services for the community served by Beckenham Library.

Page 166

2



1b

1c

1d

1e

Option 1-relocating the current Beckenham Library to a new Library and Cultural
Venue to the Beckenham Public Halls site
Additionally the EIA will further demonstrate how the Council will meet these needs as part
of its statutory duty for all residents in the borough wishing to make use of it.
*Function can mean process, service, policy or project
How would you classify the function type?
The service is provided on the basis of an application and /or targeted then go to
question 1c
The service is open to all go to question 1d
Is the function accessible for all groups? Either tick the box ‘Accessible to all groups’ and
provide relevant evidence OR tick the box for each group to whom the function is not
accessible or for whom there may be needs or considerations to accommodate.
*Accessible for all groups

Pregnancy & maternity

Age

Race

Disability

Religion & belief

Gender reassignment

Sex

Marriage & civil partnership

Sexual orientation

Is it likely that there will be a negative impact on one or more of the equality groups, or is it
clear at this stage that it will be equality neutral? (No negative impact on the groups) Please
tick in the box equality neutral OR tick the box for the group(s) that will suffer a negative
impact. If you have ticked the box ‘equality neutral’ please provide evidence.
*Accessible for all groups
Pregnancy & maternity
Age

Race

Disability

Religion & belief

Gender reassignment

Sex

Marriage & civil partnership

Sexual orientation

If you consider that the impact is Equality Neutral then go to question 1h
Otherwise go to question 1e
What are the negative impacts associated with this function? Please list and give details
then go to question 1f
The negative impacts associated with proposals for relocating library provision from the
current Beckenham Library to the Beckenham Public Halls site are as follows
 Distance from current Beckenham Library – Beckenham Public Halls is located
0.8 miles away from the existing Beckenham Library site located at Beckenham
Road. Some current Library users with protected characteristics may have slightly
further to travel to access Library provision.


Temporary Accommodation – The Library could be required to move to temporary
premises for a fixed period before the new Library site opens. This could limit the
range of activities and stock available. The location of any temporary site has not yet
been agreed. Customers with protected characteristics may have to travel further to
reach alternative library provision

Page 167

3

1f

Are there positive impacts associated with this function? If yes, please list and give details.
The positive impacts associated with this function are detailed below
 Improved Library building- The current Beckenham Library building is tired and in
need of repair and redecoration. As part of the transformation into a new library and
cultural venue, Beckenham Public Hall would be restored to a high standard and
would reflect the changing nature of libraries as wider community services that
provide study space, computer access, training facilities along with activity space for
local residents.


Increased programme of events and activities- The increased programme of
events and activities on offer at the new Library will increase participation and will
ensure that residents of all ages can improve their wellbeing and increase their
social inclusion and levels of community involvement.



Increased access and facilities- The new Beckenham Library and Cultural venue
site will present opportunities for increased opening hours, extending access to
library services, which would be of great benefit to local communities including the
equalities groups. It will offer an extended range of facilities, services or activities
and enable wider use of the building and facilities by the local community.



Community events space- Additional facilities provided in the building will include a
community hall and function room for hire with the potential to host a range of events
ranging from wedding receptions to concerts and theatrical performances.



Service Focus- In addition to the service levels agreed as part of the specification
the new venue will add further value to the library service by providing access to a
wider range of services, including incorporating objects and artwork from Bromley
Historic Collections (BHC) mirroring the success achieved by BHC at the Central
Library. The Library will be a focal part of an exciting cultural venue providing cultural
events and access to museum artefacts



Town Centre Footfall- The relocation of the Library service nearer to Beckenham
Town Centre will have a positive impact on footfall and will positively impact on local
businesses



1g

Balanced spread of Library provision- The current Beckenham Library is just 0.8
miles away from the new Penge Library which moved to its current location in 2014.
Moving sites would increase the distance between these two libraries to 1.7 miles
away resulting in a more balanced spread of provision within the borough.
At this stage, what plans could be built in to address any negative impacts, and/or to
add measures which promote a positive impact, or could you consider an alternative
approach which may better achieve the promotion of equality?
Plans to address negative impacts-existing Beckenham Library Users
Plans to address any negative impacts relating to the relocation of Beckenham Library
Service have been built in from the initial scoping stage and include the following


The new Library and cultural venue will deliver at least fully comparable services to
those currently offered at Beckenham Library in line with residents’ and customers’
interests. The main focus is to ensure that both accessibility and service levels and
are protected.



Beckenham Library will continue to support the most vulnerable residents and those
with protected characteristics from the new facility in order to ensure that the
promotion of equality is achieved and any negative impact limited.

Page 168

4

1h



Distance between both buildings (0.8 miles by road) has been fully analysed and
considered. For non-car owners both sites are 3 or 4 bus stops away respectively
on the 227 and 354 bus routes which serve both sites and virtually go door to door.



Online services are available to bring the library into people’s homes enabling them
to have access to library services 24 hours a day. The Home Library Service offers
library services to those customers who are physically unable to access a library due
to ill health or mobility.



Should it be necessary to move to a temporary site while the new Library is being
progressed, any temporary Library site will offer events and activities and a wide
range of stock and will be open for the current number of hours. Any temporary
library building will be fully DDA compliant and well served by public transport

This approach has been proposed due to the availability of the Beckenham Halls site
which offers the opportunity to significantly transform Library Services in Beckenham. The
move would also free up the existing Library site for housing development. Any negative
impacts will be fully mitigated within the formal project brief and specification.
The Council has a responsibility to promote positive attitudes to equal opportunities
in public life. Has this responsibility been discharged in the application of this
function? If yes give examples.
This proposal fully supports the responsibility to promote positive attitudes to equal
opportunities in public life and considers fully the needs of all the 9 equalities groups
currently using or wishing to use Beckenham Library. Examples of how this responsibility to
promote positive attitudes to equal opportunities in public life has been discharged in the
proposal to relocate Beckenham Library to this site are as follows.





Ensure delivery of an efficient and effective library service whilst delivering value for
money for Bromley residents and striving to increase usage of the service
Offer an improved Library PLUS Cultural facility that is fully accessible to all
Facilitate and deliver cultural events and programmes in the local area from the
shared Library and Cultural facility
Attract new members due to increased and improved facilities

The key document underpinning the Equalities Act in Bromley is Building a Better Bromley
which sets out a vision for the Borough and identifies the following priorities relating to
Equality and equal opportunities as detailed below
A Better Bromley will be a place where everyone feels safe: we will build a cohesive
community in which people respect, tolerate and understand each other. To that end the
Council understands and promotes the Equality Act 2010 and the core elements of the
Public Sector Duty namely;
 Promote equality of opportunities
 Eliminate discrimination
 Promote harmony between people of different backgrounds
The provision of improved Library facilities for Beckenham residents contributes to the
following Building a Better Bromley priorities:
 to create an environment for our children and young people to be successful and to
provide the best possible service to deliver appropriate support to all children and
young people.
 A Better Bromley will be a borough that is considered ‘excellent’ by the community it
serves: by reflecting in the views of our customers and engaging them in service
development and improvement initiatives, we will ensure that everybody has equal

Page 169

5

access to services, facilities and employment opportunities.
 A Better Bromley will provide assistance and support to encourage fulfilled and
independent lives for all, and especially for the elderly: by providing opportunity and
flexible services, all residents, especially the elderly, can continue to have fulfilling
and independent lives whereby they can continue to have a noticeable and positive
impact on the borough.
Along with Building a Better Bromley the following are in place which aims to ensure that the
delivery of services is focused on helping all residents and service users, but with a special
focus on delivering positive outcomes for those with protected characteristics. These aims
are directly related to this project and form part of the assessment framework against which
equalities impacts have been measured
 Equal Opportunities Policy Statement
 Corporate Opportunities Action Plan
 Terms of reference as set out by the Bromley Corporate Equality group for
Bromley fulfilling its PSED
Are there any Human Rights Issues? If so what are they?
1i
The implications of this proposal have been assessed using the flow chart in “Human rights:
human lives: A handbook for public authorities’ Department for constitutional affairs. This
proposal does not interfere with human rights.
1j
Is a full impact assessment required?
YES – If you have established that there may not be equality of opportunity in 1c or
assessed that there would be negative impact on an equality group in 1 d go to Stage 2
NO - please sign off the process (stage 3) and fill in any actions identified, if any in the
action plan.
Don’t know. i.e. not enough evidence. Please go to stage 2.
Stage 2 – full impact assessment
2a Does the function affect or impact on the public, whether directly or indirectly?
yes
no
Don’t know
Provide any relevant information here.

2b

The relocation of Beckenham Library Service would impact indirectly on Borough residents
and those using other Bromley Libraries. It would impact directly on current Beckenham
Library Users. Approximately 6,140 users registered to Beckenham Library had used their
Library card at least once during 2018-19. Additional information relating to library use by
the equalities groups most likely to be affected is summarised below taken from CIPFA
PLUS 2015 and Census 2011.
 Age- Census 2011 shows 11.5% of the population of Clock House Ward (where
Beckenham Library is located) are aged 65 and over. CIPFA PLUS 2015 revealed
26% of Beckenham Library’s adult users were aged over 65.
 Gender- Census data shows 52% of borough residents are female and 48% male
The PLUS survey reveals 67% of the library’s adult users were female and 33%
male.
 Disability- The PLUS Survey indicates 16% of Beckenham Library Users had one
or more disabilities. Census data shows that 84% of Bromley residents are in very
good or good health.
 Pregnancy and maternity- ONS statistics 2011 show 4,141 live births in Bromley.
2014 Library consultation findings show that 4% of users across the Library Service
were pregnant, 5% were of women on Maternity leave and 0.29% on adoption leave.
Have complaints or feedback been received about the function and its effect on different
equality groups?
yes
no
Don’t know

Page 170

6

2c

2d

2e

Provide evidence by documenting all reliable up to date information.
No complaints of feedback received about the effect of the function on equalities groups
Outsourced services - if the function is provided by external organisations/agencies on
behalf of the Council please detail any arrangements you have to ensure that the function
promotes equality; this may include contract conditions.
Provide evidence by documenting all reliable up to date information.
Bromley Library Service is currently provided by Greenwich Leisure Limited who were
awarded a ten year contract to deliver library services on behalf of the Council which
commenced on 1st November 2017. Events delivered by GLL targeted at equalities groups
include Visually Impaired reading groups, and Dementia café participation in Universal
Health offer. Silver Surfers, Baby bounce and rhyme. GLL will continue to develop their offer
at any new Beckenham Library facility and other libraries within the Borough. GLL will be
one of the key stakeholders who the Council will consult with and work with to deliver this
scheme should it progresses to the RIBA stage .
Does the function have employment implications for Council staff
yes
no
Don’t know
Provide evidence by documenting all reliable up to date information.
If you have established that the function does have an adverse impact on one or more of
the groups, then you must identify whether this is justifiable. If not, then the function must
be changed. Please set out the adverse impact and the business justification for continuing
with this situation.
The primary justification for making the proposed changes to Library Services is to improve
outcomes for Library Users and residents against a backdrop of significant financial
challenges and increasing demands for services as detailed in Transforming Bromley our
four year roadmap 2019-2023
An additional justification for this service change is the growing need for affordable homes
in the borough. The current Beckenham Library site has been identified as a potential site
which would increase the supply of housing and improve outcomes for residents including
those with protected characteristics
The relocation of Beckenham Library to a prime location nearer to transport links and other
retail outlets is an opportunity to improve and develop further a popular service. The needs
of the residents have been fully considered in this process and it is felt that replacing the
current provision with a new Library and Cultural facility would be the most effective way of
delivering a modern innovative library PLUS offer which extends and improves services that
are currently available at Beckenham Library. The new Library and Cultural facility at the
Beckenham Halls site is easily accessed by car, train and bus would offer significantly
increased opening hours, cultural facilities, hall hire, community space, an improved
programme of events and activities for all.
The impact on the identified affected groups has been considered as follows
Adverse Impact: Age- The number of residents aged 65+ are higher than the national
average among Bromley library users, the population of Bromley as a whole, and
Beckenham residents. Therefore negative impacts of this policy detailed in section 1e could
affect a greater number of older people.
Adverse Impact: Disability- Refer to the adverse impacts outlined in section 1e and also
detailed in the age category above
Adverse Impact: Sex- As women are the predominant users of Bromley Libraries including
Beckenham Library, any impacts of this proposed service change will affect a greater
number of women than men. Refer to negative impacts in section 1e and from age and

Page 171

7

disability categories
Adverse Impact: Pregnancy and maternity- Refer also to the adverse impacts identified
in section 1e and from the categories above
Action to mitigate potential impact-The following action detailed below will ensure that
the relocation of Beckenham library service provides full access to services for the groups
identified above, mitigating any potential negative impacts fully
 If relocation goes ahead 98% of residents will remain within 1.5 miles of a Library
 Public access to Bromley Library Service is available at any time from a computer or
device with internet access via the library website
https://capitadiscovery.co.uk/bromley/. Bromley Libraries offer 24 hour access to a
wide range of services online including renewals, internet, e-books and other online
resources
 Access to Council services is also available at any time via the Bromley Council
website, www.bromley.gov.uk
 The project brief includes the retention of existing facilities for people with disabilities
and additional needs including Dementia cafes, visual impaired reading groups and
autism awareness events.
 The project specification will include and develop the current Health offer. GLL
libraries have become valuable social hubs, acting as support networks, advice and
information resources and social centres, and helping to combat isolation in the
community while constantly working hard to engage new audiences
 Activities currently provided for babies and toddlers are essential, giving support for
new parents and carers. The project specification will include the retention of
existing facilities and activities for babies and toddlers.
 Car parking-There is car parking available at the current Beckenham Library site.
There is a pay and display car park opposite to the proposed Library site
 Concessionary freedom passes are available for all individuals over pensionable age
which will mitigate the cost of additional travel costs to access libraries.

2f

2g
(i)

There were no adverse impacts identified for the remaining equalities groups.
Monitoring – give details of any monitoring being carried out on existing functions.
The following monitoring has been carried out on our existing library service and policies
 Library Statistics - A range of statistics including Issues and Visitor figures, Peoples
Network usage figures are collected, monitored and reviewed
 Transaction data and management information from the Library Service
 User feedback, CIPFA satisfaction surveys carried out every three years most
recently in 2015 and 2017 with adults and children
 GLL Satisfaction Surveys - 2017-2019
 Performance data compiled by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy (CIPFA) and are benchmarked against comparable local authorities
 Extensive independent public consultation carried out in 2012, 2014 and 2015 to
assess the impact of changes to the Library service
 Activities attendance log
 Contract Management KPI monthly and annual reporting
Data received is reviewed and analysed and used to review the standards of existing
functions and to drive improvement.
If this is a new function, or not currently monitored, are you planning to monitor the impact of
the function
yes
no
Don’t know
If yes add details to action plan
If no please explain why it is not considered appropriate to do so. See updated action plan

Page 172

8

2h

Consultation – If you have not carried out consultation, or if you need to carry out further
consultation who will you be consulting with and by what methods?
As required by the Council’s public law duty to consult, a public consultation exercise will be
undertaken on completion of the concept design prior to reporting back to Members for
authority to move to the next RIBA stage.
A sample of Library users and non-users should be consulted. Particular efforts will be
made to consult and engage with the equality groups. Previous Library consultations have
included a range of questions in relation to the nine protected characteristics’ stemming
from the 2010 Equality Act. The equalities groups will be represented in any the focus
groups which take place. Consultation methods will include a range of methods including
online surveys, face to face surveys, exit surveys, focus groups and telephone surveys.
Previously, detailed consultation has always been undertaken to underpin changes to the
Library Service. Extensive independent public consultation carried out in 2012, 2014 and
2015 to assess the impact of changes to the Library service. Adaptations were made to
Service changes following consultation analysis

2h

See updated action plan
Evidence – what further evidence do you have about considerations with regard to equality
issues that you have made concerning this function? e.g. audit reports, minutes from
meetings or survey results
In order to inform this EIA evidence regarding equality issues has been gathered from the
sources listed below and analysed to ensure that the needs of all residents including the
equalities groups using or wishing to use Bromley Library services are considered as part of
this process
 Census 2011 data
 Library Statistics from the Library Management System (LMS)
 CIPFA Public Library User Survey (PLUS)2017
 CIPFA Children’s Public Library User Survey (PLUS) 2015
 Bromley Libraries Consultation Report 2014
 Stock Management Policy
 Libraries Specification
 Postcode Mapping Exercise 2019
 Transforming Bromley Roadmap
 LBB/GLL Minutes of Monitoring meetings Nov 2017-to date
Beckenham Library: Profile Analysis
The Site of the proposed shared facility is the current Beckenham Public Hall site which is
just 0.8 miles away from the current Library site so will remain fully accessible to the local
community. The last CIPFA PLUS Survey which was conducted in 2015 showed that the
primary method of travel to Beckenham Library was as follows
 48% Walked
 37% Car/bike
 15% Public Transport
Beckenham Library is situated in Clock House ward within a residential area with low levels
of deprivation and unemployment. The local area profile indicates that there is a mix of
younger families, middle aged adults and active elderly living in the area which is reflected
amongst library users. Age profiling conducted during the most recent CIPFA survey gives
the following breakdown of adult users
 40% of users were aged 25-44
 29% of users were aged 45-64
 17% of users were aged 65-74
 9% of users were aged 75 and over
 72% of customers have been using Beckenham Library for more than 3 years

Page 173

9

There is clearly a strong local demand for library facilities from children and families which
will be reflected in the Project brief. The 2015 recent Children’s PLUS Survey shows that
children aged 0-7 use the library the most with 60% of those responding falling within the
0-7 Key stage 1 age range.
Active Users - Across the whole Bromley Library service there has been a slight decrease
in active users ( defined as users who have borrowed an item within the previous 12
months), down 0.34% between January 2018 (41,641 active users) and January 2019
(41,500 active users). Comparatively, at Beckenham there was a 0.99% decrease.
Postcode analysis - A postcode analysis of all Bromley’s active users in 2018-19 shows
that 87.3% of users living most locally to Beckenham Library use this library. In contrast,
overall 71.5% of Bromley Library Members users used their closest library. Currently
Beckenham Library is the nearest library for 9.6% of all registered Bromley Libraries users.
New Members - In 2018-19 a total of 18,119 new members registered to join Bromley
Libraries, an 8.77% increase from 2016-17 (16,657 new members). At Beckenham Library
the number of new borrowers exceeded the borough average with a 17.2% increase
recorded.
Issues – The number of items (books & audiobooks; eBooks and e Audiobooks; CDs and
DVDs) issued increased by 3.7% annually across all libraries in 2018-19 compared to 201718. In particular, the issue of digital items (eBooks, audiobooks, etc) increased by 62.8%,
representing 3.3% of all item issues. Due to the implementation of a new Library
management system which combined online renewals in with issue figures which had not
previously been recorded, reliable branch by branch comparisons are not possible, but has
evened out on the service wide total
Stock - As detailed in the updated stock plan, Bromley library service aims to
• Provide a range and depth of stock that reflects the rich and complex diversity of needs
within the Borough
• Continually maintain and develop stock by identifying and improving areas of under
provision, anticipating new needs and responding to changing cultural requirements
The range and variety of stock will be further enhanced within the new Library in order to
increase issues
Public Network PC Usage – Libraries offer the free usage of public PCs for a limited time
per day per library card. In Q4 of 2018-19, across all Bromley libraries (159 PCs total),
Public Networks PC was in use for 39.2% of all opening hours. At Beckenham Library its 15
PCs were occupied 40.0% of the time demonstrating the importance of the provision of
publically accessible PCs to ensure digital inclusion.
MFDs – Each library branch offers at least one Multi-Function Device (MFD) to the public
for printing and photocopying needs for a small fee. In Q4 of 2018-19, 8,370 pages were
printed at Beckenham Library.
2i

2j

Publishing – if the equality impact assessment forms part of an overall review then the
results should be published as part of any report that goes forward to Elected Members. If
not the findings of the impact assessment should be published on our Council’s web site.
Add details to action plan
See updated action plan
Training and development - please list any staff training issues that have arisen as a result
of conducting the impact assessment-Add details to action plan
See updated action plan

Page 174

10

Stage 3 - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT ACTION PLAN please list actions that you plan to take as a result of this assessment, continuing on a separate sheet if
necessary. If appropriate these actions should be added to any business/service plan for the function .
Issue
Action to be undertaken
Desired outcome
Action owner
Target date
Complaints or feedback
Update section 2b if any complaints or
To ensure that any complaints or Paula Young
TBC
Section 2b requires any complaints or feedback is received about the function feedback regarding the relocation
feedback about the impact of the function on and its effect on different equalities
of Beckenham Library on different
equalities groups to be recorded
groups
equalities groups is carefully
considered.
Monitoring
To record and monitor statistics for The Library service provider and Client Team/ GLL
TBC
Section 2f of the EIA asks for details of new Beckenham Library for inclusion in the Client Unit will ensure that the
monitoring functions
annual Library statistics and returns.
current performance and usage
data relating to the contract is
collected and analysed.
Consultation
Section 2h asks for clarification of consultation
method and who will be consulted

Consultation with Library users and
communication of proposed service
change. This should take include
surveys and face to face consultation

Publishing
Section 2i of the EIA requests that
document should be published

Arrange for this EIA to be published
on the Council’s website where it can
be viewed by all

this

Bromley residents and users of
Beckenham
Libraries to be
consulted about changes to the
location of their libraries and
given opportunity to put forward
their views. Affected equalities
groups to be targeted for
consultation
That the EIA documents are
available on the Council’s website

To be decided

TBC

Paula Young

TBC

Page 175

Author: Paula Young
Role: Equalities Champion
Date: October 2019
Approved by:
Date:

11

This page is left intentionally blank

APPENDIX C

Page 177

Beckenham Feasibility Study

October 2019
Beckenham Library

Developed Proposal
Description
- A large L shaped block is positioned to the north
of the site.
- Two cores provide access to 1B, 2B and 3B flats.
These are entered off Turner’s Meadow Way
- There is a central, semi-underground car park to
the north of the site
- Based on strategic option 1

The Spa
at Beckenham

r
Tu

Strengths
- A large park is provided of a similar size to the
existing open space.
- The flats overlook the park and provide passive
security
- Entrances to the flats are off the street
- Good mix of orientation to flats with a high
percentage double aspect.

Garden Walk

y
eadow Wa
rs M

ne

Weaknesses
- Cost of car parking in partial basement.
- Limited on development amenity, with potential
for community roof garden
- Careful design required in relation to
conservation area and significant public buildings
(church)

Park
Venue 28

Opportunities
- New urban route up from Elm Road to Turners
Meadow Way
- New public space celebrating heritage of church.
- New public square frontage onto Venue 28

Beckenham Road

Beckenham
Baptist
Church

NUE

T AVE

Legend

1 Bedroom Unit
2 Bedroom Unit
3 Bedroom Unit

VE

CROF

Elm Road

Page 178

Threats
- Partial remodelling of park landscape (but with
no net loss of open space)
- Loss of trees requires mitigation
- High density scheme requires careful design to
mitigate impact

GRO

Site Plan
1:1000 @ A3

OAK

B

Key

y

tore

<1 s

ey

or
1 st

Turners
Meadow
Way

Beckenham
Road

Diagrammatic Section
1:1000 @ A3
Beckenham Feasibility
Detailed Option
2 1

Detailed Option 1

Developed Proposal
NUE

T AVE

GRO

VE

CROF

OAK

B

Key

<1 s
1

A

+0.00

eado
w Wa
y

GLEBE

HIGH

WAY

T

STREE

rs M

- 1.50

Turn
e

ject

Pro

C R

m
241
kha
t Wic
Wes
d

cke

wn

Car
parking

e

Dra

Dat

us

ev.
d R

Stat

cke

+0.00

wn

e

Che

Dra

Dat

us

Rev.

Stat

Aerial view from south east NTS

Park
KED

Car Parking:

Page 179

Elm Road

Beckenham Road

7RG 1877
on E2 458 .uk
Ltd
ure Lond 4 870 c.co
itect ad f. +4 .theao
Arch ia Ro 950 www
AOCColumb7739 9 .co.uk
49 44 20 eAOC
t. + dio@th
stu

33no. spaces (inc. 4no. accessible)
Legend
Legend
@0.7 1
spaces
per unit
Bedroom
Unit = Compliant
2
1 Bedroom Unit
3
2 Bedroom Unit
Commercial
3 Bedroom Unit
Private
Garden
Commercial
Private
Garden
Legend
R Refuse Area
CS
R Cycle
RefuseStore
Area
CS Shared
Entry
Cycle Store
Private Entry
Shared
Vehicle
Entry
Private Entry
Service
Vehicle Entry
Service Entry
L Living
D
L Dining
Living
Ground
Floor Plan
D Kitchen
K
Dining
1:500 @ A3
K Bedroom
B
Kitchen
B Bedroom

HEC
G.
BE C
WIN
DRA ES & TO
R
THIS
OM LIMET
LE FR MIL
SCA ONS IN .
T
O
ED
N
SI
DO DIMEN RESERV
ALL YRIGHT
COP

ON

.
SITE

Unit Schedule:
Beds		
		

Target

Draft

(as per SRQ matrix)

(Aug feasibility)

Proposed

1 bed

8

9

9

2 Bed

22

26

28

3 Bed

10

10

9

Total

40

45

46

			Existing Proposed Difference
Landscaped		
2130m2
2130m2
0m2
Open Space

Detailed
Option 1
Beckenham Feasibility
3

Che

Developed Proposal

Housing, Beckenham Road,
Brickwork Detail - Red + Yellow Brick

Beckenham Baptist Church
Brickwork Variety - Yellow + Red Brick

Venue 28
Brickwork Detail - Brick + Terracotta

Kings Crescent, Hackney
Precedent Study

Kings Crescent, Hackney
Precedent Study

Malling Close, Croydon
Precedent Study

Grover Close, Hemel Hempstead
Precedent Study

Page 180

Beckenham Library
Brickwork Tone - Brown Multi Stock

Beckenham Feasibility
4

Developed Proposal
Aerial view, Public Square

Page 181
Beckenham Feasibility
5

Developed Proposal
Aerial view, Park

Page 182
Beckenham Feasibility
6

246_190924_sk04_Axonometric, Park Side

Developed Proposal

Elevation 02, Southeast

Elevation 03, Southwest

Elevation 04, Northwest

Page 183

Elevation 01, Northeast

Proposed Elevations
1:250 @ A3
Beckenham Feasibility
7

246_190926_sk01_Elevation Option A

This page is left intentionally blank

APPENDIX D

Page 185

This page is left intentionally blank

RENEWAL, RECREATION & HOUSING PDS COMMITTEE
5th November 2019 - Draft minutes

45A BECKENHAM LIBRARY AND CULTURAL VENUE – AUTHORITY TO
PROCEED TO PROCUREMENT
Report DRR19/051
Members were requested to consider a proposal to move Beckenham Library from
its current site into Beckenham Public Hall - a Grade II listed building with significant
potential for community use and situated in a more central town location.
Members were also requested to consider the option of making the existing
Beckenham Library site available for housing.
The Assistant Director, Culture and Regeneration informed Members that
as part of the Regeneration Strategy in development, opportunities were being
sought to improve and enhance the borough’s libraries. In addition, Council owned
sites were being assessed for housing and current results suggested there was not
enough to meet the target of 1000 homes. This report was, therefore, a good news
story in that the scheme had the potential to address both those needs.
Having been assessed for housing, the existing library site could accommodate 46
homes (50% affordable) as shown in the appendix. Cushman and Wakefield had
provided a professional view that the site value was £2.12m.
High level feasibility work had been undertaken by officers to assess the potential of
transforming Beckenham Public Hall into a new modern library and cultural venue.
The work undertaken suggested that the site had potential, however further
information was required to understand the true viability of the scheme.
Therefore this report merely sought initial approval to proceed to procurement for an
architect led team to undertake surveys and develop costed concept designs. If
shown to be viable, full community consultation would take place prior to a report
coming back to Members to request to proceed to the next stage of development.
Visiting Ward Member for Clock House, Councillor Ian Dunn, addressed the
Committee on behalf of the local community. The West Beckenham Residents’
Association had written to him raising concerns in regard to:



the impact of the development on the vitality of the area;
the impact of the development on the Elm Road Conservation Area; and
the availability of public transport.

The existing library was one of three focal points in the area. Relocation would
inconvenience visitors to both the spa and library. The building itself was located
opposite the Grade II listed building Venue 28 and situated within a Conservation
Area. Councillor Dunn suggested that the views of the Assistant Director of Planning
be sought prior to proceeding further.
1

Page 187

The site was readily accessible from Beckenham with four bus routes along
Beckenham Road and Clock House railway station nearby.
It was clear there were a number of previous options for the proposals and
Councillor Dunn urged the Committee to ask officers to evaluate these before
proceeding further.
The Assistant Director Culture and Regeneration assured Councillor Dunn that the
proposals for the scheme did take the Conservation Area into account and
discussions with the Planning Department had been undertaken. Public transport
had also been addressed in the Equality Impact Assessment.
Visiting Ward Member for Copers Cope, Councillor Michael Tickner, acknowledged
that a feasibility study for the proposals would be undertaken. In regard to
inconvenience/convenience of the library relocation for local residents, this obviously
depended on how close they lived to either the existing library site or the proposed
relocation site.
Councillor Tickner accepted there was a pressing need to provide housing however,
it was important to ensure that, if feasible, the development was very sympathetic to
the surrounding area and in particular the Grade II listed Venue 28 building.
Part of the basement of Beckenham Public Hall was currently leased to a private
members’ club and Councillor Tickner queried whether the club would be able to
remain in situ during redevelopment of the building. The Assistant Director, Culture
and Regeneration saw no reason why they would need to move out as the area was
separated from the main building.
Councillor Tickner supported the proposals and welcomed the upgrading of libraries
within the Borough.
In opening the debate, Ward Member and Committee Member Councillor King,
commented on the proposals for the Beckenham Library building.
While supporting the proposal for housing including 50% affordable, he did have
reservations about how the plans had been presented in the report. Massing of the
development was questionable as it was located within the Elm Road Conservation
Area and close to Venue 28, a Grade II listed building. The report stated that the
number of units proposed may result in a value of £2m however, he questioned
whether this was actually realistic. He understood there could be a number of issues
with the plans and accepted that they were not final but he was apprehensive that
the actual number of homes built would fall short of the proposed number and asked
what would happen if this was the case. The figure appeared to conveniently match
the cost of the hall renovations and adaptations.
Sale of the land to a developer would ultimately result in the Council losing control
over what was built. With this in mind, Councillor King would prefer the scheme to
be carried out in collaboration with a housing association.
Moving the library to Beckenham Public Hall would result in the loss of two out of
three libraries in Wards north west of the Borough. GLL would likely take on
2

Page 188

responsibility for the management of any remaining hall space which, given their
current industrial relations profile, was not acceptable.
Members were being asked to approve a plan at a very early stage without much
detail. There was no mention in the report as to why Beckenham Public Hall was
underutilised or, indeed, what criteria this had been assessed on. There was no sign
of the Lambert Smith Hampton review and no details of what the enhanced facilities
would offer.
As no alternative had been presented to Members, Councillor King suggested the
following options be considered:



redevelopment with housing above a new library;
extending the Spa and using car parking space at the side or rear of the site.
shared facilities which had proved popular at Biggin Hill and was being proposed
at West Wickham.

Councillor King moved that the recommendations in the report be deleted and
replaced with the following recommendation:‘Agree that officers bring a report with costed alternative redevelopment proposals
for the Beckenham Library site which include, amongst other options, redevelopment
with library facilities on the site, back to a future Renewal Recreation and Housing
PDS Committee for consideration.’
In response to Councillor King, the Assistant Director Culture and Regeneration
confirmed that the site value of £2.12m was the professional evaluation submitted by
Cushman and Wakefield. All monies gained from the existing library site would be
reinvested in the scheme to restore Beckenham Public Hall and for fitting out the
new library. The visual in the report appendix was designed to take the
Conservation Area into account and the approach to deliver the housing scheme
would be informed by the Lambert Smith Hampton review which was due to be
presented to member later in the year. The primary reason for underutilisation of the
Public Hall was due to its current state of disrepair. MyTime had been asked to
provide usage figures.
Contrary to any rumour, there were no plans to close Shortlands Library.
Relocating the library and transferring management of the service to GLL would
result in the provision of a more modern and improved library service.
Councillor Benington was greatly involved in the relocation of Biggin Hill Library to
the town centre. Following the move, usage of the library had increased. Doing the
same with Beckenham Library would make it more accessible for the local
community and should increase footfall to the town centre. Whilst acknowledging
that further detail would need to be worked out, Councillor Benington fully

supported the proposals which would enhance Beckenham Town Centre and not
detract from the Grade II Listed Venue 28 building. He congratulated officers on
producing an excellent report.
3

Page 189

Councillor Michael supported the scheme. There were excellent public transport
links to and from the new library site. There was however, a need to be sensitive in
regard to the housing scheme. A traditional design would be preferable and the
development should be in keeping with the surrounding area. Members were
informed that although the concept design made best use of the land available, there
would be no loss of green space.
Councillor King considered the scheme would result in the loss of business in Clock
House Parade.
Councillor Morgan acknowledged that the Public Hall building was seriously in need
of repair and refurbishment. He considered the site value of £2.12m to be a
conservative figure and believed it may be higher than anticipated. The housing
scheme, consisting of traditional buildings, would be considered by way of planning
applications in the usual manner. Relocating the library would be convenient for
both library users and retail visitors to the town centre.
Councillor Tickner questioned the lengthy timeframe allocated up to the award of
contract (para. 3.23). The Assistant Director, Culture and Regeneration advised that
the Christmas holiday period contributed to the delay and approval must be sought in
regard to the procurement framework. However, it may be possible to publish the
design team tender earlier than anticipated.
RESOLVED that:1

the report be noted and the Committee’s comments be provided to
Members of the Executive;

2

two further recommendations be added as set out at 3.3 and 3.4 below.

3

the Executive be recommended to:3.1 agree to proceed to procurement for the appointment of a multidisciplinary team, to develop a scheme for Beckenham Public Hall
up to RIBA Stage 2 in the first instance, at an estimated cost of
£70k;
3.2 agree in principle to use the existing Beckenham Library site for
housing. The approach taken to deliver the housing will depend on
the outcome of the review being undertaken by Lambert Smith
Hampton and any subsequent agreement of a housing delivery
vehicle. This will be subject to a further report;
3.3 the housing scheme comprise units of traditional build; and
3.4 the timeframe allocated for publishing the design team tender up to
the award of contract be brought forward.

Councillor King’s vote against supporting the recommendations was noted.

4

Page 190

Agenda Item 11
Report No.
DRR19/059/A

London Borough of Bromley
PART ONE- PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

EXECUTIVE
For pre decision scrutiny by the Renewal, Recreation and Housing
Committee on 5 November 2019

Date:

Wednesday 27 November 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

OPTIONS APPRAISAL FOR CHIPPERFIELD ROAD SITE
(BROMLEY VALLEY GYMNASTICS CENTRE)

Contact Officer:

Lizzi Hewitt-Brown, Programme Manager, Regeneration
Tel: 020 8313 4097 E-mail: Lizzi.Hewitt-Brown@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Sara Bowrey, Director of Housing, Planning and Regeneration

Ward:

Cray Valley West

1.

Executive

Key

Reason for report
This report sets out the current lease arrangement for Bromley Valley Gymnastic Centre, and
provides options for the use of the site. Members are requested to determine their favoured
option for the site.

________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Members of the Renewal, Recreation and Housing PDS Committee are asked to review
and comment on the contents of this report, prior to the Executive being asked to:


Agree to re-provide a gymnastics centre for Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club as set
out in para 3.12 to 3.18;



Please see Part 2 for additional recommendations.

1

Page 191

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1.

Summary of Impact: Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club provides a range of opportunities for
young people and vulnerable older people through its programme of recreational gymnastics.
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Not Applicable

2.

BBB Priority: Children and Young People Quality Environment Supporting Independence
Healthy Bromley Regeneration
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: To be determined

2.

Ongoing costs: To be determined

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Renewal, Recreation and Housing

4.

Total current budget for this head: £15.7m

5.
Source of funding: To be determined
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): Not applicable

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: Not applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: None

2.
Call-in: Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Procurement
1.
Summary of Procurement Implications: See main report.
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): Current weekly users of the
Centre are estimated at around 715.
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Yes

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: A draft version of this report was circulated to
Councillors of the following Wards for on comment on Friday 4th October 2019: Cray Valley West
 Cray Valley East
2

Page 192





Orpington
Petts Wood and Knoll
Chislehurst

Councillors were supportive of the Option 1 recommendation to re-provide a new centre for
Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club. Ward Members commented on the number of residential units
that would be built alongside the gymnastics centre, and the need to maximise the land for
residential purposes. It was confirmed with Ward Members that these areas of the scheme will
be fully explored in due course.

3

Page 193

3.

COMMENTARY
Background
3.1.

Outlined in the Local Plan is the Council’s intention to utilise the site of Bromley Valley
Gymnastics Centre and adjacent land at Chipperfield Road (St Paul’s Cray) to build
circa 200 residential units.

3.2.

It is anticipated that as part of this development a new community facility will be built to
bring together St Paul’s Cray Library and Cotmandene Community Resource Centre.
Additionally there is potential to provide a new facility for Bromley Valley Gymnastics
Centre, which is located on the current site.

3.3.

The site, totalling 2.8 hectares, is identified in the Local Plan’s housing trajectory.
Delivering housing here would contribute to the Council’s high priority target to build
and purchase 1000 housing units during the next four years.

3.4.

Various conversations with the existing Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club have taken
place over the last few years, including working with the gymnastics club to write a
specification for a new build. However in order to progress the development of the
scheme, a Member decision is needed on the future provision of the gymnastics centre.

3.5.

There are three options for consideration in relation to the gymnastics centre that
concern both the current tenant and the building. Summarised here and described in
further detail below, these are:
3.5.1 Option 1 - To demolish the existing gymnastics centre and build a new
gymnastics centre specifically for Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club (the current
tenant and operator)
3.5.2 Option 2 - To demolish the existing centre and use the additional land for further
housing units (n.b. options around the housing scheme will be brought forward at
a later date)
3.5.3 Option 3 - To demolish the existing gymnastics centre and build a new leisure
centre (dry facilities only) with gymnastics space, and go out to the open market
for an operator.

Bromley Valley Gymnastics Centre
3.6.

Bromley Valley Gymnastics Centre (BVGC) has been situated on the former
Walsingham School site in Chipperfield Road since 1991. BVGC utilises part of the old
school building which is reaching the end of its usable life: it is an unnecessarily large
site, impractically configured for a gymnastics centre and is inefficient, both in terms of
building fabric and services.

3.7.

Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club is a non-profit Company Limited by Guarantee,
governed by a board of unsalaried directors. The club was formed through the
amalgamation of several gymnastics clubs across Bromley with support from the
Council in the late 1980s. It has leased the site with protected tenancy since 1991.

3.8.

The club is open to recreational gymnasts, including:
a.
b.
c.

Pre-school
General
Gymnastics and Movement for People with Disabilities (GMPD)
4
Page 194

d.
e.

Senior citizens
Adults

As well as squad gymnasts, training and competing across the following disciplines:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

Artistic
Acrobatic
Tumbling
Floor and vault
Display

Currently, BVGC has gymnasts representing Great Britain in national squads and has
recently produced National, European and World medallists.
The facilities are additionally used by students on sports and teaching degrees from
Greenwich University, and local dance schools. It has previously been used for GP
referral classes, martial arts clubs, national and international gymnastics clubs, and
fitness classes.
3.9.

In total, circa 715 people use the centre each week, of which around 80% are from
Bromley households.

3.10.

The current building’s configuration not only limits the scope of the club’s training offer
but also its scope as a competition venue.

3.11.

The centre provides a valuable community resource, and in particular a focus on youth
programmes, in a challenging part of the Borough.

Option 1 – Re-develop centre for existing BVGC
3.12.

The first option for consideration is the direct re-provision of the gymnastics centre, as a
facility for the existing tenant, Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club, given their protected
tenancy status.

3.13.

In this scenario, the specification of the new gymnastics centre would be developed in
collaboration with the club, based on need, growth and best practice. The new centre
may include additional facilities including a crèche, café and fitness suite, as
determined by a viable business plan, and gives the Council a valuable opportunity to
work with the club to build further improvements to the local offer.

3.14.

A comparative research visit and meeting was undertaken in July 2019 to Spelthorne
Gymnastics, a relatively new gymnastics centre which opened in 2017. Membership of
this club doubled within six months of opening. With a comparable offer, it is assumed
that Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club could achieve similar successes.

3.15.

The lease between Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club and the Council for the new centre
would be on a full repairing and insuring basis.

3.16.

The centre would not only expand and develop the number and quality of its gymnasts,
it would maximise its position as a facility for the broader community, used by schools
and local groups for events and activities outside peak times. It is anticipated that an
agreement around the number and type of hours dedicated to the community will be
built into the lease.

5

Page 195

3.17.

This option allows the Council to continue to support a valuable community asset,
focusing on young people, whilst sustaining a valuable rental income. However, it does
not maximise housing quantum and is unlikely to be the most financially advantageous
option for the Council.

3.18.

Please see the Part 2 report for additional information.

Option 2 – Do not re-provide gymnastics facility, and maximise land value for housing
3.19.

The second option considers the removal of the gymnastics centre without intention to
re-provide it or a similar offer.

3.20.

This option would likely allow the provision of additional housing. The exact quantum is
yet to be determined but would be limited to the prospective footprint of a new gym
facility, it is anticipated that this would circa 5 houses. A greater capital receipt is
therefore also anticipated.

3.21.

Although Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club has a protected tenancy, the Council can
terminate the tenancy but would be liable to pay compensation to the club.

3.22.

The benefit of the gymnastics centre, or similar offer, within the local community versus
benefit of extending the residential development should be given due consideration.

3.23.

The Council is unlikely to be able to support BVGC with finding new suitable facilities,
and this is likely to result in the loss of the BVGC. Policy 20 of the Local Plan stipulates:
“Planning permission will not be granted for proposals that would lead to the loss of
community facilities, unless alternative enhanced provision is to be made in an equally
accessible location for the community it serves, or it can be demonstrated that there is
no longer a need for them or other forms of social infrastructure.”

3.24.

This scheme would benefit the Council in terms of housing need and capital income but
consideration of Policy 20 in relation to the loss of community facilities would suggest it
is unlikely to receive planning permission.

3.25.

Please see the Part 2 report for additional information.

Option 3 – Rebuild a general leisure offer (dry facilities only) for competitive tender
3.26.

The third option is to build a general leisure centre provision with a gymnastics space as
part of a development, and competitively tender this build through the open market.

3.27.

As with Option 1, this option would not maximise the housing provision and would
reduce the capital receipt to the Council. The rationale for including this option is that it
may deliver a high rental yield for the Council, over and above a gymnastics centre-only
rent.

3.28.

Whilst officers are aware of potential interest in the site from other leisure providers, it is
important for Members to balance this with the community value that the BVGC offers,
and the specialised nature of the service, which is likely to be lost without an
appropriate facility. It would be unlikely that another provider would propose a like-forlike service, as the current tenant significantly relies on their own directors’ specialisms.
Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club coaches and competes at elite levels. This elite level
provision would be lost if the centre was taken over by a new operator.

3.29.

As with Option 2, the Council can terminate the tenancy but would be liable to pay
compensation to the Club.
6
Page 196

3.30.

However, Policy 20 of the Local Plan (see para. 3.23) would reduce this option’s
likelihood of receiving planning permission without the re-provision of alternative
enhanced facilities. Therefore any additional rental income generated from a
commercial leisure facility may be accounted for through the cost to re-provide a
community facility elsewhere.

Previous schemes
3.31.

Members may recall a report taken to PDS and Executive in September 2016
(DRR16/075) that summarised the previous feasibility works undertaken for the
development proposals at the Chipperfield Road site.

3.32.

Reference to this scheme serves to provide Members with an indicative financial
outcome of a new scheme to punctuate the ‘community’ versus ‘cost’ benefit argument.

3.33.

Please see the Part 2 report.

Summary
3.34.

Option 1 will ensure that any future development re-provides the gymnastics facility for
BVGC on the basis of BVGC accepting a full repairing and insuring lease (FRIL).

3.35.

This option is based on a Heads of Terms being agreed with the club in advance,
stipulating an agreed rent and level of community activity.

3.36.

It is acknowledged that the market value of a new gymnastics centre is an unknown at
present and the right due diligence including the appointment of independent and
specialist valuer will be made.

3.37.

It is recognised that the re-provision of a new gymnastics centre may not be as
financially advantageous as maximising the land for housing. Whilst the provision of
housing continues to be a key priority for the Council, this should be balanced with the
Local Plan’s commitment to wider community needs, including the provision of suitable
recreational facilities, and in this case, those that encourage youth participation.

3.38.

Market testing the site with the requirements to re-provide valuable community facilities,
including the gymnastic centre, and provision of new library and incorporated resource
centre, creates the most benefit not only in terms of housing quantum but also in
relation to community need. The anticipated 150 – 200 unit site is considerable and
should be a carefully managed development if it is to bring effective and holistic
regeneration to the area.

Scheme constraints
3.39.

4.

The future of Bromley Valley Gymnastics Centre is part of a wider scheme to
regenerate the site around Chipperfield Road as identified in the Local Plan. The site is
not without its challenges, however, and these will be brought forward in due course.

IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN
Summary of Impact: Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club provides a range of opportunities for
young people and vulnerable older people through its programme of recreational gymnastics.

7

Page 197

5.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS
Policy 20 of the Local Plan should be considered in relation to the removal of community
facilities. See para. 3.23 and 3.30.

6.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 At this early stage of consideration it is not possible to fully evaluate the possible financial
implications of the development of the site.
6.2 This report seeks Members’ consideration of the continuation of the Bromley Valley Gymnastics
Club facilities and any future rent agreement that would be required.
6.3 The full financial implications for the development of the site including any rent income will be
reported back to Members’ once known. This will also include consideration of any VAT
implications.
7.

PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
No Council staff are affected by these recommendations.

8.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1 The proposal is to redevelop the area and provide a new gymnastic facility on site. The existing
tenant BVGC has a protected tenancy. Provided Heads of Terms are agreed with BVGC and,
subject to contract, the recommendation is to grant a new lease of the newly built facility to the
existing tenant with some community use included. Section 123 of the Local Government Act
1972 requires local authorities to secure the best consideration reasonably obtainable when it
disposes of land (other than a lease of 7 years or less) unless it has the benefit of an express or
general consent of the Secretary of State. Independent market valuation will determine the
market value and assist the Council in establishing whether best consideration obligations are
met.
8.2 If the disposal is at an undervalue it may be possible to rely on Local Government Act 1972
general disposal consent (England) 2003 disposal of land for less than the best consideration
that can be reasonably obtained (Consent). The Council may rely on the Consent if it can be
demonstrated that the proposed lease to BVGC will promote or improve the economic, social or
environmental wellbeing of its area, provided the undervalue does not exceed £2,000,000. In
determining whether or not the disposal of land is for less than the best consideration
reasonably obtainable, and whether or not any specific proposal to take such action falls within
the terns of the Consent, the Council should ensure that it complies with normal and prudent
commercial practices, including obtaining the view of a professionally qualified valuer as to the
likely amount of the undervalue.
8.3 Officers will need to take legal advice with regards to terminating the existing lease with BVGC
and entering into a new lease. If there are any other specific contractual arrangements
envisaged then officers will need to take prior legal advice.
9.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS

9.1. This report seeks authorisation to award via an exemption to re-provide a proposed new
gymnastics facility for Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club.
9.2 This action is permissible under the general waiver power of the Council (CPR 3.1). The
Council’s specific requirements for authorising an exemption are covered in CPR 13 with the
8
Page 198

need to obtain the formal Approval of the Executive following the Agreement of the Portfolio
Holder, Director of Corporate Services, Director of Finance, Assistant Director Governance &
Contracts, Chief Officer and the Budget Holder for a contract of this value.
9.3 The actions identified in this report are provided for within the Council’s Contract Procedure
Rules, and the proposed actions can be completed in compliance with their content.

Non-Applicable Sections:

Not applicable

Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

Not applicable

9

Page 199

This page is left intentionally blank

The following statement has been submitted by Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club to
be considered by PDS and Executive in relation the recommendation made.
We write on behalf of Bromley Valley Gymnastics Centre to confirm our commitment to the
redevelopment of our current site. We understand that the development is to deliver new
residential homes in addition to a new gymnastics facility that is suitable for current and
anticipated future needs in line with British Gymnastics standards and further community
facilities.
A specifically designed and modern building will enable us to increase participation and
retention within our Recreational Gymnastics Programme, with obvious physical and social
benefits. This in turn, will realise an increase in opportunity for more talented Bromley
gymnasts to train for elite national and international competition.
Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club already collaborates with local schools and other
organisations involved in educational and community activities, to make use of the centre's
facilities during ‘off peak’ times. However, the dilapidated condition of the building limits
our effectiveness. A modern, fully accessible building will greatly increase our ability to
provide a facility that will have substantial benefit to the wider community.
We have previously been working with the Council’s advisers, Cushman & Wakefield and
GSA Architects, reviewing and evolving the indicative design concepts to create a
development solution that articulates the requirements of BVGC, as part of the overall
proposal.
Whilst dialogue continues, to date discussions have been positive in realising a facility that,
with some further input to the design, has the potential to substantially benefit the operation
and future of the gymnastics centre.
Should such potential be realised, once the nature of the redevelopment is finalised, we
recognise a joint responsibility to review the financial basis upon which we occupy the space
and the leasehold arrangements between ourselves and Bromley Council. We will be
working with the Council to consider this further, recognising that there would be a
correlation between the financial benefit to Bromley Valley Gymnastics Club attributable to
the redevelopment and leasehold arrangements, including rental payments, agreed with
Bromley Council.
In 1991, the granting of a lease on the former Walsingham School building to Bromley Valley
Gymnastics Centre saved the sport of gymnastics in Bromley from near collapse and set us
on course to become a thriving and successful club. The regeneration of the centre will
allow this work to continue and furthermore create a facility of great benefit to our local
community.

Page 201

This page is left intentionally blank

RENEWAL, RECREATION & HOUSING PDS COMMITTEE
5th November 2019 - Draft minutes

45B

OPTIONS APPRAISAL FOR CHIPPERFIELD ROAD SITE (BROMLEY
VALLEY GYMNASTICS CENTRE)
Report DRR19/059/A

As outlined in the Local Plan, the Council intended to utilise the site of Bromley
Valley Gymnastics Centre and adjacent land at Chipperfield Road (St Paul’s Cray),
to build approximately 200 residential units.
Part of the development would include a new community facility to bring together St
Paul’s Cray Library and Cotmandene Community Resource Centre. There was also
potential to provide a new facility for Bromley Valley Gymnastics Centre.
In this regard, Members considered the current lease arrangement for Bromley
Valley Gymnastics Centre and reviewed the proposed options for the use of the site.
Members also considered the confidential financial information set out in the
accompanying Part 2 (Exempt) report (DRR19/059(b)).
The Head of Regeneration outlined the report to Members.
As the current facility was not fit for purpose, Councillor Stevens welcomed the
proposals and supported Option 1 as recommended although he sought and
obtained assurance that the Gymnastics Centre could continue to provide a
continuity of service whilst work was being undertaken.
Details of the timeframe for work to be carried out was yet to be arranged and
consideration was currently being given to submission of applications for funding.
In response to a query from Councillor Bear, Members were informed that the
Gymnastics Club operated within a niche market and there were some elements of
concern in regard to finding alternative operators in the unlikely event that it became
necessary to do so. However, officers were confident that requirements would be
met.
Councillor Botting fully supported the recommendations and welcomed the
development of a new gymnastics centre together with the proposed additional café
and crèche facilities, which would benefit the local community.
It was agreed that the recommendations to the Executive include an additional
proviso to ensure that costs/rent paid by Bromley Valley Gymnastic Centre remain
fair and viable.

1

Page 203

RESOLVED that:1

the report be noted and the Committee’s comments be provided to
Members of the Executive; and

2

a further recommendation be added as set out at 3.3 below.

3

Members of the Executive be recommended to:3.1 agree to re-provide a gymnastics centre for Bromley Valley
Gymnastics Club as set out in paragraphs 3.12 to 3.18 of the Part 1
report;
3.2 agree the recommendation set out in the accompanying confidential
Part 2 (Exempt) report (DRR19/059(b)); and
3.3 ensure that costs/rent paid by Bromley Valley Gymnastic Centre
remain fair and viable.

2

Page 204

Agenda Item 12
Report No.
DRR19/053

London Borough of Bromley
PART 1

Decision Maker:

EXECUTIVE
For pre-decision scrutiny by the Renewal, Recreation and Housing
Committee on 5 November 2019

Date:

27 November 2019
Tuesday 5 November 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

PROVISION OF HOUSING AT WEST WICKHAM LIBRARY AND
STATION ROAD CAR PARK, WEST WICKHAM

Contact Officer:

Hannah Jackson, Head of Town Centre Renewal
Tel: 0208 461 7960 E-mail: hannah.jackson@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Director of Housing, Planning, Property and Regeneration

Ward:

West Wickham

1.

Executive

Key

Reason for report

1.1 In accordance with the Council’s Housing Policy, the Council has reviewed a number of sites
across the borough that could be repurposed to provide housing for temporary accommodation.
1.2 This report summarises the initial feasibility work undertaken in relation to the current site of
West Wickham Library and Station Road car park in West Wickham (Appendix 1) to provide
approximately 34 residential units and 500sqm of commercial unit.
1.3 The report recommends that further feasibility work is undertaken in order to fully assess the
viability of the scheme, whilst a procurement exercise is run concurrently to appoint a multidisciplinary design team.
1.4 The results of the further feasibility work will be reported to a meeting of the Executive in spring
2020.

1

Page 205

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 The Renewal, Recreation and Housing PDS Committee are asked to note the report and
provide their comments for consideration by the Executive.
The Executive are asked to:
2.2 Review the feasibility work undertaken to date and approve the West Wickham Library
and adjacent parcels of land and the cark park at Station Road, West Wickham as a
potential site for housing development.
2.3 Approve the additional feasibility work identified at paragraph 3.24, including instructing
Cushman & Wakefield to enter into formal negotiations with the land owners for the
purchase of additional land to maximise the site’s development potential.
2.4 Approve the procurement strategy outlined in paragraphs 4.1 – 4.10 for the appointment
of a multidisciplinary design team for the scheme via the ADUP (Architecture Design +
Urbanism Panel) framework.

2

Page 206

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1.

Summary of Impact: Vulnerable children and adults could be supported through the provision of
housing for temporary accommodation
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Existing Policy: Housing Policy

2.

BBB Priority: Quality Environment Safe Bromley Supporting Independence Vibrant, Thriving
Town Centres Regeneration
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: Estimated Cost: £35k

2.

Ongoing costs: Not Applicable

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Capital Programme

4.

Total current budget for this head: £100k

5.
Source of funding: Growth Fund
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): N/A

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement Non-Statutory - Government Guidance:

2.
Call-in: Applicable:
________________________________________________________________________________
Procurement
1.

Summary of Procurement Implications: This report recommends use of the ADUP framework
for the appointment of a multi-disciplinary design team.
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): It is estimated that the scheme
could provide temporary accommodation for 34 households.
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Yes

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: A written copy of feedback from ward councillors will
be provided prior to the committee meetings.

3

Page 207

3.

COMMENTARY

Background
3.1 As is set out in the draft Housing Strategy, the Council faces severe housing pressures and is
considering how to deliver more affordable homes and more cost effective options for temporary
accommodation.
3.2 The draft Housing Strategy identifies four priorities for housing: building more homes; building
better quality more affordable homes; preventing and tackling homelessness; and supporting
vulnerable people. The Council has a stated commitment to develop or purchase 1000 new
homes on council-owned land or acquired sites by 2022. The Council has also committed to
reducing the proportion of households in nightly paid temporary accommodation, and to
increase the supply of self-contained temporary accommodation with a view to eliminating the
use of units with shared facilities.
3.3 Provision of good quality, value for money temporary and affordable accommodation in the
borough is essential if the Council is to reduce the current pressures on its revenue budget and
manage future demand for services. Currently, there are around 1,580 households in
Temporary Accommodation, of which around 950 are in costly nightly paid placements. With
the number of people needing to access Temporary Accommodation rising (as a result of
welfare reform and increased local authority responsibilities under new legislation), the Council
should not delay action.
3.4 At the meeting of the Executive on 28th November 2018, the Director of Housing outlined
options to increase housing supply in the borough. As part of the recommendations, the
Executive agreed in principle to establish an affordable housing development programme that
would look to deliver units on Bromley owned or acquired sites to, in part, address the rising
cost of temporary accommodation provision. As a result, officers have completed a review of
Council owned sites across the borough and assessed their suitability for housing development,
and particularly for the provision of temporary accommodation.
3.5 Following these recommendations, the Council has agreed to develop housing for temporary
accommodation on four Council owned sites: the car park behind Burnt Ash Lane (off Brindley
Way) DRR19/044, Anerley Town Hall overflow car park and Banbury House (Bushall Way,
Chislehurst) DRR19/025, and York Rise ECHS19/061. These sites were identified as surplus to
requirements with potential for housing development in the Councils Five Year Housing Land
Supply paper (DRR19/021).
3.6 As part of this review, Council owned car parks have been looked at in relation to their potential
for housing development. In order to deliver the number of units committed, the Council will
need to consider the business case for development on its land where the challenges may be
more significant.
Station Road Car Park, West Wickham
3.7 A review of all Council owned car parks in West Wickham was undertaken. On balance of a
SWOT analysis for all sites, Station Road car park off Croft Avenue is currently recommended
as a site for the provision of housing.
3.8 There are several car parks in West Wickham town centre; the following are owned by the
Council:



Pay and display car park off Ravenswood Avenue
Pay and display car park off High Street
4

Page 208




Pay and display car park off Station Road
Pay and display adjacent to West Wickham Leisure Centre

3.9 Of the Council owned car parks in West Wickham, Station Road car park generates the lowest
amount of income for the Council and occupancy rates at the car park are also the lowest (see
accompanying Part 2 report DRR19/054).
3.10 Problems with access to and from the High Street car park site ruled this site out for
development for housing at this time.
3.11 The car park adjacent to West Wickham Leisure Centre is already being considered for the
provision of housing as part of wider regeneration proposals for a mixed use development on
the Leisure Centre site (DRR19/027). Reprovision of car parking will be secured within this
scheme.
3.12 Initial massing exercises were therefore undertaken in relation to the car parks off Ravenswood
Avenue and Station Road. This exercise identified that it would be more desirable to consider
development on the Station Road site.
Maximising Development Potential
3.13 Massing exercises for Station Road car park showed the site was viable, but only if no public
car parking was retained on this site.
Data suggests that the other Council car parks in West Wickham have more than enough
capacity to manage the displacement of cars from the Station Road car park on the basis of
average occupancy, even if no car parking were retained at this site. However, there does
appear to be a shortage of car parking in Council owned town centre car parks when all car
parks are at their highest capacity. This does warrant further investigation but does not
necessarily mean that the loss of car parking would prohibit the scheme. The data does not, for
example, take into account that one car park may be at its highest capacity when another is not;
it just assumes a worst case scenario. Moreover, it does not take into account capacity at town
centre car parks which are not owned by the Council, or other on-street car parking.
Average capacity: West Wickham car parks
Average Occupancy
Car Park
Ravenswood car park
High Street car park
Station Road car park
TOTAL

Number of Average
spaces
occupancy
153
119
67
339

Average
number of
occupied
spaces

61%
61%
54%
59%

Average
number of
vacant spaces
93
73
36
202

60
46
31
137

Highest occupancy rates
Car Park
Ravenswood car park
High Street car park
Station Road car park
TOTAL

Highest
Number of
occupancy
spaces
rates
153
119
67
339

88%
94%
79%
87%

5

Highest
number of
occupied
spaces

Lowest
number of
vacant spaces
135
112
53
300

Page 209

18
7
14
39

If members agree the recommendation to take this scheme forward, additional work will be
undertaken to assess the impact of the loss of parking on the local economy, and to identify the
impact on other town centre car parks.
3.14 The car park site itself has the potential to deliver up to16 units comprising of a mix of 2 and 3
bed homes (Appendix 2). An initial financial viability assessment does suggest that this scheme
would be viable and it is recommended that this is held as a reserve position depending on the
outcome of the further feasibility work recommended in this report. However, if the site was
increased to include the current West Wickham Library and parcels of land to the rear
(Appendix 1), the development potential of the site is significantly increased, with the
opportunity to deliver up to 34 residential units and 500sqm of commercial space.
3.15 Members will be aware that the approved medium-term plan is to relocate West Wickham library
to a new mixed use development at the current site of West Wickham Leisure Centre so that is
co-located with other community services in a modern, purpose built facility (DRR19/027). The
existing library building is outdated and requires significant maintenance investment. However,
should members agree to take a capital scheme on this site forward, interim premises for the
library will be required. Potentially, the new commercial facility could provide interim
accommodation (the current library floor area is 411sqm), with the Council delaying rental
income until the new library facility opens. However, it is recommended that alternative
premises are considered as part of the next stage of feasibility work.
3.16 Additionally, to maximise the development potential of the site, it is recommended that the
Council seeks to acquire adjacent parcels of land between the library and car park sites, for
which it does not currently own the freehold. This includes


an unadopted car park to the rear of the library
This site would need to be acquired to enable development to extend beyond the existing car
park site. Currently, the surface car park is included on the title plan for 115 Station Road,
West Wickham, BR4 0PX. This cost of acquiring this land has been initially estimated and
this is set out in the accompanying Part 2 report (DRR19/054).



a vacant commercial unit directly adjacent to the car park
This unit would also need to be acquired to enable development to extend beyond the existing
car park. The freehold for the unit is privately owned and was until May 2018 leased, but has
been vacant since. The cost of acquiring this land has been initially estimated and this is set
out in the accompanying Part 2 report (DRR19/054).



A private road that runs parallel to the car park
Including this road within the scope of the development site would increase the number of
units deliverable on the site by providing combined vehicle access to a new housing
development and to service the rear of the existing shops. The existing road is currently a
private street, but the Council could use the provisions of the Private Street Works Code from
the Highways Act 1980 to have it made up to an adoptable standard. This would include
undertaking works to widen and resurface the existing road and to make improvements to the
junction with Croft Avenue. The initial estimated cost of these works is £200k.

6

Page 210

Summary of Initial Feasibility Work
3.17 AOC Architecture was commissioned to undertake an initial feasibility study which considered
options for massing on the site. They were asked to consider options for housing development
which both included and excluded the library and parcels of land to the rear.
3.18 A number of options for massing were considered; the optimum scheme recommends providing
up to 34 residential units and 500sqm of commercial unit across the car park, the library and the
parcels of land to the rear of the library (Appendix 3). The massing concludes provision of a mix
of 1, 2 and 3 bed residential units as set out in the table below:
Massing: Residential Unit Breakdown

1 bed
2 bed
3 bed
TOTAL

Number of units
9
19
6
34

3.19 The massing exercise showed development in three separate blocks:
 a four story block fronting Glebe Way
 a three story central block
 a row of two storey three bedroom terraced dwellings
Access to the site would be from Croft Avenue via the existing unadopted road. Whilst public
car parking cannot be reprovided, surface car parking for residents is included in the massing
exercise; 26 car parking spaces ensure policy compliance.
3.20 The massing exercise has also provided a commercial unit. In doing so, the scheme addresses
planning policy set out at policies 94 and 20 of the Bromley Local Plan. It also has the potential
to create an income stream to the Council which could be used to create a maintenance fund to
help meet the ongoing management and maintenance costs of the new housing. As set out in
paragraph 3.15, the unit could be used to reprovide the library in the short to medium-term if a
delayed rental income was accepted. An initial estimate of the commercial rent that could be
generated is set out in the accompanying Part 2 report DRR19/054.
3.21 Officers received some informal feedback from planners on the planning implications of the
massing exercise. A summary of the most notable points are:


The site is suitable for residential and retail development



Development may need to be reduced and massing reconfigured to reduce height in
order to manage issues affecting visual impact and privacy for existing residents



Integration with the street scene, particularly where the development adjoins Croft
Avenue should be reviewed

3.22 In light of this feedback, it is proposed that a traditional construction method is used to provide
housing on this site, so support better integration with the surrounding street scene, and to
maximise the income generating potential of the commercial unit. Additionally, at the next stage
of feasibility alternative massing will be considered.
3.23 Some due diligence work has also been undertaken in relation to these sites. An initial look at
plans mapping utilities in the borough show that there are no major issues underneath the site.
7

Page 211

Recommendations for Site 1: Station Road car park, West Wickham
3.24 In light of the viability work undertaken to date, it is recommended that officers undertake a
more detailed assessment of feasibility including:


Instructing Cushman & Wakefield to undertake formal valuations of all land parcels, provide a
formal estimate of rental income from the commercial unit and to provide valuation data on
the development values to inform a more detailed business case.



Instructing Cushman & Wakefield to commence negotiations with the owners of the privately
held freehold so that the decision on whether or not to proceed with the scheme is based on
the actual purchase price.



Instructing more detailed legal investigations and advice on the scheme risks.



Appointing AOC Architecture to undertake further massing work in order to address the
comments raised by the Council’s planners and to ensure that the total number of units does
not need to be reduced to the extent that the viability of the scheme is jeopardised.



Procuring Quantity Surveyor services to provide a more accurate estimate of the total scheme
cost following a review of massing.



Undertaking further work to assess the traffic and economic impacts of removing car parking
from the Station Road car park.



Reviewing options for the re-provision of West Wickham library on an interim basis (while the
scheme to bring forward a mixed use leisure development on the site of West Wickham
Leisure Centre is progressed.



Completing an Equality Impact Assessment



Undertaking a procurement process to appoint a multi-disciplinary design team who could
take the scheme forward.
It is anticipated that the outcome of this viability work will be reported to the meeting of the
Executive in spring 2020.

4.

PROCUREMENT AND PROJECT TIMESCALES AND GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS

4.1

As part of the next stage of feasibility work, it is recommended that officers seek to procure a
multi-disciplinary design team to deliver this residential led development. It is recommended
that this appointment be for RIBA stages 0-7, with appropriate break clauses at all RIBA
stages. Officers will report back to members at RIBA stage 2 (concept design) and 4
(technical design) so that if further work identified that the scheme was no longer viable or
desirable, the contract could be terminated without incurring additional cost.

4.2

Running the procurement process concurrently with the further feasibility work would enable
officers to proceed directly to the concept design stage following reporting the outcome of the
further feasibility work to the meeting of the Executive in spring 2020 and avoid any delay
progressing the project.
8

Page 212

4.3

It is recommended that following concept designs, a design and build contractor is appointed
to deliver the scheme, with the multi-disciplinary design team taking on contract administration
duties as is normal for a design and build scheme.

4.4

Officers recommend that the Council use the Architecture Design + Urbanism Panel (ADUP)
framework for these appointments. There is no charge to use the framework. The framework
promotes high quality urban and suburban regeneration and sustainable development in
London, and is for use by public sector land owners, including Local Authorities. It is
recommended that a design team is procured under Lot 4 of the framework: Architecture –
Housing and Mixed-use.

4.5

The framework reduces the amount of time and cost associated with a procurement exercise
because suppliers are pre-qualified by the framework providers based on technical
competence and financial competition. Delivering at pace is important; for every week that the
Council does not deliver these units, an additional £4k is required for expensive nightly paid
placements. If a framework was not used, the Council would be required to undertake a full
OJEU compliant procurement process which could result in a high number of returns, requiring
significant officer time to evaluate.

4.6

In accordance with the terms of the framework a mini-competition will be undertaken. This
gives the 12 panel members (suppliers) from Lot 4 on the framework the opportunity to submit
a tender specific to this project. The mini-competition process is summarised in the table
below:
Mini-Competition Process

Indicative
timescale
2 – 4 weeks
4 - 6 weeks
3 – 4 weeks
4 weeks

Preparation of mini-competition documents
Invitation to tender – to select the winning supplier
Evaluation of bids including supplier interviews
Award of contract (via the Council’s committee process)

Members should note that the framework requires that panel members are appointed using
specified evaluation criteria of 70% technical, 5% equality, diversity and inclusion, and 25%
financial. This is a deviation from the Council’s usual position on the evaluation of tenders.
However, in this case officers are recommending this procurement strategy on the basis that it
is the most suitable framework for the commission. The panel members on Lot 4 have been
shortlisted because of their excellent track record in relation to housing and mixed use
developments in London, and have already been subject to competition upon joining the
framework. Furthermore, this framework allows use of suppliers that have been specifically
chosen for their excellence in this area, rather than a general proficiency in relation to urban
development. This reduces the Council’s exposure to risk as these experiences and specialist
suppliers are able to better anticipate the likely issues with the project and design around them
resulting in overall a more cost-effective scheme.
4.7

The winning supplier will then be contracted using a call-off contract supplied by the framework
and under the general terms and conditions in the Framework Agreement. The call-off
contract can be adapted to the specific requirements of the project.

4.8

The estimated contract value for design services across all RIBA stages and surveys for a
scheme is set out in the accompanying Part 2 report (DRR19/054).

9

Page 213

4.9

In relation to the procurement exercise for the appointment of a multi-disciplinary design team
before the feasibility work is complete, the Council should not tender if it is not intent on
delivering. In this instance, the Council is planning on proceeding with the scheme, subject to
the outcome of the feasibility work. If the further feasibility work undermines the viability of the
scheme, a contract would not be awarded. The Council is not obliged to award any tendered
contract and this is made clear in the Council’s terms for the tender.

4.10

The procurement strategy for the design and build contractor to take the scheme forward to
construction will be set out in a future committee report.

5.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

5.1

Any agreed proposals will be subject to planning permission and consequently a statutory
period of public consultation.

5.2

Ward members have been briefed about the proposals.

5.3

Consultation on any potential changes to the library location and/or the closure of Station Road
car park will be undertaken at the appropriate time and consultation activity will be
proportionate to the impact of any proposed changes.

6.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

6.1

The Council is currently consulting on a new Housing Strategy which includes a commitment
to building and /or acquiring 1000 new homes inlcuding the use of Council owned sites, and to
reduce the number of people in nightly paid accommodation and increase the supply of good
quality, self-contained temporary and affrodable rented accommodation .

7.

IMPACT ON VULNERABLE CHILDREN AND ADULTS

7.1

If this scheme is delivered, vulnerable children and adults will be supported through the
provision of affordable housing that is suitable for individuals and families.

8.

PROCUREMENT RULES

8.1

This report recommends use of Lot 4 of the ADUP framework established by the GLA for the
appointment of a multi-disciplinary design team for the scheme at an estimated value of £730k
with appropriate break clauses.

8.2

In accordance with CPR 3.5, the Head of Procurement has been consulted regarding the use
of the framework.

8.3

The use of the ADUP framework is subject to the Council’s proper inclusion on the Contract
Notice. For each requirement, a call of contract must be completed and the relevant proformas
returned to the framework provider.

8.4

For the requirements set out above, a mini competition can be used under the terms of the
framework and in compliance with CPR 3.6.1, the further competition must be carried out
using the Council’s e-procurement system.

10

Page 214

8.5

The mini competition will be conducted in line with CPR 7.4. As the value of the contract is
above the EU thresholds for services, it must be conducted in line with Regulation 33 of the
Contract Procedure Rules.

8.6

The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules require the following authorisation to proceed to a
mini competition via a framework for a contract of this value; the Approval of the Portfolio
Holder following Agreement by the Chief Officer, the Assistant Director Governance &
Contracts, the Director of Corporate Services and the Director of Finance must be obtained.

8.7

In paragraph 3.24, the report recommends that AOC Architecture be appointed to deliver
additional massing studies, further to the work that they had previously undertaken at the initial
feasibility stages. The appointment of AOC Architecture to undertake this additional
consultancy work is in accordance with CPR 8.2.1.

8.8

Also in paragraph 3.24, the report requests for Cushman and Wakefield carry out additional
feasibility work up to a value of £22k. Following Approval, this instruction must be applied via a
suitable Change Control Notice, or similar, as specified in the contract.

8.9

The actions identified in this report are provided for within the Council’s Contract Procedure
Rules, and the proposed actions can be completed in compliance with their content.

9.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

9.1

The proposed feasibility works will be funded from the Growth Fund monies already committed
for feasibility works for housing schemes in the Capital Programme as agreed at the meeting
of the Executive on 28th November 2018. A breakdown of the anticipated costs is provided
below:
Item
Fees for formal valuations, commercial negotiations
and additional legal work
Additional massing, costing work and planning advice
Further survey work on parking impact

£'000
22
7
6
35

9.2

The estimated scheme value at this initial stage of feasibility for 34 residential units and
500sqm of commercial unit is £7.6m. This figure is inclusive of all associated costs including
design fees, the cost of acquiring private land and of adopting the private street for £200k as
set out in paragraph 3.16.

9.3

Based on 34 units, this scheme could generate up to £395k per annum from net rental income
and savings on nightly paid accommodation costs.

9.4

Subject to Members agreeing to progress this scheme, full financial implications will be
presented with the outcome of the feasibility work in Spring 2020, which will include a detailed
cost estimate, capital financing requirements, temporary accommodation savings and impact
on parking income.

9.5

If the findings of the additional feasibility work recommended in this report indicate tha the 34
unit proposal is not viable, a smaller scheme delivering 16 units on the Station Road car park
site could be considered. The estimated value for this smaller scheme is £2.3m, which could
generate up to £190k per annum from net rental income and savings on nightly paid
accommodation costs.

11

Page 215

9.6

No provision for grant funding has been included; the scheme is not eligible for grant funding
from the GLA because it is for the provision of temporary accommodation.

9.7

The indicative disposal value for the parcels of land for which the Council owns the freehold is
estimated at £2.2m.

10.

LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

10.1

The Housing Act 1996 Part 7 (as amended) sets out the Council’s statutory homelessness
duties, including the duty to provide temporary accommodation for certain classes of people
and in certain circumstances.

10.2

The Council can rely on Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 to provide temporary accommodation
together with the general power of competence in section 1 of the Localism Act 2011.
Accommodation made available under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 strictly as provided by
Schedule 1 of the Housing Act 1985 will not be a secure tenancy of licence.

10.3

The demand for homeless accommodation has continued to increase following the
implementation of the Homeless Reduction Act 2018 as the duties towards homeless
households are expanded. The Council must make decisions in accordance with the law and
also in accordance with its fiduciary duty to its tax payers in using Council resources. The
report explains the benefits including the financial benefits that must properly be weighed up
and considered before taking a decision to proceed with the scheme.

10.4

Members are asked to note that should commercial negotiations with the owners of the private
of freeholders fail, the Council could at a future date consider the commencing compulsory
purchase processes to acquire the land.

10.5

The report is seeking agreement to procure a multidisciplinary team to undertake a detailed
feasibility assessment at the car-park land at West Wickham through using the ADUP
Framework. Due to the value of the proposed appointment such a procurement is governed by
the Public Contracts Regulations (the Regulations) which allow the use of an existing
framework which has been procured in compliance with the Regulations and which is
expressed as being available to the Council. The Procurement comments to this report confirm
that the Framework is available as such and must be used in accordance with the Framework
rules.

10.6

The procurement comments to this reports deals with compliance with the CPR’s in relation to
the use of the Framework and further engagement of AOC Architecture and instructions to
Cushman and Wakefield

10.7

In due course there may be a need to carry out a formal appropriation of land .Under Section
122 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives the Council the power to appropriate for any
purpose for which the Council is authorised to own such land, which is no longer required for
the purpose for which it was held, subject to the rights of other persons in, over or in respect of
the land.

10.8

As indicated within this report further reports will be necessary.

10.9

Officers must also note, particularly in relation to the proposal for affordable housing and its
fiduciary duty to taxpayers, that under section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 the
Council has a legal obligation to dispose of land at the best consideration
reasonably obtainable. If land is to be sold at an undervalue the specific consent of the
Secretary of State is required except where there is a general consent to dispose of land at an
12

Page 216

undervalue up to a maximum of £2m in circumstances where the Council considers that it will
help to secure the promotion or improvement of the economic social, or environmental
wellbeing of its area. There is also the question as to whether the option finally agreed might
be categorised as having as its object primarily the disposal of land which is exempt from the
Regulations or whether the primary object is the realisation of a work corresponding to the
requirements specified by the council exercising decisive influence on the type or design of the
work, in which would then require compliance with the Regulations.
10.10 Actions in relation to consultation concerning various proposals are explained elsewhere in
this report and in the Stakeholder engagement section. Officers will keep this under review as
the proposals and options develop.

Non-Applicable Sections:

Personnel considerations; IT and GDPR considerations

Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

Appendices:
1 – Map of West Wickham Library, rear land parcels and
Station Road car park.
2 – Indicative massing exercise for Station Road car park
only
3 – Indicative massing exercise for West Wickham Library
and Station Road car park sites
Other background documents:
Draft Housing Strategy 2019-2029 (July 2019)
DRR19/021 LB Bromley Five Year Housing Land Supply
Paper (April 2019)
ECHS19/061 Award of Contract for the Build and
Management of Modular Homes at the York Rise Site (July
2019)
DRR19/044 Award of Contract: Provision of Housing in
Burnt Ash Lane (August 2019)
DRR19/025 Provision of housing supply in Anerley and
Chislehurst (May 2019)
DRR19/027 West Wickham Leisure and Library
Redevelopment (May 2019)
Increasing Housing Supply to Meet Housing Need
(November 2018) Part 2

13

Page 217

This page is left intentionally blank

Page 219
Legend

±

West_Wickham_Croft_Ave_Car_Park_Site

West_Wickham_Library_and_Car_Park_Site
© Cro wn cop yrig ht and da tab ase rig hts 2 017. Ordna nce Survey 100 0176 61

1:1,000

This page is left intentionally blank

Page 221

Page 222

Page 223

This page is left intentionally blank

Addendum to Report DRR19/053: Provision of Housing at West Wickham
Library and Station Road Car Park, West Wickham

Additional Legal Considerations
1.1

Further to paragraph 10.7, the following considerations should be noted:


In coming to the decision that the various parcels of land are no longer
required for the purpose for which they are held, the Council must consider
the public need within the area for the existing use.



The Council’s decision could not be challenged unless it is made in bad faith
or if it is a decision that no authority acting reasonably in the exercise of its
decision could possibly have taken. There is judicial authority that the local
authority was the sole judge of whether land used as a municipal aerodrome
was no longer needed and should be appropriated for housing.



There is no statutory requirement to advertise or consult on a proposal or
decision to appropriate land used under the general power in section 122 of
the Local Government Act 1972 unless the appropriation relates to special
categories of land ( for example, common or allotment land).

1.2

Further to paragraph 10.9, the following considerations should be notes:

Privately owned land


The land lying to the east of Station Road, West Wickham. This area is
subject to restrictive covenants in a deed of conveyance dated 4 October
1928. This deed was not lodged in the land registry and neither is the original
deed nor a certified copy available. A compulsory purchase order will not
override restrictive covenants. Therefore, a restrictive covenant indemnity
policy should be obtained.



115 Station Road. There are no restrictive covenants. There is a building on
the land known as Gainsford House. A lease of the ground, first and second
floors was granted for a term which expired on 26 July 2005. A lease of the
ground floor only was granted for a term which expired on 24 March 2015.
Only if the Council intends to acquire the property, as a last resort compulsory
acquisition can be used including the interests of any leaseholders in
occupation.

Page 225

Council-owned land


Land lying to the east of Station Road. A deed of conveyance dated 15
August 1960 contains a restrictive covenant in favour of the Rank
Organisation not to carry on any business in the names of Rank, Gaumont or
Odeon or use such names in any of its letters or publications which does not
apply. Evidently, this does not apply in this circumstance.



West Wickham library, Glebe Way. There are no restrictive covenants. There
is a lease granted to Greenwich Leisure Limited which operates the library
services for the Council. The lease has a break clause to enable the Council
to terminate the lease before the end of the term in the event of
redevelopment.

Page 226

RENEWAL, RECREATION & HOUSING PDS COMMITTEE
5th November 2019 - Draft minutes

45C PROVISION OF HOUSING AT WEST WICKHAM LIBRARY AND STATION
ROAD CAR PARK, WEST WICKHAM
Report DRR19/053
Members considered a summary of the initial feasibility work undertaken in relation
to the current site of West Wickham Library and Station Road car park in West
Wickham to provide approximately 34 residential units and 500sqm of commercial
unit.
The report recommended that further feasibility work be undertaken in order to fully
assess the viability of the scheme and a procurement exercise be run concurrently to
appoint a multi-disciplinary design team. The results of this further work would be
reported to a meeting of the Executive in spring 2020.
Members also considered additional confidential information set out in the
accompanying Part 2 (Exempt) report (DRR19/054).
The Head of Town Centre Renewal drew Members’ attention to the immense
pressures on the borough in relation to housing supply and specifically in relation to
affordable homes and housing for temporary accommodation. As a result, the
Executive agreed that Council-owned land would be reviewed in light of its potential
for residential development which included Council owned car parks.
The report identified development potential at the site of Station Road car park, West
Wickham. This potential could be maximised if it was expanded to include the
current site of West Wickham Library, two rear land parcels and a private road. The
report summarised the initial feasibility work undertaken to date that suggested the
site was financially viable with the provision of up to 34 units but only if no car
parking was retained.
Additional feasibility work was needed to build a full business case for the scheme.
The report sought a political mandate to continue to look at the site together with the
allocation of resources to undertake the additional feasibility work set out in
paragraph 3.24.
Members’ attention was specifically drawn to recommendations for the following
work:

That a more detailed assessment of the traffic and economic impact of the loss of
car parking would be completed.



That options would be considered for the re-provision of the library on an interim
basis. It may be that the outcome of this work recommended a phased approach
to the residential scheme for example, to avoid relocating the library twice. It was
1

Page 227

not anticipated that the library would close except to facilitate the transition
between venues. The Head of Town Centre Renewal clarified that there were no
plans to relocate the library to a porta cabin in the car park of the leisure centre.


That the massing examples provided with the report were indicative; in response
to the informal feedback from planning colleagues, the massing would be
reconfigured to address concerns about height and loss of privacy for residents
whose properties were adjacent to the land parcels.

The outcome of this and the other items of additional work outlined in paragraph 3.24
would inform the final business case to be reported back to Members, at which point
officers would recommend whether or not the site should go forward for
development. It was emphasised that it was not a forgone conclusion that the
scheme would be taken forward; if the outcome of the additional feasibility work
showed a detrimental impact on the town that cannot be mitigated or avoided, then it
may be that officers would not recommend taking the scheme forward. However,
this would not be known until the additional work was completed.
The report recommended that a procurement process be run concurrently to identify
a multi-disciplinary design team that would be appointed if the business case
recommended the scheme go ahead. This would avoid any further delay to
progressing the scheme should Members approve it be taken forward in the Spring.
Visiting Ward Member Councillor Bennett JP had discussed the proposals with
officers and supported them in principle. Alternative car parks i.e. Sainsburys were
very well used whereas Station Road car park was used the least. Councillor
Bennett emphasised the need for housing units to be of a design appropriate to the
site, in keeping with the surrounding area and not over-dominant. He did not wish
the current library to be inconvenienced by moving twice and preferred the previous
option of moving the library directly into West Wickham Leisure Centre.
The Council were currently in a desperate situation having to find accommodation for
a total of 1600 homeless families in the borough. Once the London Plan came into
effect, the target for the provision of housing would almost double.
Councillor Bennett emphasised the need for public consultation to be undertaken on
the proposed scheme.
Visiting Ward Member Councillor Mark Brock highlighted the fact that these
proposals were still at a very early stage.
Councillor Allatt stated that West Wickham was a popular local shopping destination.
The loss of the Station Road car park could impact on parking in the High Street and
may lead to the demise of retail business in the area.
Councillor Michael supported the proposals which would help to create a modern
leisure centre for the local community. As reported earlier, usage of libraries had
increased following similar moves to leisure centres/town centres. However, heed
should be taken to ensure there was no impact on the town centre due to the lack of

2

Page 228

car parking facilities. West Wickham was a more traditional shopping centre and it
was imperative that it remain so.
Councillor Stevens had received correspondence from residents and emphasised
the need for their concerns to be taken into account.
Referring to Strategic Option 1 set out on page 107 of the report, Councillor
Benington asked if the scheme would still be financially viable if the proposed flats at
the top of the three storey central block were removed and the block reduced to two
storeys. The Head of Town Centre Renewal advised that it would depend on how
massing was reconfigured; any change to the number or type of unit provided would
affect the viability calculation. All options to reduce the height of the development
and the impact on the privacy of surrounding residents would be considered.
It was confirmed that the proposed design of the housing units would be of
traditional construction methods: bricks and mortar.
The Head of Renewal agreed to circulate information to Members on the likely
income that could be generated per year by the proposed 34 housing units and how
much per annum could be saved on nightly paid accommodation.
Councillor Sharma considered that bullet point two on page 98 of the report should
become a priority recommendation until discussions had taken place with the owners
of the privately held freehold.
Councillor Bennett advised there was ample car parking available in West Wickham.
The report only referred to three car parks however, there were others including
Sainsburys, Lidl and the Leisure Centre. He urged Members and officers to ensure
that the following points be given priority consideration:

the library only be relocated once the new building is ready for occupation;



the new library building must be in keeping with the local area;



the housing scheme consist of traditionally built housing for residents; and



the Council engage at an early stage with affected freeholders.

RESOLVED that:1

the report be noted and the Committee’s comments be provided to
Members of the Executive;

2

Members of the Executive be recommended to:2.1 review the feasibility work undertaken to date and approve the West
Wickham library and adjacent parcels of land and the car park at
station Road, West Wickham as a potential site for housing
development;

3

Page 229

2.2 approve the additional feasibility work identified at paragraph 3.24,
including instructing Cushman & Wakefield to enter into formal
negotiations with the land owners for the purchase of additional land
to maximise the site’s development potential; and
2.3 approve the procurement strategy outlined in paragraphs 4.1-4.10 for
the appointment of a multi-disciplinary design team for the scheme
via the ADUP (Architecture Design and Urbanism Panel) framework.

4

Page 230

Agenda Item 13
Report No.
ES19071

London Borough of Bromley
PART ONE - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

EXECUTIVE
FULL COUNCIL
For Pre-Decision Scrutiny by the Environment and Community Services
PDS Committee on:

Date:

13th November 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Executive

Key

Title:

TEC DELEGATION FOR THE REGULATION OF DOCKLESS
VEHICLE HIRE SCHEMES

Contact Officer:

Dan Beckett, Transport Planner
Tel: 020 8461 E-mail: Dan.Beckett@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Colin Brand, Director of Environment and Public Protection

Ward:

All Wards

_______________________________________________________________________________
Reason for report
1.1 To inform Members of the intention of London Councils to amend the Transport and
Environment Committee (TEC) Agreement in order to pursue the proposed pan-London byelaw
for the regulation of ‘dockless’ bicycle hire schemes.
1.2 To seek approval for the delegation of powers to London Councils to make a pan-London
byelaw for the regulation of ‘dockless’ bicycle hire schemes which Boroughs will be able to use
as they deem appropriate.
________________________________________________________________________________
1.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Environment and Community Services PDS Committee comment on the
proposal of London Councils to promote and make the pan-London byelaw for dockless
bicycle hire.
2.2 The Executive recommends to Full Council the delegation of the above to London
Councils and agrees to the proposed TEC amendment that will be required to make the
proposed byelaw, authorising the Director of Environment and Public Protection to sign
the delegation as required.
1

Page 231

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1.

Summary of Impact: This proposal should enhance the Council’s regulatory and enforcement
powers in the sphere of Dockless bicycles, providing greater powers to keep footways
unobstructed or dockless cycles parked in appropriate and safe places, helping to maintain
accessibility for vulnerable pedestrians, those with mobility impairments and parents with
buggies etc. .
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Supports Outcome 1 of Bromley’s Third Local Implementation Plan:
This outcome in focused on encouraging healthy streets and increasing levels of active travel.
The policy regarding this issue is defined as follows:
The Council will continue to observe developments in the dockless cycle hire market and work
with TfL and other Boroughs to develop appropriate and proportionate powers for Local
Authorities to control whether and how dockless operators can operate on the Borough’s streets.
Any scheme launched in the Borough will have to comply with TfL’s code of practice on dockless
cycles.

2. BBB Priority: Quality Environment
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: There is no cost to the Council relating to the acceptance of the byelaw.
However there may be costs incurred at a later stage depending on how Bromley intend to
implement and regulate the byelaw.

2.
3.

Ongoing cost: Ongoing running costs and potential income streams relating to the delegation for
the regulation of dockless cycle hire schemes is not yet known at this early stage. Therefore it
is currently not possible to quantify the financial impact of the proposal.
Budget head/performance centre: N/A

4.

Total current budget for this head: N/A

5.
Source of funding: N/A
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): 1

2.

If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: If the Borough proceeds with using the
byelaw then it is anticipated that 2 - 3 hours a week would be required for the implementation
and monitoring of compliance of the byelaw.
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: There is no legal requirement for this proposal but also currently no legal
basis to control dockless bicycle hire operators.

2.
Call-in: Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
2

Page 232

Procurement
1.
Summary of Procurement Implications: None at this stage
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): All residents and visitors to the
Borough potentially benefit from the Council having the ability to regulate the operation of
dockless cycle hire to ensure safety and minimise the impact on the highway network.
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? The issue of legislation relating to dockless
bike operators was included in Bromley’s LIP 3, which all ward members were invited to
comment on, however no comments related to this issue were received.

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A

3

Page 233

3

COMMENTARY

3.1

Although Bromley is supportive of the option for residents to hire bicycles for trips or parts of
their trips, currently there are no legal powers available to local authorities to control the
operation of dockless bicycle hire operators and Central Government does not intend to
introduce such legislation. At present Councils are dependent on the approach taken by each
operator.

3.2

TfL’s Borough Dockless working group of officers from across London, including Bromley,
considered the most effective response to mitigating the potential negative impacts of dockless
cycle hire along with realising the benefits of privately funded cycle hire and concluded that a
Byelaw across London that Boroughs could opt to use was the most easily achievable and
operable solution. Therefore, Transport for London and London Councils have been instructed
by the London Council’s Transport and Environment Committee (TEC) to develop a new
regulatory approach to dockless bike sharing schemes with the intention of making a new
byelaw. This byelaw is needed due to continued activity in the dockless hire market with
anticipated further deployment by new operators. Whilst this report may focus on bicycles, the
proposed byelaw covers dockless ‘vehicles’ in general, to cater for the potential introduction of
e-scooters or similar products.

3.3

London Councils are requesting delegated authority enabling them to introduce a byelaw that
would see new regulatory powers, intended to be used to compel dockless operators to use
designated parking spaces, and prohibit bikes being left anywhere not agreed to by the
applicable Councils.

3.4

The extent of dockless vehicle parking and the enforcement of the byelaw would be at the
discretion of each borough.

3.5

Boroughs can make byelaws individually using these powers but in order for a single byelaw to
be made and for it to apply uniformly across Greater London (which is what TEC members
want) each London borough must delegate its authority to make the byelaws to TEC. Without
the agreement of all boroughs the proposal cannot proceed.

3.6

The byelaw would allow the Council to regulate the market as it saw fit, this would ensure that
commercially the Borough could still be seen as an attractive market for potential providers. By
the same token, the byelaw would provide the Council with an element of control over
operators that it does not currently possess. What the Council would not have direct control
over however is the control measures undertaken by other local boroughs and how they might
help or hinder the commercial viability of a dockless scheme in Bromley. Officers will
endeavour to liaise with their counterparts in neighbouring boroughs to ensure they are aware
of their policies and attitudes to such schemes.

3.7

The byelaw has been drafted and is included as an appendix. In summary the byelaw would
allow the Council the following:

3.7.1 That all dockless bicycles/vehicles are identifiable with an individual asset number and are
able to be located remotely.
3.7.2 That all dockless bicycles/vehicles meet the required safety and maintenance standards.
3.7.3 That dockless bicycles/vehicles are only ‘parked’ and hire terminated by the user in approved
locations as defined by the Council.
3.7.4 The ability to serve penalty notices for any breach of the above.

4

Page 234

4

IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN
This proposal should enhance the Council’s regulatory and enforcement powers in the sphere
of dockless bicycles, providing greater powers to keep footways unobstructed or dockless
cycles parked in appropriate and safe places, helping to maintain accessibility for vulnerable
pedestrians, those with mobility impairments and parents with buggies etc.

5

POLICY IMPLICATIONS
Bromley’s third Local Implementation Plan sets out the Borough’s position regarding dockless
cycle as follow:
‘The market for cycle hire has changed rapidly in the last year with the expansion of dockless
bike operators. The Council will continue to observe developments in the dockless cycle hire
market and work with TfL and other boroughs to develop appropriate and proportionate powers
for local authorities to control whether and how dockless operators can operate on the
Borough’s streets.’

6

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no immediate financial implications to the Council. How the byelaw is enforced by the
Council and the costs involved will be a matter for future discussion, as will the potential
revenue that could be obtained through the administering of penalty notices or any financial
demands related the licencing of operators or dockless parking spaces.

7

PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
Minimal officer time will be required to aid the introduction of byelaw.

8

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1 There are currently provisions in the Highways Act 1980 where, by virtue of Section 137, if a
person without lawful authority or excuse in any way wilfully obstructs the free passage along a
highway with a dockless bike they are guilty of an offence and liable to a fine. Further, by virtue
of Section 149 Highways Act if a dockless bike is causing an obstruction of the highway and
constitutes a danger (including a danger caused by obstructing the view) to users of the
highway, and ought to be removed without the delay involved in giving notice or obtaining a
removal and disposal order from a magistrates’ court, the Council as Highway Authority may
remove the dockless bike forthwith.
8.2 However, currently there are no specific legal powers available to local authorities to effectively
regulate and control the operation of dockless bicycles and other similar hire operators, and it is
understood that Central Government does not intend to introduce such legislation. Therefore
local authorities will be required to make their own bylaws in this regard.
8.3 Under Section 235 of the Local Government Act 1972, the power to make Byelaws for Good
Rule and Government and Suppression of Nuisances, relevant bylaws for the purpose of
regulating dockless vehicles (and other similar class of transport device) on the highway and/or
public places, can be made, which can include making it an offence for a dockless vehicle
operator to cause or permit their dockless vehicle to be left on the highway or public place other
than in an approved location. The matter to be regulated by the byelaw is not to be the subject
of pre-existing statutory provision, or that such provision is in prospect. The confirming authority
in relation to byelaws made under this section is the Secretary of State. The procedural
requirements for making the bylaws as set out in Section 236 of the 1972 Act must be satisfied,
5

Page 235

including publicity, depositing copies for inspection etc., and giving notice of intention to apply to
the Secretary of State to confirm the byelaws. Unless and until confirmed, the byelaws cannot
take effect.
8.4 It is not considered practicable for the same byelaw to be made by 33 London boroughs. The
making of one byelaw across all the London boroughs is more appropriate and would require
each of the 33 London local authorities participating in the TEC Joint Committee arrangement to
delegate the exercise of additional functions to the Joint Committee. This requires the TEC
constitution (Governing Agreement, dated 13 December 2001 (as amended)) to be varied, as
local authority functions relating to the making of a pan-London byelaw for regulating dockless
vehicles are not currently delegated as functions of the TEC.
8.5 The power to delegate the byelaw making function to London Councils is contained in section
101(5) of the 1972 Act which provides that two or more local authorities may discharge any of
their functions by a joint committee. The TEC is such a joint committee which has been
appointed by the 33 London local authorities. The proposed delegation would allow the TEC to
make and promote a pan-London byelaw to regulate dockless vehicles on the highway and/or
public places; to compel dockless operators to use designated parking spaces; and prohibit
bikes being left anywhere not agreed by boroughs. The TEC has agreed that it is a suitable
body to undertake both the promotion and making of such a pan-London Byelaw.
8.6 In principal each London Local Authority and The City of London Corporation are effectively
being asked in the first instance to determine that it wishes to make such a Byelaw, and
secondly that it determines the actual making of the Byelaw is delegated to the TEC so as to
ensure that an appropriate pan London Byelaw can be made in accordance with the advice
received by London Councils. The delegation must be mutual and London Councils would be
required to formally accept this delegation.
8.7 Not delegating powers would impact on the ability to effectively regulate dockless cycle hire
London-wide and would leave each London authority seeking to address the issues piecemeal.
The proposed delegation of functions to the TEC is required to be approved by full Council as
those functions include non-executive functions.
8.8 The proposed delegation is highly restricted; is very specific; does not mean any loss of control
of the Council’s assets; and it is not a transfer to the TEC of the Council’s’ powers in respect of
the parking of dockless bikes. It will, however, allow for the TEC to make, promote and
establish a pan-London Byelaw. The local authorities have been assured by the TEC that the
extent of dockless bike parking and the enforcement of the byelaw (including prosecution)
would remain a matter for each authority’s decision-making process and control, at the
discretion of the Council.
8.9 However, for the TEC to be able to carry out the making of a pan-London Byelaw for dockless
bike parking, the London Councils’ TEC Agreement needs to be amended because the local
authorities’ byelaw making function is not currently delegated to the TEC, and the Joint
Committee therefore does not currently have the authority to undertake this function on behalf
of the London local authorities.
8.10 It has been proposed by the TEC that an appropriate amendment to Schedule 2 of the London
Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee Agreement, which identifies all the functions
that have been delegated to it, would be by way of an addition to the Part 3(D) Functions,
inserting a new paragraph 2(c) as follows: “(c)(i) the making of byelaws under section 235 of the Local Government Act 1972 (and, in
respect of the City of London Corporation, under section 39 of the City of London (Various
Powers) Act 1961) for the purpose of regulating dockless vehicles on the highway and/or public
6

Page 236

places (including by making it an offence for a dockless vehicle operator to cause or permit their
dockless vehicle to be left on the highway or public place other than in an approved location),
including taking all related steps to promote, make, amend and revoke any such byelaw.
(c)(ii) The exercise of powers under Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 for the purposes of
giving effect to (i) above, including but not limited to oversight and management of the
arrangements (but excluding prosecution or other enforcement).”
8.11 Amendments to Part 3(D) are made by the procedure set out in Paragraph 3(D)(1) of the TEC
Agreement which provides a process for delegating the exercise of functions to the Joint
Committee without requiring a separate formal variation agreement to be agreed by each
authority before the delegation to the Joint Committee is effective. The procedure was adopted
under an earlier formal variation to the Governing Agreement with the consent of all the London
local authorities and TfL, and provides that the functions may be delegated by each London
local authority to operate under the existing terms of the Governing Agreement “subject to
consultation with the Participating Councils and the written agreement of each Participating
Council.”
8.12 In preparation for the delegation of the bylaw function to the TEC, there is a draft Byelaw which
has now been shared with borough officers, and once agreed by the local authorities it will need
to be ratified by London Councils on behalf of the London Boroughs. The draft byelaw will need
to be consulted upon and will need to include: (i)

a draft of the byelaw;

(ii)
an assessment of the regulatory burden and whether it is proportionate, informed by
consultation with affected persons; and
(iii)
a statement assessing the impacts of the proposal and the proportionality of the
regulatory burden.
9

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS
There are no procurement issues related to the delegation.

Non-Applicable Sections:
Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

London Councils Guidance: The Greater London Dockless
Vehicle Byelaw Guidance
London Councils TEC Delegation dockless byelaw –
Explanatory note
Draft Dockless Vehicle Byelaw

7

Page 237

This page is left intentionally blank

The Greater London Dockless Vehicle Hire Byelaws
Draft Bye Law Outline (based on Leading Counsel’s Advice)
30 April 2019

1. General Interpretation
(1) In these byelaws:
“Dockless Parking Space” shall mean a parking place for Dockless Vehicles designated by a
Local Authority or Transport for London under section 45 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act
1984 or any Public Place where a parking area for Dockless Vehicles has been approved in
writing by the Local Authority as an area where Dockless Vehicles may be placed and made
available for hire.
“Dockless Vehicle” means any transport device (whether mechanically propelled or not) which
is made available to hire through a Dockless Hire Scheme and which is a pedal cycle,
electrically assisted pedal cycle, or any similar class of transport device which may be lawfully
used on the highway.
“Dockless Hire Scheme” means a scheme offering Dockless Vehicles for hire (other than from
docking stations constructed and installed for their use)
“Dockless Operator” means any person offering Dockless Vehicles for hire through a
Dockless Hire Scheme.
“Public Place” means an area of highway or other open land (whether or not it is fenced) under
the ownership or control of a Local Authority.
“Local Authority” means a London Borough Council or the Common Council of the City of
London.
(2) A reference to:
(a) legislation (whether primary or secondary) includes a reference to the legislation as
amended, consolidated or re-enacted from time to time and, in the case of regulations,
includes a reference to any regulations which replace the regulations referred to;
(b) a “person” includes a natural person and a corporate or unincorporated body;
(c) words in the singular include the plural and vice versa.

2. Application
These byelaws apply throughout Greater London.

Page 239

3. Safe condition of Dockless Vehicles.
(1) No Dockless Operator shall offer for hire a Dockless Vehicle unless it is safe.
(2) In determining whether a Dockless Vehicle is safe regard shall be had to whether the Dockless
Vehicle complies with, or the Dockless Operator has complied with, applicable provisions of:
(a) in the case of a pedal cycle, the Pedal Cycles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1983 and
the Road Vehicles Lighting Regulations 1989;
(b) in the case of an electrically assisted pedal cycle, the Pedal Cycles (Construction and Use)
Regulations 1983, the Road Vehicles Lighting Regulations 1989 and the Electrically
Assisted Pedal Cycle Regulations 2015; or
(c) in all cases, any statutory requirements applicable to a Dockless Vehicle of that class.
4. Identification and management of Dockless Vehicles
(1) No Dockless Operator shall offer a Dockless Vehicle for hire unless:
(a) it has an individually identifiable asset number visibly displayed;
(b) it is fitted with a device which identifies the location of the Dockless Vehicle and the device
is retained in operation:
c) it is fitted with a device which prevents the hirer from terminating the hire period unless the
Dockless Vehicle is located at a Dockless Parking Space.

(2) No Dockless Operator shall offer a Dockless Vehicle for hire other than on terms which
prohibit the hirer from leaving the Dockless Vehicle on any highway or other Public Place other
than at a Dockless Parking Space,.

5. Parking of Dockless Vehicles

No Dockless Operator shall cause or permit a Dockless Vehicle to be placed on any highway or
Public Place other than at a Dockless Parking Space where the Dockless Operator is permitted to
park or to cause or permit a Dockless Vehicle to be parked.

6. Penalty
Any person offending against these byelaws shall be liable on summary conviction to a fine not
exceeding level 2 on the standard scale.

Page 240

Agenda Item 14
Report No.
ACH19019

London Borough of Bromley
PART 1 - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

Executive
With pre-decision scrutiny from Adult Care & Health PDS
Committee on 19th November 2019

Date:

27th November 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

GATEWAY 0/1: PROCEED TO PROCUREMENT FOR
SUPPORT TO THE VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND SOCIAL
ENTERPRISE SECTOR

Contact Officer:

Gerry Clark, Senior Commissioning Officer
Tel: 020 8313 4024 E-mail: gerry.clark@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Kim Carey, Director of Adult Social Care

Ward:

Borough wide

Executive

Key

1.

REASON FOR REPORT

1.1

The Council currently provides support to the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise Sector
(VCSE) in Bromley via two separate contracts:

1.2



‘Support to VCSE’ – a contract with Community Links Bromley with an annual value of £48k. This
contract ends in September 2020.



‘Support to the Sector’ – part of the Primary and Secondary Intervention Services (Bromley Well)
contract delivered by Bromley Third Sector Enterprise. ‘Support to the Sector’ is a relatively small
part of this much larger contract with an annual value of £112k. ‘Support to the Sector’ is also
delivered by Community Links Bromley as a partner within Bromley Third Sector Enterprise.

This report sets out the commissioning options for Support to the VCSE sector in Bromley. It is proposed
to combine the funding from the existing services and proceed to procurement for a single contract with
an estimated annual value of £160k and with a planned contract start date of October 2020.

________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

Adult Care and Health Services PDS Committee is asked to note and comment on the content of
this report.

2.2

Executive is recommended to approve proceeding to procurement, as detailed in 4.2.1 and in
section 6 of the report, for a new Support to the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise
(VCSE) Sector in Bromley for a contract period of five years from 1 October 2020 to 30 September
2025, with an option to extend for a further two years at an estimated cost of £160k pa (whole life
value of £1.12m).

1

Page 241

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1.

Summary of Impact: Procurement of a service to support the voluntary and community
sector who provide a range of non-statutory early intervention and preventative
services to the local population.

Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Existing policy.

2. BBB Priority: Supporting Independence.
_________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: Estimated cost £160k per annum

2.

Ongoing costs: Recurring cost £160k per annum

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Programmes Division

4.

Total current budget for this head: £160k

5.
Source of funding: Better Care Fund
_________________________________________________________________________
Staff
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): N/A

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A
________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: No statutory requirement or Government guidance.

2.
Call-in: Call-in is applicable
_________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): Support offer to
approx. 1200 voluntary, community and social enterprise organisations in Bromley.
_________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? N/A. Borough wide – Portfolio
holder

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A

2

Page 242

3.
3.1

COMMENTARY
The Council supports the capacity and sustainability of the local Voluntary, Community and

Social enterprise sector (VCSE) by providing a dedicated resource, ensuring there is support
available to co-ordinate, advocate and strengthen the sector and to reflect the needs of the
local population. This support is currently provided by two separate contracts:


A contract with Community Links Bromley called ‘Support to VCSE’ –with an annual value
of £48k. This contract ends in September 2020. This service covers the broader VCSE
sector outside the adult health and social care arena and provides support to the Voluntary
Sector Strategic Network (VSSN), a representative network of the VCSE in Bromley.



A contract with Bromley Third Sector Enterprise (BTSE) for Primary and Secondary
Intervention Services, known as Bromley Well. Support to the VCSE sector in Bromley
through this contract (‘Support to the Sector’) is a relatively small element of the overall
contract, the annual value of this element being £112k, and focuses specifically on the
Health and Social Care VCSE in Bromley. ‘Support to the Sector’ is also delivered by
Community Links Bromley who are a partner within the Bromley Third Sector Enterprise.
The Bromley Well contract has an end date of September 2020 but with the option to
extend for up to a further two years. The extension period allows for an opportunity to
review and vary the contract as appropriate.

3.2

The ‘Support to VCSE’ contract was awarded to Community Links Bromley via exemption
commencing 1st October 2017. In September 2019, Members approved the application to
extend this contract via exemption, having already approved a number of previous extensions.
The contract now has an end date of 30th September 2020 with a cumulative value of £144k. It
is expected that any further continuation of this contract should be via competitive tender.

3.3

The most recent extension to this contract has enabled commissioners to undertake an
options appraisal to inform future commissioning arrangements for supporting the sector, and
to hold a market engagement event, taking into consideration those support services which
are also provided through the ‘Support to the Sector’ pathway within the Bromley Well
contract.

3.4

The Bromley Well Service consists of ten pathways focused on community health and social
care for adults. The service is delivered by Bromley Third Sector Enterprise CiC (BTSE), which
is a partnership of five local voluntary organisations. Community Links Bromley (CLB) is one of
those partners, and is responsible for delivering the Support to the Sector pathway.

3.5

The VCSE sector is made up of both small and large community and voluntary groups,
registered charities, foundations, trusts and social enterprises. It is important to note that
although some voluntary organisations are primarily involved in service delivery i.e. through
contractual arrangements, others are not. Instead their focus is on community development
and community capacity-building, through advocacy, volunteering and citizenship. Many
community organisations bring people together through a common connection, whether
through a particular location, interest, culture or faith.

4.

SUMMARY OF THE BUSINESS CASE

i)

Strategic Fit
Bromley has a strong VCSE sector that plays an active role in the borough, and has a longestablished relationship with the Council. The current provider’s inclusion as a partner in
delivering the Council’s ‘Building a Better Bromley’ (BBB) priorities is recognition of its position
as a trusted sector representative and its understanding of the strengths of its member
organisations and what they can offer.
The current service specification was based on the BBB priorities and it is expected that the
sector will be invited to contribute to the refreshed BBB Plan when published, as well as to the

3

Page 243

‘Transforming Bromley Programme’, which includes a commitment to community
empowerment and to creating capacity and expertise within communities, enabling them to
provide support to people where needed.
ii)

Current Service Model
The aim of the ‘Support to VCSE’ service is to support the economic growth of the broader
voluntary and community sector in Bromley, not currently supported through the Bromley Well
arrangements. The three key elements of this service are:
a) Voice to the sector: providing support and leading the work streams emerging from the
Voluntary Sector Strategic Network (VSSN) - the ‘voice and representation’ on health and
social care issues in the borough.
b) Partnership representation: providing representation in key borough and multi-borough
partnerships at local forums and boards (where these are not already covered by the
Bromley Well health and social care remit).
c) Funding and investment: leading and facilitating bids and commissions to attract and
secure resources into the borough.
The Bromley Well ‘Support to the Sector’ service is focused on supporting organisations with
a health and social care remit. The key elements of this service are:
a) Associate membership: Expanding the reach, coordination and sustainability of the
community health and social care sector in Bromley through offering membership of the
Bromley Well ‘family’ with associated benefits.
b) Information, advice and guidance to support the sector’s role in the community, such as
delivering e-bulletins and newsletters, training workshops, funding opportunity events and
so on;
c) Volunteering: Creating an active and sustainable voluntary and community sector by
increasing the level of volunteering in the borough. This is done through liaison with local
businesses and organisations to secure potential placements, recruitment campaigns and
supporting volunteers in their placement once matched.

iii)

Service redesign and transformation – factors influencing future commissioning
At an initial workshop held with stakeholders, key sector representatives shared their current
thinking and vision for the future, reflected on the strengths and weaknesses of the current
model and considered how the partnership with the voluntary sector could be strengthened to
support the shared aims by ‘Building a Better Bromley’.
a) The current services
The parallels between the ‘Support to VCSE’ service and the Bromley Well ‘Support to the
Sector’ service are complex. The team is small, working across both contracts and the
separation of functions across these two contracts has led to some confusion, with some
functions overlapping, duplication of effort and conflicting priorities.
b) Inequity
An equality impact assessment has highlighted the need for a service which is inclusive
and which gives equitable access to support by all organisations in the Borough. The
existing Bromley Well ‘Support to the Sector’ model is restrictive, only offering support to
those with associate or full membership status, rather than be open to all. Testing the
market will help to achieve this.
c) Funding and investment
A key challenge for all VCSE organisations is the ability to secure different revenue
sources in order to remain sustainable. A survey of the sector conducted by CLB in 2018

4

Page 244

showed that sourcing and applying for funding is one of its top priorities. Records indicate
that the amount of funding received by Bromley organisations is quite low, suggesting that
more could be done to support them i.e. through sharing information about potential
funding opportunities, help in preparing bids and raising awareness of relevant training
courses and workshops.
d) Engagement and representation
The VSSN acknowledges it could improve the way in which it engages and consults with
the wider community such as faith groups, smaller organisations and minority groups. It
needs to represent the broader sector beyond the health and social care sector, working
as an equal partner across all community themes, not just with the local authority but also
the CCG, police, fire, further education and others.
e) Volunteering
Bromley has a long tradition of volunteering. However maintaining a stable pool of
volunteers is an increasing challenge, and sourcing suitable placements is not
straightforward. Most organisations that provide local services rely heavily on a volunteer
workforce, and they have said they would like more guidance on managing volunteers.
The quality of volunteers can impact on service, reputation and safety and the risk is
highest for those organisations within the health and social care sector where volunteers
may have direct contact with patients or clients. Providing a central point of contact or
bureau for all volunteering opportunities in the Borough is essential.
f) Infrastructure support
The sector survey showed that organisations want support to help them plan for the future,
develop and grow. Practical advice and guidance is valued, such as helping them navigate
their way around legislation, understanding their safeguarding responsibilities, supporting
bids or help with information governance, HR and IT matters.
g) Whole systems approach
Engagement with Bromley residents as part of the ‘Ageing Well in Bromley’ strategy
development, strengthened the view that there is a range of community services which are
not concerned solely with health or social care but which can have a positive impact on
people’s wellbeing. For example, those concerned with leisure, sport or the environment.

4.1

SERVICE PROFILE/DATA ANALYSIS

4.1.1 Both contracts end on 30th September 2020 but the Bromley Well contract has a ‘one plus
one year’ optional extension to 30th September 2022. The following table summarises the
value and duration of both contracts payable to Community Links Bromley.
Financial
Year
2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
Total

VCSE
Support
£24,000
£48,000
£48,000
£24,000
0
0
£144,000

Bromley
Well~
£58,057
£109,747
£110,570
*£111,392
*£112,174
*£57,458
£559,398

Total
Combined
£82,057
£157,747
£158,570
£135,392
£112,174
£57,458
£703,398

~ Support to the Sector only. Full aggregated cost of Bromley Well contract is £8,100,000
*Subject to Member approval for contract extension.

Being a small team, staff split their time between the VCSE and Bromley Well services.
Expenditure on the service is in line with the contract. Bromley CCG contributes towards the
Bromley Well contract and it is part funded through the BCF.

5

Page 245

4.1.2 Service Outcomes
The service is focused on creating a sustainable market for the VSCE in Bromley. The
expected outcomes, measured through key performance indicators, are to:
 Increase the capacity and effectiveness of the sector
 Build capacity and capability in local communities by demonstrating social and economic
impact.
 Leverage external funding to the sector to increase capacity
 Create a sustainable and vibrant sector.
4.1.3 Benchmarking
Commissioners have considered how other local authorities support their voluntary and
community sector. A recent King’s Fund survey1 of commissioners found a wide variation in
the way commissioners engage with the VCSE sector. Some saw their role solely as
stimulating a market of providers, with no particular interest in creating a strong VCSE sector.
Others see the value of the sector as a critical player in developing asset-based approaches
to care, engaging VCSE organisations as key partners in co-production of health and care
outcomes.
The King’s Fund study found that commissioners often rely on infrastructure or umbrella
organisations, such as CLB, to communicate and engage with the sector, particularly where
dedicated posts for public engagement had been cut. Some had reduced its funding in this
area.

4.2

OPTIONS APPRAISAL

4.2.1 Option 1
Combine the ‘Support to VCSE’ and Bromley Well ‘Support to the Sector’ services into one
standalone service, separate from the Bromley Well service. This would entail:
 A contract variation to remove the Support to the Sector service from Bromley Well
 Working with the sector to revise the ‘Support to VCSE’ service specification to reincorporate all Bromley Well Support to the Sector services including volunteering and
management of the Innovation Fund.
 Retendering the whole systems service for a new borough-wide contract, commencing 1
April 2020.
Benefits
 It would remove any duplication of services or ambiguity of KPIs between the current
existing contracts
 It would address the concerns that some in the sector (expressed by the VCSE network)
felt left out when BTSE was formed and the Bromley Well ‘brand ‘was set up, allowing
the service to re-focus on grass-roots community work, better representation from faith
groups and improving links with LBB corporately.
 It would give more flexibility and transparency.
 It offers a co-design opportunity, building on initial workshop with sector.
 It would improve the reach and independence of the Innovation Fund and remove
conflicts of interest.
 Consolidates the contract monitoring arrangements
 It would separate the delivery/operational arm of BTSE from the vol. sector
representation, and reduces the potential for conflicts of interest.
 Continuation of the service through a compliant tender route, seeking value for money
through competition.

1

The Kings Fund – Commissioner perspectives on working with the voluntary, community and social enterprise sector
Feb 2018

6

Page 246

Disadvantages:
 The impact on the BTSE partnership which has collective responsibility for the Bromley
Well service, with CLB leading on the pathway.
 BTSE would have to develop a new formal agreement with the provider to ensure it
receives the level of support it needs.
 Potential risk to BTSE associate membership - the ‘Support to VCSE’ provider would
need to address the specific requirements of Bromley Well to grow the associate
membership base.
4.2.2 Option 2
Decommission the ‘Support to the VCSE’ service and redesign the ‘Support to the Sector’
pathway within the Bromley Well contract to incorporate that service. This option assumes
that Members approve the optional two-year extension to the Bromley Well contract from 1
October 2022. It would entail:
 Revising the Bromley Well service specification to re-incorporate all VCSE services
including support to the VSSN.
 A contract variation to the Bromley Well contract with BTSE.
Benefits:
 It would remove any duplication of services or ambiguity of KPIs between the current
existing contracts.
 Co-design opportunity, building on initial workshop with sector.
 It consolidates the contract monitoring arrangements.
 It would enable some of the service to be delivered by the BW Partnership office.
 It opens up opportunities for Bromley Well to widen its scope and extend beyond the
health and social care agenda.
Disadvantages:
 It may further exacerbate the concerns that the sector (expressed by the VSSN) about
BTSE/Bromley Well being seen as the voluntary and community sector in the borough,
whereby decisions are made by a Board consisting of only six voluntary sector
representatives.
 It would not address the concerns of some in the sector (expressed through the VSSN)
that retaining the sector support service within Bromley Well does not ensure impartiality
and equity of access to support and funding opportunities.
 Retaining the management of the Innovation Fund within Bromley Well could reduce
impartiality.
 There would be no separation of the delivery/operational arm from the voluntary sector
representation within the BTSE partnership.
 Lack of competition – assumes the contract would be awarded to the existing provider
CLB within the BTSE partnership and could leave the Council open to challenge.
 Performance/Governance – monitoring of the support service would continue to be split
between two contracts, one of which would be led by the BTSE partnership and the other
by LBB commissioners, thereby not presenting the whole picture.
4.2.3 Option 3
Allow the ‘Support to VCSE’ service to terminate at contract end (i.e.do not extend the
contract beyond 31st March 2020).
Benefits:
 Potential £48k pa saving.
Disadvantages:
 Risk to the sector as only part would be supported within the Bromley Well contract but
wider non-health/social care sector would be unsupported.

7

Page 247





4.2.4

Reputational risk - contradicts LBB’s aim to support and grow the sector as it could
restrict the sector’s ability to grow. It could have a potential negative impact on our key
partnership arrangements.
Would impact on the Bromley Well support to the sector as the current small team works
across both contracts.
Risk to provider – although not all funding is via LBB, the CLB team works across the
VCSE and Bromley Well service, and could impact on the BTSE partnership.

Option 4
‘As is’ i.e. Recommission the ‘Support to VCSE’ service from 2020 with little or no change to
service specification, and no change to the Bromley Well contract.
Benefits:
 Competition - it could open up the market.
Disadvantages:
 Little opportunity to make savings
 Would continue the fragmented approach to the Support to the Voluntary Sector offer in
Bromley, risking duplication of effort and resource.
 Perpetuates an artificial divide between those organisations who are full or associate
members of BTSE and the rest of the sector, creating an inequitable ‘two-tier’ service.
 Duplication of effort in managing both contracts.

4.2.5

Option 5
Award the contract to the current provider, via a further exemption to competitive tendering
The existing extension to the contract was agreed on the proviso that it was a bridging
extension only, to allow for a fuller appraisal to be carried out. This option is not permissible
under procurement regulations because the existing contract did not include an option to
extend.

4.3

PREFERRED OPTION

4.3.1 Option 1: Combine both existing ‘Support to VCSE’ and ‘Support to the Sector’ services into
one standalone VCSE support service.
`
4.3.2 This will provide an opportunity to work with the sector to redesign the specification, and to
open the service to the market.
4.3.3 A three-year contract with an option to extend for up to two years is recommended, with the
decision to extend to be delegated to the Chief Officer.

4.4

MARKET CONSIDERATIONS

4.4.1 The service has not been subject to competitive tendering in the past. There are no obvious
additional providers locally who provide ‘infrastructure support’ to the sector. Neighbouring
boroughs have similar VCSE organisations which manage the volunteer bureau, provide
advice and guidance to the sector, community engagement and so on. Bromley pays similar
or below its peers on infrastructure support e.g.
Redbridge
£328k (3yrs) Core funding + support for various forums
Croydon
£473k (3yrs) Croydon Vol Action
Kingston
£1.173m (2yrs) Infrastructure
Southwark
£3.915m (4yrs) Infrastructure
4.4.2 There are also a number of consultancy companies who work with businesses, social
enterprises and other public sector organisations offering training and advice on fundraising,
social investment and business development.

8

Page 248

5.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

5.1

Members of the voluntary and community organisations will be invited to work with
commissioners to co-produce a new service specification.

5.2

Commissioners from across other Council departments will be involved in the development
to ensure that the service meets the needs of the wider corporate agenda.

6.

PROCUREMENT AND PROJECT TIMESCALES AND GOVERNANCE
ARRANGEMENTS

6.1

Estimated Contract Value – £160,000 per annum (based on combined value of current
‘Support to VCSE’ service at £48,000 and Bromley Well ‘Support to the Sector’ at £112,000).
Total estimated contract value = £1,120,000. The Bromley Well contract would be varied
accordingly by £112,000pa.

6.2

Other Associated Costs – none.

6.3

Proposed Contract Period – 7 years (5 plus optional 2 years)
1 Oct 2020 – 30 Sept 2025 with option to extend to 30 Sept 2027.

6.4

Project Plan
Market engagement event
Finalise service specification
Finalise tender timetable & evaluation criteria
Procurement
Approval to proceed with recommendation
Contract award
Contract start

Nov 2019
Nov 2019
Nov 2019
Dec 2019 – Mar 2020
May 2020
Jun 2020
1 Oct 2020

7.

SUSTAINABILITY AND IMPACT ASSESSMENTS

7.1

The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requires public bodies to have due regard to the
need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations
between different people when carrying out their activities. This options appraisal has been
informed by a generic equalities impact assessment.

8.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 places great emphasis on
the role of the third sector and explicitly states that local authorities have a duty to inform
consult and involve local citizens, local voluntary and community groups and businesses. It
sets out clear expectations that the third sector should be involved in designing and shaping
key decisions across the country, and that the sector should be a key partner to local
government in creating strong and sustainable communities. The voluntary and community
sector is represented by CLB on key borough and multi-borough partnerships at local forums
and boards. LBB has further embraced the responsibilities, as defined under the Act, by
supporting the development of the Bromley Third Sector Enterprise (BTSE). BTSE is
required (via CLB) to build capacity within the sector.

8.2

The Public Services (Social Value) Act came into force on 31 January 2013. It requires
people who commission public services to think about how they can also secure wider social,
economic and environmental benefits. The Act is a tool to help commissioners get more

9

Page 249

value for money out of procurement. It also encourages commissioners to talk to their local
provider market or community to design better services, often finding new and innovative
solutions to difficult problems. The Act is significant because it supports the commissioning
options appraisal process, which will ultimately result in the most effective and efficient
commissioned provision. Additionally the Act seeks to ensure that public spending is used to
generate social value in addition to the goods and services it purchases. The voluntary and
community sector are integral to developing social value in commissioning.

9.

IT AND GDPR CONSIDERATIONS

9.1

The contract will reflect the Council’s policy on information governance via the standard
terms, adhering to statutory requirements.

10.

PROCUREMENT RULES

10.1

This report seeks to proceed to procurement for support to the voluntary sector for a contract
of a duration of 5 years with an option to extend for 2 years, at a total value of £1.12m.

10.2

This is an above EU threshold contract, falling under the Light Touch Regime or Schedule 3
of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. An open process will be used. And an indicative
timetable is included at section 6 above.

10.3

The Council’s specific requirements for authorising proceeding to procurement are covered
in Rules 1 and 5 of the Contract Procedure Rules with the need to obtain the formal Approval
of the Executive, with the Agreement of the Portfolio Holder, the Assistant Director
Governance & Contracts, the Director of Corporate Services and the Director of Finance for
a procurement of this value.

10.4

In compliance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (Rule 3.6.1), this procurement
must be carried out using the Council’s e-procurement system.

10.5

The actions identified in this report are provided for within the Council’s Contract Procedure
Rules, and the proposed actions can be completed in compliance with their content.

11.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

11.1

The cost of the current contracts to 30th September 2020 is set out in the table below:

2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21 (part year)

11.2

VCSE
Support
£
24,000
48,000
48,000
24,000
144,000

Bromley
Well
Support to
the Sector
£
58,057
109,747
110,570
55,696
334,070

Total
£
82,057
157,747
158,570
79,696
478,070

The estimated cost of £160k per annum of the proposed contract will be met within the
existing budget in the Information and Early Intervention service in Programmes Division,
which is funded from the Better Care Fund. The whole life value over the maximum 7 year
period is estimated at £1,120k.

10

Page 250

12.

PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS

12.1

There are no staffing implications for Bromley Council staff arising from the
recommendations in this report.

13.

LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

13.1

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 section 221 (1) provides
that the Council must make contractual arrangements for the purpose of ensuring that there
are means by which the following activities are carried out :
a) promoting, and supporting, the involvement of people in the commissioning, provision
and scrutiny of local care services;
b) enabling people to monitor for the purposes of their consideration and to review for those
purposes, the commissioning and provision of local care services in relation to (i) the
standard of provision of local care services; (ii) whether, and how, local care services
could be improved; and (iii) whether, and how, local care services ought to be improved.
c) obtaining the views of people about their needs for, and their experiences of, local care
services; and
d) making (i) views such as are mentioned in paragraph c) known, and (ii) reports and
recommendations about how local care services could or ought to be improved, to
persons responsible for commissioning, providing, managing or scrutinising local care
services.

13.2

This report is recommending that the Council procure support to voluntary and community
organisations through a services contract. Such a contract will result in the award of a ‘lighttouch’ public services contract which due to its value will need to be procured in accordance
with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 under the ‘light touch’ regime.

13.3

For a contract of this value (£1.12m) in order to obtain authorisation to agree the
commissioning and procurement strategy the Council’s Contract Procurement Rules (CPR)
at CPR 5.3 requires approval of the Executive, with the agreement of the Portfolio holder,
the Assistant Director of Governance and Contracts, Director of Corporate Services and the
Director of Finance through this Gateway Report.

13.4

As mentioned in paragraph 4.2.1 of this report in order to achieve the combined specification
for the proposed procurement officers will need to plan and secure a variation to the Bromley
Well contract.

Non-Applicable
Sections:
Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

[List non-applicable sections here]




Equality Impact Assessment VCSO options appraisal
Vol Sector relationship map (current)
Vol sector relationship map (proposed)

11

Page 251

This page is left intentionally blank

Agenda Item 15
Report No.
ACH 19015

London Borough of Bromley
PART 1 - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

Executive
With Pre-decision scrutiny from:
Adult Care & Health PDS Committee on 19th November 2019

Date:

27th November 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

Gateway 0/1 Commissioning Strategy For Domiciliary Care
Services

Contact Officer:

Deborah Cole, Integrated Strategic Commissioner
Tel: 020 83134282 E-mail: deborah.cole2@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Kim Carey - Interim Director of Adults Social Services

Ward:

All wards

1.

Executive

Key

REASON FOR REPORT
th

1.1 The framework contract for multiple Domiciliary Care services expire on 27 August 2021 with no further extension
options remaining. The framework contracts have an estimated annual value of £13.4m with estimated cumulative
spend over the life of the contracts of approximately £112m.
th

1.2 The Gateway report (CS18147), presented to Executive on the 11 July 2018, recommended a co-designed
Domiciliary Care service model which will incorporate opportunities for more efficient and effective services that take
account of the current and emerging changes in provider markets, technology, outcome-based services and
‘enabling’ approaches; all of which will support a model that give more choice and control to service users, their
families and their personal support networks.
1.3 Work on co-design of the Domiciliary Care service has taken place and this report details the procurement strategy
th
and recommends proceeding to procurement for contracts to meet the relevant needs from from 28 August 2021.
1.4 Contracts with a whole life value of £1m and above require Executive approval prior to proceeding to procurement.

____________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee are asked to review this report
and provide any comment prior to the report proceeding to Executive for decision.
2.2 Executive is recommended to approve proceeding to procurement as detailed in 4.3 and section 6 of this report for:




A multiple Lot tender based on a ‘patch’ based model for contracts commencing 28 August 2021 for a five year
period with the option to extend for up to three years;
A Domicilary Care Framework on a call off basis with contracts commencing 28 August 2021 for a four year
period;
The combined total value of both contract arrangements is estimated at £13.4m per annum. The value of
individual contracts across the Lots and the Framework will be variable.

1

Page 253

Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Existing policy.

2.

BBB Priority: Supporting Independence. Children's, Adults and Older Prson's requiring
Domiciliary care within London Borough of Bromley and Bromley Clinical Commsiioning Group
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: Estimated cost £13.4m per annum

2.

Ongoing costs: Recurring cost. £13.4m per annum ( £107.2m for the 8 year duration)

3.

Budget head/performance centre: All Domiciliary Care Budgets within Adult Social Care

4.

Total current budget for this head: £12.1m

5.
Source of funding: Council's General Fund (within existing budget envelope)
________________________________________________________________________________
Staff
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): N/A

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: Statutory requirement.

2.
Call-in: Call-in is applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): 1835 Adults; 26
Children(Current)
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? N/A.

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A

2

Page 254

3.

COMMENTARY

3.1 Domiciliary Care is currently available to Adults assessed under the Care Act 2014, requiring support to
maintain independence in their own home. Using Domiciliary Care is a significant milestone in a person’s
life where they often have to acknowledge for the first time that they cannot be as independent as they
once were. Domiciliary Care services need to understand the impact of this change for the individual.
Therefore the service model needs to be flexible, person centred and effective to ensure service users can
achieve the outcomes they want for themselves.
3.2 The Gateway report to Executive on 11 July 2018 recommended a redesign of Domiciliary Care services
incorporating the following six core principles;
1. Integrated strategic commissioning with the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to link
Domiciliary Care: to service pathways alongside the Integrated Care Networks; to Continuing
Health Care funded specialist and complex packages of care, and palliative care; and to working
across health to reduce Delayed Transfer of Care (DToC);
2. Incorporating effective Reablement and a wider ‘enablement’ ethos across the service model;
3. A focus on prevention and outcome-based care and performance monitoring;
4. Promoting service user and family independence, choice and control;
5. Incorporate financial effectiveness and modelling to demonstrate potential savings and cost
avoidance across the whole social care portfolio as a result of a new domiciliary care model;
6. Having a truly co-designed approach that will help to shape and sustain the local provider market
and best meet communities’ requirements.
3.3 Following the report to Executive in July 2018, there have been multiple engagement sessions with service
providers to both test the market and discuss the proposed procurement strategy.
3.4 This report seeks approval to proceed to procurement for the new service model which is designed to meet
the current and future needs of people requiring Domiciliary care within the community.

4.0

SUMMARY OF YOUR BUSINESS CASE

4.0.1 Domiciliary Care services have been provided through a combination of a Framework contract and spot
purchased contracts since 2012. The Framework contract was awarded for a period of 5+2+2 years and
is due to expire on the 27th August 2021. The contracts cover both Adults and Children.
4.0.1 The current delivery model is primarily a “time and task” model where providers are paid based on units
of care activity. The ability to measure the personal outcomes of service users is limited; and the model
does not address a wider need for the service to be “enabling” to promote self-care for service users
where possible.
4.0.3 An Outcome-based enabling approach to Domiciliary Care is considered to deliver better health and
wellbeing outcomes. Additionally, working more effectively with health partners to develop an integrated
pathway of care could result in savings due to reduction in ‘Delayed Transfer of Care’.
4.0.4 The retendering of the Domiciliary Care service offers an opportunity to complement the aims of the
Adult Social Care Transformation programme including the strategic principles listed below:





Outcome-based
Co-design and delivery of services with communities
Technology and digital delivery models
Integrated commissioning, procurement and brokerage

4.0.5 The proposed Market Strategy for the new service model is to move away from the current Framework
and spot purchase approach (with 17 providers on the Framework and 22 spot purchased contracts) to
a locality ‘patch’ based model of care and support with lead providers allocated to four zones within
Bromley (East/West/South/Central).

3

Page 255

4.0.6 The proposed delivery model is intended to deliver improved personalised care for service users, whilst
enhancing the quality and choice within the provider market. The redesign is expected to provide
stability in the market place with clearer demarcation of Domiciliary Care volumes within the localities.
4.0.7 The new service model is intended to provide a platform to enhance the efficiencies currently been
delivered within Adult Social Care, Children’s services and Health Service, delivering better value for
money and reducing the need for long-term higher care needs.
4.0.8 A specialism based lead provider model operating within specified geographic locations, underpinned by
an outcome based specification, is expected to achieve greater value for money. A strength based
assessment approach will also promote service users wellbeing, enabling people to maintain control
and independence.

4.1 SERVICE PROFILE/DATA ANALYSIS
4.1.1 There are currently 1,835 Adults, 26 Children, receiving a managed package of care.
4.1.2 The proportion of older people in Bromley (aged 65 and over) is expected to increase from
17% of the population in 2017 to 18% by 2022 and 19% by 2027 (Bromley Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment, 2017). This will impact on the level and complexity of health and social
care needs in the borough.
4.1.3 Over the next 10 years it is estimated that almost 20% of the population of Bromley will be over 65, and
over the next 20 years the proportion of over 65’s is expected to increase by approximately 40% (with
the largest increase expected to be 90+) with more complex health and social
care needs.
4.1.4 There is expected to be a significant increase in the number of people that will be unable to manage
self-care in at least one activity, with the most significant increase expected to be women over the age
of 85. Older people are predicted to take on greater caring roles with an expected increase in those
requiring more support services.
4.1.5 Domiciliary Care in Bromley is currently provided through a Framework agreement. The framework
includes 17 providers who deliver around 15,000 hours of care and support a week. In addition there
are a further 22 spot providers providing additional hours of care as required.
4.1.6 The actual cost of delivering the Adult Social Care Service for the 2018/19 financial year was
£12.3m.
4.1.7 The projected cost of delivering Children’s support into home service for 2019/20 is £438k
4.1.8 The top 10 Care providers, based on hours delivered, account for 63% of the market share with an
estimated monthly cost of £127k. The total average monthly cost for all providers £275k.

4.2

OPTIONS APPRAISAL

Option 1(‘Patch’ based model with Lead Providers in each locality)
4.2.1 The aim of this model is to commission a specialism based lead provider model, operating within
specified geographic locations. It will mean moving from the current fragmented framework approach to
a model that enables providers to realise service and cost efficiencies.
4.2.2 A ‘patch’ based approach means that the borough would be split into 4 zones (East / West / Central /
South) reflecting the 3 ICN boundaries with at least 2 lead providers for each zone. In addition, the
‘patch’ approach will be supported by a smaller Framework contract to cover any additional hours or
specialised packages required.
4.2.3 ‘Patch’ based lead providers will be responsible for a designated locality and be expected to take an
agreed 60-70% of all referrals that arise in that area. Total hours for each lead provider will be limited to
a maximum of 3000 hours per week as recommended by the Association of Directors Adult Social
Services (ADASS)

Benefits

Challenges/Risk

4

Page 256

1. Services are co-ordinated around
communities and informed by
understanding of community
assets
2. Better recruitment and retention
levels due to potentially better
contract terms and work
conditions
3. Increased capacity due to less
travel time- Care staff teams can
be deployed in the most effective
way to meet the needs of those
residents within the locality
4. Greater expertise in the relevant
geographical areas
5. Better performance management
and contract monitoring with
smaller group of core providers
responsible for specific contracted
areas
6. Potential for better working
relationships with stable base of
providers over a longer term
period
7. Greater customer satisfaction

Fewer providers with larger market share-less choice
and competition

Lead provider being able to guarantee required
capacity at required times

Less market diversity and share for providers who will
provide additional capacity in the system

Option 2 (Dynamic Purchasing System)
4.2.4

Similar to the current Framework approach, a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) is a framework that
is operated through a software system. The system allows providers on the framework to bid for
packages and operates as a mini competitive tender process for each package.
Benefits
1. New entrants are encouraged to
enter into the market and
ultimately inclusion onto the DPS
arrangement ( subject to satisfying
qualification criteria)
2. Suppliers can apply at any time
once the DPS is ‘live’ or enabled,
plus if they don’t match the
selection criteria first time around,
they can then re-apply if
unsuccessful.
3. Provides maximum rates on
packages during bidding phase to
ensure cap on spend
4. Automatic alert system for bidding
on urgent and time sensitive
requirements
5. Allows monitored interaction on
package clarifications and
timeliness of responses
6. Interfaces with social care and
health IT systems to feed into
service users records

Challenges/Risk
Despite the advantage of supporting new entrants
onto the DPS, this can ultimately result in
commissioning many providers, which result in a
range of negative factors
Competitors in the market may not be attracted to
such a diluted provider market

Two systems are required which can be time
consuming- Framework and software
Councils are locked into expensive software
programmes
It does not address capacity issues within the market

Minimal impact on market shaping and influence

Option 3 (Provider Framework Only)
4.2.5 As per the current model, this is a mechanism for calling off individual packages over a period up until a
maximum of four years. Once providers are placed on a framework there can be no additional new
suppliers throughout the lifetime of the framework. Providers of Domiciliary Care would be invited to
submit bids and hourly rates to join the framework.

5

Page 257

4.2.6 A continuation of the current model, via a new framework contract (with associated spot purchases as
required) is not recommended. Competitors in the market may have less incentive to engage in the
Bromley framework as there is no guaranteed business through the framework and therefore no
incentivisation to commit to delivery in Bromley. There is also no viable incentivisation option that can
be linked to an outcomes based specification.

4.3

PREFERRED OPTION

4.3.1 It is recommended that the London Borough of Bromley adopt and develop Option 1
(‘Patch’ based model with lead providers) to accommodate an estimated 60-70% of required hours,
with the following benefits:






Rationalised market with a core of the most competent providers in the market, to manage current
and future demand;
Working with lead providers allows for more efficient quality management processes;
Poor performance can be more effectively managed by targeting contract/performance monitoring
resources;
It supports provider efficiencies through reduction in travel time and costs for carers.
It supports managing the market for both larger and smaller providers, ensuring viability of volume
across the market.

4.3.2 Any additional capacity required, estimated at 30-40% of the hours required, will be provided by a range
of providers through the framework contract run in parallel to the main ‘patch’ based contracts.
Providers who are awarded lead contracts will not be included in the Framework to ensure that we both
manage the market effectively and to incentivise engagement with the Framework from the broader
market.
4.3.3 The ‘patch’ based model will be split into five Lots as detailed in Appendix 1 – a Lot for each locality plus
an additional lot for specialised provision. Providers can bid for all Lots but will be restricted to contract
award for a maximum of two Lots for the locality based Lots (based on providers ranking their preferred
zones). A provider may only be awarded for more than two Lots where there have been insufficient bids
of acceptable quality in any individual Lot or where they also offer a specialised service for Lot 5.
4.3.4 The new Domiciliary Care delivery model and specification is intended to change the way the service is
currently delivered, with the philosophy of care and support focused on the achievement of outcomes,
such as maintaining or increasing independence at home rather the completion of tasks within an
allocated time period. It will look to embed a more flexible and responsive care and support service that
is aimed at preventing deterioration and social isolation and avoid unplanned admissions to hospital and
long term residential care.
4.3.5 Improved alignment between Adults and Children services should encourage better transitional
arrangements as young people preparing for adulthood would be more likely to sustain their current
Domiciliary Care arrangements
4.3.6 The new service model for Domiciliary Care will seek to introduce new workforce requirements
including the new roles of trusted assessor and enhanced care workers. The trusted assessor role
would allow carers to order minor pieces of equipment and make small adjustments to care packages
in response to needs.
4.3.7 Providers will be incentivised to achieve stated outcomes for the service where success will be
measured and rewarded by results/outcomes achieved. The procurement will incentivise providers to
transform the service away from a traditional “time and task” Domiciliary Care service to a service that
is more focused on the delivery of agreed outcomes with the service user. It is expected that this
approach will, over time, reduce demand for services and lead to greater satisfaction for the services
that people receive.

4.4

MARKET CONSIDERATIONS

4.4.1 Bromley has a large provider market that is currently commissioned to deliver the Domiciliary Care
Service. There are 17 providers on the framework and 22 providers that the Council spot contracts
with.
4.4.2 The framework and spot contracts currently only work with providers who have a base in Bromley or

6

Page 258

Its neighbouring boroughs. However consideration to open the market is recommended to enable
sustainability.
4.4.3 The top 10 care providers currently have 63% share of the market. The next 10 care providers have
22% share of the market. This means that 20 care providers currently deliver 85% of the entire market
share.
4.4.4 The new tender would allow care providers who did not have a base in the borough or within close
proximity to bid for zones. This will enable expansion and encourage growth from nationally
established providers.
4.4.5 The principal benefit of zoning is that it would support reduction in travel time and cost, clustering
work/key worker system, community connection/neighbourhood approach to take shape. It also allows
market share for larger and smaller providers and ensures service volume viability for all.
4.4.6 Direct Payment uptake will also allow the service user more freedom of choice and control of their
care.

5.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

5.5.1

Engagement with internal and external stakeholders has been ongoing since January 2018, with
further engagement with providers, service users/carers.

5.5.2

Annual Children (short break) survey has also just been completed and responses are currently been
collated.

5.5.3

Soft Market Testing – A further engagement with providers took place on the 16 May 2019, and the
feedback given included:
 Collaborative care plan production
 Care to be more outcomes based and less prescriptive
 Preference for lead providers in allocated zones with block hours
 Flexibility on care packages. More flexibility on the times and length of calls
 A reablement ethos with increased rates; access to community equipment
 Delivering intervention to service users
 Providers requested for more training programmes to be developed by LBB

th

5.5.4 A full programme of engagement with service users and their families, carers, and voluntary and
community services and the wider community using co-design principles will be included as part of the
project plan.
5.5.5 A workshop session on “Outcome Focus Care” with Providers took place on the 3
th
and 9 October 2019

rd

5.5.6 Engagement with staffing groups working for adult social care, reablement, brokerage, quality
assurance team will take place in November 2019. This will provide updates about the tender
process and likely impact on care management teams, with regards to new assessments and
reviewing of existing care packages where required.

6.

PROCUREMENT AND PROJECT TIMESCALES AND GOVERNANCE
ARRANGEMENTS

6.1 This proposed procurement strategy for the retendering a new Domiciliary Care Service
for Adults and Children is as follows:


‘Patch’ Based tender comprised of five Lots with each Lot based on a five year contract with the option
to extend for up to three years. Each Lot will be subject to further cost modelling to confirm the
estimated number of hours allocated to each Lot and to each provider within a Lot. The Lots are as
follows:
o
o
o
o

Lot 1 (East): up to 3 providers;
Lot 2 (West): up to 2 providers;
Lot 3 (Central): up to 2 providers;
Lot 4 (South): 1 providers

7

Page 259

o


Lot 5 (Specalist Service for Learning Disabilities / Mental Health): up to 2 providers.

A framework tender for a four year contract, comprised of multiple providers. The framework is limited
to four years because of the recommended length of a framework contract within the Public Contract
Regulations 2015.

The estimated total value of this procurement is £13.4m. The value and nature make this an above-threshold
contract subject to the Light Touch regime.
6.2 A two stage process will be used and a timetable is included in section 6.3 of this report.
In order to progress to Stage 2 organisations must pass Stage 1.
6.3 The indicative timetable for the procurement is as follows:

Stage

Target Date
th

Develop tender documents (ITT/PQQ/Contract)

17 February 2020

Advertise tender stage 1- opportunity via
OJEU/Contracts finder/ProContract
Tender evaluation stage 1

24 February 2020

Advertise tender stage 2- opportunity via
OJEU/Contracts finder/ProContract

13

Tender evaluation Stage 2

11 May 2020

Complete evaluation stage 2

17 Aug 2020

SMT Presentation (Award)

August/Sept 2020

DLT Presentation (Award)

August/Sept 2020

PDS (Award)

August/Sept 2020

Executive Approval (Award)

August/Sept 2020

Notify successful/unsuccessful suppliers

October 2020

Standstill ends

October 2020

Finalise contract on ProContract and ‘Award’
contract
Start implementation stage

October 2020

Advertise Framework tender opportunity via
OJEU/Contracts finder/ProContract
Tender evaluation

October 2020

Complete evaluation

December 2020

Executive Approval

January/ February 2021

Notify Successful/unsuccessful suppliers
“Go Live”

March 2021
th
28 August 2021

th

th

March 2020

th

April 2020

25

th

th

November 2020

November 2020

6.4 Tenders will be awarded on the basis of price (60%) and how bidders have answered and evidenced their
responses against award criteria (40%)

7.

SUSTAINABILITY AND IMPACT ASSESSMENTS
8

Page 260

7.1 The implementation of a new operating model does not in itself create any diversity implications. A full
Equality Impact Assessment (“EIA”) has been completed.
7.2 The new service model will continue to ensure the Council provides its duties in meeting Adults and
Children needs as set out in the Care Act 2014. It will aim to improve on the current offer by providing
better outcomes for residents and ensuring a more effective way of procuring the service. However, it is
recognised that as a result of changing the way we procure services, people who use our services may
be asked to use a different provider from the one they currently receive services. This will be managed
effectively through the mobilisation process which will be over a 6-9 months period.

8.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

8.1 Effective Domiciliary Care services will support the Council to demonstrate key priorities within
the Transformation Bromley Roadmap themes (2019-2023).





Priority One: Safeguarding
Priority Three: Life chances, resilience and wellbeing
Priority Five: Integrated health and social care
Priority Six: Ensuring efficiency and effectiveness

8.2 A strategic approach to recommissioning Domiciliary Care will ensure that the service delivery aligns to
the current and developing wider health and social care pathways as part of our integrated
commissioning alongside the CCG

9.

IT AND GDPR CONSIDERATIONS

9.1 Consideration will need to be made in the future with regards to current IT processes, including
Integration of systems due to planned changes within the next six to twelve months.
9.2 Information Security and Access control for the new electronic call monitoring system will need to be
assessed and ICT assurances met in line with LBB information security policy.
9.3 The Council, as part of its on-going commitment to fostering and sustaining an evolved approach to
data protection and information management requires the following to be considered and evidenced:













10.

Privacy by Design – A Data Protection Impact Assessment is carried out for this service by
commissioning
Controls on sub-contracting – The Council must be consulted prior to any award. Where an award
is to be made, the provider must reflect the Council’s contractual requirements in any subcontract.
Providers must have necessary GDPR compliance evidence in place including policies, training,
and information asset register.
Data protection officer – Providers must appoint one where required.
Breach notification – The providers must alert the Council of a breach within 24 hours of becoming
aware of it, to allow the Council to meet it’s 72 hour reporting commitments.
Data Sovereignty – Providers that use hosted or cloud based services must ensure they are in UK
data centres
Rights of Data subject – Any exercise of the rights of the data subject must be actioned within 30
days where legally obliged to comply. The provider is required to take all reasonable steps to
assist the Council in complying
Information management control – The provider must employ and evidence appropriate
information security and management controls to safeguard personal and sensitive personal data
Providers must allow the Council to conduct periodic data protection audits
Providers should subscribe to a certification mechanism to evidence compliance to the GDPR and
UK Data Protection Bill
A retention period for personal and sensitive data must be identified and documented.
Explicit determination of what happens to the information collected and stored by providers after
the contract finishes must be identified, documented and actioned as appropriate.

PROCUREMENT CONSIDERATIONS
9

Page 261

10.1 This report seeks approval to proceed to procurement on the retendering a new Domiciliary Care
service for Adults and Children:
 To up to 3 providers for Lot 1: East for duration of 5 years with a 3 year extension option.
 To up to 2 providers for Lot 2: West for duration of 5 years with a 3 year extension option.
 To up to 2 providers for Lot 3: Central for duration of 5 years with a 3 year extension option.
 To 1 provider for Lot 4: South for duration of 5 years with a 3 year extension option.
 To 1 provider for Lot 5: Specialist Service for Learning Disability/Mental Health Service for
duration of 5 years with a 3 year extension option.
 The exact value of each lot and number of suppliers that will be awarded contracts on each lot is
subject to cost modelling and will be defined by the service prior to proceeding to procurement
following further cost modelling.
 As stated above in section 4.3.3, award of contracts for Lots 1 to 4 will be limited to a maximum of
two zones to a single provider.
 Providers who are awarded lead provider contracts will be excluded from participating in the
framework due to the ADASS restrictions stated in section 4 above.
10.2 The total value of this procurement is estimated at £13.4 per annum. The value and nature make this an
above-threshold contract subject to the light touch regime. A restricted process will be used to award
contracts to lead providers.
10.3 Further to this, this report recommends proceeding to procurement for a framework for the provision of
Domiciliary Care for duration of 4 years. The total value of the framework is subject to cost modelling and
will be defined by the service prior to commencing tender. Providers will need to meet minimum quality
thresholds to join the framework. The likely value and nature make this an above-threshold contract
subject to the light touch regime, this will be awarded through a restricted process.
10.4 Health, social and related services are covered by Schedule 3 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015,
and thus any tender would be subject to the application of the “Light Touch” regime (LTR) under those
regulations. Authorities have the flexibility to use any process or procedure they choose to run the
procurement, as long as it respects the following obligations:
i) The tender must be advertised in OJEU and on Contracts Finder.
ii) The relevant contract award notices must subsequently be published.
iii) The procurement must comply with EU Treaty principles of transparency and equal treatment.
iv) The procurement must conform to the information provided in the OJEU advert regarding any
conditions for participation; time limits for contacting/responding to the authority; and the award
procedure to be applied.
v) Time limits imposed, such as for responding to adverts and tenders, must be reasonable and
proportionate. There are no stipulated minimum time periods in the LTR rules, so contracting
authorities should use their discretion and judgement on a case by case basis.
10.5 The Council’s specific requirements for authorising proceeding to procurement are covered in 1.3 of the
Contract Procedure Rules with the need to obtain the formal Agreement of the Assistant Director
Governance & Contracts, the Director of Corporate Services and the Director of Finance for a
procurement of this value.
10.6 In compliance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (Rule 3.6.1), this procurement must be
carried out using the Council’s e-procurement system.
10.7 The actions identified in this report are provided for within the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, and
the proposed actions can be completed in compliance with their content.

11.
11.1

12.

HR CONSIDERATIONS
There are no personnel implications for Bromley Council employees arising from the procurement
options outlined in this report.

LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

12.1 The Council has a duty to provide Domiciliary Care to support individuals to maintain independence and
live in their own homes. Children and young persons can also access these services. The Councils
current contract, a framework, will come to an end in August 2021.

10

Page 262

12.2 As detailed in this report the Council has reviewed and consulted on the provision of Domiciliary Care
and wishes to take forward a tender process for a new approach. This report seeks the approval to
proceed to procurement for the retendering of domiciliary services for adults and children.
12.3 There are to be 5 lots;









Lot 1 -To up to 3 providers for Lot 1: East for duration of 5 years with a 3 year extension option.
Lot 2 -To up to 2 providers for Lot 2: West for duration of 5 years with a 3 year extension option.
Lot 3 -To up to 2 providers for Lot 3: Central for duration of 5 years with a 3 year extension option.
Lot 4 -To 1 provider for Lot 4: South for duration of 5 years with a 3 year extension option.
Lot 5 To up to 2 providers for Lot 5: Specialist Service for Learning Disability/Mental Health
Service for duration of 5 years with a 3 year extension option.
The exact value of each lot and number of suppliers that will be awarded contracts on each lot is
subject to cost modelling and will be defined by the service prior to proceeding to procurement
following further cost modelling.
As stated above in section 4.3.3, award of contracts for Lots 1 to 4 will be limited to a maximum of
two zones to a single provider.
Providers who are awarded lead provider contracts will be excluded from participating in the
framework due to the ADASS restrictions stated in section 4 above.

12.4 The total value of the process is estimated at £13.4 million per annum.
12.5 Due to the value the Public Contract Regulations 2015 will be followed (subject to amendment post
Brexit) Health, social and related services are covered by Schedule B, so called light touch regime. The
Council is proposing to follow a restricted process.
12.6 The tender documents will include the CCG, thus allowing them to use and benefit from this tender
process. In due course suitable contract documents will be prepared.
12.7 In addition the procurement has to be carried out in accordance with the Councils Contract Procedure
CPR 1.3, 3.6.1 – use the e-procurement system and CPR 8 as detailed in Section 10 above. The
proposed procurement can be carried out in accordance with the Councils requirements as detailed in
this report.
12.8 TUPE
Whilst the Council has no employees affected by this, there is the potential for TUPE between current
providers on the existing framework and in the future the new providers. The Council will need to be
alert to this issue and consult with legal on employment/TUPE issues. Appropriate information will need
to be included in the tender documents.

13.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

The table below shows the total Council spend on Domiciliary Care for the last three financial years and year
to date, excluding Discharge to Assess care packages which are commissioned separately:

Expenditure
Income
Net

2016/17
Budget
Actual
£'000
£'000
10,812
11,810
-4,838
-4,312
5,974
7,498

2017/18
Budget
Actual
£'000
£'000
12,333
12,034
-4,486
-4,239
7,847
7,795

2018/19
Budget
Actual
£'000
£'000
12,654
12,373
-4,916
-4,582
7,738
7,791

2019/20 to date
Budget Projection
£'000
£'000
12,098
13,370
-4,181
-5,009
7,917
8,361

13.2 As reported in the May budget monitoring report, and the September budget monitoring report
elsewhere on the agenda, there is a significant overspend projected for 2019/20 as a result of savings
linked to Discharge to Assess and Reablement that have not been achieved to the extent anticipated.
13.3 Providers have experienced increased costs due to the further increases in the National Living Wage,
pension contributions and CQC fees. Additional budget of £808k and £1,500k was allocated in the
2018/19 and 2019/20 Adult Social Care budgets respectively for the impact of National Living Wage
increases.
13.3 The Council’s four year financial forecast currently includes further growth of £1,500k in 2020/21 in
respect of National Living Wage increases. However, given the budget gap that is currently projected,

11

Page 263

this growth is currently unfunded, so the commissioning of the Domiciliary Care service will be
considered within that context.
13.4 Based on the projected costs of Domiciliary Care for 2019/20, the estimated cost of this service is
estimated at £13.4m per annum, with a whole life value of £107.2m over the maximum 8 year period.
This assumes that the impact of moving to an enablement and outcomes based model is cost neutral,
although it is not possible to quantify this at this point.
13.5 There will therefore need to be careful monitoring of the service going forward, both at an individual care
package level and at a total service level to ensure costs are being controlled. It is assumed that this
monitoring will be contained within existing care management, commissioning and finance resources.
13.6 The projected expenditure and income for 2019/20 are split between services as shown in the table
below:
Expenditure
£'000
Adults 18-64 - Physical Support
1,600
- Sensory Support
2
- Memory & Cognition
31
Adults 65+ - Physical Support
8,694
- Sensory Support
5
- Memory & Cognition
721
Learning Disabilities - 18-64
1,551
- 65+
137
Mental Health - 18-64
427
- 65+
202
13,370

Income
£'000
-352
0
-10
-3,960
-5
-340
-226
-36
-28
-52
-5,009

Net
£'000
1,248
2
21
4,734
0
381
1,325
101
399
150
8,361

13.7 In addition, the CCG commission around 158 packages of Domiciliary Care, the cost of which is not
included in the figures above.

Non-Applicable
Sections:
Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

None
[Title of document and date]
(Appendices to be Included)

12

Page 264

Appendix
Gateway 0/1 Commissioning Strategy for Domiciliary Care Services
(Market configuration around localities & specialisms)

Lot Breakdown (East Zone)



East Zone will be LOT 1
2/3 Lead providers based on planned hours(Each provider cannot exceed more than 3000
hours as per ADASS recommendation)

Page 265

Data based on a snap shot of planned packages of care (POC) in April 2019 (WEST)
Total number of planned hours per week: 6078
Total number of individual service users – 663
Total number of Dom Care agencies with POCs – 30

Lot Breakdown (West Zone)



West Zone will be LOT 2
2 Lead providers based on planned hours(Each provider cannot exceed more than 3000
hours as per ADASS recommendation)

Page 266

Data based on a snap shot of planned packages of care (POC) in April 2019 (CENTRAL)
Total number of planned hours per week: 4506
Total number of individual service users – 492
Total number of Dom Care agencies with POCs – 30

Lot Breakdown (Central Zone)



Central Zone will be LOT 3
1/2 Lead providers based on planned hours(Each provider cannot exceed more than 3000
hours as per ADASS recommendation)

Page 267

Data based on a snap shot of planned packages of care (POC) in April 2019 (SOUTH)
Total number of planned hours per week: 486
Total number of individual service users – 62
Total number of Dom Care agencies with POCs – 7

Lot Breakdown (South Zone)



South Zone will be LOT 4
1 Lead provider based on planned hours – The feedback from care providers and the
brokerage team, is the difficulty to carers to travel to south of the borough and provide a
timely service due to lack of adequate public transport. The plan is to treat this as a separate
LOT, for one provider at an attractive rate to ensure carers are provider with their own
transport by care providers. (i.e. Car leasing scheme)

LOT 5 – Specialist Service for Learning Disability/Mental Health Service (Max 3 providers)
LOT 6 – Approved Providers List

Page 268

Agenda Item 16
Report No.
ACH19010

Agenda
Item No.

London Borough of Bromley
PART 1 – Public

Decision Maker:

Executive
With pre-decision scrutiny from Adult Care and Health Policy
Development and Scrutiny Committee on 19th November 2019

Date:

27th November 2019

Decision Type:

Non - Urgent

Title:

Gateway Report - Learning Disability Supported
Accommodation Procurement Strategy

Contact Officer:

Andrew Royle, Strategic Commissioner, Education, Care & Health Services
Tel: 020 8461 7612 E-mail: andrew.royle@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Kim Carey, Interim Director of Adult Social Care.

Ward:

All

1.

Executive

Key

REASON FOR REPORT

1.1

The Council has operated a number of separate contracts with specialist Learning
Disability (LD) providers to provide care and support into various LD supported living
properties within the Borough. A report was taken to Executive on 10 July 2019 where
Executive approved aligning the end dates of the current contracts to April 2021 to support
a wider commissioning exercise.

1.2

This report details the strategy for undertaking the major procurement exercise that will
see the alignment and restructure of what is currently 5 contracts covering 16 properties
providing accommodation based care and support to 78 adults with a learning disability
(see Appendix 1 for details of the current contracts and Appendix 2 for the proposed
configuration).

1.3

The annual value of the contracts related to the tender is estimated to be £4.7m per
annum and £37.4m over the proposed 5+3 year contract term. This report seeks
Executive approval to commence the procurement of services in accordance with the
arrangements set out in this report and to enable the commencement of new contracts on
25 April 2021.
________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 Adult Care and Health PDS Committee is asked to note and comment on the contents of
the report.
1

Page 269

2.2 Executive is recommended to:
i)

Agree to proceed to procurement for the above contracts as detailed in this report.

2

Page 270

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1.

Summary of Impact: To ensure ongoing, suitable, community based provision for
adults with learning disabilities.

Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Existing Policy.

2. BBB Priority: Supporting Independence
_________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: £37.4m over 8 years (estimated)

2.

Ongoing costs: Recurring cost. £4.7m per annum (estimated)

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Learning Disabilities – Supported Living

4.

Total current budget for this head: £13.3m

Source of funding: Council’s General Fund (within existing budget envelope subject to
tender outcome)
_________________________________________________________________________
5.

Staff
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): N/A

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:
________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: Statutory requirement

2.
Call-in: Call-in is applicable
_________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): 78 adults with a
learning disability
_________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? N/A.

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A

3

Page 271

3.
3.1

COMMENTARY
The London Borough of Bromley is committed to providing local quality services for
people with learning disabilities so that people can lead full and rewarding lives in
the community. This includes ensuring that:




3.2

People receive high quality care, support and treatment in the most
appropriate setting
Services promote independence, where the least restrictive setting is sought
and promoted
The housing and care needs of service users transitioning into adulthood can
be met

“Supported living” is used to describe the arrangement whereby someone who has
their own tenancy also has assistance from a “Care and Support” provider to help
them live as independently and safely as possible. This could include help with:







Managing bills and money
Shopping, cooking and healthy eating
Learning new skills for independence
Accessing employment, sports and social activities
Personal care and well-being
Managing medication

3.3

Supported living accommodation has been developed in Bromley in order to meet
the specific needs of adults with learning and physical disabilities. Supported living
is a key resource in meeting the existing and future needs of Bromley’s adult
learning disability population and avoiding the need for people to move into
residential care. The Council has a statutory duty to meet the needs of service
users supported in the schemes as set out in Part 1 of the Care Act ‘General
Responsibilities of Local Authorities’.

3.4

Supported Living services provide accommodation via a Registered Social Landlord
with the client being a legal tenant. The Council retains sole nomination rights into
these properties. On site care & support is provided via a contracted care provider
(see Appendix 1 for details of the contracts in the scope of this report). While
clients will require a level of support in order to maintain their wellbeing, support
needs vary greatly across the schemes and include challenging behaviour,
psychotic behaviour, depression, autism, self-harm, visual impairment, epilepsy,
diabetes, cancer, mobility issues (including full wheelchair users) and significant
mental health issues which can lead to social isolation and the requirement for
emotional and psychological support etc.

3.5

The properties are specially adapted to meet client needs including, where
necessary, a ceiling hoist, bath chair, grab rails and relevant fixtures and fittings to
aid mobility, especially when carrying out personal care. Kitchens may be fitted with
an adjustable height sink and emergency alarms and equipment to encourage
clients to do cooking with supervision as necessary.

3.6

As shown in Appendix 1 the support provided to these 78 clients accounts for
around £4.7m per year, an average cost per client of £60k.The total estimated
whole life contract value (for the maximum 8 years) of the council’s supported living
block contracts is around £37.4m. It is therefore of importance that the Council
ensures that it is achieving Value for Money in these services and that service
quality remains of a high standard.
4

Page 272

3.7

Demand for these services is forecast to grow. The continued provision of these
services ensures that people are given the opportunity to continue living within the
Borough, close to family and other circles of support. Locally commissioned
services also allows the Council to monitor the quality of provision, thereby helping
to ensure that safeguarding concerns are prevented from arising or resolved in a
timely manner. Contract monitoring meetings are held with the providers as well as
a mixture of announced and unannounced visits by the Council’s Contract
Compliance Team.

3.8

The contracts referred to in this report relate to the provision of care and support at
the schemes. The hours relating to the provision of core support are fixed within the
contracts but the individual 1:1 support hours are tailored to the assessed needs of
each person living in the scheme as assessed by Care Managers in discussion with
the provider and client following a Care Act Assessment. The individual support
hours can vary dependent upon a person’s changing needs. Service users also
have the option to purchase their personal support hours from a different provider
via a Direct Payment.

3.9

This report seeks Executive approval to commence the procurement exercise in
relation to the schemes detailed at Appendix 1 with a view to contract
commencement on 25 April 2021.

4.

SUMMARY OF THE BUSINESS CASE

4.1

Appendix 1 summarises the 5 contracts covering 16 properties and enabling the
care and support of 78 adults with LD and other disabilities.

4.2

The people living in these properties have tenancies with Registered Social
Landlords and are able to remain living there if there is a change of care provider
as the landlord and support functions are separate. Supported Living is a wellestablished way of providing care and support to people and enables tenants to
claim benefits that relieve the Council from the responsibility for paying for
housing, utility and food costs.

4.3

Bromley has established nomination rights to a number of bespoke, high quality
supported living properties within the Borough. This accommodation is seen as a
valuable resource offering future proofed, cost effective provision of a type that is
in demand and continues to be commissioned nationally. For these reasons, this
paper does not propose options around decommissioning these schemes or
changing how they are configured; the focus is on commissioning future care and
support into those properties that recognises national best practice and local
strategies in relation to LD and the Council’s Transformation Agenda.

4.4

The report is a Gateway 1 rather than a Gateway 0 as Executive have previously
approved (July 2019) the strategy of tendering a large number of supported living
schemes via one tender process.

4.5

The Council and the CCG are working on the development of a joint
commissioning strategy for services for people with LD. The development of the
strategy will enable the Council to review levels of current and future needs and
demand for services to inform future commissioning intentions.

4.6

As part of the tender process we will seek to ensure flexibility in the contracts to
incorporate additional schemes if appropriate.

5

Page 273

4.7

The Council will use the development of the strategy to explore the following
areas and inform the service specification for tendering of these services:


Collaborative working with Public Health, the CCG and providers to ensure
services will meet future needs



Service user experience by exploring “strength based” approaches to practice
and service provision to promote the development individual’s skills and
reduce reliance on statutory services



Using Direct Payments to develop more choice and control over personalised
service provision



Value for money through benchmarking Bromley’s services against
comparator boroughs

4.8

The Transformation Programme was launched in 2019 to develop, coordinate and
manage transformation activity across the Council and ensure that service
improvements and savings are delivered in line with the Medium Term Financial
Plan. In the main this will focus on service redesign to ensure future service growth is
contained within the overall resources available.

4.9

One of the seven work streams of the Programme will focus on Adult Social Care
(ASC) including: a) Mental Health, b) Learning Disabilities, c) Older People. Within
the ASC work stream, officers will review the current and future needs of people with
learning disabilities including the range of support available to promote independence
and future commissioning requirements. This will be conducted within a framework of
strategic principles including:













Outcome-based: Resources must be directed to and focused on the key priorities
for the Council and its strategic objectives. Activities undertaken by the Council must
be aligned to delivering local outcomes for individuals and communities.
Co-design and delivery of services with communities: Services should be
designed and delivered with and not for communities, identifying and recognising
the knowledge, skills and experience which already exists and can be developed
and deployed for local benefit.
Alternative delivery models: The Programme must consider the best and most
sustainable option for each service, reflecting local circumstances and market
forces.
Early intervention and prevention: Supporting people early and effectively to
prevent longer-term needs is a key principle. All the evidence suggests that the
capability to intervene early in partnership with other agencies drastically reduces
long term demand for high cost services. Service transformation needs to address
and implement effective mechanisms that reduce long-term dependency on Council
services.
Sustainability: The Council must live within its financial means both in the short
term and the longer term. Service transformation and redesign must deliver new
sustainable service models.
Invest to save opportunities: Work streams must look to see whether savings
could be achieved through ‘invest to save’ opportunities.
Technology and digital delivery models: Wherever possible technology must be
6

Page 274

considered to either support better or replace traditional service delivery models.
The expectation of residents and the need to reduce transactional costs must be a
prime consideration when designing sustainable services.
4.10

As part of the tender preparation work, a co-produced service specification is being
drafted that will reinforce the above principles.

4.11

The specification will incorporate Key Performance Indicators that are aligned with
the Council's priorities and will form a key element of performance monitoring.
Performance monitoring of these services will be backed up with service user
engagement via the Quality Checkers Team.

5.
5.1

SERVICE PROFILE/DATA ANALYSIS
A detailed analysis of children and young people in the education system in Bromley
(2018) identified that of the 2,187 Children & young people with EHC plans:





5.2

578 are diagnosed with Autism
8 with Profound and multiple Learning Difficulties
104 with Severe Learning Difficulties
216 with Social, Emotional and Mental Health

The needs of children and young people aged under 18 in Bromley are
representative of the national picture. Demand for learning disability services is
increasing nationally. A narrow estimate of the number of school children nationally
(aged 5-16 years) with complex needs is 73,000, made up of:





10,900 children with profound and multiple learning difficulties
32,300 children with severe learning difficulties
27,500 children with autistic spectrum disorders in special schools
2,300 children with multi-sensory impairments.

5.3

The equivalent figure in 2004 was 49,300. This suggests that the number of school
children with complex needs in schools in England may have risen by nearly 50 per
cent in just over a decade. The actual number is higher, as children with other
primary needs may also have complex needs due to there being some important
gaps in School Census data.

5.4

The potential demands coming through from under 18 services are expected to be
significant well into the future. Continued delivery of these schemes will support the
Council in meeting its statutory duties against a backdrop of both increasing numbers
and an increase in the needs of clients entering adult services.

5.5

In recognition of these demand-related pressures on the Learning Disabilities budget,
arising mainly from transition clients and increased client needs, an additional £847k
was allocated in the 2019/20 budget to fund Learning Disabilities growth pressures.

6

MARKET CONSIDERATIONS

6.1

There is a strong and stable market for the provision of supported living services.
Due to market consolidation over the recent years, most bidders are regional or
national third sector organisations with whom the Council is familiar.

7

Page 275

6.2

The tendering of a large proportion of the Council’s supported living schemes will
stimulate market engagement. The revised commissioning approach resulting from
the LD Strategy and ASC transformation programme will be incorporated into the
specification. Not only will this allow any market issues to be reflected in the tender
but it will facilitate relationships between SME/VCSE’s and other providers to possibly
explore joint tendering opportunities etc.

7.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

7.1

Quality Checkers, the user led monitoring group, engage with service users within
Bromley’s supported living schemes as part of the regular monitoring regime. This
ensures that the user’s voice is heard throughout the life of the contract. Service
users will be engaged in the development of outcomes for Supported Living services.

7.2

Engagement with family members/advocates of the service users will also occur to
ensure that they are fully aware of the activity being undertaken and the timeline of
decisions and there will be opportunity to participate in the tender process.

7.3

The new service specification is in the process of being co-produced with users of the
service and will be further informed by market feedback as well as the LBB
Transformation Plan and the LD Strategy. Best practice from other local authorities
will also be incorporated. The specification will detail requirements in relation to
compliance with statutory areas such as GDPR as well as including a focus upon
prevention and outcomes that deliver positive service change.

7.4

Key Performance Indicators and Outcomes will include statistical data returns that
underpin contract monitoring as well as reflecting priorities that have been gathered
during the Co-production work in relation to the LD Strategy such as:








Community integration
Friendship and Socilisation
Engendering peer support
Empowerment
Developing skills
Ensuring a sense of purpose
Being listened to

7.5

On completion of the service specification, it will be shared with stakeholders to
ensure they are agreeable to the KPI’s and Outcome based measures that will have
resulted from the co-production process. Service users will also be involved in the
tender evaluation and will be asking providers questions as part of the interview
process.

8.

PROCUREMENT AND PROJECT TIMESCALES AND GOVERNANCE
ARRANGEMENTS

8.1

Estimated Total Contract Values – £37.6m including the value of the 3 year
extension.

8.2

Assessment of the market, including detailed analysis of cost composition obtained
through recent tender exercises; show that the prices obtained by the Council for
these contracts were extremely competitive when they were awarded 5 years ago.

8

Page 276

8.3

Cost pressures on social care providers have increased significantly in this time
period with a rise in CQC registration costs, the apprenticeship levy, increased
pension contributions, National Minimum Wage increases, including continued
uncertainty of the impact of HMRC and legal advice on the sleep in issue and overall
cost of living increases.

8.4

As such it is anticipated that the prices tendered by providers in future procurements
may increase, reflective of the current economic and funding environment.

8.5

Proposed Contract Period – 5 years with an up to 3 year extension
25th April 2021 to 24th April 2026 (5 year initial term)
25th April 2026 to 24th April 2029 (up to 3 year extension period)
The procurement timeline will be as follows:
Pre-tender activity including
stakeholder and market
engagement
Issue Invitation to Tender
Tender Return Stage 1
Tender Return Stage 2
Marking and interviews
PDS & Exec Reporting
Contracts commence

Completing January 2020

February 2020
March 2020
July 2020
July/August 2020
November 2020
25th April 2021

8.6

The 16 schemes will be split into 4 Lots as detailed at Appendix 2. The Lots
comprise groups of schemes that are broadly aligned with the existing contractual
configurations that have worked well. This will ensure reduced disruption and anxiety
for service users and the staff working in those schemes when the new contracts are
implemented (as well as reducing the cost and complexity of managing potential
TUPE arrangements) with care staff and local management being more likely to
remain.

8.7

The Council has a Duty under the Care Act to ensure services are sustainable; the
Council also has a role in supporting and managing the market. Whilst it is possible
that more financially competitive bid(s) may be achieved by allowing providers to be
awarded contracts for more than one Lot, thereby maximising provider economies of
scale, this strategy presents an unacceptable level of risk to the Council in the event
of provider failure and/or major performance issues; as well as being a potential risk
to the overall sustainability of the provider market. It is therefore proposed to limit
contract award to a maximum of 1 Lot per provider with the expected outcome of
award of contracts to four different providers.

8.8

To facilitate the arrangements above:
1. Providers will be asked to submit a bid for each Lot that they are interested in.
2. Providers must submit a separate bid for each Lot that is uniquely tailored to
the cost of providing care in it and, in relation to quality, is specific to fulfilling
the service specification that recognises the needs of the people living in the
associated schemes.
3. Providers will be advised that they will be awarded a maximum of 1 Lot
4. Each Lot will be individually assessed in accordance with the CIPFA model,
60% Price and 40% quality.
9

Page 277

5. Providers will be required to rank their preference for providing each of the
Lots they have submitted bids for. In the event of a provider achieving the
highest score in more than 1 Lot, they will be awarded the Lot based upon
their ranked preference.
6. The Council will reserve the right to award more than one Lot to a provider
only where there are no other acceptable bids within an individual Lot.
9.

SUSTAINABILITY AND IMPACT ASSESSMENTS

9.1

As part of the tender there is a requirement for providers to address how they would
meet social, economic and environmental considerations through the delivery of the
services. These areas can cover such activities as local recruitment policies,
procuring goods and services from local businesses, fundraising activities on behalf
of local and national charities.

10.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

10.1

The Council has a statutory duty under the Care Act 2014 in relation to the
procurement and delivery of these services.

10.2 The Care Act (2014) guidance states that:


Local authorities should consider the contract arrangements they make with
providers to deliver services, including the range of block contracts, framework
agreements, spot contracting or ‘any qualified provider’ approaches, to ensure
that the approaches chosen do not have negative impacts on the
sustainability, sufficiency, quality, diversity and value for money of the market
as a whole – the pool of providers able to deliver services of appropriate
quality.

11.

IT AND GDPR CONSIDERATIONS

11.1

In consultation with the Information Assurance Officer a Data Protection Impact
Assessment will be carried out through all stages of any procurement

12.

PROCUREMENT RULES

12.1

This report seeks authority from Executive following scrutiny by Adult Care & Health
PDS to proceed with the procurement of supported living services as detailed in Part
4 of this report.

12.2

Health, social and related services are covered by Schedule 3 of the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015 and thus any tender would be subject to the application of the
‘Light Touch’ Regime (LTR) under those Regulations. Authorities have the flexibility
to use any process or procedure they choose to run the procurement, as long as it
respects the following obligations:
The Tender must be advertised in OJEU and on Contracts Finder;
The relevant contract award notices must be subsequently be published;
The procurement must comply with EU Treaty principles of transparency and equal
treatment;
The procurement must conform with the information provided in the OJEU advert
regarding any conditions for participation; time limits for contracting/responding to the
authority; and the award procedure to be applied;

i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

10

Page 278

v.

Time limits imposed, such as for responding to adverts and tenders, must be
reasonable and proportionate. There are no stipulated minimum time periods in the
LTR rules, so contracting authorities should use their discretion and judgement on a
case by case basis.

12.3

In compliance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 3.6.1, this procurement
must be carried out using the Council’s e-procurement.

12.4

The actions identified in this report are provided for within the Council’s Contract
Procedure Rules, and the proposed actions can be completed in compliance with
their content.

13.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

13.1

The estimated value of the proposed contracts is £4.7m per annum, giving an
estimated whole life value of £37.4m over the maximum 8 years as set out in the
table below:
Estimated Estimated
full year
cost (5
cost
years)
£'000
£'000
109 & 111 Masons Hill, 18 & 19
Century Way
Coppice, Spinney & the Glade
173 & 182 Crofton Road, 26
Devonshire Rd
Johnson Court
213 Widmore Road, Lancaster
House, Amplio House, Swingfield
Court & Goldsmiths Close

Estimated
cost (8
years)
£'000

1,058
1,026

5,290
5,130

8,464
8,208

780
343

3,900
1,715

6,240
2,744

1,474
4,681

7,370
23,405

11,792
37,448

13.2

Although the contracts are mainly of a block nature, the actual costs will vary as a
result of the specific needs of individual service users.

13.3

The budget for these schemes is contained within the overall budget for Learning
Disabilities Supported Living schemes, which totals £13.3m in 2019/20.

13.4

The Council’s four year financial forecast currently includes growth in Learning
Disabilities budgets of over £6m by 2022/23. However, the budget gap is projected to
have increased to around £32m in the same time, so this growth is currently
unfunded, and the service transformation detailed in section 4.8 will be considered
within that context.

14.

LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

14.1

The Council have the legal power to secure supported living services for adults with
Learning Disability through a contract in support of and to facilitate the Councils
various functions under the Care Act 2014.

14.2

A contract for the purchase of these services is a public contract under the light touch
category within the meaning of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. As the value
of the contracts under the proposed procurement falls above the relevant threshold
(£615,278) a full EU light touch procurement would be required.
11

Page 279

14.3

The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPR 5.4) states that where the value of
the intended arrangement is £1,000,000 or more the Executive will be Formally
Consulted on the intended action to commence the procurement and contracting
arrangements, having submitted for consideration a formal Gateway Review,
covering as appropriate, the matters identified in this report .

Non-Applicable
Sections:
Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

Appendix 1 – Table of Current Contracts
ECHS19052 – Executive Report 10 July 2019

12

Page 280

Appendix 1
Current Supported Living Contracts Aligned to April 2021 End Date
Contract
ID
2592

109 & 111 Masons Hill
18 & 19 Century Way

16

CMG

1.7.17

Annual
value
£’000
1,058

348

Coppice
Spinney
The Glade
173 & 182 Crofton Road
26 Devonshire Rd

11

Outward

28.11.16

1,026

12

Certitude

25.4.16

780

Johnson Court
213 Widmore Road
Lancaster House
Amplio House
Swingfield Court
Goldsmiths Close

7
32

Sanctuary
Avenues

14.1.13
12.1.15

343
1,474

222
218
221

Schemes

No. of
clients

Provider

Contract
start

Totals:

78

13

4,681

Page 281

Appendix 2
Proposed Supported Living Contracts Lots
Lot
Number
1

109 & 111 Masons Hill
18 & 19 Century Way

16

Current Contract Annual
value
£’000
1,058

2

Coppice
Spinney
The Glade
173 & 182 Crofton Road
26 Devonshire Rd
Johnson Court
213 Widmore Road
Lancaster House
Amplio House
Swingfield Court
Goldsmiths Close

11

1,026

19

1,123

32

1,474

78

4,681

3

4

Schemes

No. of
clients

14

Page 282

Agenda Item 17
Report No
ACH 19017

London Borough of Bromley
PART 1

Decision Maker:

Executive
With pre-decision scrutiny from Adult Care and Health Policy
Development and Scrutiny Committee on 19th November 2019

Date:

27th November 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

CONTRACT EXTENSION AND COMMISSIONING STRATEGY
(GATEWAY 0)

Contact Officer:

Andrew Royle, Strategic Commisioner
Tel: 020 8461 7612 E-mail: andrew.royle@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Kim Carey, Interim Director of Adult Social Care

Ward:

All

Executive

Non Key

1.

REASON FOR REPORT

1.1

The Council currently has a block contract with Certitude for Supported Living, Respite and Day
Services for adults with a learning disability (LD). This contract commenced on 1 st October 2015
for an initial term of 5 years ending on 30th September 2020. There is an option to extend the
contract for up to 2 years to 30th September 2022. The annual value of the contract is estimated
at £3,878k, the cost of the 2 year extension will be £7,576k giving a whole life contract value of
£27,454k.

1.2 It is proposed that the option to extend the contract for a period of 2 years is taken with a new
contract that would commence from 1st October 2022.
1.3 With regard to services covered by this contract, it is proposed that an LD Strategic Board is
formed of Service Users, parents and other key stakeholders to ensure visibility of action and
progress along with a communication path and to provide a critical oversight function.
________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Adult Care and Health PDS is asked to note and comment on the contents of the report.
2.2 Executive is recommended to:
i)

Agree the extension of the contract with Certitude for a period of up to 2 years from
1st October 2020 to 30th September 2022 at a total cost of £7,758k.

ii)

To nominate an Elected Member to sit on the LD Strategic Board.
1

Page 283

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1.

Summary of Impact: To ensure the continued provision of statutory services to adults
with LD living in Bromley.

Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Existing Policy

2. BBB Priority: Supporting Independence
_________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: Estimated Cost £7,758k (within existing budgets)

2.

Ongoing costs: Recurring Cost. £3,878k (within existing budgets)

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Learning Disabilities Services

4.

Total current budget for this head: £3,888k

5.
Source of funding: Council’s General Fund (within existing budget envelope)
_________________________________________________________________________
Staff
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): N/A

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A
________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement

2.
Call-in: Call in is applicable
_________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):
Supported Living: 35 adults with a learning disability
Respite: Approximately 80 adults with a learning disability
Day services: Approximately 250 adults with a learning disability
_________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? N/A.

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments:

2

Page 284

3.

COMMENTARY

3.1

The London Borough of Bromley is committed to providing local quality services for
people with learning disabilities so that people can lead full and rewarding lives in the
community. This includes ensuring that:




People receive high quality care, support and treatment in the most
appropriate setting
Services promote independence, where the least restrictive setting is sought
and promoted
The housing and care needs of service users transitioning into adulthood can
be met

3.2

In 2015 the Council outsourced its in-house respite, supported living and day
services for adults with a learning disability to Certitude via a competitive dialogue
tender process.

3.3

The respite service provides a building based provision at 118 Widmore Road which
is accessible to all eligible clients in the Borough and has approximately 80 clients on
its list. It also provides an emergency respite provision for the Borough.

3.4

There is a small respite service run at Astley day centre every fortnight which
provides for very complex individuals who do not want to access 118 Widmore Road
or whose needs and those of their families are best met by day time respite.

3.5

The supported living service encompasses 9 properties supporting 35 clients. All of
the properties are managed by Housing Associations with the care and support
provided by Certitude via this contract.

3.6

The Day Service runs a varied programme of activity sessions across three main
centres – Astley, Kentwood and Cotmandene - as well as other sessions operating
from community hubs and public leisure facilities. Sessions include: cycling, sailing,
arts, music, sensory sessions, games, cinema, bowling and a range of gardening and
horticulture projects.

3.7

As part of the contract, Certitude also provide an employability project called Step
Forward subcontracted to Bromley Mencap which is currently based at Astley day
centre. This supports 20 adults at any one time in work skills, job coaching, finding
employment and post work placement support.

3.8

The totality of this contract with Certitude encompasses a significant proportion of inBorough services for adults with a learning disability (approx. 250 people Day
Services, 80 respite and 35 supported living)

4.
4.1

SUMMARY OF THE BUSINESS CASE
Respite

4.1.1 118 Widmore Road provides 12 respite beds. The Council block purchases 7 of
these beds per day and can purchase additional beds when it exceeds the 7 bed
limit.

3

Page 285

4.1.2 The service is registered with the CQC and has a ‘good’ rating. The service is
monitored regularly by the Council’s monitoring officers along with the Quality
Checkers and due to the nature of the service, has a high visibility with the Council’s
Care Managers. The service has been meeting the requirements stipulated in the
Council’s Quality Assurance Framework..

4.2

Day Services:

4.2.1 The Day Services element of the contract is accessed by approximately 250 people
over the course of a week.
4.2.2 Whilst the bulk of provision is carried out at Astley there are a number of satellite
sites that are either historic or have been developed under this contract that provide
community based opportunities for smaller groups of people.
4.2.3 The service is not registered with the CQC as they do not inspect Day Services. The
service is monitored regularly by the Council’s monitoring officers along with the
Quality Checkers. There is an active parent/carers group who meet regularly and act
as a focal point for any issues that they feel should be addressed.
There are currently no outstanding issues with the service which is delivering to the
requirements stipulated in the Council’s Quality Assurance Framework.

4.3

Supported Living:

4.3.1 This contract covers the provision of care and support for 35 clients at 9 properties.
4.3.2

“Supported living” is used to describe the arrangement whereby someone who has
their own tenancy also has assistance from a “Care and Support” provider to help
them live as independently and safely as possible. This could be help with:







Managing bills and money
Shopping, cooking and healthy eating
Learning new skills for independence
Accessing employment, sports and social activities
Personal care and well-being
Managing medication

4.3.3 Supported Living services provide accommodation via a Registered Social Landlord
with the client being a legal tenant. The Council retains sole nomination rights into
these properties.
4.3.4 The 9 properties are a mix of semi-detached and detached houses. They are all
converted general needs properties with none of them built specifically for people
with a learning disability.
4.3.5 The services fall under Certitude’s Domicilary Care registration with the CQC and has
an ‘outstanding’ rating. The service is monitored regularly by the Council’s monitoring
officers along with the Quality Checkers. There are no outstanding issues with the
service delivering to the requirements stipulated in the Council’s Quality Assurance
Framework.
4.4

SERVICE PROFILE/DATA ANALYSIS
4

Page 286

4.4.1 Detailed analysis of children and young people in the education system in Bromley
(January 2019) identified that of the 2,204 Children & young people with EHC plans:





587 with a diagnosis of Autism
128 with Profound and multiple Learning Difficulties
308 with Severe Learning Difficulties
295 with Social, Emotional and Mental Health

4.4.2 As demonstrated above, the potential demands coming through from under 18
services is expected to be significant well into the future. Demand for learning
disability services is increasing nationally and locally. A narrow estimate of the
number of school children nationally (aged 5-16 years) with complex needs is 73,000,
made up of:





10,900 children with profound and multiple learning difficulties
32,300 children with severe learning difficulties
27,500 children with autistic spectrum disorders in special schools
2,300 children with multi-sensory impairments.

4.4.3 The equivalent figure in 2004 was 49,300. This suggests that the number of school
children with complex needs in schools in England may have risen by nearly 50 per
cent in just over a decade. The actual number is higher, as children with other
primary needs may have complex needs and this information is masked due to there
being some gaps in School Census data.
4.4.4 With significant continued demands from under 18 services, the continued delivery of
these schemes will support the Council in meeting its statutory duties against a
backdrop of both increasing numbers and an increase in the needs of clients entering
adult services.
4.4.5 In recognition of these demand-related pressures on the Learning Disabilities budget,
arising mainly from transition clients and increased client needs, an additional £847k
was allocated in the 2019/20 budget to fund Learning Disabilities growth pressures.
4.5

OPTIONS APPRAISAL

4.5.1 Decommission all the services
Not recommended as the services support the Council in carrying out its statutory
duties under the Care Act. The Council would still have to meet the assessed need.
4.5.2 Extend and Retender the Contract as it is at the end of the Extension Period
Not recommended as this would not ensure the contract was fit for purpose going
forwards.
4.5.3 Retendering the Service
Retendering the service at this time in its present structure would not allow the
Council opportunity to assess the need for a new service model that will meet the
future demand.
4.5.4 PREFERRED OPTION
It is recommended that the proposed 2 year extension period is taken to enable the
proposals detailed in the Part 2 paper to be undertaken.
5

Page 287

4.6

MARKET CONSIDERATIONS

4.6.1 There is a strong and stable market for the provision of services. Due to market
consolidation over the recent years, most bidders are regional or national third sector
organisations with whom the Council is familiar. And this would be true of those
providers interested in delivering respite, supported living or complex needs day
services.
4.6.2 With regards to community provision with more person centred focus in the areas of
day opportunities, employment support, community respite then there are a large
number of smaller providers eager to explore possibilities with clients and the Council
if accessed through Direct Payments.
5.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

5.1

Stakeholder engagement has already taken place under the LD Strategy at a macro
level and many of the findings drawn from that have been used to inform the
preferred options for the future development of these services.

5.2

The next step is to take the co-production down to the micro level and facilitate the
co-production of services between clients and their families and the market. This will
include a specific focus on young people who will come through the Transition
process and therefore will support the strengthening of the Local Area Inspection
outcomes.

6.

PROCUREMENT AND PROJECT TIMESCALES AND GOVERNANCE
ARRANGEMENTS

6.1

Current Contract Value
 Total five year value: £18,930k
 Value of two year extension: £7,572k
Cumulative Contract Value
 Period: 1 October 2015 – 30 September 2022
 Total: £26,502k

7.

SUSTAINABILITY AND IMPACT ASSESSMENTS

7.1

As part of any future tenders there will be a requirement for providers to address how
they would meet social, economic and environmental considerations through the
delivery of the services. These areas can cover such activities as local recruitment
policies, procuring goods and services from local businesses, fundraising activities on
behalf of local and national charities.

7.2

Development of more localised Direct Payment services will also mean that Council
expenditure is likely to be contained at the local level.

8.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

6

Page 288

8.1

The Council’s statutory duty under the Care Act 2014 is the consideration in relation
to the procurement and delivery of these services.

8.2

The Care Act (2014) guidance states that:


Local authorities should consider the contract arrangements they make with
providers to deliver services, including the range of block contracts, framework
agreements, spot contracting or ‘any qualified provider’ approaches, to ensure
that the approaches chosen do not have negative impacts on the
sustainability, sufficiency, quality, diversity and value for money of the market
as a whole – the pool of providers able to deliver services of appropriate
quality.

9.

IT AND GDPR CONSIDERATIONS

9.1

In consultation with the Information Assurance Officer a Data Protection Impact
Assessment will be carried out through all stages of any procurement

10.

PROCUREMENT RULES

10.1

This report seeks a two year extension to the contract with Certitude, utilising the
formal extension option built into the contract. The value of the proposed extension
being an estimated £7,572,000.

10.2

The Council’s requirements for authorising an extension are covered in Contract
Procedure Rules 23.7 and 13.1. For a contract of this value, the Approval of
Executive following Agreement by the Chief Officer, Director of Finance, the Director
of Corporate Services, the Assistant Director of Governance and Contracts and the
Portfolio Holder must be obtained.

10.3

Following Approval, the extension must be applied via a suitable Change Control
Notice, or similar, as specified in the Contract.

10.4

The actions identified in this report are provided for within the Council’s Contract
Procedure Rules, and the proposed actions can be completed in compliance with
their content.

11.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

11.1

Please refer to the Part 2 report

12.

LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

12.1

The proposed extension is permitted within the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 as
the current contract allows for an extension. The Council’s Contract Procedure Rule
23 allows extensions to be granted where the contract already provides for an
extension subject to satisfactory outcome of contract monitoring. The contract
extension will need to be formally agreed in writing with the contractor as specified in
the current contract.

12.2

The report seeks a two year extension to the contract until 1st October 2022, utilising
the formal extension options built into the contract, the value of the proposed
extension being an estimated £7, 572k.
7
Page 289

12.3

Commissioning Strategy
The proposed commissioning strategy includes a procurement timetable. The
services that are to be procured are” light touch” and compliance with the Public
Contract Regulations 2015 together with the Councils Contact Procedures rules will
be required. In addition suitable procurement routes and contract documentation will
be required to ensure that the future delivery of the services is effective., thus
enabling the Council to deliver its statutory requirements.
Non-Applicable
Sections:
Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

12.

PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS

8

Page 290

Agenda Item 18
Report No.
CSD19180

London Borough of Bromley
PART 1 - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

EXECUTIVE
For Pre-Decision Scrutiny by Adult Care and Health Policy &
Development Scrutiny Committee (19 November 2019)

Date:

Wednesday 27 November 2019

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

CONTRACT AWARD FOR 0-19 YEARS PUBLIC HEALTH
NURSING SERVICE

Contact Officer:

Dr Jenny Selway, Consultant in Public Health
Tel: 020 8313 4769 E-mail: jenny.selway@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Dr Nada Lemic, Director of Public Health

Ward:

Borough Wide

1.

Executive

Key

Reason for report

1.1 The Contracts for provision of 0-4 Years Health Visiting Service (incorporating Family Nurse
Partnership), Primary Screening (Vision screening and National Child Measurement Programme
in Primary Schools) and Health Support to Schools will expire on 30th September 2020. There
are no further options to extend the current contracts. The 0-4 Years Health Visiting Service has
an annual value of £3,288k per annum, the Primary Screening Service has an annual value of
£165k per annum and the Health Support to Schools Contract has annual value of £603k per
annum.
1.2 On 2nd August 2019, Executive approved the continued funding of all the Contracts and to
retender a combined service incorporating all three of the contracts detailed in 1.1 above.
1.3 In accordance with the Council’s financial and contractual requirements, this report sets out the
results of the tendering process for the provision of the 0-19 Public Health Nursing Service and
seeks Executive approval to award the Contract. The report should be read in conjunction with
the Part Two report ‘Contract Award for 0-19 Years Public Health Nursing Service’.
________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1 Adult Care and Health PDS committee is asked to note and comment on the Contents of
the Part 2 report.

Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 291

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1.

Summary of Impact: The Service has a key role in the health contribution to safeguarding
children and young people aged 0-19 in Bromley. Targeted services for vulnerable children in
the Service include those on a child protection plan, Children in Need, young people in contact
with the Youth Offending Service, pupils in the Pupil Referral Unit, Home Educated Children,
Young Carers and young people in the Gypsy and Traveller communities.
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: This Service supports the delivery of the Bromley Children and Young People
Plan 2018 to 2021.

2. BBB Priority: Children and Young People; Safe Bromley; Healthy Bromley.
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal:

2.

Ongoing costs:

3.

Budget head/performance centre: Public Health

4.

Total current budget for this head: £4,056

5.
Source of funding: Public Health Grant
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): N/A – staff are employed by the Contractor

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement:

2.
Call-in: Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Procurement
1.

Summary of Procurement Implications: The procurement was undertaken in compliance with
the requirements of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): Approx. 78,000 children and
young people resident in Bromley aged 0-19 years.
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: Not Applicable

Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 292

3.

COMMENTARY

3.1

Report to Executive ECHS19074 (August 2019) provided an update of the work undertaken by officers to
explore the options around combining the 0-4 Years Health Visiting Service, the Health Support to
Schools and Primary Screening contracts into a single service. Report ECHS19074 also sets out the
preferred procurement route for the integrated service.

3.2

Approval was given to tender the services as a single contract for a period of five years with the option to
extend for a period of up to two years to start from 1st October 2020. By commissioning the service in
this way there should be a level of integration going forward which supports a wider and more
sustainable programme of support for children and young people aged 0-19 years. Also by merging the
three services into a single contract there may be some savings in management costs, estate costs and
reduced duplication and records monitoring relating to safeguarding.

3.3

A procurement process has taken place in accordance with the timescales set out in the Gateway Report
ECHS19074.

4.

DESCRIPTION OF SERVICE AND SUMMARY OF THE BUSINESS CASE

HEALTH VISITING
4.1

This service is currently delivered by Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust and has an annual budget of
£3,288k.

4.2

Health Visiting is a mandated universal service from pregnancy to age 4 years. The Health Visiting team
meet with pregnant women after 28 weeks of pregnancy, assess the mother and baby 10 days after the
birth, at 6 weeks after the birth, when the child is aged 1 and again when the child is aged 2-2½ years.
These reviews are important in building a relationship between the Health Visiting team and the mother
and in making an expert assessment of medical and social risk for that family.

4.3

This expert assessment of risk is used to identify whether support in addition to routine support is
required in order to avoid poor outcomes. Additional support could be in the form of referral to health
services, children’s social care or other support services, or it could be provided directly by the Health
Visiting team. Where safeguarding issues are identified the HV will initiate appropriate processes and,
importantly, maintain contact and support to the family throughout the processes, thus providing stepdown support as well as escalation. This long term support to vulnerable families is an important part of
keeping children safe in Bromley.

4.4

The Health Visiting service, by avoiding delays in identification of need, are able to reduce risk and cost
by addressing many needs before they escalate.

4.5

There are around 4,000 births a year in Bromley. The vast majority of these families will not require
additional support and receive only the five reviews and infant immunisations (which are the
responsibility of primary care).

FAMILY NURSE PARTNERSHIP
4.6

This service is currently delivered by Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust and is part of the HV contract which
has an annual budget of £3,288k.

4.7 Family Nurses provide intensive support to the most vulnerable mothers using evidence-based
interventions. This is a licensed programme and supports the mothers from pregnancy until their child is
2 years old, when the care of the family passes to Health Visiting services. This service is based on good
evidence that intensive support to vulnerable families can have a
significant impact on outcomes. By improving the attachment between the baby and the
mother and supporting young mothers in their parenting role, many of the long term outcomes
related to poor attachment can be reduced or avoided. These adverse outcomes include
Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 293

behaviour and mental health problems in the child and poor education outcomes . Vulnerable and first
time young mothers often struggle significantly in their role as a parent. Almost sixty per cent of mothers
involved in serious case reviews were under 21 when they had their first child. Bromley’s current FNP
caseload illustrates that vulnerable first time mothers have increasingly complex needs.
4.8 Where involvement of Children’s Social Care is necessary it is possible for cases to be escalated and deescalated in a safe and timely manner due to the level of intervention FNP provides. For example in the
last quarter three infants were stepped down from Children In Need (CIN) and Child Protection Plan (CP)
and nine infants/unborn were put on CIN. CIN plans are multiagency plans put in place for a child who
needs extra support for his/her safety, health and/or development. CP plans are put in place when a
child may be at risk of significant harm.
4.9 In line with Bromley’s commitment, set out in Transforming Bromley Roadmap, to help Bromley children
and young people at the earliest point of need, FNP functions both as an early intervention and as a
prevention programme. Within the current caseload, eleven of the mothers were previously Children
Looked After, 97% of FNP babies and toddlers are up to date with their immunisations and 100% of
them have completed Ages and Stages Questionnaire (ASQ) developmental reviews.
4.10 Bromley currently has three Family Nurses (FNs) who provide support to up to 75 vulnerable mothers,
including young mothers who are care leavers or known to Children’s Social Care.
HEALTH SUPPORT TO SCHOOLS
4.11 This service is currently delivered by Bromley Healthcare and has an annual budget of
£603k.
4.12 The Health Support to Schools (HSS) service covers two specialist nursing functions: safeguarding
vulnerable groups, and strategic health support to schools to minimise the risks of children with health
conditions in schools.
a) Safeguarding Nursing support
As well as providing nursing expertise to general safeguarding processes in Bromley, this service is
commissioned to provide nursing support to some of the most vulnerable groups in Bromley as identified
by the Needs Assessment, including Electively Home Educated children, young people in contact with
the Youth Offending Team, young people in the Gypsy Traveller community, and young carers. In
addition, this service is commissioned to support identification and assessment and provide appropriate
support to young people who have suffered Child Sexual Abuse or Exploitation (CSA/CSE).
b) Supporting pupils with medical needs in schools
The service is commissioned to provide nursing support to maintained schools and academies in
Bromley in order to reduce the risks to schools of looking after pupils with medical conditions. This model
of working involves each school clearly leading this work, with appropriate strategic nursing support to
minimise risks to the school and the young people. Individual Health Care Plans for children with medical
conditions are a key mechanism to manage this risk in schools.

NATIONAL CHILD MEASUREMENT PROGRAMME
4.13 This service is currently delivered by Bromley Healthcare and has an annual budget of
£165k.
4.14 The National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) is a mandated programme which measures
height and weight in reception year and year 6 in all children in Bromley in maintained schools and
academies. The measurements are fed into a national NCMP programme.
4.15 After piloting new ways of delivering this programme in 2016, it was combined with the Vision Screening
programme in reception year (which is part of the Healthy Child Programme), in order to minimise the
Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 294

number of visits to primary schools. This model is preferred by schools and brings efficiencies in the
administration of both programmes.
4.16 These two screening programmes were commissioned as the Primary Screening service in April 2017.

SAFEGUARDING
4.17 It is a statutory duty of the local authority to safeguard children. The Health Visitor, FNP Nurse or School
Nurse brings the health perspective to form part of a full oversight of a child’s needs, especially if a child
has disabilities. The SEND framework does not distinguish between maintained schools and academies.
CASE FOR MERGER
4.18 In commissioning a 0-19 years Public Health Nursing service there should be a level of integration going
forward which supports a wider and more sustainable programme of support for children and young
people aged 0-19 years. This will also reduce safeguarding risks as Health Visitors and School Nurses
will be able to see each other’s records. By merging the three services into a single contract there will be
some savings in management costs, estate costs and reduced duplication and records monitoring
relating to safeguarding.
.4.19 The three existing contracts being merged are in the table below.

5
5.1

5.2

Contract

Current
budget

Contract
owner

0-4 years Health Visiting
Service incorporating FNP

£3,288k

LBB

Health Support to Schools

£603k

Bromley CCG

Primary Screening service

£165k

LBB

Total

4,056k

Current provider
Oxleas NHS Foundation
Trust

Bromley Healthcare
Community Interest
Company

CONTRACT AWARD RECOMMENDATION
The tender process was undertaken in accordance with the recommendations set out in the Gateway
Report ECHS19074 approved by Executive on 2nd August 2019. Market and stakeholder engagement
and outcomes from these events assisted officers to finalise the specification.
The Tender Process
The tender was undertaken electronically using the ProContract system with bidders being required to
submit both stage one Selection Questionnaire as well as setting out their proposal for delivery of the
Service and cost at stage two.

5.3

Evaluation of the bids was undertaken using the Council’s standard 40% quality and 60% price ratios.
The results were then fed into the evaluation matrix based on the Chartered Institute of Public Finance &
Accountancy (CIPFA) Evaluation Model.

5.4

The evaluation of the bidder’s responses to the quality questions was undertaken against the following
criteria and weightings:

Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 295

Question
1

Criteria

Weightings

10%

3

Financial Resources & Contract Affordability
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR)
& Information Governance
Service Provision

4

Service Outcomes

15%

5

Service Transition & TUPE Arrangements

10%

6

Social Value and Adding Innovation

10%

7

Safeguarding

10%

8

Service User Involvement

10%

9

Facilities and Property

10%

2

5%

20%

TOTAL:

100%

5.5

Evaluation of the bidder’s financial sustainability and ability to undertake a contract of this size was
undertaken by the Head of Finance, Adults, Health and Housing. Bidder’s responses to the quality
questions were undertaken by officers from Public Health, Bromley CCG and Bromley’s Early
Intervention Service.

5.6

Following initial evaluation of the quality criteria responses, bidders were invited to attend clarification
interviews after which final scores were agreed by the Evaluation Panel at a consensus meeting
attended by a member of the Procurement Team.

5.7
5.8

6

Justification for Award
The results of the evaluation process are shown in the Part 2 report which contains the detailed scoring.
A recommendation to award the contract for the 0 – 19 Public Health Nursing Service is included in the
Part 2 report.

MARKET CONSIDERATIONS

6.1

There is a limited market for providing these services.

6.2

A market development day was held early in the process and relevant providers were telephoned
beforehand and encouraged to attend the market day

7.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

7.1

Extensive stakeholder engagement was undertaken before going out to tender for this procurement:
 129 surveys completed by users attending Children and Family Centres or using the online
survey on the LBB website
 A focus group was held in a school
 Two stakeholder meetings with a wide range of partners attending to discuss the service
 Consultation with the 3 GP clusters
 Meeting with the Early Years Development and Childcare Partnership
 The Named GP for Safeguarding Children, the Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children
and a senior CCG representative were involved in steering groups preparing for the tender.

7.2

The provider is expected to co-locate with the EIFS in two of the Children and Family Centres and
provide services from Children and Family Centres. Heads of Terms were published as part of the
Invitation to Tender and draft leases and licences supplied to the bidding providers before the provider
interviews on 28th October 2019, with opportunity for providers to raise queries about these at interview.

Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 296

8.
8.1

9.
9.1

10.

SUSTAINABILITY AND IMPACT ASSESSMENTS
There are no sustainability or impact related issues that would result from the recommendation within
this paper.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS
The 0-19 Public Health Nursing Service meets the Council’s objective’s with ‘Building a Better Bromley’
for Children and Young People and also the objectives of the new ‘Love Bromley’ objectives.

IT AND GDPR CONSIDERATIONS

10.1 The joint controllers are instructed to process Council data in a secure manner giving consideration to
appropriate technical and organisational Measures to comply with, but not exclusively;
 UK Data Protection Act 2018
 UK Data Protection Act – Part 3 Law Enforcement Processing
 General Data Protection Regulation 2016
 Freedom of Information Act 2000
 Re-use of Public Sector Information Regulations 2005
 Local Government Act 2000
 Computer misuse Act 1990
 Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984
 Privacy and electronic Communications Regulations (PECR) 2003

10.2 All gathering, storing and use of information for the purposes of provisioning, and delivery of
preventative services will be conducted in line with the principles of current UK Data Protection law and
specifically Article 32, General Data Protection Regulation 2016
10.3 The Council shall ensure that the awarded contract and any associated information sharing
protocols/agreement have adequate and proportionate Information Management and Data protection
clauses that cover:





11.

Breach notification and recovery
Handling the right so the data subject
Information lifecycle management including retention and disposal
A clear exit strategy for recovery or transfer of information upon termination or end of the
contract.

PROCUREMENT RULES

11.1 This report seeks to award the Contract for 0-19 Public Health Nursing Service for a period of five years
with the option to extend for a further period of up to two years. The estimated cost is fixed for the whole
life of the Contract.
11.2 The Service is covered by Schedule 3 of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and thus, the
procurement was undertaken in accordance with the ‘Light Touch’ Regime (LTR) of those Regulations.
11.3 The tender process has been carried out in line with the requirements of the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015 and the Council’s Contract Procedure Rule 8.2.1.
11.4 Following the decision, an OJEU Award Notice will be issued and, as the Contract value is over £25,000,
an award notice will be published on Contracts Finder. A mandatory Standstill Period will be observed in
accordance with the Regulations.
11.5 The actions identified in this report are provided for within the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, and
the proposed actions can be completed in compliance with their current content.
Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 297

12.

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

12.1 The Spending Round 2019, delivered by the Chancellor in September, included the announcement of a
real terms increase to the Public Health Grant. As the contract price is fixed for the full seven year term,
the actual savings will therefore be higher, and will help mitigate the reduction in grant income in 2019/20
that has not been fully matched by equivalent savings in the service.
12.2 The proposal set out in this report is consistent with current policy and is in line with the proposal for the
Council’s Public Health budget.
12.3 The financial implications of this contract award are included in the Part 2 report.

13.

PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS

13.1 Not applicable. Staff are all employed by the contractor

14.

LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS

14.1 This report seeks the approval of the Executive to award a 0-19 Public Health Nursing service contract
and the delegate authority to an officer in consultation to approve any future extensions.
14.2 Under Section 17 of the Children Act 1989 the local authority has a statutory duty to safeguard and
promote the welfare of children in their area who are in need.
14.3 Under Section 10 of the Children Act 2004 the local authority has a statutory duty to make arrangements
to promote co-operation between the authority and relevant partners (including the governing body of a
maintained school, the proprietor of an academy, clinical commissioning groups and the NHS
Commissioning Board) with a view to improving the wellbeing of children in its area so far as relating to
physical and mental health and emotional well-being, protection from harm and neglect, education,
training and recreation, the contribution made by them to society, social and economic well-being.
14.4 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 transferred Public Health functions from the NHS to Local
Authorities commencing on 1 April 2013 with the transfer for the Health Visiting, School Nurses and
Family Nurse Partnership Service taking effect from the 1 October 2015. Additionally, Local Authorities
including Bromley took on the Public Health Duty of commissioning School Nursing to local delivery of
the National Child Measurement Programme from the 1st April 2013.
14.5 The procurement comments within this report provide sufficient detail as to the application of the Public
Contracts Regulations 2015 including how the tendering procedure and evaluation process was
undertaken. Under the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPR 16.7 and Guidance) where the
estimated value exceeds £1M the Executive is authorised to approve the award of the contract with the
agreement of the Chief Officer, the Assistant Director Governance & Contracts and the Portfolio Holder
through this Member Gateway report.
14.6 Officers should ensure proper consideration and planning is taken in respect of the service transition
arrangements between an existing provider and the new provider, including any potential TUPE, asset
and any funding issues .Officers should seek legal assistance in relation to the completion of the contract
together with the completion of the new leases/ licenses.

Non-Applicable Sections:

[List non-applicable sections here]

Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

Report No. ECHS19074 ‘0-19 Public Health Nursing’
Gateway Review in November 2018 (CS18184)

Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 298

Appendix Key Performance Indicators for the 0-19 Public Health Nursing service
BROMLEY 0-19 PHN service DASHBOARD

0-4 years (HV & FNP): monthly data
Domain

PRE BIRTH
REVIEW

Indicator

Antenatal contact

Outcome of
Antental contact

NEW BABY
REVIEW

6-8 WEEK
REVIEW

MULTIPS: FACE TO FACE
MULTIPS: OTHER CONTACT
Number of mothers who had an Ante-Natal Contact from 28
weeks of pregnancy through to birth PRIMIPS & MAT CONCERNS
PRIMIPS/MAT CONCERNS: FACE TO FACE
PRIMIPS/MAT CONCERNS: OTHER CONTACT
Number of mothers identified for Early Help at their Antenatal
Contact

<1%

Outcome of New
birth visit
6 - 8 week review
contact

% of 6-8 week reviews completed (denominator = number of
babies turning 6-8 weeks)

90%

Outcome of 6-8
week review

% of mothers identified with risks leading to maternal mental
health pathways (denominator = number of mothers due 6-8
week check)
% of babies with completed one year review by 12 months UNIVERSAL

90%

New birth visit
contact

1 YEAR REVIEW

2/2.5 YEAR
INTEGRATED
REVIEW

Target
300

Percentage of babies receiving a New Birth Visit within 14 days of
birth
Percentage of babies receiving a New Birth Visit after 14 days of
birth
% of babies identified for Early Help (denominator = number of
births)

1 year review
contact

Domain

Description
Number of antenatal contacts completed in the month
Number of mothers who had an Ante-Natal Contact from 28
weeks of pregnancy through to birth MULTIPS ONLY

95%

% of babies with completed one year review by 12 months - UP
% of babies with completed one year review by 12 months - UPP
% of babies with completed one year review by 15 months UNIVERSAL

90%
95%

% of babies with completed one year review by 15 months - UP
% of babies with completed one year review by 15 months - UPP

90%
95%

90%

Outcome of 1 year
review

% of one year review where mother asked about DVA
Number of children identifed with ASQ scores outside of normal
range in any domain leading to joint care pathways as a % of
number of children eligible for one year review

Indicator
2 - 2.5 year review
contact

Description
% of children receiving 2 - 2.5 year contact as % of number of
children due review

2 - 2.5 year review
contact

% children with completed ASQ as % of number of children due
review

95%

% of children receiving 2 - 2.5 year contact integrated with Early
Years education as % of al 2 - 2.5 year reviews

To be
develope
d

2 - 2.5 year
integrated review
Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 299

Target
80%

BREASTFEEDIN
G STATUS

BREASTFEEDIN
G
MAINTENANCE
HEALTHY
WEIGHT

Recorded
breastfeeding
status at new
birth visit
Recorded
breastfeeding
status at 6-8 week
check

Number of infants with recorded breastfeeding status at new
birth visit as % infants due new birth visit

98%

EXCLUSIVE breastfeeding
PARTIAL breastfeeding
number infants with recorded breastfeeding status at 6-8 week
review as % infants due 6-8 week review

98%

Full/partial
breastfeeding

EXCLUSIVE breastfeeding
PARTIAL breastfeeding
Number of infants recorded as fully or partially breastfed at new
birth visit as % infants due new birth visit

Full/partial
breastfeeding

Number of infants recorded as fully or partially breastfed at 6-8
week review as % infants due 6-8 week review

Proportion of
children
overweight/obese

Number of children age 2 - 2.5 overweight or obese (denominator
- number of children due 2-2.5 year review)

Proportion of UPP
children referred
to Early Help
0-4 years PH
Integration with service
EIFS
participating and
co-facilitating VF
meeting with EIFS
every half term (6
meetings/year)
Annual data
Domain
Indicator
Update of Healthy
Healthy
Start vitamins
nutrition
School readiness
Transition to
school

62%
No target
To be
develope
d

100%

Description
Number of families utilising Healthy Start vitamins as % of families
eligible
Numerator: Number of children having reached a good level of
development at the end of the early years foundation Stage
(EYFS) (Denominator = number of children due to start school in
next 12 months)

Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 300

Target
To be
develope
d

78%

5-19 years dashboard: quarterly data
Performance Indicator
Attendance at Initial Case
Conferences

Indicator
% of
conferences

CP reports sent prior to the
conference if not attending

% of reports

Review Case Conferences
attended

%

Threshold

95%

95%

95%

Method of Measurement
(numerator/denominator)
Number of initial case conferences
attended
Number of initial case conference
invites
Number of reports submitted
Number of Initial Case Conferences
invites involving Bromley school aged
children
Number of reviews attended
Number of review invites where there
is a health need
Number of questionnaires completed
Number of Initial Case Conferences
invites involving Bromley school aged
children

‘All about me’ questionnaires
completed

No. of
questionnaire
completed

CAFs contributed to for school aged
children

No. of CAFs

Number of CAFS contributed to

% of health
reviews

Number of health reviews completed
Number of young people in the
service referred to the 0-19 years PH
service

Support to YOS

C-card registration
Referrals to other services and
details of which service

90%

No.
registered
Number of
referrals

Number of YP registered
Numbers and details of services

Termly action plans completed with
primary schools

% of
meetings

95%

Termly action plans completed with
secondary schools

% of
meetings

95%

Individual Healthcare Plans
reviewed
Training sessions for schools by
school relating to IHCPs
Support to pupils in Pupil Referral
Units

Number of IHCPs reviewed
No. and
names of
school

Number of sessions and attendees

% of health
reviews

90%

% of health
reviews

90%

% of health
reviews

90%

Database
shared

100%

Support to young carers
"CYP of concern" referred by
schools
School health database completed and
shared with Public Health

Number of meetings
Number of Primary Schools
accepting the offer of a meeting
Number of meetings
Number of Secondary Schools
accepting the offer of a meeting

Number of health reviews completed
Number of young people in the
service referred to the 0-19 years PH
service
Number of health reviews completed
Number of young people in the
service referred to the 0-19 years PH
service
Number of health reviews completed
Number of young people in the
service referred to the 0-19 years PH
service
Database shared with Public Health

Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 301

Annual data
All primary schools have named nurse
and can contact them

% of schools

95%

Annual survey of primary schools

All secondary schools have named
nurse and can contact them

% of schools

95%

Annual survey of secondary schools

Screening Programme
KPIs
Performance Indicator

Indicator

Threshold

Participating schools in
NCMP - Year R

% of schools
participating

95%

Participating schools in
NCMP - Year 6

% of schools
participating

95%

Coverage of NCMP
measurement Year R

% of pupils
participating

95%

Coverage of NCMP
measurement Year 6

% of pupils
participating

94%

Participating schools in
Vision Screening in Year R

% of schools
participating

95%

Coverage of Vision
Screening in Year R

% of pupils
participating

95%

Participating schools in
Hearing Screening in Year
R

% of schools
participating

95%

Coverage of Hearing
Screening in Year R

% of pupils
participating

95%

School satisfaction with
screening programmes

N/A

85-100%

Parent/carer satisfaction

N/A

80-85%

Staff training Vision
Screening programme

% staff trained

100%

Referrals to Community
Orthoptist

Number and %

N/A

Method of Measurement
(numerator/denominator)
Number of eligible schools participating in
the NCMP programme
Number of eligible schools with Year R in
Bromley
Number of eligible schools participating in
the NCMP programme
Number of eligible schools with Year 6 in
Bromley
Number of eligible pupils in Year R with
NCMP measurements recorded
Number of eligible pupils in Year R in
Bromley
Number of eligible pupils in Year 6 with
NCMP measurements recorded
Number of eligible pupils in Year 6 in
Bromley
Number of eligible schools participating in
the Vision Screening programme
Number of eligible schools with Year R in
Bromley
Number of eligible pupils in Year R with
Vision Screening results recorded
Number of eligible pupils in Year R in
Bromley
Number of eligible schools participating in
the Hearing Screening programme
Number of eligible schools with Year R in
Bromley
Number of eligible pupils in Year R with
Hearing Screening results recorded
Number of eligible pupils in Year R in
Bromley
Number of head teachers satisfied with
screening programmes
Number of parents/carers satisfied with
screening programmes
Staff trained to acceptable standard and
competencies signed off by Orthoptist (prior
to practice)
Number of staff delivering Vision Screening
Number of pupils referred to the PCVS
Number of pupils screened

Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 302

Safeguarding KPIs
Performance Indicator

Indicator

Working with GPs

% of practice
safeguarding
meetings
attended

80%

% of
meetings
attended

80%

Attendance at MARAC etc

Threshold

Method of Measurement
(numerator/denominator)
Number of meetings attended by 019 years PH service at each practice
Agreed number of Safeguarding
meetings with each practice
Number of meetings attended
Number of MARAC meetings
service invited to

Contract Award Member Report
October 2019

Page 303

This page is left intentionally blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 21

Document is Restricted

Page 305

This page is left intentionally blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 22

Document is Restricted

Page 309

This page is left intentionally blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 23

Document is Restricted

Page 321

This page is left intentionally blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 24

Document is Restricted

Page 329

This page is left intentionally blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 335

This page is left intentionally blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 25

Document is Restricted

Page 337

This page is left intentionally blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 341

This page is left intentionally blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 26

Document is Restricted

Page 343

This page is left intentionally blank

